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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE DISTRICT 
OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT  

Norman Clement, pro-se  

    Petitioner 

 
      Case: No. 21-1262  

v. 

Drug Enforcement Administration,  

    Respondent 
___________________________________  

MOTION FOR A REHEARING UNDER FEDERAL RULES OF 
APPELLATE PROCEDURE, RULE 35  

The Appellant moves, pro se, submits this (6th) supplement with 
exhibits to his Petition request under Rule 35 before entire Panel for 
Rehearing En Banc from a May 25, 2022 decision , barring a 
summary reversal of the DEA Administrative court and further 
based on United States Supreme Court ruling in Ruan-Khan vs. 
United States case: No- 20-1410.  
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

On August 23, 2019, a former Acting Administrator of the Drug 
Enforcement Administration (hereinafter, DEA or Government), the 
DEA issued an Order to Show Cause (“OSC”) to Pronto Pharmacy. R. 1. 
The OSC alleged that Pronto Pharmacy  filled prescriptions in contra- 
vention of its corresponding responsibility under 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a). 
R. 1 at 2. Specifically, the OSC claimed that Pronto Pharmacy violated 
this responsibility by “repeatedly fill[ing] controlled substance 
prescriptions that contained multiple red flags of diversion and/or abuse 
without addressing or resolving those red flags and under circumstances 
indicating that the pharmacists were willfully blind or deliberately 
ignorant of the prescriptions illegitimacy.”   

An administrative hearing was held from January, 28-29, 2020, 
following which, on May 5, 2020, the Administrative Law Judge 
(“ALJ”) filed his Recommended Rulings, Findings of Fact, Conclusions 
of Law and Decision. Pronto Pharmacy LLC; Decision and Order, 86 
FR 647,14 (2021). On November 9, 2021, the Administrator rendered 
her decision, finding Pronto Pharmacy LLC had violated its 
corresponding responsibility under § 1306 .04(a), and issuing an Order 
revoking Pronto Pharmacy’s registration, effective  November 18, 2021. 
Id. (App.17a).  

In his decision, the Administrator determined that Pronto Pharmacy 
actions of filling “hundreds” of prescriptions in the face of “red flags” 
was egregious conduct that necessitated revocation. At no point did the 
Administrator determine the legitimacy of the underlying controlled 
substance prescriptions that Pronto Pharmacy LLC., filled, nor did any 
qualified healthcare professional comment on whether the prescriptions 
were issued for a legitimate medical purpose. In the same way the 
Administrator used “red flags” as a proxy to determine the legitimacy of 
a controlled substance prescription (without actually making such a  
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determination; either by herself or via a medical expert), this Court’s 3 
Judge Panel (Katsas, Walker, Rao) used the length of time the DEA has 
interpreted § 1306.04(a) as allowing the same as a proxy for whether it 
should simply defer to the DEA’s interpretation.  

The Acting Administrator also never heard testimony from any patients 
and prevented testimony from the physicians who prescribed the 
controlled substances Pronto Pharmacy filled. Instead, the Acting 
Administrator simply relied on “red flags” identified by Dr. Donald L 
Sullivan, consultant (i.e., not a retail pharmacist), and used these “red 
flags” as a proxy to conclude the prescriptions were illegitimate.   

MISGUIDED THINKING OF “RED FLAGS” 

This misguided thinking has led to the needless suffering and deaths of 
thousand of chronic disease patients such Sarcardosis, Amyotrophic 
lateral Sclerosis, Sickle Cell (SCD)  because pain has been criminalized 
by this massive over-reach of the DEA. The consequences of their 
misdirection have been felt broadly in denial of safe and effective pain 
treatment to millions of Americans, and the deaths of hundreds or 
patients by suicide or medical collapse. (1)  

There are no amount of words any healthcare provider can write in any 
petition when learning of the needless suffering  deaths of their chronic 
pain patients or love ones being subjected to inadequate narcotic 
analgesic medication because of fear being targeted by DEA-DOJ as 
drug seekers and their doctors,  “drug dealers in white coats.” 

This fear is real, my brother Walter R. Clement a 34 year veteran Detroit 
Police Dept., passed September 19, 2022, peacefully and in horrific 
agonizing untreated pain from ALS because his doctors feared over-
prescribing.  Then their is Gilinda Dame-Fincher 63, Cleveland , OH., 
with the Kincaid Kindred  Spirits, www.kks4scd.org, whose suffered all 
her life of pain from Sickle Cell Disease, a graduate of the University of  
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Cincinnati requires two units of blood every month  to sustain her life, 
requiring Oxycontin and being denied by pharmacies as a “Red Flag.”  
Further knowing, there are only twenty (20) Adult Sickle Cell 
hematology physician specialist in all of America remaining to care for 
SCD adult patients because these doctors whom are authorized to 
prescribe are targeted.  

ANALYSIS 

RED FLAGS 
1. “ Red Flags” are not described in : 1)  the CDC Guidelines , 

either the 2016, 2017, or the 2022 version, 2) HHS Best Pain 
Practice  

2. “ Red Flags” are not  part of a generally accepted, nationally-
approved medical standard. 

3. “ Red Flags” represent “ reasonable suspicion” and not, proof 
beyond a reasonable doubt.  

4. “ Red Flags” are arbitrary and capricious , because the 
“ alleged  red  flags” do not proactively,  clearly and 
objectively,  describe the prohibited conducts 

5. “Red Flags” are necessary but not sufficient, to serve as 
evidence beyond a reasonable doubt, of criminality.  

6. “ Red Flags” falls below the knowing and intentional  mens 
rea, evidence standard,  set under Ruan.  (Ruan v U.S. Supreme 
Court of the United States, ( No. 20–1410. Argued March 1, 
2022—Decided June 27, 2022) 
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REQUEST FOR HEARING

Anypersondesiring a hearingwith request to an Order to ShowCausemust,
withinthirty (30)days from receipt of theOrder toShow Cause, file a request for a
hearing in the following format:

[DATE]

DBA Headquarters
Office of the AdministrativeLaw Judges
Hearing Clerk
8701 Morrissette Drive
Springfield, Virginia 22152

Dear Madam:

The undersigned, [Nameofperson], hereby requestsa hearing in the matter of
[Identification of the proceeding].

(A) [State with particularity theinterest of theperson in the proceeding.]

(B) [State with particularity theobjections or issues, if any concerning
which the person desires to be heard.]

(C) [State briefly the position of the person with regard to the particular
objections or issues.]

(D) [Name (either registrant, applicant, or attorney), address (including
streetaddress, city, state andzip code),and telephone number
(including areacode)of person towhom all subsequent notices or
mailings in thisproceeding should be sent.]

Respectfully yours.

(Signature ofregistrant, applicant, or
attorney]

Note: Pursuant to 21 C.F.R. § 1316.47(b), theAdministrative Law Judge, upon request
and showing ofgood cause, may grant a reasonable extension oftime allowing for
response to an Order to Show Cause.

(4) 

THE REVOCATION OF PETITIONER’S REGISTRATION 
SHOULD BE REVERSED BECAUSE A VIOLATION OF ITS 
CORRESPONDING RESPONSIBILITY REQUIRES A 
DETERMINATION OF THE LEGITIMACY OF THE 
PRESCRIPTIONS IT FILLED.  

The revocation of  Pronto Pharmacy’s registration Decision and Order, 
86 FR 647,14 (2021) should be reversed because it could not have 
violated its corresponding responsibility under § 1306.04(a) unless it 
filled controlled substance prescriptions that were not issued for a 
legitimate medical purpose. 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a); see Ruan, 597 U.S. 
___ (slip op. at 3). (affirming “[w]e assume, as did the courts below and 
the parties here, that a prescription is “authorized” and therefore lawful 
if it satisfies this standard [issued for a legitimate medical purpose by an 
individual  practitioner acting in the usual course of his professional 
practice].”). Even the plain language of the regulation supports 
pharmacies do not violate their corresponding responsibility where they 
fill a prescription issued for a legitimate medical purpose. Id. The DEA 
though is willfully blind of this requirement and has instead interpreted § 
1306.04(a) to penalize pharmacies, like Pronto Pharmacy, Decision and 
Order, 86 FR 647,14 (2021) regardless of the underlying legitimacy of 
the prescriptions it filled, so long as there are unresolved “red flags”. See 
Colautti v. Franklin, 439 U.S. 379 (1979) (2) 

Given the Court’s decision in Gonzales, where it recognized § 
1306.04(a) is genuinely ambiguous, Auer deference is appropriate if the 
DEA’s interpretation of the regulation is reasonable, and an independent 
inquiry of the character and context of the DEA’s interpretation entitles it 
to controlling weight. 546 U.S. at 258 (“[a]ll would agree, we should 
think, that the statutory phrase “legitimate medical purpose” is a 
generality, susceptible to more precise definition and open to varying 
constructions, and thus ambiguous in the relevant sense.”); see Kisor,  
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139 S. Ct. at 2415-16. Thoughtful review, however, reveals the DEA’s 
interpretation is not entitled to deference because it is unreasonable, 
thereby exceed- ing the zone of ambiguity identified by this Court’s 
prior cases. But even if the DEA’s interpretation were reasonable, Auer 
deference is still inappropriate because  its interpretation is not entitled 
to controlling weight insofar as it exceeds the authority Congress has 
granted under the CSA and falls short of the agency’s “fair and 
considered judgment”, creating an “unfair surprise” to regulated parties 
(3) 

_________________________________ 
Held:   

1.  https://www.painnewsnetwork.org/stories/2022/9/29/did-opioids-take-away-your-pain-1 

2. The viability determination requirement of § 5(a) is void for vagueness. Pp. 439 U. S. 390-397.Though apparently the 
determination of whether the fetus "is viable" is to rest upon the basis of the attending physician's "experience, judgment or 
professional competence," it is ambiguous whether that subjective language applies to the second condition that activates the 
duty to the fetus, viz., "sufficient reason to believe that the fetus may be viable." Pp. 439 U. S. 391-392. (b) The intended 
distinction between "is viable" and "may be viable" is elusive. Apparently those phrases refer to distinct conditions, one of 
which indeterminately differs from the definition of viability set forth in Roe v. Wade, 410 U. S. 113, and Planned 
Parenthood of Central Missouri v. Danforth, 428 U. S. 52. Pp. 439 U. S. 392-394. (c) The vagueness of the viability 
determination requirement is compounded by the fact that § 5(d) subjects the physician to potential criminal liability without 
regard to fault. Because of the absence of a scienter requirement in the provision directing the physician to determine 
whether the fetus is or may be viable, the Act is little more than "a trap for those who act in good faith," United States v. 
Ragen, 314 U. S. 513, 314 U. S. 524, and the perils of strict criminal liability are particularlyacute here because of the                  
uncertainty of the viability determination itself. Pp. 439 U. S. 390-397  

3. .https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2022/09/24/pain-and-the-rules-of-law/ 
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ARUGUMENT 

U.S. v. Levin 973 F.2d 463 (6th Cir. 1992) Decided 
Aug 7, 1992  

In Levin, the undisputed evidence established that the government 
issued letters which were circulated to the defendant stating the 
government's approval of the activity charged in the indictment the 
United States Supreme Court in Raley v. State of Ohio, 360 U.S. 
423, 79 S.Ct. 1257, 3 L.Ed.2d 1344 (1959). Holding that 
"convicting a citizen for exercising a privilege which the State had 
clearly told him was available to him" was "the most indefensible 
sort of entrapment by the State" and violated due process. (3)  

“…Rather, a defendant, through the use of extrinsic evidence, may 
establish that the government is incapable, as a matter of law, of 
proving defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Id.”  Here, in 
Levin, the defendant accomplished this by introducing evidence that 
the government sent letters to defendants assuring them that their 
actions did not violate the law. (4), (5), (6), (7) 

In this case we previously demonstrated in Dispositive Motions, 
Addendums and Supplements the DEA issued letters  to Citizens, 
Providers, a US Congress Member stating: 

1.  “The DEA lacks the authority to issue guidelines that constitute 
advice relating to the general practice of medicine. The DEA has 
not promulgated new regulations regarding the treatment of 
pain. Federal law and DEA regulations do not impose a specific 
quantitative minimum or maximum limit on the amount of  
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medication that may be prescribed on a single prescription on  the 
duration of treatment intended with the prescribed controlled 
substance.”  (See exhibit 5-4D September 14, 2022, US Court of 
Appeals DC , letter dated November 04, 2019, from: Thomas W. 
Prevoznik, Deputy Assistant Administrator Diversion Control 
Division, to: Kevin N. Nicholson, R.Ph., J.D.Vice President, Public 
Policy and Regulatory Affairs National Association of Chain Drng 
Stores1776 Wilson Boulevard Suite 200 Arlington, Virginia 22209) 

DEA’s , letter to Congresswoman Grace Meng,  

2. “As a Law Enforcement agency, DEA is not a position to 
authorize or dictate what a doctor prescribes to a patient. DEA 
cannot grant waivers of any kind when it comes to the practice of 
medicine because no such wavier exists….” (See (supplement 5) 
exhibit 5-3c filed September 14, 2022, US Court of Appeals DC, 
Congresswoman Grace Meng, Member of Congress Sixty District of 
New York, December 18, 2019). 

DEA’s, letter to Richard Lawhern, 

3. “ One of the most important principles underlying the CSA and its 
implementing regulations is that to be valid, every prescription for a 
controlled substance must be based on a determination by an individual 
practitioner, that the dispensing of the controlled substance is for a 
legitimate medical purpose in the usual course of professional practice. 
United States v. Moore, 423 U.S.C. 122 (1975) and 21 CFR 1306.04(a). 
Federal regulations do not define the term legitimate medical purpose 
nor do they set forth the standards of medical practice. It is up to each  
DEA-registered practitioner authorized by DEA to do so, to treat patients 
according to his or her professional medical judgement in accordance  
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with a standard of medical practice that is generally recognized and 
accepted in the United States.  

While DEA is the agency responsible for enforcing the CSA, DEA does 
not act as the Federal equivalent of a state medical board overseeing the 
general practice of medicine and lacks the authority to issue guidelines 
that constitute advice relating to the general practice of medicine…” 
(See (supplement 5) exhibit 5-6F, Letter dated February 12, 2021, from: 
Thomas W.  

Prevoznik, DEA Deputy Assistant Administrator Diversion Control 
Division, to: Richard A. Lawhern, Ph.D. 3691 Nestling Lane Fort Mill, 
South Carolina 29708 lawhern@hotmail.com ) (3) 

In sum, the district court concluded from the undisputed extrinsic 
evidence, initially introduced during the court's pretrial hearing 
addressing the defendants' 12(b) motion to dismiss the indictment, 
including the HCFA letters, that the sales inducements did not 
constitute criminal activity in violation of § 1395nn(b)(1)(B), and 
that the defendants and those similarly situated could not, as a 
matter of law, have formulated the necessary intent to participate in 
a criminal act in violation of § 1395nn(b)(1)(B). (3),(4) 

Though the burden of proof is not the same for § 1306.04(a) given the 
regulation does not impose criminal liability, the “near equivalence” of 
the regulation supports that, like § 841(a), each of the regulation’s 
elements must be proven, including that a pharmacy filled a prescription 
for a controlled substance that was  not issued for a legitimate medical 
purpose.7 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a).  To be sure, in Gonzales, the Court 
observed that though the Attorney General argued he was interpreting 
“legitimate medical purpose” as it pertained to § 1306.04(a), given the  
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regulation’s “near equivalency” to the statutes found in the CSA, the 
Administrator was in fact trying to interpret the statutes—power that 
Congress has yet to entrust to the Attorney General. 546 U.S. at 257, 262 
(acknowledging “[a]n agency does not acquire special authority to 
interpret its own words when, instead of using its expertise and 
experience to formulate a regulation, it has elected merely to paraphrase 
the statutory language.”).  

The Court explained that if the Attorney General could interpret § 
1306.04(a) so that he could determine what class of activity was and was 
not medically legitimate (i.e., outside the course of professional 
practice), he would have the power to criminalize the actions of DEA 
registered physicians. Id. at 262 ((advising “[i]t would be anomalous for 
Congress to have so painstakingly described the Attorney General’s 
limited authority to deregister a single physician or schedule a single 
drug, but to have given him, just by implication, authority to declare an 
entire class of activity outside “the course of professional practice,” and 
therefore a criminal violation of the CSA.” (citation omitted)); (4)  

The letters of DEA Thomas W. Prevoznik, DEA Deputy Assistant 
Administrator Diversion Control Division, act as a command 
exercising a privilege. The Court reaffirmed its pronouncements in 
Raley v. State of Ohio, in United States v. Laub, 385 U.S. 475, 87 
S.Ct. 574, 17 L.Ed.2d 526 (1967), where it stated:  Ordinarily, 
citizens may not be punished for actions undertaken in good faith 
reliance upon authoritative assurance that punishment will not 
attach. As this Court said in Raley v. State of Ohio, 360 U.S. 423, 
438, 79 S.Ct. 1257, 1266, 3 L.Ed.2d 1344, we may not convict " a 
citizen for exercising a privilege which the State clearly had told 
him was available to him." As Raley emphasized, criminal sanctions 
are not supportable if they are to be imposed under "vague and  
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undefined" commands (citing Lanzetta v. State of New Jersey, 306 
U.S. 451, 59 S.Ct. 618, 83 L.Ed. 888 (1939)); or if they are 
"inexplicably contradictory" (citing United States v. Cardiff, 344 
U.S. 174, 73 S.Ct. 189, 98 L.Ed. 200 (1952); and certainly not if the 
Government's conduct constitutes " active misleading language".   

____________________________________ 

3. The assignment of error confronting this appellate review was initially resolved by the United States Supreme 
Court in Raley v. State of Ohio, 360 U.S. 423, 79 S.Ct. 1257, 3 L.Ed.2d 1344 (1959). In that action defendants had 
been convicted for refusing to answer certain questions before the "Unamerican Activities Commission of the State 
of Ohio". The defendants had invoked the privilege against self-incrimination after various commission members, 
including the chairman, erroneously advised them that the enabling legislation extended them the right against self-  
incrimination. Subsequently, defendants were indicated in the state court for exercising the privilege. They were 
convicted. The conviction was affirmed by the Supreme Court of Ohio.  
4. In reversing the defendants' conviction, the United States Supreme Court concluded that:  

“the judgments of convictions rendered below violate the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. . . . 
[H]ere the Chairman of the Commission, who clearly appeared to be the agent of the State in a position to give such 
assurances, apprised three of the appellants that the privilege in fact existed, and by his behavior toward the fourth 
obviously gave the same impression. . . . [H]ere the crime said to have been committed by the appellants, as defined 
by the State Supreme Court, was simply that of declining to answer any relevant question on the ground of possible 
self-incrimination. This was because the Court held that the Ohio immunity statute automatically removed any basis 
for a valid claim of the privilege, which generally exists under Ohio law. Ohio Const., art. I, § 10. Accordingly, any 
refusal to answer, based on a claim of the privilege, was said to constitute the offense. While there is no suggestion 
that the Commission had any intent to deceive the appellants, we repeat that to sustain the judgment of the Ohio 
Supreme Court on such a basis after the Commission had acted as it did would be to sanction the most indefensible 
sort of entrapment by the State — convicting a citizen for exercising a privilege which the State clearly had told him 
was available to him. Cf. Sorrells v. United States, 287 U.S. 435, 442, 53 S.Ct. 210, 212, 77 L.Ed. 413. “ 
5. A state may not issue commands to its citizens, under criminal sanctions, in language so vague and undefined as to afford no 
fair warning of what conduct might transgress them. Lanzetta v. State of New Jersey, 306 U.S. 451, 59 S.Ct. 618, 83 L.Ed. 888. 
Inexplicably contradictory commands in statutes ordaining criminal penalties have, in the same fashion, judicially been denied 
the force of criminal sanctions. United States v. Cardiff, 344 U.S. 174,  

6. This means that like 21 U.S.C. § 841(a), the DEA’s regulation § 1306.04(a) must also require a healthcare professional with 
medical expertise to determine the legitimacy of a controlled substance prescription, rather than simply identifying “red flags” 
from which the then-Acting DEA Administrator may presume a prescription’s legitimacy. See Gonzales, 546 U.S. at 266 
(affirming “[t]he structure of the CSA [] conveys unwillingness to cede medical judgments to an executive official [i.e., the then-
Acting DEA Administrator] who lacks medical expertise.”).  

7. In a pretrial hearing, defendants introduced the letters to establish that, as a matter of law, the government could not establish 
the intent element of the charged crime. The defendants conceded that the indictment stated an offense but were able to establish 
(through extrinsic evidence) that the defendants could not be convicted of the offense charged in the indictment. 
As such, the court dismissed the indictment.  
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A. The Government failed to prove by a preponderance of the 
evidence that the Appellant dispensed prescriptions without 
resolving “red flags”  

ISSUE: 

The regulation at the heart of this case, 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a), provides: 
“A prescription for a controlled substance to be effective must be issued 
for a legitimate medical purpose by an individual practitioner acting in 
the usual course of his professional practice.” The DEA has developed a 
range of regulations to monitor and control provider registration for 
prescribing and dispensing controlled substances. One such regulation, 
21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a), places a corresponding responsibility on 
pharmacists and pharmacies to refuse to fill prescriptions that are not 
issued for a legitimate medical purpose.  

In this case the DEA has interpreted § 1306.04(a) so that a pharmacy 
violates its corresponding responsibility if it fills controlled substance 
prescriptions without resolving “red flags”. Under this interpretation, the 
DEA Administrator need not determine the underlying legitimacy of the 
prescriptions a pharmacy filled, but rather, may use “red flags” as a 
proxy to presume a prescription was illegitimate.  Supreme Court 9-0 
Ruan-Khan  vs United States could not be met to establish criminal 
negligence and falsely established diversion based solely on the use of 
“red flags “and performed absolutely no investigation  in Ruan v. United 
States holding that “§841(a)(1) and § 1306.04(a) require the government 
to provide that a practitioner-defendant either:  

(1) subjectively knew a prescription was issued not for a legitimate 
medical purpose; or  

(2) issued a prescription that was objectively not in the usual course of 
professional practice.” Going strictly by “pill,” numbers is not 
enough to support a prosecution. The government must prove that a  
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doctor prescribed controlled substances for no “legitimate medical 
reason” to impose criminal liability as a violation of Section 841(a) of 
the Controlled Substances Act. United States v. Outler, 659 F.2d  

Although § 1306.04(a) has been held genuinely ambiguous, the DEA’s 
interpretation of the regulation is not entitled to the [Auer] deference 
customarily awarded to an agency when it interprets its own regulation. 
This is because Auer deference is only appropriate where an agency’s 
interpretation of its genuinely ambiguous regulation is reasonable and an 
independent inquiry into the character and context of the agency’s 
interpretation entitles it to controlling weight.  

ANALYSIS 

The Government’s expert, Dr. Sullivan, testified at length that the 
prevailing professional standard of care applicable to the Appellant 
requires the Appellant and its pharmacists to conduct a prospective 
drug utilization review and attempt to resolve “red flags” – i.e., 
indicia of diversion or abuse – before filling (or refusing to fill) a 
prescription for controlled substances. Dr. Sullivan opined that there 
are many options available to a pharmacist to address “red flags,” 
including, inter alia, speaking with, observing, or even conducting a 
physical examination of the patient, communicating with the 
prescriber, and reviewing PDMP data. He also emphasized that there 
is no “one size fits all” approach to conducting a prospective drug 
utilization review, as each patient and prescription may present 
different circumstances that the pharmacist, in the exercise of his or 
her independent professional judgment regarding whether a 
prescription was issued for a legitimate medical purpose, must 
consider.  Dr. Sullivan was adamant that, whatever efforts a  
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pharmacist may make to resolve “red flags,” the prevailing standard 
of professional care absolutely and unequivocally requires that the 

pharmacist must document his efforts somewhere, whether in the 
pharmacy’s patient record management system (a/k/a, the “patient 
profile”) or, notably, on the face of the prescription itself. It is in this 
regard that the Government’s first contention falls short.  

It is beyond peradventure that the Government seized data from the 
Appellant during the execution of the OSC. It is also unquestionable 
that these data included images of the actual prescriptions filled by 
the Appellant during the relevant time period. Indeed, in the pre-
hearing phase of this proceeding, the parties extensively briefed this 
Tribunal on the whereabouts of the prescription image data seized 
by DEA. The Appellant alleged that when the DEA eventually 
returned Appellant’s computer equipment several months after the 
initial seizure, the Appellant discovered that the data were corrupted 
and/or rendered inaccessible in its computer system and certain 
items of hardware had been destroyed while in DEA custody. 
Through these pre-hearing  proceedings, it became clear that the 
Government was able to obtain images of the actual prescriptions 
filled by the Appellant. In fact, the Government included excerpts of 
certain prescription images in the demonstrative exhibit it used 
extensively at the hearing.  

Remarkably, though it clearly had these documents in its possession, 
the Government did not seek to introduce any of the original 
prescriptions, or even electronic images thereof, into evidence at the 
hearing. The Government’s expert also testified that he had not 
reviewed any of the actual prescriptions or images thereof, and had  
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not asked the DEA to provide those documents to him for review. 
Instead, the Government relied solely upon PDMP data – 
spreadsheet reports that DI Albert testified were generated from the 
PDMP and/or E-FORSCE databases.  

The Government’s exclusive reliance on PDMP data and its expert’s 
review thereof to prove that “red flags” were not resolved was 
insufficient for at least one glaring reason: its own expert testified 
that the prevailing standard of professional care required the 
Appellant to document the resolution of “red flags” in one of two 
places – either in the “patient profile” (i.e., in the Appellant’s patient 
management computer system), or on the face of the prescription 
itself.   It would confound logic to conclude, as the Government 
invites us to do, that the evidence demonstrates that Appellant failed 
to resolve “red flags” when the record is utterly devoid of even so 
much as a single, actual prescription. Stated differently, if the 
Appellant had the option to document resolution of “red flags” on 
the face of the prescriptions, but there is no record evidence before 
this Tribunal to suggest whether the Respondent documented 
resolution of “red flags” on the prescriptions (i.e., because there  are 
no prescriptions in evidence), then it cannot be said that the 
Appellant, in fact, failed to document its resolutions or attempted 
resolutions of “red flags.” At best, the likelihood that the Appellant 
resolved the “red flags” is equal to the likelihood that it failed to do 
so. We reach this conclusion because, as noted above, only half of 
the relevant evidence on this question is before us. To prove a 
factual assertion by a preponderance of the evidence, the 
Government must, at a minimum, show that it is more likely than  
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not that the \ Appellant failed to resolve the “red flags” in question. 
It has not done so.  

The DEA has developed a range of regulations to monitor and control 
provider registration for prescribing and dispensing controlled 
substances. One such regulation, 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a), places a 
corresponding responsibility on pharmacists and pharmacies to refuse to 
fill prescriptions that are not issued for a legitimate medical purpose.  

In this DEA has interpreted § 1306.04(a) so that a pharmacy violates its 
corresponding responsibility if it fills controlled substance prescriptions 
without resolving “red flags”. Under this interpretation, the DEA 
Administrator need not determine the underlying legitimacy of the 
prescriptions a pharmacy filled, but rather, may use “red flags” as a 
proxy to presume a prescription was illegitimate.  

Although § 1306.04(a) has been held genuinely ambiguous, the DEA’s 
interpretation of the regulation is not entitled to the [Auer] deference 
customarily awarded to an agency when it interprets its own regulation. 
This is because Auer deference is only appropriate where an agency’s 
interpretation of its genuinely ambiguous regulation is reasonable and an 
independent inquiry into the character and context of the agency’s 
interpretation entitles it to controlling weight.  

Further the DEA’s interpretation of § 1306.04(a) is unreasonable given 
the “near equivalence” of the regulation to the statutes in the CSA. This 
“near equivalency” means that it is these statutes the DEA has 
interpreted and not the regulation— power Congress has not entrusted to 
the DEA. The DEA’s interpretation is also unreasonable because it is 
inapposite given the Court’s characterization of willful blindness, which 
requires the existence of the fact a defendant is found willfully blind of. 
Here, that fact being whether the prescriptions Pronto Pharmacy filled 
were not issued for a legitimate medical purpose.  
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RULE 

A state may not issue commands to its citizens, under criminal 
sanctions, in language so vague and undefined as to afford no fair 
warning of what conduct might transgress them. Lanzetta v. State of 
New Jersey, 306 U.S. 451, 59 S.Ct. 618, 83 L.Ed. 888. Inexplicably 
contradictory commands in statutes ordaining criminal penalties 
have, in the same fashion, judicially been denied the force of 
criminal sanctions. United States v. Cardiff, 344 U.S. 174,  

B. The Government failed to prove that the Appellant dispensed 
prescriptions in the face of “unresolvable red flags,” or that the “red 
flags” presented were, in fact, inherently “unresolvable”  

Norman Clement, Jr. (“Mr. Clement, Jr.”) is the son of Norman J. 
Clement, R.Ph., DDS (“Dr. Clement”), the owner and PIC of the 
Appellant pharmacy.  Tr. 61:17.  Mr. Clement, Jr. is also a registered 
pharmacy technician.  Tr. 169:2-5.  It is unclear what geographic area 
Dr. Sullivan intended the term “pharmacy community” to encompass.  
Given his discussion of national statistics, he was presumably referring 
to the “pharmacy community” nationwide, and not specifically to the 
pharmacy community in Florida. (2)  

On cross-examination, Dr. Sullivan denied as untrue the proposition that 
a pharmacist who receives a suspicious-looking prescription for a 
controlled substance “usually calls the physician’s office to ask a few 
questions.”  Tr. 422:15-23.  Dr. Sullivan acknowledged having made 
precisely that assertion in a report that he authored in connection with an 
unrelated criminal case.  Tr. 429:9-11. Additionally, Dr. Sullivan later 
admitted, on cross-examination, that FAC Rule 64B16-27.831 requires a 
Florida pharmacist to initiate communication with the prescriber before 
refusing to fill a prescription.  Tr. 447:16-448:1.  
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It would seem that Dr. Sullivan’s example presents only a single “red 
flag,” to wit – presentation of a prescription for two high-strength 
narcotics.  While Dr. Sullivan testified that this “red flag” is 
unresolvable, he did not provide an example of a combination of red 
flags that he believes are, in his estimation, unresolvable. On re-direct 
examination, Dr. Sullivan added that this was not true with respect to the 
“prescriptions” purportedly contained in the Government’s 
demonstrative exhibit.  Tr. 501:25-502:2.  However, it must be noted that 
none of the purported prescriptions appearing in the Government’s 
demonstrative exhibit were introduced or admitted in evidence in this 
proceeding, and Dr. Sullivan admitted on several occasions that he did 
not review or attempt to review any actual prescriptions in this case at 
any time.  As such, Dr. Sullivan’s repeated assertion that the “red flags” 
presented in this case were “unresolvable” is, at best, doubtful. 
According to Dr. Sullivan, this trend has been recognized by the 
National Community Pharmacists’ Association.  Tr. 431:13-16. DEA 
regulations indicate that whether a registrant maintains effective controls 
against diversion is to be determined using the requirements of 21 C.F.R. 
§§ 1301.72-1301.76.  See 21 C.F.R. § 1301.71(a).  
______________________________ 
2. https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2022/09/24/pain-and-the-rules-of-law/ 
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C. The Government failed to prove that the Respondent 
“manufactured,” rather than “compounded,” Schedule II controlled 
substances  

ISSUE 

The other theory advanced by the Government is that the Appellant  
engaged in illegal “manufacturing” of Schedule II controlled substance, 
as opposed to permissible “compounding” of those materials. Applying 
the legal framework of the CSA, the Government thus contends that 
under factor 2 of § 823(e), the Respondent has not  

complied with applicable federal, state and local law. Accordingly, 
before turning to a consideration of the evidence before us, we must 
consider the requirements of applicable federal, state, and local law. 
The Appellant is registered with the DEA to “dispense” Schedule II 
controlled substances. The CSA defines “dispense” to mean “to deliver a 
controlled substance to an ultimate user or research subject by, or 
pursuant to the lawful order of, a practitioner, including the prescribing 
and administering of a controlled substance and the packaging, labeling 
or compounding necessary to prepare the substance for such delivery.” 
21 U.S.C. § 802(10) (emphasis supplied).   

The statute also defines the term “manufacture” to mean “the 
production, preparation, propagation, compounding, or processing of a 
drug or other substance, either directly or indirectly or by extraction 
from substances of natural origin, or independently by means of 
chemical synthesis or by a combination of extraction and chemical 
synthesis, and includes any packaging or repackaging of such substance 
or labeling or relabeling of its container; except that such term does 
not include the preparation, compounding, packaging, or labeling of 
a drug or other substance in conformity with applicable State or  
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local law by a practitioner as an incident to his administration or 
dispensing of such drug or substance in the course of his 
professional practice. 21 U.S.C. § 802(15) (emphasis supplied).  

The CSA does not supply a definition of “compounding.” However, 
because the CSA refers to the “compounding . . . of a drug . . . in 
conformity with applicable State or local law,” we can look to State law 
to supply the relevant definition.  Under Florida law, “compounding” is 
“the professional act by a pharmacist or other practitioner authorized by 
law, employing the science or art of any branch of the profession of 
pharmacy, incorporating ingredients to create a finished product for 
dispensing to a patient or for administration by a practitioner or the 
practitioner’s agent; and shall specifically include the professional act of 
preparing a unique finished product containing any ingredient or device 
defined by Sections 465.003(7) and (8), F.S.” FAC Rule 64B16-27.700. 
Pursuant to Rule 64B16-27.700, compounding specifically includes the 
following three (3) activities:  

• The preparation of drugs or devices in anticipation of 
prescriptions based on routine, regularly observed prescribing 
patterns.  

• The preparation pursuant to a prescription of drugs or devices 
which are not commercially available.  

• The preparation of commercially available products from bulk 
when the prescribing practitioner has prescribed the compounded 
product on a per prescription basis and the patient has been made 
aware that the compounded product will be prepared by the 
pharmacist. The reconstitution of commercially available products 
pursuant to the manufacturer’s guidelines is permissible without 
notice to the practitioner.  



APP- 30

 

(20) 

RULE 

FAC Rule 64B16-27.700(1) (emphasis supplied). 
Another federal law also provides guidance regarding the circumstances 
under which a pharmacist may compound drugs. The Federal Food, 
Drug, and Cosmetic Act (hereinafter, the “FDCA”) imposes certain 
requirements upon those who produce drugs for human use. See 21 
U.S.C. §§ 301-392, et seq. Sections 501, 502, and 505 of the act  set 
forth the obligations of human drug producers with respect to the 
implementation of current good manufacturing practices, drug labeling 
and directions for use, and the approval of new drug applications or 
abbreviated new drug applications. 21 U.S.C. §§ 351, 352, 355.  

However, a licensed pharmacist in a State licensed pharmacy who 
compounds human drug products is exempt from the aforementioned 
requirements of the FDCA if certain conditions are met. 21 U.S.C. § 
353a(a). Specifically, there are two (2) circumstances in which the 
compounding exemption applies, to wit-  

• If the drug is compounded by a licensed pharmacist in a State 
licensed pharmacy or a Federal facility, or a licensed physician, on 
the prescription order for an individual patient made by a licensed 
physician or other licensed practitioner authorized by state law to 
prescribe drugs, or  

• If the drug is compounded by a licensed pharmacist or licensed 
physician in limited quantities before the receipt of a valid 
prescription order for such individual patient if the compounding 
is based on a history of the licensed pharmacist or licensed 
physician receiving valid prescription orders for the 
compounding of the human drug product, and the orders have 
been generated solely within an established relationship between  
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• the licensed pharmacist or licensed physician and either such 
patient for whom the prescription order will be provided or the 
physician or other licensed practitioner who will write such 
prescription order.  

21 U.S.C. § 353a(a)(2)(A) (emphasis supplied). 

The latter practice described above, known as “anticipatory 
compounding,” can be beneficial not only because larger batch sizes can 
increase efficiency and reduce the  likelihood of human error associated 
with small batch compounding, but also because the limitations set forth 
in the statute serve to distinguish licensed pharmacists practicing 
permissible “compounding” under 503A of the FDCA from conventional 
manufacturers, who generally produce larger quantities of drugs that are 
distributed without a prescription.  

With all of the foregoing framework in mind, it would be fair to 
summarize the distinction between “manufacturing” and 
“compounding,” for purposes of applying the CSA in the instant 
proceeding, as follows:  

• “manufacturing” means the production of drugs, but does not 
include  
“compounding” in conformity with State and local law.  

• Neither the CSA nor the FDCA expressly defines “compounding,” 
but Florida law  
supplies the definition.  

•



APP- 32

 

(22) 

• Under Florida law, “compounding” is the incorporation of 
ingredients to create a  
finished drug product for dispensing to a patient, and specifically 
includes, inter alia, anticipatory compounding and preparation of 
commercially available products from bulk.  

• Anticipatory compounding may be practiced, in compliance with 
each of the federal and state laws referenced herein, by a licensed 
pharmacist in a State licensed pharmacy so long as the conditions 
of 21 U.S.C. § 353a(a)(2)(A) are satisfied.  

ANALYSIS 

Turning to the evidence before us, we cannot conclude that the Appellant 
was engaged in “manufacturing” as that term is defined by the CSA. The 
evidence included approximately 51 pages of batch records for limited 
quantities of two (2) different   strengths of hydromorphone, a Schedule 
II controlled substance. GE 5, 6. DI Albert was unable to identify the 
signatures and initials contained on these batch records and did not 
compare the number of doses of capsules reflected in the batch reports to 
the amount of drugs dispensed by the Appellant. There was no evidence 
that Appellant produced significantly large quantities of any drug, nor 
was there any evidence that Appellant sold or wholesaled any drug, in 
any quantity, to any distributor or reseller (such as would be expected in 
the case of a traditional drug manufacturer, whose business model 
typically involves the distribution of drugs to third parties without a 
prescription). There was also no evidence to suggest that the single drug 
compounded by Appellant was not compounded in anticipation of 
receipt of valid prescriptions based upon established historical  
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relationships with patients to whom the drug was prescribed and 
providers who prescribed it.  

CONCLUSION 

In fact, the evidence of record demonstrates that the Appellant dispensed 
a significant amount of hydromorphone, and Dr. Sullivan testified about 
the dispensing of this drug by Appellant on several occasions. In short, 
the evidence appears to suggest that the Appellant engaged in 
permissible anticipatory compounding in compliance with applicable 
federal and state law. Such practice is, according to the CSA, not 
encompassed within the definition of “manufacturing.” 21 U.S.C. § 
802(15).  

CONCLUSION  

The Appellant is a license pharmacist engaged in the practice of 
practice of pharmacy filing prescriptions legitimate medical use 
authorize by medical/dental providers license and authorize to treat 
patients. Federal law enforcement agencies are unqualified to 
determine whether drugs “have a useful and legitimate medical 
purpose and are necessary to maintain the health and general 
welfare of the American people.” 

Thus demands that this Court read this brief and vacate the Order of 
Revocation of Pronto’s Pharmacy DEA registration. In the 
alternative, remand the case back to the trial court for adjudication 
under the proper evidentiary standard.   

The decision in this case by this United States Court of Appeals 
District of Columbia will have far-reaching effects on the 
professions of Medicine, Dentistry, Nursing and other Mid-Level  
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Practitioners and Pharmacist.  The Appellant is a Pharmacist Not a 
Street Drug Dealer. 

WHEREFORE, WE DEMAND UPON THIS COURT:  

1. Grant this motion and reverse these findings and decision of 
the Administrative Court, return and restore all privileges of 
the DEA Control Registration Certificates of Pronto Pharmacy 
LLC.  

2. Further, Dismiss the Decision of the Administrative Judge 
Mark Dowd in agency case No: 19-42, Federal Registry filed 
1927282 on December 20, 2021with extreme prejudice.  

3. Return all Files, Equipment, Medication to Pronto Pharmacy 
Llc and its owner Norman J Clement of Tampa, Florida.  

4. The Court must send a clear and strong message in its final 
order to the deliberate misguided actions of the DEA we 
therefore Amend the Reward damages and penalties of 
amounts greater than $8.7 billion U.S. dollars TAX FREE, 
equivalent and base on the Purdue Pharma agreed DEA “RED 
FLAG” settlement of 8.3 billion dollars. 



APP- 35

 

(25) 

September 27 , 2022  

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED 

 Norman J Clement, pro se  

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on September 28, 2022 a true and correct 
copy of the foregoing was filed through US MAIL EXPRESS upon 
the following:  

I, Norman J Clement, hereby certify that I and agree to utilize 
jointly the foregoing Respondent’s Notice of Filing the Certified 
List of the Record with the Clerk of the Court for the  

United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, 
by using US MAIL on September 28, 2022. I certify further that 

Petitioner is pro se, and that service will is accomplished by 
electronic mail to:  

Anita Gay, Esq United States Department of Justice Criminal 
Division/ Narcotic and Dangerous Drugs Section 145 N Street, NE, 
Room 2E-404 Washington, D.C. 20002 (202) 353-7629 
anita.gay2@usdoj.gov  

Norman J Clement 
Norman J Clement pro. se prontopharmacy@aol.com  
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RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED to this court and request this body  
except this 6th supplemental brief to case 21-1262 Norman 
Clement, Pronto Pharmacy vs. Drug Enforcement Administration 

Documents in Times Roman  

3750 words  20 

2,267 footnotes table of content words, 10 pages,  
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE DISTRICT 
OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT  

Norman Clement, pro-se  

    Petitioner 

 
      Case: No. 21-1262  

v. 

Drug Enforcement Administration,  

    Respondent 
___________________________________  

MOTION FOR A REHEARING UNDER FEDERAL RULES OF 
APPELLATE PROCEDURE, RULE 35  

The Appellant moves, pro se, submits this fifth (5th) supplement 
with exhibits to his Petition request under Rule 35 before entire 
Panel for Rehearing En Banc from a May 25, 2022 decision , 
barring a summary reversal of the DEA Administrative court and 
further based on United States Supreme Court ruling in Ruan-Khan 
vs. United States case: No- 20-1410.  
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ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO DISMISS THE 
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DEFENDANT JAMES BARCLAY 
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previously entered guilty plea, REJECTSDefendant Barclay's plea 
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charging documents against Defendant Barclay. Accordingly, the 
Court DISMISSES WITH PREJUDICE the Indictment and 
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STATEMENT 

The question here is the Rule of Law. The most fundamental 
concept of our country, without which our society crumbles. That, 
then allows, for an agency to take anything they want unchecked 
based on their own manufactured rules and misinterpretation of 
laws, medical procedures guidelines, creating their own science and 
facts.  

The great fear at this moment here is the United States Drug 
Enforcement  Administration (DEA) has operated unchecked, as a 
rogue sub agency of government operating outside the rule of law.  
Creating their own medical science (Auer deference) seizing 
property  using omnipotent authority of ill gotten gain over the field 
of medicine and medical science.   

Specifically, mis-identifying the dosages and purposes of legally and 
medically prescribed FDA approved Narcotic Analgesic 
medications, “having a useful and legitimate medical purposes,” to 
be re-defined as “illegitimate.” mis-labeling all as “opioids.” 

Congress determined Federal law enforcement agencies are 
unqualified to determine whether drugs “have a useful and 
legitimate medical purpose and are necessary to maintain the health 
and general welfare of the American people.” 21 U.S.C. § 801(1). 

THOMAS W. PREVOZNIK, DEA DEPUTY ASSISTANT 
ADMINISTRATOR DIVERSION CONTROL DIVISION, 
LETTER TO: RICHARD A. LAWHERN, PH.D. DATED 

FEBRUARY 12, 2021 



APP- 47

 

(3) 

“ One of the most important principles underlying the CSA and its 
implementing regulations is that to be valid, every prescription for a 
controlled substance must be based on a determination by an individual 
practitioner, that the dispensing of the controlled substance is for a 
legitimate medical purpose in the usual course of professional practice. 
United States v. Moore, 423 U.S.C. 122 (1975) and 21 CFR 1306.04(a). 
Federal regulations do not define the term legitimate medical purpose 
nor do they set forth the standards of medical practice. It is up to each  

DEA-registered practitioner authorized by DEA to do so, to treat patients 
according to his or her professional medical judgement in accordance 
with a standard of medical practice that is generally recognized and 
accepted in the United States.  

While DEA is the agency responsible for enforcing the CSA, DEA does 
not act as the Federal equivalent of a state medical board overseeing the 
general practice of medicine and lacks the authority to issue guidelines 
that constitute advice relating to the general practice of medicine.”(1) 
———————————— 
1. (See exhibit 5-6F, Letter dated February 12, 2021, from: Thomas W. Prevoznik, DEA Deputy 
Assistant Administrator Diversion Control Division, to: Richard A. Lawhern, Ph.D. 3691 Nestling 
Lane Fort Mill, South Carolina 29708 lawhern@hotmail.com ) 

THOMAS W. PREVOZNIK, DEA DEPUTY ASSISTANT 
ADMINISTRATOR DIVERSION CONTROL DIVISION, 

LETTER TO: KEVIN NICHOLSON, RPH. DATED 
NOVEMBER 04, 2019 

 “The DEA lacks the authority to issue guidelines that constitute 
advice relating to the general practice of medicine. The DEA has not 
promulgated new regulations regarding the treatment of pain. 
Federal law and DEA regulations do not impose a specific 
quantitative minimum or maximum limit on the amount of  
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medication that may be prescribed on a single prescription on  
the duration of treatment intended with the prescribed 
controlled substance. The DEA has consistently emphasized and 
supported the prescriptive authority of an individual practitioner 
under the CSA to administer, dispense, and prescribe controlled 
substances for the legitimate treatment of pain within acceptable 
medical standards. This is outlined in the DEA's policy statement 
published in the Federal Register (FR) on September 6, 2006, titled, 
Dispensing Controlled Substances for the Treatment of Pain, 71 FR 
52716. {A copy is enclosed for your convenience.}” (2)(3)(4)  

———————————————- 

2. (See exhibit 5-4D , letter dated November 04, 2019, from: Thomas W. Prevoznik, Deputy Assistant Administrator Diversion Control 
Division, to: Kevin N. Nicholson, R.Ph., J.D.Vice President, Public Policy and Regulatory Affairs National Association of Chain Drng 
Stores1776 Wilson Boulevard Suite 200 Arlington, Virginia 22209) 

DEA LETTER TO CONGRESSWOMAN GRACE MENG, 
MEMBER OF CONGRESS SIXTY DISTRICT OF NEW 

YORK, DATED DECEMBER 18, 2021 

“As a Law Enforcement agency, DEA is not a position to authorize 
or dictate what a doctor prescribes to a patient. DEA cannot grant 
waivers of any kind when it comes to the practice of medicine 
because no such wavier exists. As the United States’ component 
body charged with the management of controlled substances and 
chemicals for scientific, medical research, and industrial 
applications; DEA regulates the flow of control substances, not the 
practice of medicine. The changing prescribing practices of 
practitioners are derived by a shift to prescribe medicine consistent 
with guidance issued by the Center for Disease Control and 
Prevention, along with guidance and recommendations of state 
boards of medicine.”(3) 
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Congress, therefore, did not even leave it to DEA to perform one of 
its core CSA functions—the scheduling of controlled substances— 
without health care agency oversight and evaluation. See id. § 
811(b) (“The Attorney General shall, before initiating proceedings . . 
. [to schedule or reschedule a drug] . . . request from the [HHS] 
Secretary a scientific and medical evaluation, . . . The 
recommendations of the Secretary to the Attorney General shall be 
binding . . . as to such scientific and medical matters.”).  

However, Pharmacists and pharmacies also get contradictory 
guidance from federal health agencies and even the DEA that often 
disagrees with the Appellants  licensing that pharmacists should 
interfere with a doctor’s individualized medical judgment.(ibid 4)(5) 

________________________________ 
3. (See exhibit 5-3c Congresswoman Grace Meng, Member of Congress Sixty District of New York, 
December 18, 2019). 

4. https://corporate.walmart.com/newsroom/2022/09/06/correcting-the-record-on-opioid-lawsuits-against-
walmart 

5. https://open.spotify.com/episode/2XcLGf4PCN0wNVLjxyAze6? si=EpDSJrvYTlCuiWwYqXUgWw 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND  

The Appellant is a Pharmacist Not a Street Drug Dealer. On August 
29, 2019, in the city of Tampa, Florida, Hillsborough County, Pronto 
Pharmacy 86 FR 647,14 (2021) was raided by DEA  agents. Norman 
Clement was acting in the capacity of a licensed’s pharmacist and 
authorized . Whereby a Pharmacist is a person who is professionally 
qualified to prepare and dispense medicinal drugs. This definition 
and is a statue within the Florida Administrative Code & Florida 
Administrative Register.  
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In this and other cases DEA Diversion Investigator using a 
subjective standard rather than an objective standard of proof  
“beyond the reasonable doubt,”  and who is “authorized” established  
by Supreme Court 9-0 in Ruan-Khan  vs United States. DEA 
Administrator could not be met to establish criminal negligence and 
thus falsely established diversion solely based on subjective 
standards  using of googles maps, red flags and performed 
absolutely no follow up investigation as found in Wheatland 
Pharmacy, 78 FR 69441, 69445 (2013) to establish diversion or 
evidence that any patients had diverted any prescription medications 
filled by pharmacist from Pronto Pharmacy LLC (see Decision and 
Order, Fed. Reg.86 FR 64714 (2021).  

Importantly, in Ruan v. United States holding that “§841(a)(1) and § 
1306.04(a) require the government to provide that a practitioner-
defendant either: (1) subjectively knew a prescription was issued not 
for a legitimate medical purpose; or (2) issued a prescription that 
was objectively not in the usual course of professional practice.” 

1. UNITED STATES DISMISSED INDICTMENT CASE NO. 
1:19-CR-81 JUDGE McFARLAND 

This matter is before the Court on the Unopposed Motion to Dismiss 
the Superseding Information and OriginalIndictment (Doc.150),as 
against Defendant James Barclay. Also before the Court is a letter 
submitted by Defendant Barclay(see exhibit 5.1A). Prosecutors had 
alleged in a 2019 indictment that Springboro, Ohio-based Miami- 
Luken, James Barclay and others failed to guard against illegal 
diversion of opioid pills in five states including West Virginia.  
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Prosecutors in this case elected to dismiss all defendants(s) charges 
in this case as they felt the standard of proof  “beyond the 
reasonable doubt,”  who is “authorized” established Supreme Court 
9-0 Ruan-Khan  vs United States could not be met to establish 
criminal negligence. It is based upon a fundamentally untenable 
procedure, whereby “the DEA Administrator created its own 
“changed circumstance” by “quashing” an Order that already had 
been determined by this Court to be valid and enforceable, rather 
than either choosing to comply with this Court’s Order or to file a 
further appeal. (see exhibit 5-5E page 8 thru 10), Federal 
regulations do not define the term legitimate medical purpose nor do 
they set forth the standards of medical practice. 

Further Prosecutors feared an Appeal  to a higher Court and 
therefore left open the fact the DEA Administrator acted beyond the 
authority to develop regulations to monitor and control provider 
registration for prescribing and dispensing controlled substances. 21 
U.S.C. § 823(f); 21 U.S.C. 824(a); Gonzales, 546 U.S. at 262 
(observing “Sections 823(f) and 824(a) explicitly grant the Attorney 
General the authority to register and deregister physicians…”).  

“It is entirely possible that an appellate court would view the issues 
differently than previously determined by this Court. However, the key 
here is that review of this Court’s Orders is appropriate only by an 
appellate court. An agency that has been directed to comply with a 
district court’s order has no authority to simply disregard it through use 
of a procedural end-run.” (see exhibit 5-5E page 8 thru 10) 
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Thus we have nexus this argument to Pronto Pharmacy LLC based   
here that the DEA Administrator has attained “omnipotent powers” 
not granted by Congress and has been wrongfully excersizing the 
use of their ill-attained authority to regulate the practice of medicine 
by criminalizing good faith medical mistakes being freely able to 
flip-flop, moving the goal post backward and forward generate rules 
policy and law without proper notice or hearing required by 
Congress See 21 U.S.C. § 903., and further  act as the Federal 
equivalent of a state medical board overseeing the general practice 
of medicine while they have lacked the authority to issue guidelines 
that constitute advice relating to the general practice of 
medicine.”…dictating what a doctor prescribes to a patient, 
promulgating regulations regarding the treatment of pain, imposing 
specific quantitative minimum or maximum limit such as 90MME 
on the amount of medication that may be prescribed on a single 
prescription on the duration of treatment intended with the 
prescribed controlled substance, simply “The DEA lacks the 
authority to issue guidelines that constitute advice relating to the 
general practice of medicine.”ibid (2) 

RULE 

The Controlled Substances Act (CSA) is a closed regulatory 
system enacted by Congress, making it unlawful to 
manufacture, distribute, dispense, or possess any controlled 
substance, except in a manner authorized by the Act. 21 U.S.C. 
§ 801 et seq.; Jones Total Health Care Pharmacy, LLC v. Drug  
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Enf’t Admin., 881 F.3d 823, 827, 830 (11th Cir. 2018) (quoting 
Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1, 13 (2005)). The Act entrusts the 
Attorney General with the authority to develop regulations to 
monitor and control provider registration for prescribing and 
dispensing controlled substances. 21 U.S.C. § 823(f); 21 U.S.C. 
824(a); Gonzales, 546 U.S. at 262 (observing “Sections 823(f) 
and 824(a) explicitly grant the Attorney General the authority 
to register and deregister physicians . . . ”). The Attorney 
General has delegated this authority to the Drug Enforcement 
Administration (DEA) Administrator, under which the 
Administrator has developed regulations to oversee provider 
registration. 21 U.S.C. § 871; Gonzales, 546 U.S. at 262; Final 
Rule: Redelegation of Functions; Delegation of Authority to 
Drug Enforcement Administration Official, 75 Fed. Reg. 4982 
(Feb. 1, 2010).   

CSA Section 841(a)(1) cannot be interpreted as criminalizing 
negligent prescribing because the statute is bereft of any 
indication—clear or otherwise— that Congress intended to 
grant a federal law enforce- ment agency such sweeping 
authority over the practice of medicine. (8)  

___________________________________ 

7. (See exhibit 5-4D , letter dated November 04, 2019, from: Thomas W. Prevoznik, Deputy 
Assistant Administrator Diversion Control Division, to: Kevin N. Nicholson, R.Ph., J.D.Vice 
President, Public Policy and Regulatory Affairs National Association of Chain Drng Stores).      
8. https://www.supremecourt.gov/DocketPDF 
20/20-1410/178631/20210507164642254_Ruan%20Amici%20Brief%20-
%20Final%20for%20Filing%20-%205-7-21.pdf 

Caption

Title
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ANALYSIS 

Congress, therefore, did not even leave it to DEA to perform one of 
its core CSA functions—the scheduling of controlled substances—
without health care agency oversight and evaluation. See id. § 
811(b) (“The Attorney General shall, before initiating proceedings . . 
. [to schedule or reschedule a drug] . . . request from the [HHS] 
Secretary a scientific and medical evaluation, . . . The 
recommendations of the Secretary to the Attorney General shall be 
binding . . . as to such scientific and medical matters.”).  

Pronto Pharmacy LLC; nexus this argument, see Decision and 
Order, Fed. Reg.86 FR 64714 (2021) the discretion of the DEA 
Administrative Court was not justified by the evidence and based 
exclusively on speculation. No finding of actual drug diversion was 
proven or found. No manufacturing of drugs occurred or proved 
beyond the reasonable doubt that both Pronto Pharmacy, it’s owner 
Norman J Clement subjectively knew a prescription was issued not 
for a legitimate medical purpose; or (2) issued a prescription that 
was objectively not in the usual course of professional practice.”  

CONCLUSION 

 Doctors and Pharmacist are not Street Drug Dealers in White Coats.  

1.  Illegal street drugs are not of identical, fungible, potency, or carry equivalent 
degrees of  fatal diversion and addiction risks to DEA-Scheduled, FDA- 

Title
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supervised, and controlled prescriptions drugs. The purity, doses, chemical 
structure, bioequivalence and /or means of intake of illegal street drugs versus 
DEA – scheduled / FDA- supervised medications are different. Street drugs and 
prescription drugs are not equivalent.  

2. Illegal street drugs and DEA-Scheduled, FDA- supervised medications require 
different registered users.  Doctors and pharmacist register with the DEA. Street 
drug dealers register with the Mexican / Columbian / or Russian Drug Cartels.   

3. Illegal Street Drugs Dealer and the DEA Registrant doctor are not equivalent.  
The doctors prescribe DEA-Scheduled, FDA- Supervised medications, with 
“intent to treat”.  On the other hand, street drug dealers act in furtherance of 
supremacy in the international illicit drug market. 

4. Doctors and pharmacist receive formal education from accredited schools of 
graduate education. Illegal street drug dealers receive informal education from 
the jails, the streets, and the Mexican / Columbian / Russian Drug Cartels.   

5. Doctors and pharmacist settle disputes with patients in the court system. On the 
other hand, drug dealers settle disputes via gang fights while using deadly 
weapons. The weapons are used  with intent to kill, intent to cause  grievous 
body harm, or felony murder. 

6. In conclusion, the education, experience, conduct, and registration of DEA 
registered doctors and street drug dealers are not the same.   

7. Doctors and pharmacists are not drug dealers in white coats.  

2. THE DEA ADMINISTRATIVE COURTS AND 
ADMINISTRATOR  ARE NOT INTEREST IN FINDING THE 

TRUTH 
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An Administrative Law Judge has the power to receive evidence and 
to issue subpoenas to compel the attendance of witnesses and the 
production of materials “necessary” for the hearing. See 21 C.F.R. 
§1316.52(d). However, DEA administrative revocation hearings do 
not include the type of discovery process that is available to civil 
litigants in this Court and are prevented from presenting witnesses 
such as the prescribing practitioners. As is found in Suntree Phar- 
macy and Suntree Medical Equipment, LLC; Decision and Order, 
85 Fed. Reg. at 73776-77.  On Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to the 
US Supreme Court at no point did the Acting Administrator 
determine the legitimacy of the underlying controlled substance 
prescriptions that Suntree Pharmacy filled, nor did any qualified 
healthcare professional comment on whether the prescriptions were 
issued for a legitimate medical purpose. Id. at 73774-75.  

The Acting Administrator also never heard testimony from any 
patients and prevented testimony from the physicians who 
prescribed the controlled substances Suntree Pharmacy filled. Id. at 
73754. Instead, the Acting Administrator simply relied on “red 
flags” identified by Dr. Gordon, a clinical hospice pharmacist for 
ProCare RX, working from home as a consultant (i.e., not a retail 
pharmacist), and used these “red flags” as a proxy to conclude the 
prescriptions were illegitimate. Id. at 73754, 73774-75; R. 6 at 21; 
See Br. at 15-20 (describing in detail Dr. Gordon’s testimony). To 
this day, the DEA has never followed-up with or penalized the 
medical providers who prescribed these so-called “illegitimate” 
controlled substances that Sun- tree Pharmacy filled. (9)  
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In both the cases of Pronto Pharmacy LLC and James Barclay et al., 
are similarly situated and nexus that Dr. Donald Sullivan professors 
at the Ohio State University College of Pharmacy working from 
home was used in both cases as the Pharmacy Expert consultant 
and used “red flags” as a proxy to conclude the prescriptions were 
'illegitimate.' (See Decision and Order, Fed. Reg.86 FR 64714 
(2021) id. at https://www.federalregister.gov/d/2021-25133/p-87) 

_________________________ 

9. The owner of  Suntree Pharmacy is both a pharmacist and licensed practicing Attorney. Suntree 
Medical LLC was a separate closed-door pharmacy that did not dispense retail prescriptions. Suntree Medical 
had a separate DEA registration and was not in any way engaged in the conduct in the Order to Show Cause.  

JAMES BARCLAY’S LETTER TO THE COURT 

In a letter (see exhibit 5-1A) to the court, Honorble James 
McFarland, Mr. Barclay said he had;  

“ repeatedly contacted the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration 
for guidance about opioid orders, and either received no response or 
was told that whether to fill an order was purely a "business 
decision."  He also said;  

“ the DEA had proof from the beginning of its investigation that 
Barclay lacked any authority to cancel orders personally. "I was 
indicted because the DEA failed to do their job, and the 
government needed a scapegoat after the publicity of the opioid 
problems in West Virginia,” 
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Plaintiff Miami-Luken is a Dayton Ohio pharmaceutical wholesaler 
with a DEA registration that permits it to operate its business. For 
nearly a decade, 3 Plaintiff has been under DEA scrutiny for 
“facilitat[ing] the diversion of significant quantities of the highly 
addictive pain killers, oxycodone and hydrocodone.” The Court took 
judicial notice of the fact that the referenced prescription drugs are 
among a class of opioids that have been commonly recognized as 
contributing to an ongoing opioid crisis in the United States. Over 
the course of its investigation, the DEA has issued numerous 
investigatory subpoenas to Miami-Luken, requiring the production 
of documents to DEA investigators, primarily in the Cincinnati, 
Ohio office. 

RULE 

Supreme Court 9-0 Ruan-Khan  vs United States could not be met to 
establish criminal negligence. and falsely established diversion 
based solely on the use of googles maps and performed absolutely 
no investigation  in Ruan v. United States holding that “§841(a)(1) 
and § 1306.04(a) require the government to provide that a 
practitioner-defendant either: (1) subjectively knew a prescription 
was issued not for a legitimate medical purpose; or (2) issued a 
prescription that was objectively not in the usual course of 
professional practice.” Going strictly by “pill,” numbers is not 
enough to support a prosecution. The government must prove that a 
doctor prescribed controlled substances for no “legitimate medical 
reason” to impose criminal liability as a violation of Section 841(a) 
of the Controlled Substances Act. United States v. Outler, 659 F.2d  
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1306, 1309 (5th Cir. 1981). The “lack of a legitimate medical reason 
is as essential to the offense charged against [a doctor] as the 
requisite mens rea.” Id. (emphasis added). This Court should 
reinforce that requirement here. 

ANALYSIS 

An order purporting to be a prescription issued not in the usual 
course of professional treatment or in legitimate and authorized 
research is not a prescription within the meaning and intent of 
section 309 of the Act (21 U.S.C. [§] 829) and the person knowingly 
filling such a purported prescription, as well as the person issuing it, 
shall be subject to the penalties provided for violations of the 
provisions of law relating to controlled substances. 21 C.F.R. § 
1306.04(a) (emphasis added). A pharmacist violates this provision 
only if the pharmacist “knowingly fill[s]” a “purported” prescription
—i.e., a prescription that was not written “in the usual course of 
professional treatment.” These critical limitations on a pharmacist’s 
possible liability under § 1306.04 are no accident. They were added 
to the regulation intentionally to avoid the un- warranted and 
counterproductive imposition of liabiity.  When first proposed in 
1971, the regulation lacked the word “knowingly,” which would 
have allowed penalties for any “person filling [an illegitimate] 
prescription.” Purpose of Issue of Prescription, 36 Fed. Reg. 4847, 
4948 (Mar. 13, 1971).  Pharmacists protested such an expansive 
rule, however, and during the comment period specifically “objected 
to the responsibility placed upon a pharmacist under § [1306.04] to 
determine the legitimacy of a prescription.” Comments and 
Objections to Part 306, 36 Fed. Reg. 7776, 7777 (Apr. 24, 1971).  
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The DEA agreed with these comments and changed the legal 
standard in the final regulations, noting the “language [was] revised 
to require knowledge.”(10) 

CONCLUSION 

The “DEA failed to do their job, and the government needed a 
scapegoat after the publicity of the opioid problems.” As in Pronto 
Pharmacy LLC, Tampa Florida, Sun Tree Pharmacy and Jame 
Barclay et al., (see exhibit 5-1A James Barclays’ letter) all control 
medications ordered were legitimate, compounded, distributed or 
dispense by the prescriptive authority of an individual practitioner 
under the CSA to administer, dispense, and prescribe controlled 
substances for the legitimate treatment of pain within acceptable 
medical standards. This is outlined in the DEA's policy statement 
published in the Federal Register (FR) on September 6, 2006, 
titled, Dispensing Controlled Substances for the Treatment of 
Pain, 71 FR 52716. 

___________________________ 

9. The owner of  Suntree Pharmacy is both a pharmacist and licensed practicing Attorney. Suntree 
Medical LLC was a separate closed-door pharmacy that did not dispense retail prescriptions. Suntree Medical 
had a separate DEA registration and was not in any way engaged in the conduct in the Order to Show Cause.  

10. https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2022/02/04/pronto-pharmacy-llc-files-dispositive-motion-
challenging-doj-dea-in-united-states-court-of-appeals-for-the-district-of-columbia-circuit/ pg.2 
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ARGUMENT 

The regulation at the heart of this case, 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a), provides: 
“A prescription for a controlled substance to be effective must be issued 
for a legitimate medical purpose by an individual practitioner acting in 
the usual course of his professional practice.”  

Leo Beletsky of Northeastern calls the government crackdown on 
prescribers getting low-hanging fruit. “The DEA measures success based 
on the number of arrests and prosecutions. Doctors are minor players. 
263 physicians were convicted by the DEA on charges between 
2003-2017, and over 3000 were forced to surrender their licenses.  

They create their targets.  

Who is the biggest prescriber in a region, state, and nationwide? They 
are investigated? 

Who does the most procedures?  

They use ‘flags’ like distance traveled forgetting that by disincentivizing 
and terrorizing prescribers there is no one left to prescribe, and patients 
must travel farther for the same services.  The flags created during the 
pill mill era are now self-perpetuating. If you mine data enough you 
might find something and law enforcement can access data without 
individualized suspicion, probable cause, or any judicial review.   

“Numbers alone can’t determine whether a crime has been committed: 
The ‘normal’ amount of opioid prescribing for a physician treating 
pain or addiction will inevitably be much higher than the average for all 
doctors or the typical amount in most other specialties.”  
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APPENDIX 

Case: 1:19-cr-00081-MWM Doc #: 147 Filed: 08/02/22 Page: 1 of 2 
PAGEID #: 1213 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff, 

v. 
ANTHONY RATTINI, et al., 

Defendants. 

CASE NO. 1:19-CR-81 JUDGE McFARLAND 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN 
DISTRICT OF OHIO WESTERN DIVISION 

UNOPPOSED MOTION TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT 
WITHOUT PREJUDICE AND STIPULATION 

Pursuant to Rule 48(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, 
the United States of America hereby moves to dismiss the 
Indictment against all remaining defendants in this case, without 
prejudice. The parties hereby agree to unconditionally release and 
hold harmless the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern 
District of Ohio, Drug Enforcement Administration, its officers, 
employees and agents, and all other federal, state, and local law  
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enforcement agencies involved in the investigation and prosecution 
of the above-captioned case from any and all claims, demands, 
causes of actions or suits, of whatever kind and description, and 
wheresoever situated, that might now exist or hereafter exist by 
reason of or growing out of or affecting, directly or indirectly from 
this investigation and prosecution.  

Respectfully submitted, 

   KENNETH L. PARKER  

United States Attorney 

s/ Nicole Pakiz 

NICOLE PAKIZ (0096242)  

 
Case: 1:19-cr-00081-MWM Doc #: 147 Filed: 08/02/22 Page: 2 of 2 

PAGEID #: 1214 

s/ Sheila G. Lafferty 

SHEILA G. LAFFERTY (0042554) 

s/ Timothy D. Oakley 

TIMOTHY D. OAKLEY (0039965)  

Assistant United States Attorneys  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 2nd day of August 2022, a copy of the 
foregoing Unopposed Motion to Dismiss the Indictment Without 
Prejudice and Stipulation was filed electronically. Notice of this filing 
will be sent to all parties by operation of the Court’s electronic filing 
system. 

s/ Nicole Pakiz 

NICOLE PAKIZ (0096242) Assistant United States Attorney  

________________________________________________ 

CONCLUSION 

The Appellant is a license pharmacist engaged in the practice of 
practice of pharmacy filing prescriptions legitimate medical use 
authorize by medical/dental providers license and authorize to treat 
patients. Federal law enforcement agencies are unqualified to 
determine whether drugs “have a useful and legitimate medical 
purpose and are necessary to maintain the health and general 
welfare of the American people.” 

Thus demands that the Court vacates the Order of Revocation of 
Pronto’s Pharmacy DEA registration. In the alternative, remand the 
case back to the trial court for adjudication under the proper  
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evidentiary standard.  The decision in this case by this United States 
Court of Appeals  for the District of Columbia will have far-
reaching effects on the professions of Medicine, Dentistry, Nursing 
and other Mid-Level Practitioners and Pharmacist.  The Appellant is 
a Pharmacist Not a Street Drug Dealer.

WHEREFORE, WE DEMAND UPON THIS COURT: 

1. Grant this motion and reverse these findings and decision of 
the Administrative Court, return and restore all privileges of 
the DEA Control Registration Certificates of Pronto Pharmacy 
LLC.  

2. Further, Dismiss the Decision of the Administrative Judge 
Mark Dowd in agency case No: 19-42, Federal Registry filed 
1927282 on December 20, 2021with extreme prejudice.  

3. Return all Files, Equipment, Medication to Pronto Pharmacy 
Llc and its owner Norman J Clement of Tampa, Florida.  

4. The Court must send a clear and strong message in its final 
order to the deliberate misguided actions of the DEA we 
therefore Amend the Reward damages and penalties of 
amounts greater than $8.7 billion U.S. dollars TAX FREE, 
equivalent and base on the Purdue Pharma agreed DEA “RED 
FLAG” settlement of 8.3 billion dollars. 
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September 14 , 2022  

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED 

 Norman J Clement, pro se 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on September 14, 2022 a true and correct 
copy of the foregoing was filed through US MAIL EXPRESS upon 
the following: 

I, Norman J Clement, hereby certify that I and agree to utilize 
jointly the foregoing Respondent’s Notice of Filing the Certified 
List of the Record with the Clerk of the Court for the 

United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, 
by using US MAIL on September 14, 2022. I certify further that 
Petitioner is pro se, and that service will is accomplished by 
electronic mail to: 

Anita Gay, Esq United States Department of Justice Criminal 
Division/ Narcotic and Dangerous Drugs Section 145 N Street, NE, 
Room 2E-404 Washington, D.C. 20002 (202) 353-7629 
anita.gay2@usdoj.gov  

Norman J Clement 
Norman J Clement pro. se prontopharmacy@aol.com 
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RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED to this court and request this body  
except this 5th supplemental brief to case 21-1262 Norman 
Clement, Pronto Pharmacy vs. Drug Enforcement Administration
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

WESTERN DWISION - CINCINNATI

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

V.

JAMES BARCLAY,

Case No. l:19-cr-81

Judge Matthew W. McFarland

Defendant.

ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO DISMISS THE SUPERSEDING
INFORMATION AND INDICTMENT AGAINST DEFENDANT JAMES BARCLAY

This matter is before the Court on the Unopposed Motion to Dismiss the

Superseding Information and Original Indictment (Doc. 150), as against Defendant James

Barclay. Also before the Court is a letter submitted by Defendant Barclay (Doc. 152).

In the interests of justice/ the Court VACATES Defendant Barclay's previously

entered guilty plea, REJECTS Defendant Barclay's plea agreement/ and GRANTS the

unopposed motion to dismiss the charging documents against Defendant Barclay.

Accordingly, the Court DISMISSES WITH PREJUDICE the Indictment and

Superseding Information against Defendant Barclay.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

By:
\^ ^j

JUDGE MATTHEW W. McFARLAND

Case: 1:19-cr-00081-MWM Doc #: 153 Filed: 08/26/22 Page: 1 of 1  PAGEID #: 1225
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www.dea.gov 

Kevin N. Nicholson, R.Ph., J.D. 

U.S. Department of Justice 
Drug Enforcement Administration 
8701 Morrissette D1ive 
Springfield, Virginia 22152 

NOV O 2019 

Vice President, Public Policy and Regulatory Affairs 
National Association of Chain Drng Stores 
1776 Wilson Boulevard 
Suite 200 
Arlington, Virginia 22209 

Dear Mr. Nicholson: 

This is in response to your letter dated July 12, 2019, to the Drug Enforcement Administration 
(DEA), where you asked the DEA to clarify its position on whether the Depmiment of Justice and/or 
the DEA has a medical position on the medical basis of specific prescription dmg therapies. The 
DEA appreciates the opportunity to address your letter. Identical responses have been sent to Mr. 
Menighan and Ms. Hauser, co-signers of your original inquiry to the DEA. 

The DEA may only address its position based on the auth01ity granted by the Controlled 
Substances Act (CSA) and its implementing regulations. As a general matter, it has been the DEA's 
longstanding policy not to provide legal advice to private parties. In that vein, we can provide the 
following general information. Please be advised that this is not meant to be an exhaustive list of 
every stah1tory provision or regulation that might apply to your inquiry. 

The CSA established a closed system of distribution with built-in checks and balances to ensure 
appropriate medical care and to maintain the integrity of the system through an accountability 
process. One of the most impmiant principles underlying the CSA and its implementing regulations 
is that to be valid every prescription for a controlled substance must be based on a detennination by 
an individual practitioner that the dispensing of controlled substances is for a legitimate medical 
purpose in the usual course of professional practice. United States v. lvloore, 423 US. 122 (1975) 
and Title 21, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 1306.04(a) (21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a)). Federal 
regulations do not define the tenn legitimate medical purpose nor do they set forth the standards of 
medical practice. It is up to each DEA-registered practitioner to treat a patient according to his or 
her professional medical judgement, as long as it is generally recognized and accepted in the United 
States. Although the DEA is the agency responsible for administering the CSA, the DEA does not 
act as the federal equivalent of a state medical board overseeing the general practice of medicine. 
The DEA lacks the authority to issue guidelines that constitute advice relating to the general practice 
of medicine. 

The DEA has not promulgated new regulations regarding the treatment of pain. Federal law and 
DEA regulations do not impose a specific quantitative minimum or maximum limit on the amount 
of medication that may be prescribed on a single prescription, or the duration of treatment intended 
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with the presc1ibed controlled substance. The DEA has consistently emphasized and supported the 
prescriptive authority of an individual practitioner under the CSA to administer, dispense, and 
prescribe controlled substances for the legitimate treatment of pain within acceptable medical 
standards. This is outlined in the DEA's policy statement published in the Federal Register (FR) on 
September 6, 2006, titled, Dispensing Controlled Substances for the Treatment of Pain, 71 FR 
52716. A copy is enclosed for your convenience, 

I tlust this letter adequately addresses your inquiry. For infonnation regarding the Diversion 
Control Division, please visit www.DEAdiversion.usdoj.gov. If you have any additional 
questions on this issue, or any other, please contact the Diversion Control Division Policy Section at 
(571) 362-3260, 

Enclosure 

Sincerely, 

t//Ac~l/;v (~-- .. 
Thomas W. Prevoznik 
Deputy Assistant Administrator 
Diversion Control Division 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

WESTERN DIVISION 
 

MIAMI-LUKEN, INC.,       Case No. 1:16-mc-012  
 

Plaintiff,       Dlott, J.  
Bowman, M.J.  

v.  
 
UNITED STATES 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,  
DRUG ENFORCEMENT ADMINISTRATION  
 

Defendant. 
 

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 
 

 Pursuant to custom and practice, this miscellaneous action was referred to the 

undersigned magistrate judge.  Currently pending is the DEA’s Rule 60(b)(5) motion to 

set aside the prior decision of this Court.  I now recommend that the DEA’s motion be 

DENIED. 

I. Background 

The underlying action was initiated in this Court on May 18, 2016, when Plaintiff 

Miami-Luken, Inc. (“Miami-Luken”) filed an “emergency motion” seeking to compel the 

Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) to comply with an administrative subpoena1 

issued by Chief Administrative Law Judge (“CALJ”) John J. Mulrooney.2  However, the 

administrative proceedings that led to this federal litigation began much earlier. 

                                                           
1Virtually all administrative subpoena disputes that percolate up to the federal court level involve 
investigatory subpoenas, not adjudicatory subpoenas like the one at issue in this case.  The differences 
between the two types were discussed in the prior Order of this Court. Thus, at the outset, the 
undersigned acknowledges (as do the parties) that there is little if any case law precisely on point.  (See 
Doc. 23 at 11). 
2Judge Mulrooney is the first author of Drug Diversion Administrative Revocation and Application 
Hearings for Medical and Pharmacy Practitioners: A Primer for Navigating Murky, Drug-infested Waters, 
78 Alb. L. Rev. 327 (2015).  He currently presides as the DEA CALJ, but his public service career 
includes prior practice as an Assistant U.S. Attorney, a Department of Justice/INS trial attorney, an 
assistant district attorney, a Navy judge advocate, and a judicial law clerk, as well as service as a judge 

Case: 1:16-mc-00012-SJD-SKB Doc #: 33 Filed: 08/01/17 Page: 1 of 17  PAGEID #: <pageID>
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Plaintiff Miami-Luken is a Dayton Ohio pharmaceutical wholesaler with a DEA 

registration that permits it to operate its business.  For nearly a decade,3 Plaintiff has 

been under DEA scrutiny for “facilitat[ing] the diversion of significant quantities of the 

highly addictive pain killers, oxycodone and hydrocodone.”  (Doc. 11 at 2.)  The Court 

takes judicial notice of the fact that the referenced prescription drugs are among a class 

of opioids that have been commonly recognized as contributing to an ongoing opioid 

crisis in the United States.  Over the course of its investigation, the DEA has issued 

numerous investigatory subpoenas to Miami-Luken, requiring the production of 

documents to DEA investigators, primarily in the Cincinnati, Ohio office.  

The DEA conducts administrative, civil, and criminal proceedings.  Among the 

administrative tools that the DEA has employed to combat the opioid crisis are 

immediate suspension orders and revocation orders. Although an immediate 

suspension order may be entered without a hearing, revocation orders involve a 

different administrative process.  Compare 21 U.S.C. § 824(c) and (d).  On November 

23, 2015, the DEA issued an Order to Show Cause (“OSC”) against the Plaintiff to begin 

the process of revoking the Plaintiff’s registration to distribute controlled substances 

under a provision of the Controlled Substances Act, as “inconsistent with the public 

interest.”  (Doc. 1-2.); see 21 U.S.C. § 824(a)(4).  As part of the revocation process, an 

evidentiary hearing (at which the DEA bears the burden of proof) was scheduled by 

CALJ Mulrooney to take place on May 10, 2016. See 21 C.F.R. §1301.44(e). 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
on the Navy-Marine Corps Court of Criminal Appeals and as an administrative law judge at the Social 
Security Administration.  Id. at n.a1. 
3Although precise dates are not clear from the record of this Court, the investigation appears to have 
begun in 2007 or 2008.  The DEA generally alleges that Miami-Luken illegally distributed hundreds of 
thousands, if not millions, of dosage units of oxycodone and hydrocodone in the Appalachian region of 
Ohio, Kentucky, and West Virginia, and that it will continue to do so until such time as its registration is 
revoked.  (Doc. 11 at 9, additional citation omitted). 

Case: 1:16-mc-00012-SJD-SKB Doc #: 33 Filed: 08/01/17 Page: 2 of 17  PAGEID #: <pageID>
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Prior to that revocation hearing, Miami-Luken filed a Request for Issuance of a 

Subpoena (Doc. 1-3) that sought a large number of DEA records that Plaintiff asserted 

were necessary to adequately defend itself.  An ALJ has the power to receive evidence 

and to issue subpoenas to compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of 

materials “necessary” for the hearing. See 21 C.F.R. §1316.52(d). However, 

administrative revocation hearings do not include the type of discovery process that is 

available to civil litigants in this Court.  Citing that principle, the DEA objected to the 

issuance of an adjudicatory subpoena that would require the DEA to produce any 

records, other than those that the DEA itself planned to use at the hearing.  In an April 

12 omnibus order denying Miami-Luken’s request, CALJ Mulrooney agreed that the 

subpoena was “simply too broad,” with portions amounting to an impermissible “fishing 

expedition” (Doc. 1-4 at 14).  Nevertheless, the CALJ denied the request without 

prejudice to Miami-Luken to amend its request by April 18, 2016. (Doc. 1-4 at 16, n.24).  

On April 18, 2016, Miami-Luken timely submitted a Supplemental Request for 

Issuance of a Subpoena, requesting four specific categories of documents. (Doc. 1-5).  

The same day, without awaiting any additional response from the DEA, the CALJ 

granted the amended request and issued the subpoena, directing DEA to produce three 

of the four categories of documents prior to the administrative hearing. (Doc. 1-6).  On 

May 3, the DEA filed a motion for reconsideration or, in the alternative, for leave to file 

an interlocutory appeal to the DEA Administrator. (Doc. 1-8).  In part, the DEA argued 

that to comply with the subpoena would cause the DEA “irreparable harm.” (Id.) 

On May 4, the CALJ denied the DEA’s motion, refusing either to reconsider the 

issuance of the subpoena or to allow an interlocutory appeal. (Doc. 1-9).  Instead, the 

CALJ held that to the extent that the DEA wished to further contest the subpoena, 

Case: 1:16-mc-00012-SJD-SKB Doc #: 33 Filed: 08/01/17 Page: 3 of 17  PAGEID #: <pageID>
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further arguments “are properly made only before a ‘court of the United States.’” (Id. at 

7).  The Office of Chief Counsel for the DEA filed a “Government Notice” in response to 

the CALJ’s May 4 order on the same day, which “respectfully decline[d] to comply” with 

the subpoena.  (Doc. 1-10).   

In response to the DEA’s refusal to comply with the subpoena issued by CALJ 

Mulrooney, Miami-Luken requested a stay of the scheduled hearing, and the CALJ 

granted that request. (Doc. 1-11).  To date, the stay of the revocation proceeding at the 

administrative level remains in effect, pending the outcome of this federal litigation. 

As stated, after the DEA refused to comply with the subpoena, Miami-Luken filed 

an “emergency motion” in this Court seeking to enforce the subpoena as necessary to 

the hearing in part on due process grounds.  The DEA vigorously defended its refusal to 

comply with the subpoena, arguing that its issuance contravenes “decades of practice 

and precedent regarding the scope of disclosures that are required or appropriate in 

DEA administrative proceedings.”  (Doc. 11 at 10).  On July 15, 2016, the undersigned 

filed a Memorandum Order that granted in part Plaintiff’s motion to enforce the 

administrative subpoena.  The undersigned directed the DEA to comply with the 

subpoena within 21 days, but narrowed its scope.  (Doc. 15).  Thus, the undersigned 

directed production of only two categories of materials out of the three categories 

authorized by the CALJ.  The Order further stated that the DEA would be permitted to 

respond to the remaining two categories by disclosing “reasonably redacted” documents 

that protected “sensitive information in …investigative reports not relevant to the [DEA’s] 

findings as they relate to Miami-Luken – for example, investigatory techniques.“   (Doc. 

15 at 18).   

Case: 1:16-mc-00012-SJD-SKB Doc #: 33 Filed: 08/01/17 Page: 4 of 17  PAGEID #: <pageID>
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 On July 29, 2016, U.S. District Judge Dlott granted the DEA’s unopposed motion 

to stay the Order pending the Court’s ruling on Objections.  Following full briefing by the 

parties, Judge Dlott granted the DEA’s request for oral argument on its Objections, 

setting a hearing for February 17, 2017. (Doc. 23).   On April 21, 2017, after considering 

“de novo all the filings in this matter,” Judge Dlott overruled the DEA’s Objections and 

adopted the undersigned’s Memorandum Order.4 Judge Dlott’s Order also terminated 

the case. (Doc. 24).   

The entry of the April 21, 2017 Order enforcing the subpoena reinstated the 21 

day clock for the DEA to comply with that subpoena, as modified by this Court.  

However, on the last date for compliance, the DEA filed an “Emergency Motion to Stay” 

dismissal of this case and to excuse any further compliance with the Court’s Order.  The 

DEA’s motion stated that the DEA Acting Administrator had issued a May 12, 2017 

Order that quashed the subpoena issued by CALJ Mulrooney.  Because this Court’s 

Order directs the DEA to comply with a subpoena that (purportedly) has been quashed, 

the DEA stated its intention to move for relief from this Court’s judgment.  On May 16, 

2017, Judge Dlott granted the DEA’s motion for a temporary emergency stay “pending 

the later of (i) the resolution of the DEA’s forthcoming motion for relief from judgment or 

(ii) any appeal of the Court’s judgment has been resolved.”  (Doc. 26).   

 The DEA did not appeal this Court’s final order of enforcement of the subpoena 

to the Sixth Circuit, but instead, filed a motion seeking relief from this Court under Rule 

60(b)(5) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  Miami-Luken has filed a response, to 
                                                           
4The Memorandum Order filed by the undersigned on July 15, 2016 determined that the enforcement of 
an administrative subpoena was a non-dispositive matter that did not require a Report and 
Recommendation.  In adopting the Memorandum Order over the DEA’s objections, Judge Dlott appears 
to have concurred with that analysis.  In light of the issues of law presented and Judge Dlott’s express 
statement that she conducted a “de novo” review of the same, however, any distinction between the 
original filing of an Order or R&R was rendered moot.  An R&R is filed to address the DEA’s current 
motion, because 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)  authorizes disposition by order only of pretrial matters.  A Rule 
60(b)(5) motion is not a “pretrial matter.” 

Case: 1:16-mc-00012-SJD-SKB Doc #: 33 Filed: 08/01/17 Page: 5 of 17  PAGEID #: <pageID>
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which the DEA has filed a reply.  On June 14, 2017, Judge Dlott referred the Rule 

60(b)(5) motion to the undersigned.   

On June 15, 2017, the parties filed a Joint Notice of Related Case, attesting to 

the fact that Miami-Luken independently has appealed the DEA Administrator’s May 12, 

2017 Order to the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals.  See Miami-Luken, Inc. v. DEA, Case 

No. 17-3614 (6th Circuit).   The pendency of that appeal impacts this case, but does not 

stay proceedings in this Court. 

II. Analysis 

The issues presented form a procedural maze (or perhaps quagmire), with 

sufficient interplay between the Administrative Procedures Act and the Controlled 

Substances Act, that proverbial rabbit holes abound at every twist and turn.   However, 

keeping the Court’s focus on the standards of Rule 60(b)(5), and for the reasons that 

follow, the undersigned recommends the denial of Defendant’s motion for relief of 

judgment, without prejudice to renew such motion following disposition of the related 

appeal in the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals. 

Rule 60(b), Fed. R. Civ. P., provides that “[o]n motion and just terms, the court 

may relieve a party or its legal representative from a final judgment, order or 

proceeding” based on a list of specified reasons.  Rule 60(b)(5), the provision under 

which the DEA proceeds, offers relief if “the judgment has been satisfied, released or 

discharged, it is based on an earlier judgment that has been reversed or vacated, or 

applying it prospectively is no longer equitable.”  The DEA readily admits it has not 

complied with this Court’s April 21, 2017 Order directing it to immediately comply with 

the adjudicatory subpoena, with a corresponding production of materials to Miami-

Case: 1:16-mc-00012-SJD-SKB Doc #: 33 Filed: 08/01/17 Page: 6 of 17  PAGEID #: <pageID>
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Luken.  However, the DEA argues that the Order requiring the DEA to comply with the 

administrative subpoena “is no longer equitable.”  (Doc. 27).  

The DEA represents that “[i]n the course of reviewing DEA’s compliance 

obligations under the April 21 Order, specifically with respect to the assertion of 

privileges, the DEA Administrator had his first occasion to review the underlying 

administrative subpoena,…”  (Doc. 27 at 3).  The DEA maintains that the Administrator 

“had not previously reviewed the issuance of the administrative subpoena because the 

CALJ had denied a request for interlocutory appeal on that issue.” (Id.)  The DEA goes 

on to reason that because the CALJ issued the subpoena under power delegated to 

ALJs by the Administrator, the Administrator (implicitly) was permitted to review the 

underlying administrative subpoena when directed to comply with that subpoena by this 

Court.  The DEA contends that once the Administrator identified “multiple errors 

committed by the CALJ” in his issuance of the subpoena that this Court enforced, the 

Administrator determined that letting the subpoena remain in effect would “adversely 

affect the Agency’s administrative adjudication process.” (Doc. 27 at 2-3, citing Doc. 25-

1, May 12, 2017 DEA Administrator Order at 11).   

Contrary to this Court’s determination, the Administrator concluded that the CALJ 

exceeded the CALJ’s authority in issuing the subpoena, that the documents are “neither 

relevant nor material,” and therefore are not necessary for the CALJ to proceed with the 

administrative revocation hearing.  The DEA Administrator quashed the subpoena that 

this Court previously had upheld as valid and enforceable.  The DEA asserts that 

“changed conditions” (its own quashing of the subpoena that this Court enforced against 

the agency) warrant relief under Rule 60(b)(5) or alternatively under the Court’s 

Case: 1:16-mc-00012-SJD-SKB Doc #: 33 Filed: 08/01/17 Page: 7 of 17  PAGEID #: <pageID>
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“inherent powers.”  See generally United States v. Swift & Co., 286 U.S. 106, 114 

(1932). 

The undersigned recognizes, as she did in her Memorandum Order of July 15, 

2016, that important issues of policy loom large in this case.  The issues are of first 

impression in the Sixth Circuit (if not nationally), and both parties stress the far-reaching 

impact of their dispute in the broader context of DEA’s continuing efforts to curb the 

opioid epidemic.  (See, e.g., Doc. 18 at 3: “[T]he stakes are high; on the line is not 

merely DEA’s one-time compliance with an adjudicatory subpoena, but rather the 

effective functionality of the administrative process for revoking and suspending the 

registrations of entities that illegally import, manufacture, distribute, or dispense 

controlled substances.” and Doc. 23 at 15, noting issues are “very rare” and “of first 

impression”).  It is entirely possible that an appellate court would view the issues 

differently than previously determined by this Court.  However, the key here is that 

review of this Court’s Orders is appropriate only by an appellate court.  An agency that 

has been directed to comply with a district court’s order has no authority to simply 

disregard it through use of a procedural end-run.  The DEA’s Rule 60(b)(5) motion in 

this case must be denied because it is based upon a fundamentally untenable 

procedure, whereby the DEA Administrator created its own “changed circumstance” by 

“quashing” an Order that already had been determined by this Court to be valid and 

enforceable, rather than either choosing to comply with this Court’s Order or to file a 

further appeal. 

The DEA’s statement that its Administrator embarked on this unique course of 

action because he was unable to review the subpoena prior to this Court’s order of 

enforcement is disingenuous.  The Commissioner is the head of the DEA, and the 

Case: 1:16-mc-00012-SJD-SKB Doc #: 33 Filed: 08/01/17 Page: 8 of 17  PAGEID #: <pageID>
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lawyers who represent the DEA are assumed to represent the agency not only in the 

agency’s prosecutorial role but insofar as the DEA is led by the Commissioner.  When 

the DEA previously appeared before this Court, it not only had ample opportunity to 

present its arguments relating to the CALJ’s authority (or lack thereof) to issue the 

subpoena, the scope of the subpoena, the relevancy of the materials, and issues of 

privilege, but it availed itself of that opportunity.  Indeed, the DEA argued quite forcefully 

that the subpoena is unenforceable because it is not “in accordance with law.” (See 

Doc. 11 at 3, 10, 17-21, Gov’t Notice at 1-10 (May 18, 2016)).5   

Of course, before presenting those arguments to this Court, the DEA made the 

same arguments to the CALJ.  (See generally, Doc. 11 and Doc. 11-3, Gov’t Resp. To 

Resp’t’s Req. for Issuance of a Subpoena (April 7, 2016) and Decl. of Anthony D. 

Williams, Doc. 1-8 (May 18, 2016)).  The Administrator’s May 12, 2017 Order 

acknowledges that the DEA previously argued before the CALJ, in a motion to 

reconsider, that the CALJ exceeded his authority in issuing the subpoena, and that 

interlocutory appeal to the Administrator was appropriate.  (Doc. 32-1 at 7 and n.3; see 

also Doc. 11-3 at 4, arguing that the subpoena request “exceeds the hearing subpoena 

authority conferred both by the Administrative Procedure Act and applicable DEA 

regulations.”).  After the CALJ rejected those arguments and Maimi-Luken initiated 

litigation in this Court, the DEA continued to press the same arguments.   Moreover, as 

the CALJ pointed out in his May 15, 2017 Order continuing the stay of the underlying 

administrative revocation hearing pending this Court’s decision on the DEA’s Rule 

60(b)(5) motion, the CALJ sent the DEA Administrator a Subpoena Transmittal Request 

on May 26, 2016 that sought enforcement of CALJ’s Order/Subpoena 
                                                           
5The DEA also argued that this Court lacked jurisdiction to enforce the subpoena under the Administrative 
Procedures Act, and/or that Miami-Luken’s motion to enforce the subpoena should be denied under the 
prudential ripeness doctrine. 
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by requesting that the DEA Administrator “forward the Agency Subpoena 
to the Department of Justice to ‘invoke the aide of [a] court of the United 
States… to compel compliance’ 21 U.S.C. § 876(c).” …By the Subpoena 
Transmittal Request (filed nearly a year ago), this tribunal [the CALJ] 
petitioned the DEA Administrator to act, not in his prosecutorial capacity, 
but in his capacity as a neutral adjudicator, in seeking enforcement of the 
subpoena validly issued under APA…. Although this tribunal’s request 
was neither granted nor denied, on June 3, 2016, the DEA Administrator 
issued a notification that he was transmitting the Subpoena Transmittal 
Request, not to the Department of Justice to pursue an enforcement 
action, but to the “Federal Programs Branch of the Civil Division of the 
Department of Justice, to take whatever action it deems appropriate.”  
Admin. Transmittal Notice at 1.  Thus, not only did the Administrator not 
seek enforcement of the subpoena issued by the tribunal [the CALJ] in the 
courts, but he forwarded the Subpoena Transmittal Request to the same 
branch of the Department of Justice that was already charged with 
defending against compliance with the subpoena in the District Court.   
 

(Doc. 28-1 at n.1,  emphasis added).  The CALJ’s May 15, 2017 Stay Order continues 

on at some length to describe a number of “challenging” (i.e., logically inconsistent) 

positions taken by the DEA Administrator to explain “why a compliance review of the 

District Court’s Order would provide the DEA Administrator with a legal procedural 

opportunity to review” the “propriety and legality” of the subpoena.  (Id. at 4, n.1).  

Irrespective of the DEA Administrator’s alleged inability of an opportunity to 

review the subpoena at the administrative level, the DEA clearly made the 

Administrator’s position known to this Court.  In its response in opposition to the original 

motion to compel compliance with the subpoena, the DEA attached the affidavit of Louis 

J. Milione, the Deputy Assistant Administrator and head of the Office of Diversion 

Control for the DEA, as well as the affidavit of Anthony Williams, the Assistant 

Administrator and COO of the DEA.6   (Docs. 11-1, 11-2).  Consistent with the Acting 

Administrator’s May 12, 2017 Order, Assistant Administrator Williams’ affidavit focused 

on the DEA’s position that the issuance of the subpoena was contrary to regulatory 

                                                           
6At oral argument the DEA emphasized that the affidavit was from “the chief of DEA’s worldwide 
operations.”  (Doc. 23 at 62). 
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authority as well contrary to the policies, custom and practice of the DEA.7  Although the 

DEA generally argued against consideration of the entire dispute under the prudential 

ripeness doctrine, this Court rejected that argument and proceeded to the merits of the 

scope of the subpoena.  In the Objections filed before U.S. District Judge Dlott, and at 

oral argument held on February 17, 2017, the DEA reiterated its positions that the 

subpoena exceeded the scope of the CALJ’s authority to issue an adjudicatory 

subpoena, that the DEA Administrator should have been permitted to further review the 

subpoena, and that none of the documents referenced in the subpoena (even as 

modified by the Memorandum Order) were “necessary” to the hearing.  (See generally 

Docs. 18, 23).  In adopting the undersigned’s Memorandum Order as the final Order of 

this Court, Judge Dlott rejected the DEA’s challenges to judicial enforcement, including 

its argument that the CALJ “is not the final arbiter of the legality of the subpoena or 

DEA’s compliance with it,” but instead that the DEA Administrator “has final authority 

over the subpoena.”  (Doc. 18 at 4). 

In sum, this Court previously determined that it had jurisdiction to compel 

enforcement of the subpoena issued by the CALJ, and that the doctrine of prudential 

ripeness did not apply, rejecting further review by the Administrator.   After reviewing the 

legality of the CALJ’s Order issuing the subpoena on the merits and the scope of that 

subpoena, this Court issued its final order compelling the DEA to comply.  A district 

court ruling that enforces an administrative subpoena is considered to be an appealable 

final order.  See generally United States v. Van, 931 F.2d 384, 386 (6th Cir. 1991); see 

also McLane Company, Inc. v. EEOC, 137 S. Ct. 1159 (2017)(holding that a district 

court’s decision to enforce or quash an administrative subpoena should be reviewed by 
                                                           
7The DEA Administrator’s May 12, 2017 Order “quashed” the subpoena on grounds that the CALJ’s Order 
issuing it was an “abuse of discretion,” but articulated reasons that mirrored the arguments previously 
presented to and rejected by this Court. (See Doc 25-1).   
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appellate courts under abuse of discretion standard).8  To the extent that the DEA 

Administrator continued to object to complying with the Court’s Order, his recourse was 

to file an appeal with the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals.   After this Court entered its 

Order, the DEA had no authority to re-determine issues previously reviewed and 

determined by this Court.  The only discretion expressly given to the DEA by this Court 

was to implement “reasonabl[e]” redactions of “sensitive information in …investigative 

reports not relevant to the [DEA’s] findings as they relate to Miami-Luken – for example, 

investigatory techniques.“   (Doc. 15 at 18).  Nothing in this Court’s Order permitted the 

DEA Administrator to set aside the subpoena, as if this Court’s rulings were of no effect.  

Thus, the DEA Administrator’s position that because he has final authority over privilege 

assertions, he could review the entire validity of the subpoena, is contrary to the 

express directives of this Court’s Order. 

In support of its assertion of changed circumstances that require relief under 

Rule 60(b)(5), the DEA relies upon cases holding that where the entity issuing the 

subpoena retracts the subpoena, a later court proceeding regarding the retracted 

subpoena becomes moot.  See, e.g., In re Grand Jury Proceedings, 574 F.2d 445, 446 

(8th Cir. 1989), Hulec v. J.H. Bennet & Co., 2014 WL 2918542 at *1 (N.D. Ohio June 

26, 2014).  However, the referenced cases involve situations in which a motion to quash 

a subpoena is rendered moot by the opposing party’s decision to withdraw that 

subpoena.  The cases might apply if Miami-Luken withdrew its request for enforcement 

of the subpoena, but clearly that is not the case. 

The Administrator may not agree with this Court’s decision to enforce the 

subpoena issued by the CALJ, but he cites no authority to overturn it at this late 

                                                           
8Cf id. at 1170 (Ginsburg, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part on grounds that a lower court’s 
resolution of a question of law is ordinarily reviewable de novo on appeal). 
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juncture.  After this Court reviewed and issued a final order of enforcement, the DEA 

Administrator could not “quash” the same subpoena on grounds that this Court had 

already rejected.  “Rule 60(b)(5) may not be used to challenge the legal conclusions on 

which a prior judgment or order rests, but the Rule provides a means by which a party 

can ask a court to modify or vacate a judgment or order ‘if a significant change either in 

factual conditions or in law renders enforcement detrimental to the public interest.’”  

Horne v. Flores, 557 U.S. 433, 447 (2009) (quoting Rufo v. Inmates of Suffolk County 

Jail, 502 U.S. 367, 384 (1992)).  

The DEA has failed to carry its heavy burden of showing a significant change in 

law or fact.  The undersigned does not agree that the DEA Administrator’s attempt to 

effectively overturn this Court’s decision by quashing the subpoena on grounds 

previously rejected by the Court can constitute a significant change in law or fact.  See 

Northridge Church v. Charter Twp. Of Plymouth, 647 F.3d 606, 618 (6th Cir. 2011) 

(denying Rule 60(b)(5) motion based on party seeking to escape judgment based on its 

own voluntary actions).  The DEA attempts to distinguish Northridge on grounds that it 

involved the application of Rule 60(b)(5) to a consent judgment, which implicates 

principles of contract law.  However, the Northridge court expressly rejected the notion 

that the application of Rule 60(b)(5) differs in that context.  Id., 647 F.3d  at 613. 

The DEA further argues that enforcement of this Court’s Order is not equitable 

because the “documents are no longer needed for the administrative adjudicatory 

hearing.”  (Doc. 27 at 5).  Again, the cited authority, involving cases in which a motion to 

enforce a subpoena is mooted by the subsequent cancellation of the hearing, is 

inapposite.  See e.g., Penn, LLC v. Prosper Bus. Devel. Corp., 2011 WL 3204723 at *4 

(S.D. Ohio July 27, 2011).  In contrast to those cases, it is abundantly clear that the 
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CALJ and the DEA fully intend to proceed with the scheduled revocation hearing for 

which the subpoena was issued.   

Finally, the DEA contends that the DEA Administrator has the authority to 

overrule his subordinate’s decision to issue the subpoena independent of any 

interlocutory appeal.  The DEA reasons that an ALJ’s authority flows from the 

Administrator, and it is the Administrator who ultimately decides whether to adopt or 

reject the ALJ’s proposed revocation decision.  However, the regulatory structure 

ensures a measure of decisional independence by the ALJ.  See 21 C.F.R. § 1316.52 

(providing that ALJ has the duty to conduct a “fair hearing” with “all powers necessary” 

including subpoena power); see also Harlene v. Drug Enforcement Admin., 148 F.3d 

1199 (10th Cir. 1998) (discussing due process requirements and judicial independence 

under the APA).  In addition, the regulations prohibit interlocutory review by the DEA 

Administrator absent the ALJ’s consent, which was denied here.  Rulings of the ALJ 

“may not be appealed to the Administrator prior to his consideration of the entire 

hearing, except with the consent of the [ALJ] and where he certifies on the record or in 

writing that the allowance of an interlocutory appeal is clearly necessary to prevent 

exceptional delay, expense, or prejudice to any party or substantial detriment to the 

public interest.”  21 C.F.R. § 1316.62.  Regardless of how much the DEA Administrator 

rails against the wisdom of the CALJ in denying interlocutory appeal of the issues 

presented, the DEA cannot contest the CALJ’s authority to make that decision. 

Still, the DEA insists that Miami-Luken’s position (that the Administrator lacked 

authority to set aside the CALJ’s order/subpoena after this Court’s Order of 

enforcement) “would elevate a DEA ALJ, who is a subordinate official to the DEA 

Administrator, and who erred in refusing to certify this matter for interlocutory appeal, 
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above the head of the agency.” (Doc. 30 at 5).  It is unnecessary to wade too deeply 

into the scope of the DEA Administrator’s authority over an ALJ who has declined 

interlocutory review prior to a judicial appeal, because that is not the issue before this 

Court.  To the extent that the DEA Administrator possesses authority to overturn the 

CALJ’s denial of interlocutory appeal or to independently quash an adjudicatory 

subpoena issued by the CALJ, any such authority did not survive issuance of this 

Court’s Order.  To paraphrase the DEA’s own argument, to allow the DEA Administrator 

to take such an approach would elevate the DEA Administrator over this Court.  In the 

orderly administration of justice, appeals from agency decisions under the APA flow in 

one direction – from the agencies to the federal courts – not the other way around.  See 

generally Mefford v. Garner, 383 F.2d 748, 758 (6th Cir. 1967) (holding that it is the duty 

of an agency to comply with the mandate of the court without variation and without 

departing from such directions, and that if a cause is remanded for a specified purpose, 

any inconsistent proceeding is error).   

After this Court’s contrary ruling, the DEA lacked authority to overrule this Court 

and conclude that the documents are not relevant, material, or necessary for the 

revocation hearing.  The DEA’s stance amounts to an attempt to relitigate the issues.  

“Rule 60(b) does not allow a defeated litigant a second chance to convince the court to 

rule in his or her favor by presenting new explanations, legal theories, or proof.”  Jinks v. 

Allied Signal Inc., 250 F.3d 381, 385 (6th Cir. 2001); accord Casasanta v. Federal Nat. 

Mortg. Ass’n, 2014 WL 1977038 at *3 (E.D. Mich. May 15, 2014)(Rule 60(b)(5) motion 

denied because plaintiff was not entitled to a “do-over”). 
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III. Conclusion and Recommendation 

While the undersigned has explained the basis for recommending denial of the 

Defendant’s Rule 60(b)(5) motion at this point in time, the undersigned is well aware of 

the Plaintiff’s independent challenge to the DEA Administrator’s May 12, 2017 Order 

that remains pending in the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals.  In the event that the Sixth 

Circuit affirms the DEA Administrator’s Order quashing the subpoena that underlies this 

Court’s Order, then the DEA will be able to carry its burden under Rule 60(b) to show 

that enforcement of the April 21, 2017 Order is no longer equitable.  However, as the 

matter currently stands, the DEA has fallen short of that burden. 

Accordingly, Defendant DEA’s Rule 60(b)(6) motion seeking relief from this 

Court’s April 21, 2017 final Order and to set aside the Court’s judgment (Doc. 27) 

should be DENIED, without prejudice to renew (if appropriate) following the conclusion 

of the related case in the Sixth Circuit.    

 

         /s Stephanie K. Bowman             
Stephanie K. Bowman 

        United States Magistrate Judge 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

WESTERN DIVISION 
 

MIAMI-LUKEN, INC.,       Case No. 1:16-mc-012  
 

Plaintiff,       Dlott, J.  
Bowman, M.J.  

v.  
 
UNITED STATES 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,  
DRUG ENFORCEMENT ADMINISTRATION  
 

Defendant. 
 

NOTICE 

 Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 72(b), any party may serve and file specific, written 

objections to this Report & Recommendation (“R&R”) within FOURTEEN (14) DAYS after 

being served with a copy thereof.  That period may be extended further by the Court on 

timely motion by either side for an extension of time.  All objections shall specify the 

portion(s) of the R&R objected to, and shall be accompanied by a memorandum of law in 

support of the objections.  A party shall respond to an opponent’s objections within 

FOURTEEN DAYS after being served with a copy of those objections.  Failure to make 

objections in accordance with this procedure may forfeit rights on appeal.  See Thomas v. 

Arn, 474 U.S. 140 (1985); United States v. Walters, 638 F.2d 947 (6th Cir. 1981). 
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                      U. S. Department of Justice 
                   Drug Enforcement Administration 

www.dea.gov  
 

 
Dear Dr. Richard Lawhern: 
 
     This letter is in response to your email dated July 15, 2019, to the Drug Enforcement 
Administration (DEA).  In your correspondence, you raised concerns regarding chronic pain 
management, closure of pain treatment centers, and the “exodus of providers out of the pain 
management practice.”  DEA appreciates the opportunity to address your concerns, and clarify 
information regarding this matter. 
 
     The Controlled Substances Act (CSA) and its implementing regulations established a closed 
system of distribution to ensure appropriate medical care and to maintain the integrity of the system 
through an accountability process.  One of the most important principles underlying the CSA and its 
implementing regulations is that to be valid, every prescription for a controlled substance must be 
based on a determination by an individual practitioner, that the dispensing of the controlled 
substance is for a legitimate medical purpose in the usual course of professional practice.  United 
States v. Moore, 423 U.S.C. 122 (1975) and 21 CFR 1306.04(a).  Federal regulations do not define 
the term legitimate medical purpose nor do they set forth the standards of medical practice.  It is up 
to each DEA-registered practitioner authorized by DEA to do so, to treat patients according to his or 
her professional medical judgement in accordance with a standard of medical practice that is 
generally recognized and accepted in the United States.  
 
     DEA has not promulgated any new regulations regarding the treatment of pain.  Federal law and 
DEA regulations do not impose a specific quantitative minimum or maximum limit on the amount 
of medication that a practitioner may prescribe on a single prescription, or the duration of treatment 
intended for a particular patient.  DEA has consistently emphasized and supported the prescriptive 
authority of an individual practitioner under the CSA to administer, dispense, and prescribe 
controlled substances for the legitimate treatment of pain within acceptable medical standards as 
outlined in DEA’s policy statement published in the Federal Register (FR) on September 6, 2006, 
titled, Dispensing Controlled Substances for the Treatment of Pain. 71 FR 52716. 
  
     While DEA is the agency responsible for enforcing the CSA, DEA does not act as the Federal 
equivalent of a state medical board overseeing the general practice of medicine and lacks the 
authority to issue guidelines that constitute advice relating to the general practice of medicine.  
Therefore, it is important for you to check with your state medical board, as the issues that you have 
raised, may be the result of new laws or regulations enacted by your state.  Where state law or 
regulations impose requirements beyond those in Federal law and regulations, practitioners must 

8701 Morrissette Drive 
Springfield, Virginia 22152 
 
 
 
 

Richard A. Lawhern, Ph.D. 
3691 Nestling Lane 
Fort Mill, South Carolina 29708 
lawhern@hotmail.com 
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Richard A. Lawhern, Ph.D. 
 

Page 2 

comply with the additional state requirements, provided such state requirements do not conflict with 
the Federal requirements. 
 
     I trust this letter adequately addresses your inquiry.  For additional information regarding the 
DEA Diversion Control Division, please visit www.DEAdiversion.usdoj.gov.  If you have 
additional questions regarding this issue, please contact the Diversion Control Division at 
(571)-362-3260. 
 
                                                                          Sincerely, 
 
 
 
                                                                                

Thomas W. Prevoznik 
                                                                                  Deputy Assistant Administrator 
                                                                                   Diversion Control Division  



APP- 94

 

 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE DISTRICT OF 
COLUMBIA CIRCUIT  

Norman Clement,  

 Petitioner  

        Case: No. 21-1262  

Drug Enforcement Administration,  

 Respondent 

___________________________________________ 

PETITIONERS MOTION TO REQUEST THIS COURT UNDER HIS 
DISPOSITIVE MOTION TO REVIEW PATIENT CONSTITUTIONAL 

HEALTHCARE RIGHTS VIOLATIONS IN PHARMACIST  
CORRESPONDING RESPONSIBILITY REQUIREMENT  UNDER 21 

CFR 1306.04 

OUT OF A MOUNTAIN OF DESPAIR COMES A METEOR OF 
HOPE 

Pursuant to the Court’s Order of January 09, 2022, and D.C. Circuit Rule 
28(a)(1), Petitioner’s Norman Clement pro se, in Case No. 21-1262 
hereby request, 
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STATEMENT AT ISSUE 

We ask this Court to determine if  a Pharmacist  Corresponding 
Responsibility requirement  under 21 CFR 1306.04 is Constitutional. We 
believe this provision of  law violates a persons right under both Eight 
and Fourth Amendment to seek uninhibited medical care by permitting 
the pharmacist to withhold medication treatment (violation of Eight 
Amendment while acting outside the scope of their training and 
licensure that has been based on a subjected presumption (bias) and 
further not being required  to commit his/her reasoning as part of the 
patients’ medical record while relying in part on enforcement tools 
Prescription Drug Monitoring (PDMP) and NarxCare algorithms which 
have not been evaluated or approve by the FDA. Thus pharmacist has 
become an agent of law enforcement. 

We also ask this court at what point of the mile marker does and legally 
written Control Medication prescription become illegal to fill. 

CORRESPONDING RESPONSIBILITY VIOLATES PATIENTS 
HEALTHCARE RIGHTS AND IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL 

The law permits the pharmacist to violate the patients Fourth 
Amendment Rights to seek medical based on the pharmacist bias. The 
pharmacist  then withholds treatment based on their bias and on a 
subjective presumption of wrong doing. Neither, does this law require 
the pharmacist to put their reasonings into writing as part of the 
[p]atients’ medical record as to why they’re medication treatment is 
being withheld. Critically, proper recording of  the patient  medical care  
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record information is an absolute must requirement  of corresponding 
responsibility of every prescribing practitioners.  

Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA) in its regulations (21 CFR 1306.04) 
which states: 

“A prescription for a controlled substance to be effective must be 
issued for a legitimate medical purpose by an individual practitioner 
acting in the usual course of his professional practice. The 
responsibility for the proper prescribing and dispensing of controlled 
substances is upon the prescribing practitioner, but a corresponding 
responsibility rests with the pharmacist who fills the prescription. 
An order purporting to be a prescription issued not in the usual course of 
professional treatment or in legitimate and authorized research is not a 
prescription within the meaning and intent of Section 309 of the Act (21 
U.S.C. 829) and the person knowingly filling such a purported 
prescription, as well as the person issuing it, shall be subject to the 
penalties provided for violations of the provisions of law relating to 
controlled substances.” (1) 

Thus, in interpreting the regulations, a pharmacist’s position is nearly 
identical to the practitioner who issued the prescription, though the 
pharmacist did not examine the patient or review their medical records.  
Therefore, the pharmacist filling a controlled substance prescription 
should proceed with caution and use their professional judgment to 
determine if a prescription for a controlled substance was issued for a 
legitimate medical purpose during the course of his or her usual 
professional practice 
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However, this law has further leds to abuses of patient rights and has 
wrong empowered and encourage pharmacist to intimidate patients, 
confiscate and destroy legitimately written authorize pain control 
prescriptions, and to  then calls the prescriber to request the practitioner 
to lower their dosage or to prescribe and alternative pain treatments. 
Such actions amounts to the pharmacist giving a diagnosis or a second 
opinion which is outside the scope of a pharmacist training and 
licensure. 

ARGUMENT 

The DEA follows code 1306.04 with states “the corresponding 
responsibility rests with the pharmacist who fills the prescription.”  This 
policy is in absents of medical logic unless a pharmacist has equal 
access to the patients entire medical/dental records including treatment 
plane, radiographs, study models and further conducted a physical 
examination then they simply cannot offer a second opinion for behind a 
dispensing counter. Such an opinion is considered a second opinion 
practicing medicine without proper credential. More importantly would 
need request signature from the patient to gain his or her medical record 
from the prescribing practitioner. Most often the Pharmacist relies upon 
Prescription Drug Monitoring Program (PDMP) a  surveillance and the 
lack of regulation of PDMP platforms on opioid patient health and 
safety. It is therefore necessary to scrutinize the federal agencies vested 
with significant authority over controlled substance surveillance and 
PDMP software platform regulation: the DEA and the FDA. (1) 
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Prescription drug monitoring program (PDMP) predictive surveillance 
platforms were designed for—and funded by—law enforcement 
agencies. PDMPs use proprietary algorithms to determine a patient’s risk 
for prescription drug misuse, diversion, and overdose. The proxies that 
PDMPs utilize to calculate patient risk scores likely produce artificially 
inflated scores for marginalized patients, including women and racial 
minorities with complex, pain-related conditions; poor, uninsured, 
under-insured, and rural individuals; and patients with co-morbid 
disabilities or diseases, including substance use disorder and mental 
health conditions.NarxCare algorithms factor the number of an 
individual patient’s prescribers and dispensers into that patient’s risk 
scores because the model views evidence that a patient has multiple 
prescribers and dispensers as a proxy for doctor and pharmacy shopping.  

The model, however, does not appear to take into consideration the 
myriad reasons why a patient might have multiple prescribers or 
dispensers that are unrelated to drug misuse. NarxCare certainly does not 
account for the role that the surveillance platform itself plays in 
contributing to the number of prescribers and dispensers that opioid 
patients accrue. (1),(2)(3)(4)(5) 

__________________________________________ 
1. HAVING MIRANDA RIGHTS READ BEFORE FILLING A PRESCRIPTION: THE CRIMINALIZATION OF 

MEDICAL PROCEDURES AND PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT: CONTROL SUBSTANCE ACT (CSA) MUST 
BE ABOLISHED by Cathleen London https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/11/20/having-miranda-rights-
read-before-filling-a-prescription-the-criminalization-of-medical-procedures-and-prosecutorial-misconduct-
control-substance-act-csa-must-be-abolished/ 

2.THE LONDON BRIEFS: THE PRESCRIPTION DRUG MONITORING PROGRAM (PDMP) A BILLION 
DOLLAR FRAUDULENTLY DATABASE OF DOJ-DEA https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/12/21/the-
london-briefs-the-prescription-drug-monitoring-program-pdmp-a-billion-dollar-fraudulently-database-of-doj-dea 
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The DEA is acting upon the citizens based on an unreasonable standard 

in absents of Reasonable and/or Probable Cause. Thus the pharmacist 

has  become and agent of law enforcement rather than a healthcare 

provider and even law enforcement is require to put their actions in 

writing. The Fourth Amendment was intended to create a 

constitutional buffer between U.S. citizens and the intimidating 

power of law enforcement.(4) (5)  
________________________________________________ 
3. Jennifer Olivia, Associate Dean for Faculty Research and Development Seton Hall University 
School of Law; ARTICLE FEB 2022 VOLUME 110NO. 1 
Dosing Discrimination: Regulating PDMP Risk Scores
https://www.californialawreview.org/print/dosing-discrimination-regulating-pdmp-risk-
scores%EF%BF%BC/ U.S. Food & Drug Admin., supra note 405, at 23.
These populations include women, ethnic and racial minorities, rural individuals, and socioeconomically 
disadvantaged patients with complex, chronic pain, OUD, and other stigmatized conditions. The FDA 
already has determined that PDMP scoring models pose significant risks to vulnerable patients, and 
therefore deserve regulatory scrutiny. As a result, the agency is obligated to subject PDMP risk scoring 
platforms to external, peer-reviewed, clinical evaluation utilizing the validation criteria outlined in the 
agency’s 2017 SaMD guidance.
4. THE DEA-DOJ BOGUS OPIOID HOAX: “PRESCRIPTION MEDICATIONS ARE NOT RESPONSIBLE 
FOR OPIOID SO-CALLED PANDEMIC,” COURTS HAVE RULED: https://youarewithinthenorms.com/
2021/11/27/the-dea-doj-opioid-hoax-prescription-medications-are-not-responsible-for-opioid-so-called-
pandemic-courts-have-ruled/
5. THE MEDICAL “JIM CROW” HOW GOVERNMENT ALLOWS YOUR PHARMACY TO LEGALLY 
DISCRIMINATE AND VIOLATE YOUR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS: A PODCAST WITH CATHLEEN 
LONDON MD., 3RD YEAR LAW U.MAINE, https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/11/22/the-medical-
jim-crow-how-government-allows-your-pharmacy-to-legally-discriminate-and-violate-your-
constitutional-rights-a-podcast-with-cathleen-london-md-3rd-year-law-u-maine/
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THE UNCOMFORTABLE PHARMACISTS 

The practice of the “uncomfortable pharmacist” in withholding 
treatment of a patient by altering or denying medications is both 
dangerous and unacceptable in the field of medicine; it has resulted in 
patients’ suicide. However, what further makes these Pharmacists even 
more dangerous is their opinions and reasoning are base on the 
foundation of CDC’s flawed Unscientific Opioid prescribing Guidelines 
which were developed under unreliable data.  

Furthermore, pharmacists’ attitudes have their etiology in a belief that 
they have a corresponding responsibility which in fact requires them to 
operate within the field of medicine in giving a second opinion; thus 
undermining the diagnosis and treatment plan of the prescribing 
practitioners.  

Its origins are grounded in positioning hospital medical politics, “power-
hungry egos” to elevate the pharmacy profession out from images of just 
being in the basement of a hospital dispensing and compounding to a 
clinical role on the healthcare team.  

In these cases, the pharmacist acts by using no sound scientific materials 
to support their “uncomfortable foundation.” 
1. The pharmacist does no physical examination on the patients. 
2. The pharmacist reviews nor orders any lab work.  
3. The pharmacist reviews nor orders additional radiographs and 

views no progress report.  
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4. The pharmacist further fails by entering nothing into writing as 
to the decision of how they determine the prescription(s) to be 
illegitimate and why they’ve interjected themselves into the 
practitioner-patient relationship by withholding or denying patients 
their medications. 

The respective regulatory bodies, including the various “Boards”  of 
Pharmacy, Medicine, Dentistry, Nursing, etc., clearly outline the ‘scope 
of practice’ for each of those disciplines. The orderly flow of a 
prescription “from” the doctor to the patient – via the Pharmacist – 
clearly outlines where the ‘diagnosis’ has to come from.  

It is statutorily the purview of the pharmacist to ‘inspect and assure’ that 
the drug that is being given is safe and has no known incompatibilities 
with the patient and its holistic environment. It is not the purview, nor is 
the pharmacist trained to ‘challenge the physician’s diagnosis and to do 
so verbally or otherwise with the patient.  

It erodes the ‘doctor-patient relationship and destroys the ‘confidence’ of 
the patient in his/her physician. At the very least it is ‘unethical’ and may 
very well be a HIPPA violation and beneath the standard of care as a 
pharmacist. Any healthcare provider that is licensed to ‘prescribe’ is 
governed by the set of conditions and circumstances under which a 
prescription can be written.  

Thus it is illegal to prescribe for a person that the prescriber has not 
conducted the ‘chain of authority that would qualify them to write a 
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prescription:  history and physical examination, formulation of a 
diagnosis, and discussing such with the patient as well as the proposed 
manner of treatment in a culturally sensitive and ethically appropriate 
manner; and provision of an opportunity for the patient to ‘question and 
discuss alternative forms of treatment; etc. (5),(6)(7) Once the licensed 
prescribing practitioner has met all of the aforementioned and other 
‘requirements to write a prescription, then and then ONLY  should a 
healthcare practitioner write a prescription. Furthermore, as stated 
above, a pharmacist IS NOT AUTHORIZED TO WRITE A CONTROL 
PRESCRIPTIONS by any of the health regulatory boards. The 
pharmacist has ‘no reason and more importantly the pharmacist has ‘no 
power’ to question or interrogate each provider on ‘each prescription’ 
that is received as long as the ‘safety, efficacy and convenience’ of the 
medications being prescribed meet the standards of Medication 
Dispensing.  Any given medication can be and certainly will be given for 
multiple different diagnoses and it is not even feasible for the pharmacist 
to ‘contact and question’  each and every diagnosis for pain control. (8) (9) 

_____________________________________________________ 
ibid-3  

6. DEA GESTAPO ACTIONS DESTROYS PHYSICIANS CAREERS AND CHRONIC PAINS PATIENTS LIVES: WE MUST RESIST BEING 
DEFILEDhttps://youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/12/09/dea-gestapo-actions-destroys-physicians-careers-and-chronic-pains-patients-lives-we-must-
resist-being-defiled/ 
7. “RACIAL BIAS IN PAIN CARE PROTECTED AFRICAN AMERICANS,” CONCLUDED ANDREW KOLODNY, MD., TOP U.S. GOVERNMENT 
EXPERT AND “AMERICA’S MOST DANGEROUS PSYCHIATRIST” https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/12/13/racial-bias-in-pain-care-protected-
african-americans-concluded-andrew-kolodny-md-top-u-s-government-expert-and-americas-most-dangerous-psychiatrist/
8. THE WRONG ARMS OF THE LAW: STATE ATTORNEYS-GENERALS, DOJ-DEA: FRAUDULENT DATA UNDERMINES HEALTHCARE CAUSING 

THOUSANDS OF PATIENTS DEATHS:https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/12/15/the-wrong-arms-of-the-law-state-
attorneys-generals-doj-dea-fraudulent-data-undermines-healthcare-causing-thousands-of-patient-death/
9. HFPP SECRET ALGORITHM UNIQUELY TARGETED “OLDER WHITE PHYSICIANS,” BASED ON ASSETS, AGE, 
AND SPECIALTY IN MASSIVE GOVERNMENTAL OVERREACH: PT-2 https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/12/01/
hfpp-secret-algorithm-uniquely-targeted-older-white-physicians-based-on-assets-age-and-specialty/ 
10. CRUCIFIED ON THE BLUE CROSS: THE STORY OF DRALVES GENE EDWARDS, DO.; PRACTICING MEDICINE 
WHILE BLACK AND THE RACIAL PROFILING OF PHYSICIANS OF COLOR IN AMERICAhttps://
youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/12/08/crucified-on-the-blue-cross-the-story-of-dralves-gene-edwards-do-practicing-medicine-
while-black-and-the-racial-profiling-of-physicians-of-color-in-america 
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THE AMERICAN MEDICAL ASSOCIATION CONCERNS 

The American Medical Association has noted these abuses in its June 16, 
2020, letter to Deborah Dowell, MD, MPH Chief Medical Officer 
National Center for Injury Prevention and Control U.S. Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention 4770 Buford Highway, NE Atlanta, GA 
30341 which stated  

“We are concerned that such a careful approach to identifying 
the precise combination of pharmacologic options could be flagged on a 
prescription drug monitoring program as indications wrongly interpreted 
as so-called “doctor shopping” and cause the patient to 
be inappropriately questioned by a pharmacist.  

The AMA strongly supports a pharmacist carrying out his or her 
corresponding responsibility under state and federal law, but the past 
few years are rife with examples of patients facing what amounts to 
interrogations at the pharmacy counter as well as denials of 
legitimate medication.  

Pain is a complex and subjective experience initiated by an 
unpleasant (or noxious) stimulus associated with actual or potential 
tissue damage. Pain is a primitive response that motivates us to 
withdraw from the source that is causing the pain and protect the 
body from further damage.  The unpleasant feeling associated with 
pain is also stored in our memory so that we can avoid similar 
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situations in the future. While seemingly intimidating, its 
understanding is not all that difficult.  

Over prescribing has no definition, is not a medical term, and has 
not been proven that substance exposure alters any aspect of the 
“opioid crisis.” In fact, patients on long-term opiate therapy for pain 
stabilization are the least likely to overdose. Richard Lawhern 
PH.D. “Morphine Milligram Equivalent Daily Dose (MMEDD) is 
not a useful measure in defining limits on opioid dosage and as 
such, it has been repudiated by the American Medical 
Association(AMA). Its major utility is as a rough guide to the 
clinician in making a safe transition from one opioid to another.” 

The AMA urges CDC to provide strong guidance and support for 
physicians and pharmacists to work together rather than jumping to 
conclusions about a patient’s PDMP report.” ” Clinicians are encouraged 
to have open and honest discussions with their patients so as to avoid 
stigmatizing the decision to start, continue, or discontinue opioids or 
non-opioid therapy. This discussion also must account for the treatment 
options accessible to the patient based on their health condition, social 
determinants of health (e.g. transportation, employment, childcare 
responsibilities, race, gender, age) and insurance coverage.”  
Far less attention, however, has been directed at the significant role 
federal and state regulators played in the overdose crisis, including the 
FDA, DEA, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Office 
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of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP), and state medical and 
pharmacy licensing boards.[94] 

Detailing these agencies’ collective contributions to our ever-worsening 
drug overdose epidemic, however, would fill the pages of a hefty text 
and exceed the concerns of this Article. 

Under the Controlled Substance Act, the DEA is charged with 
preventing the diversion of legal drugs into the illicit market by 
maintaining strict control over the availability of controlled substances. 
This extends to  CSA-regulated prescription opioids, which are 
monitored “through quotas, registration, record keeping, reporting, and 
security requirements.”  

FDA HAS NOT APPROVED NARXSCORE OR PDMP 
SOFTWARE 

Considerable evidence also demonstrates that PDMP risk scores 
disparately impact specific patient groups experiencing “a critical 
situation or condition.”[5] The FDA already has determined that PDMP 
scoring models pose significant risks to vulnerable patients, and 
therefore deserve regulatory scrutiny. As a result, the agency is obligated 
to subject PDMP risk scoring platforms to external, peer-reviewed, 
clinical evaluation utilizing the validation criteria outlined in the 
agency’s 2017 SaMD guidance. (7)(8) 

_________________________________________________
[7]
U.S. Food & Drug Admin., supra note 405, at 23.
8. “LET THEM DIE-OFF” UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT EXPERT ANDREW KOLODNY, MD., THE MOST 
DANGEROUS PSYCHIATRIST IN AMERICA AND EXPOSING “THE OPIOIDGATE MEDICAL SCANDAL” https://
youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/12/04/let-them-die-off-united-states-government-expert-andrew-kolodny-md-the-
most-dangerous-physician-in-america-and-exposing-the-opioidgate-medical-scandal
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CONCLUSION 

I am a pharmacist/dentist dispensing FDA approved medication Narcotic 
Analgesic Medication and not a drug street dealer 
The government has a legitimate interest in deterring diversion and 
misuse of controlled substances, especially amid the illicit drug 
overdose crisis. But a standard for criminal liability that overly 
deters and may cause medical professionals to act against their best 
medical judgment due to fear of oversight, have a chilling effect on 
their willingness to care for patients in pain, and even encourage 
them to engage in self-protective practices that risk the safety and 
endanger the lives of a patient receiving pain care  

WHEREFORE, WE REQUEST UPON THIS COURT: 

1. Grant this motion and reverse these findings and decision of the 
Administrative Court, return and restore all privileges of  the DEA 
Control Registration Certificates of Pronto Pharmacy LLC. 

2. Further, Dismiss the Decision of the Administrative Judge Mark 
Dowd in agency case No: 19-42, Federal Registry filed 1927282  on 
December 20, 2021with extreme prejudice. 

3. Return all Files, Equipment, Medication to Pronto Pharmacy Llc and 
its owner Norman J Clement of Tampa, Florida. 

4. Reward damages and penalties of amounts greater than $187 million 
U.S. dollars, I’ve lost my life savings 
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      RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED 

March 7, 2022 

       Norman J Clement 

      Norman J Clement, pro se 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

  

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on March 7, 2022 a true and correct copy of 
the foregoing was electronically filed via ECF and/or served via e-mail 
upon the following: 

I, Norman J Clement, hereby certify that I’ve electronically filed and 
agree to utilize jointly the foregoing Respondent’s Notice of Filing the 
Certified List of the Record with the Clerk of the Court for the United 
States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, by using 
the appellate CM/ECF system, on March 7, 2022. I certify further that 
Petitioner is pro se, and that service will is accomplished  by electronic 
mail to 

Anita Gay, Esq United States Department of Justice  

Criminal Division/ Narcotic and Dangerous Drugs Section 

145 N Street, NE, Room 2E-404 Washington, D.C. 20002  

(202) 353-7629  anita.gay2@usdoj.gov  

       Norman J Clement 

       Norman J Clement pro. se 
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT  

Norman Clement,  

        Case: No. 21-1262  

    Petitioner  

v.  

Drug Enforcement Administration,  

    Respondent 
___________________________________________________ 

PETITIONER’S ADDENDUM TO DISPOSITIVE MOTION TO VACATE 
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGES FINDINGS AND DEA ADMINISTER’S 
ORDERS, RESTORE CSA REGISTRATION of PRONTO PHARMACY 

LLC AN AWARD DAMAGES, 

Pursuant to the Court’s Order of  January 09, 2022, and D.C. Circuit Rule 
28(a)(1), Petitioner’s Norman Clement pro se, in Case No. 21-1262 submits 
this addendum, to his Dispositive Motion and hereby further states, 

AT ISSUE 

The Petitioner is a license Pharmacist, Dentist not a drug street dealer engaged 
in drug trafficking as such has been and has been for 45 years. We file the this 
petition  because the DEA has engaged in deceptive enforcement where 
enforcement can be arbitrary applied to any person without investigation, 
without law and dangerously without oversight. 
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DEA has not promulgated any new regulations regarding the treatment of 
pain. Federal law and DEA regulations do not impose a specific quantitative 
minimum or maximum limit on the amount of medication that a practitioner 
may prescribe on a single prescription, or the duration of treatment intended 
for a particular patient.  
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Administrative Law Judge: Mark M. Dowd  

    U.S. Tax Court 
    Timberlake Federal Annex 

501 East Polk Street 
Courtroom 1201 
Tampa Florida, 33602 

DEA Chief Counsel:  John E. Beerbower, Esq 

Drug Enforcement Administration 
Division and Regulatory Litigation Section 
Office of Chief Counsel 
8701 Morrisette Drive 
Springfield, VA 22152 
202-307-4736 
john.e.beerbower@usdoj.gov  

Court Reporter:   Neal R. Gross 

    Court Reporters and Transcribers 
    1323 Rhode Island Ave. N.W. 
    Washington, DC 20005-3701 

Diversion Investigator: Richard Alpert (Expert Witness) 

Private Investigator:  Jeffrey Shearer – starting on page 181 of 
transcript ( 

        SISCO-LAW

Dale R. Sisco
dsisco@sisco-law.com
Florida Bar No. 559679

 
PETITIONER:   Norman Clement 
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The DEA’s actions have promoted regulatory racism, unconditionally violated 
every aspect of our Constitution and has orchestrated a plan of injustice of 
robbing another generation of medically educated Black business persons of 
their dignity and wealth.  Wherefore we command upon this Court for equal 
protection and Justice. 

The issue in the case is whether the record as a whole establishes by a 
preponderance of the evidence that Pronto Pharmacy's DEA Certificate of 
Registration Number FP2302076 should be revoked and whether any pending 
applications for renewal or modification of such registration and applications 
for any other pending DEA registrations should be denied pursuant to 21 
U.S.C. 824(a) (4) and 21 U.S.C. 823(f). 

ARGUMENT 

The Controlled Substances Act (CSA) and its implementing regulations 
established a closed system of distribution to ensure appropriate medical care 
and to maintain the integrity of the system through an accountability process.  

One of the most important principles underlying the CSA and its 
implementing regulations is that to be valid, every prescription for a 
controlled substance must be based on a determination by an individual 
practitioner, that the dispensing of the controlled substance is for a legitimate 
medical purpose in the usual course of professional practice. United States v. 
Moore, 423 U.S.C. 122 (1975) and 21 CFR 1306.04(a).  

Federal regulations do not define the term legitimate medical purpose nor do 
they set forth the standards of medical practice. It is up to each DEA-
registered practitioner authorized by DEA to do so, to treat patients according 
to his or her professional medical judgment in accordance with a standard of 
medical practice that is generally recognized and accepted in the United 
States.  

 | P a g e  6

FAILURE TO TRAIN AND INVESTIGATE  IN THE 
UNDERSTANDING OF PATHO-PHISIOLOGY OF PAIN DEA 
TARGETING OF PETITIONERS PHARMACY IS BASED ON 
NUMBER COUNTS OF “PILLS” NOT DISEASE STATE OF 

PATIENTS 

RED FLAGS – COCKTAILS, PATTERN PRESCRIBING 

Pain is a complex and subjective experience initiated by an unpleasant (or 
noxious) stimulus associated with actual or potential tissue damage.  
Pain Management is a very complex issue.  More often than not in chronic 
(non-acute) pain, comorbidities need to be addressed.  Therefore, when a 
practitioner finds a combination of medications that successfully treats 
chronic pain they are reluctant to stray from that protocol.  It’s akin to other 
protocols that are used in medicine that address chronic conditions such as 
cancer protocols, ALS protocols, hypertension step-care therapy, anti-
coagulation protocols and others.   

Typically, there is inflammation and therefore non-steroidal anti-
inflammatories are used.  Patients often experience anxiety so anti-anxiety 
agents such as benzodiazepines or tricyclics are used.  In nociceptive pain 
Gabapentin is often the first drug of choice.  In lower back pain, whose 
underlying causes can be quite different from each other the presentation of 
muscle spasm or hypersensitivity, muscle relaxers such as cyclobenzaprine, 
metaxolone, baclofen, carisoprodol or others represent standard therapy. 

It is unreasonable to expect a Diversion Investigator to have a complete 
understanding of these complex issues with their 12-week course when 
Physicians and Pharmacists require years of training to make adequate choices 
in this arena.   

AT ISSUE 
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A) The DEA states it  “..has not promulgated any new regulations regarding 
the treatment of pain. Federal law and DEA regulations do not impose a 
specific quantitative minimum or maximum limit on the amount of 
medication that a practitioner may prescribe on a single prescription, or 
the duration of treatment intended for a particular patient..”  

B) United States Supreme Court CANTON v. HARRIS(1989) No. 86-1088 
the failure to train means no training at all. 

Page 24, 25 (Training of Diversion Investigator) 

Testimony of Diversion Investigator Alpert:  

Q  Where were you stationed before that? 

A  Nashville, Tennessee. 

Q  And what training did you undergo to become a diversion investigator? 

A  Basic Diversion School.  It's about a 12-week course held in 
Quantico, Virginia 

THE ISSUE HERE : 

A.The issue here is the length of training.  United States Supreme Court 
CANTON v. HARRIS(1989) No. 86-1088 the failure to train means no 
training at all. Medical professionals take years to train in the art of 
medicine or pharmacy or dentistry or nursing.  Pain management is a very 
complicated subject and someone training in such little time will miss the 
vast amount of the education that is needed to form an opinion that is based 
upon the needs of the patient and the morbidities and comorbidities 
involved in pain management. (3)  
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B. DEA’s Pharmacy expert, Don Sullivan, interviewed no physicians/dentist, 
no patient receiving prescriptions, nor reviewed any prescriptions of any 
patients from Pronto PHARMACY. Further DEA, expert Don Sullivan 
reviewed no radiographs, performed no physical examinations on the 
patients of Pronto Pharmacy to impeach the primary physician’s initial 
diagnosis.  

C.Therefore, anything that he says has to be suspect and lacks the fundamental 
basics to make a true assessment of the validity of the patient prescriber 
relationship or even the validity of a prescription at all. 

_________________________________________ 
3. Sally Satel, MD, “The Truth About Painkillers” National Affairs, Nr 47, Spring 2021. https://nationalaffairs.com/
publications/detail/the-truth-about-painkillers 

DEA’s RAID ON PRONTO PHARMACY  

More-importantly nothing within the actions of the DEA were created by 
statutory rulings. Nothing,  the assertions made by the government agents you 
will clearly see that this agency created and designed a plan to attack our 
society.  

The intent of this law implies that it shall be unlawful for any person 
knowingly or intentionally— to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or 
possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled 
substance; or to create, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to 
distribute or dispense, a counterfeit substance. Pronto Pharmacy is a license 
Community Pharmacy.  

In their search warrant the government agents wrote, Pronto Pharmacy 
engaged in manufacturing-controlled substances. This erroneous assertion is 
far from true in that the Government agents crafted a law to achieve their 
objectives. Wherefore in fact, the Government agents said that Pronto 
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Pharmacy was compounding medications. This act within Pronto Pharmacy is 
perfectly legal and supported by laws created by the legislative processes.  

REFLECTING THE DISTINCT ROLES OF PRESCRIBERS AND 
PHARMACIST, § 1306.04 IMPOSES LIABILITY ONLY ON 

PHARMACIST WHO “knowingly” fill an illegitimate prescription. 

Although § 1306.04(a) regulates both prescribers and pharmacists, the two 
roles are far from inter- changeable, including for purposes of determining 
potential liability. With different licenses, education, skill sets, responsibilities, 
and workplaces from physicians, pharmacists play a vital but distinct role in a 
patient’s care. (see Amicus Curiae Brief National Association Chain Drug 
Stores, US Supreme Court Case No. 20-1410, Ruan vs. United States of 
America) 

Specifically, when dispensing a controlled substance to a patient, as prescribed 
by a physician, a pharmacist relies on the physician’s assessment of the 
patient’s needs. The pharmacist has neither examined nor diagnosed the 
patient, and lacks the information the physician has collected on the patient’s 
medical  situation, records, and history, including such things as x-rays, 
ultrasounds, lab results, and treatment plans. 

The CSA recognizes pharmacists’ circumscribed role in dispensing controlled 
substances. It provides that pharmacists may not dispense Schedule II con- 
trolled substances “without the written prescription of a practitioner,” 21 
U.S.C. § 829(a), and that they risk criminal and civil liability if they do, see 
id. §§ 841(a), (c), 842.  

The CSA’s implementing regulations further explain that a prescription for a 
controlled substance “must be issued for a legitimate medical purpose by an 
individual practitioner acting in the usual course of his professional practice.” 
21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a).  

The regulations separately provide that such a prescription “may only be filled 
by a pharmacist, acting in the usual course of his professional practice and 
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either registered individually or employed” by a registered entity. 21 C.F.R. § 
1306.06. 

Consistent with the division of responsibility be- tween prescribers and 
pharmacists, § 1306.04 limits when pharmacists may be held liable for filling 
controlled-substance prescriptions to situations where a pharmacist knows a 
prescription is illegitimate: 

The responsibility for the proper prescribing and dispensing of controlled 
substances is upon the prescribing practitioner, but a corre- sponding 
responsibility rests with the pharmacist who fills the prescription.  

An order purporting to be a prescription issued not in the usual course of 
professional treatment or in legitimate and authorized research is not a 
prescription within the meaning and intent of section 309 of the Act (21 
U.S.C. [§] 829) and the person knowingly filling such a purported 
prescription, as well as the person issuing it, shall be subject to the penalties 
provided for violations of the provisions of law relating to controlled 
substances. 

21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a) (emphasis added). A pharmacist violates this provision 
only if the pharmacist “knowingly fill[s]” a “purported” prescription—i.e., a 
prescription that was not written “in the usual course of professional 
treatment.”  

These critical limitations on a pharmacist’s possible liability under § 1306.04 
are no accident. They were added to the regulation intentionally to avoid the 
un- warranted and counterproductive imposition of liabiity.  

When first proposed in 1971, the regulation lacked the word “knowingly,” 
which would have allowed penalties for any “person filling [an illegitimate] 
prescription.” Purpose of Issue of Prescription, 36 Fed. Reg. 4847, 4948 (Mar. 
13, 1971).  

Pharmacists protested such an expansive rule, however, and during the 
comment period specifically “objected to the responsibility placed upon a 
pharmacist under § [1306.04] to determine the legitimacy of a prescription.”  
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Comments and Objections to Part 306, 36 Fed. Reg. 7776, 7777 (Apr. 24, 
1971).  

The DEA agreed with these comments and changed the legal standard in the 
final regulations, noting the “language [was] revised to require knowledge.” 

Therefore, how then can a government agency act in this manner and secure a 
warrant based on false pretenses and carry out their acts through the courts 
systems. Why? Because we as American people have an inherited trust of the 
DEA.  

Whenever has one heard the DEA acted improper... likely sure never. This is 
to be a trusted agency yet they have violated our trust.  

1. They said and determined that Pronto Pharmacy engaged in 
manufacturing and compounding- controlled substances.  

2. Individual patient drove many miles to fill prescription outside the 
standard of care in Florida. There is absolutely NO laws that supports 
the DEA’s assertions.  

THE WHITE HORSE THEORY 

In this case the DEA image is  to ride the White Horse pretending to be the do 
good agency, however they jump off the White Horse committing their 
misdeeds of constitutional violations, redefining medical/pharmaceutical 
procedures, profiling of healthcare practitioners, illegal seizing of property 
and equipment then return to the White Horse to jump back on. 

THE LAWHERN LETTER 
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However, quite to the contrary we clearly demonstrate this flip flop on how 
the DEA reports it supposely doesn’t enforce laws when DEA Deputy 
Assistant Administrator Diversion Control Division states in a letter to 
Richard A. Lawhern Ph.D, digitally signed 02/12/2021. (see exhibit Letter 
attached) 

Richard A. Lawhern, Ph.D. 3691 Nestling Lane 
Fort Mill, South Carolina 29708 lawhern@hotmail.com 

Dear Dr. Richard Lawhern:

“ This letter is in response to your email dated July 15, 2019, to the Drug 
Enforcement Administration (DEA). In your correspondence, you raised 
concerns regarding chronic pain management, closure of pain treatment 
centers, and the “exodus of providers out of the pain management practice.” 
DEA appreciates the opportunity to address your concerns, and clarify 
information regarding this matter. 

The Controlled Substances Act (CSA) and its implementing regulations 
established a closed system of distribution to ensure appropriate medical care 
and to maintain the integrity of the system through an accountability process. 
One of the most important principles underlying the CSA and its 
implementing regulations is that to be valid, every prescription for a 
controlled substance must be based on a determination by an individual 
practitioner, that the dispensing of the controlled substance is for a legitimate 
medical purpose in the usual course of professional practice. United States v. 
Moore, 423 U.S.C. 122 (1975) and 21 CFR 1306.04(a). 

Federal regulations do not define the term legitimate medical purpose nor 
do they set forth the standards of medical practice. It is up to each DEA-
registered practitioner authorized by DEA to do so, to treat patients 
according to his or her professional medical judgment in accordance with a 
standard of medical practice that is generally recognized and accepted in the 
United States 
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DEA has not promulgated any new regulations regarding the treatment of 
pain. Federal law and DEA regulations do not impose a specific quantitative 
minimum or maximum limit on the amount of medication that a practitioner 
may prescribe on a single prescription, or the duration of treatment intended 
for a particular patient DEA has consistently emphasized and supported the 
prescriptive authority of an individual practitioner under the CSA to 
administer, dispense, and prescribe controlled substances for the 
legitimate treatment of pain within acceptable medical standards as 
outlined in DEA’s policy statement published in the Federal Register (FR) on 
September 6, 2006, titled, Dispensing Controlled Substances for the Treatment 
of Pain. 71 FR 52716.  

While DEA is the agency responsible for enforcing the CSA, DEA does not 
act as the Federal equivalent of a state medical board overseeing the general 
practice of medicine and lacks the authority to issue guidelines that constitute 
advice relating to the general practice of medicine. Therefore, it is important 
for you to check with your state medical board, as the issues that you have 
raised, may be the result of new laws or regulations enacted by your state. 
Where state law or regulations impose requirements beyond those in Federal 
law and regulations, practitioners must 

Richard A. Lawhern, Ph.D. Page 2 

comply with the additional state requirements, provided such state 
requirements do not conflict with the Federal requirements.  

I trust this letter adequately addresses your inquiry. For additional information 
regarding the DEA Diversion Control Division, please visit 
www.DEAdiversion.usdoj.gov. If you have additional questions regarding this 
issue, please contact the Diversion Control Division at (571)-362-3260. “

Sincerely, 

Thomas W. Prevoznik 
Deputy Assistant Administrator Diversion Control Division 
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                      U. S. Department of Justice 
                   Drug Enforcement Administration 

www.dea.gov  
 

 
Dear Dr. Richard Lawhern: 
 
     This letter is in response to your email dated July 15, 2019, to the Drug Enforcement 
Administration (DEA).  In your correspondence, you raised concerns regarding chronic pain 
management, closure of pain treatment centers, and the “exodus of providers out of the pain 
management practice.”  DEA appreciates the opportunity to address your concerns, and clarify 
information regarding this matter. 
 
     The Controlled Substances Act (CSA) and its implementing regulations established a closed 
system of distribution to ensure appropriate medical care and to maintain the integrity of the system 
through an accountability process.  One of the most important principles underlying the CSA and its 
implementing regulations is that to be valid, every prescription for a controlled substance must be 
based on a determination by an individual practitioner, that the dispensing of the controlled 
substance is for a legitimate medical purpose in the usual course of professional practice.  United 
States v. Moore, 423 U.S.C. 122 (1975) and 21 CFR 1306.04(a).  Federal regulations do not define 
the term legitimate medical purpose nor do they set forth the standards of medical practice.  It is up 
to each DEA-registered practitioner authorized by DEA to do so, to treat patients according to his or 
her professional medical judgement in accordance with a standard of medical practice that is 
generally recognized and accepted in the United States.  
 
     DEA has not promulgated any new regulations regarding the treatment of pain.  Federal law and 
DEA regulations do not impose a specific quantitative minimum or maximum limit on the amount 
of medication that a practitioner may prescribe on a single prescription, or the duration of treatment 
intended for a particular patient.  DEA has consistently emphasized and supported the prescriptive 
authority of an individual practitioner under the CSA to administer, dispense, and prescribe 
controlled substances for the legitimate treatment of pain within acceptable medical standards as 
outlined in DEA’s policy statement published in the Federal Register (FR) on September 6, 2006, 
titled, Dispensing Controlled Substances for the Treatment of Pain. 71 FR 52716. 
  
     While DEA is the agency responsible for enforcing the CSA, DEA does not act as the Federal 
equivalent of a state medical board overseeing the general practice of medicine and lacks the 
authority to issue guidelines that constitute advice relating to the general practice of medicine.  
Therefore, it is important for you to check with your state medical board, as the issues that you have 
raised, may be the result of new laws or regulations enacted by your state.  Where state law or 
regulations impose requirements beyond those in Federal law and regulations, practitioners must 

8701 Morrissette Drive 
Springfield, Virginia 22152 
 
 
 
 

Richard A. Lawhern, Ph.D. 
3691 Nestling Lane 
Fort Mill, South Carolina 29708 
lawhern@hotmail.com 
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“…… 

Richard A. Lawhern, Ph.D. 
 

Page 2 

comply with the additional state requirements, provided such state requirements do not conflict with 
the Federal requirements. 
 
     I trust this letter adequately addresses your inquiry.  For additional information regarding the 
DEA Diversion Control Division, please visit www.DEAdiversion.usdoj.gov.  If you have 
additional questions regarding this issue, please contact the Diversion Control Division at 
(571)-362-3260. 
 
                                                                          Sincerely, 
 
 
 
                                                                                

Thomas W. Prevoznik 
                                                                                  Deputy Assistant Administrator 
                                                                                   Diversion Control Division  
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FEDERAL LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES ARE 
UNQUALIFIED TO DETERMINE WHETHER DRUGS “HAVE 

A USEFUL AND LEGITIMATE MEDICAL PURPOSE 

The Supreme Court has long recognized that the state’s protection of “the 
health of its citizens . . . is at the core of its police power,” Sporhase v. Neb. ex 
rel. Douglas, 458 U.S. 941, 956 (1982), and has expressly rejected the notion 
that the CSA grants either DOJ or DEA the broad authority to regulate the 
practice of medicine:  

[t]he [CSA] and our case law amply support the conclusion that Congress 
regulates medi- cal practice insofar as it bars doctors from us- ing their 
prescription-writing powers as a means to engage in illicit drug dealing and  
trafficking as conventionally understood. Beyond this, however, the statute 
manifests no intent to regulate the practice of medicine generally. The silence 
is understandable given the structure and limitations of federalism, which 
allow the [s]tates “[ ]great latitude un- der their police powers to legislate as 
to the protection of the lives, limbs, health, comfort, and quiet of all persons.
[ ]”  

Gonzales, 546 U.S. at 269-70 (emphases added).  

Not only does Congress know how to explicitly delegate the authority to 
regulate controlled substance prescribing to a federal agency, it has done so in 
one— and only one—narrow category: opioid use disorder (OUD) treatment. 
Id. at 271 (holding that 42 U.S.C. § 290bb-2a is the only arena in which 
Congress has set federal medical standards and “indicates that when Congress 
wants to regulate medical practice in the given scheme, it does so by explicit 
language in the statute”); see also Anderson et al. at 98 (“Despite the 
longstanding norm of federal noninterference in medicine, . . . the federal 
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government can regulate medical practice if it makes its intention to do so 
clear and un- ambiguous.”).  

And even then, Congress expressly delegated the authority to set federal 
medical standards regarding OUD treatment to the Department of Health and 
Human Services (HHS) and not a federal law enforcement agency. 42 U.S.C. 
§ 290bb-2a (“The Secretary of Health and Human Services, after consultation 
with the Attorney General . . . shall determine the appropriate methods of 
professional practice in the medical treatment of the narcotic addiction. . . .”).  

Federal law enforcement agencies are unqualified to determine whether drugs 
“have a useful and legiti- mate medical purpose and are necessary to maintain 
the health and general welfare of the American people.”  

21 U.S.C. § 801(1). Congress, therefore, did not even leave it to DEA to 
perform one of its core CSA functions—the scheduling of controlled 
substances— without health care agency oversight and evaluation. See id. § 
811(b) (“The Attorney General shall, before in- itiating proceedings . . . [to 
schedule or reschedule a drug] . . . request from the [HHS] Secretary a 
scientific and medical evaluation, . . . The recommendations of the Secretary 
to the Attorney General shall be binding . . . as to such scientific and medical 
matters.”).  

Furthermore, this Court has expressly held that DOJ cannot criminally 
prosecute OUD prescribers under CSA Section 841(a)(1) unless they sell 
“drugs, not for legitimate purposes but ‘primarily for the profits to be derived 
therefrom’ ” and are acting outside the usual course of professional practice 
such that their behavior is akin to that of a “large-scale [drug] pusher, not as a 
physician.” Moore at 345.  

Congress’s refusal to permit a federal agency to regulate the practice of 
medicine beyond illegal trafficking is further evidenced by the Narcotic 
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Addict Treatment Act (1974) (NATA), which amended the CSA to permit 
HHS to regulate OUD treatment. NATA’s legislative history demonstrates 
that the Senate Judiciary Committee carefully weighed the states’ long-
standing authority to regulate “the general practice of medicine” against 
“the specialized circumstances within the purview of the bill [e.g., OUD 
treatment], which entail inordinate risks of di- version and unethical 
profiteering.” S. Rep. No. 93-192, at 13 (1973). 

The Committee report further explains that the purpose of the NATA 
amendments was to “re- affirm the commitment Congress made to the nation 
when it passed the [CSA] by . . . facilitating the pros- ecution of those who 
engage in the criminal distribution of legitimate narcotic drugs for profit.” Id. 
at 15. 

In sum, the CSA permits the federal prosecution of prescribers who operate as 
drug traffickers as tradi- tionally understood and, thereby, knowingly or 
intentionally engage in prescribing conduct that exceeds the bounds of 
professional practice. Congress never intended to delegate to law enforcement 
the authority to regulate the practice of medicine by criminalizing good faith 
medical mistakes. See 21 U.S.C. § 903. 

The CSA also depends on state law to determine which medical professionals 
constitute “practitioners” acting “in the course of professional practice” and 
are, therefore, presumptively eligible for federal controlled substance 
registration. 21 U.S.C. § 823(f ) provides that “[t]he Attorney General shall 
register practitioners . . . to dispense . . . controlled substances . . . if the 
applicant is authorized to dispense . . . controlled sub- stances under the laws 
of the State in which he practices”) (emphasis added); id. § 802(21) (defining 
“practitioner” to include “a physician . . . licensed by the United States or the 
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jurisdiction in which he practices . . . to . . . dispense . . . a controlled 
substance in the course of professional practice”) (emphasis added). 

The CSA further mandates that DOJ defer to state medical licensing 
authorities before denying, suspending, or revoking a state-licensed 
prescriber’s registration. Id. § 823(f )(1) (explaining that the Attorney 
General may deny, suspend, or revoke a state-licensed prescriber’s 
registration if doing so is in “the public interest” and that the first of the 
five factors that the Attorney General must consider in making such a de- 
termination is “[t]he recommendation of the appropriate State licensing 
board or professional disciplinary authority”). 

A RISING TIDE LIFTS ALL BOATS 

The DEA and the drug war system in America have developed into rogue 
agencies that must be disbanded. These agencies have  failed to recognize a 
peoples chronic disease conditions of intractable pain, while further failing to 
understand or comprehend human suffering, the science of clinical treatment 
and the value of human life.  While the comparison may seem silly, in today's 
anti-opioid climate a "one-size-fits-all" mindset has become the foundation of 
government-dictated medicine. And it's very bad medicine. The deeply flawed 
policies that are being enacted as law all over the country are based on the 
"one-size-fits-none" concept of morphine milligram equivalents (MME) - the 
maximum amount of an opioid medication than is permitted per patient per 
day.  

While MME values are touted as useful predictors of the total "opioid load" 
that a patient can receive, they are nothing of the sort. And MME-based 
policies don't just fail because of differences in the size of patients; they fail 
for multiple reasons.    
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The CDC MME chart, in fact, the entire concept of morphine milligram 
equivalents may be convenient for bureaucrats but because of differences in 
the absorption of different drugs into the bloodstream, half-life of different 
drugs, the impact of one or more other drugs on opioid levels, and large 
differences of the rate of metabolism caused by genetic factors, is not only 
devoid of scientific utility, but actually causes far more harm than help by 
creating "guidelines" that are based upon a false premise. When a policy is 
based on deeply flawed science, the policy itself will automatically be fatally 
flawed. It cannot be any other way.  

In today's anti-opioid climate a "one-size-fits-all" mindset has become the 
foundation of government-dictated medicine. And it's very bad medicine. The 
deeply flawed policies that are being enacted as law all over the country are 
based on the "one-size-fits-none" concept of morphine milligram 
equivalents (MME) - the maximum amount of an opioid medication than is 
permitted per patient per day.  

While MME values are touted as useful predictors of the total "opioid load" 
that a patient can receive, they are nothing of the sort. And MME-based 
policies don't just fail because of differences in the size of patients; they fail 
for multiple reasons.  

FLAWED SCIENCE YIELDS MEANINGLESS RESULTS 

Below is a chart published by the CDC, a "guide" (2) for physicians who 
prescribe pain drugs. Morphine is normalized to 1.0 and the conversion factor 
reflects the relative potency of other opioid drugs. So, if the daily MME - the 
maximum dose of drug allowed - is 90 mg (3) then a patient may receive no 
more than 90 mg of morphine, 90 mg of hydrocodone, 60 mg of oxycodone, 
or 30 mg of oxymorphone per day.  
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Although the conversion table seems to be straightforward enough, it is based 
on an assumption that all opioids behave similarly in the body. But this 
assumption could not be less accurate. Once we see the profound differences 
in the properties of the drugs and the difference between individuals who take 
them it becomes clear that not only is the CDC chart flawed, but the MME is 
little more than a random number.  

 
Table 1. MME equivalents. Source: CDC 

NOT ALL OPIOIDS ARE CREATED EQUAL, ESPECIALLY IN THE 
BODY 

Anyone with even a passing knowledge of pharmacology would immediately 
be skeptical of data in the chart. Let's take, for example, the two drugs at the 
bottom. (1) 

Although Table 1 tells us that Oxymorphone is twice as "strong" as 
oxycodone it does not take into account a number of critical properties that 
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paint a more complete picture of the fate of the drug once swallowed. In other 
words, there is no information about pharmacokinetics -  the effect of the body 
on the drug.  

The overall opioid prescribing rate in the United States peaked and leveled off 
from 2010-2012 and has been declining since 2012, but the amount of opioids 
in morphine milligram equivalents (MME) prescribed per person is still 
around three times higher than it was in 1999.1 MME is a way to calculate the 
total amount of opioids, accounting for differences in opioid drug type and 
strength.(2) 

There was a more than 19% reduction in annual prescribing rate from 2006 to 
2017. The declines in opioid prescribing rates since 2012 and high-dose 
prescribing rates (≥90 MME) since 2008 suggest that healthcare providers 
have become more cautious in their opioid prescribing practices. 

PROBLEMS AND MORE PROBLEMS: 

Some opioid drugs will be absorbed and pass to the bloodstream very well and 
some will do so very poorly. 

• Even opioids that appear to be structurally and functionally similar will 
be metabolized at very different rates. 

• Other drugs can drastically alter the physiological response of a pain 
patient to a given opioid; the second drug may increase a person's 
response to the opioid or it may decrease it. 

• Even under ideal conditions - two people taking the same opioid drug at 
the same dose, at the same interval, and taking no other drug - huge 
variations of innate metabolism from one individual to another will 
necessarily result in a wide range in clinical response to that drug. 

It is the single most heinous governmental agency whose tactics have led to 
the increased cost of medications and healthcare across America,  by mis-
interpreting the purpose and roles of medications needed to treat acute, 
chronic, neuropathic and psychological pain. (3)   
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They have waged a campaign of misinformation to persuade the public that 
these medications are dangerous drugs whose dosages are “RED FLAGS”  
indicating abuse and trafficking, which contributes to the so-called Opiod 
crisis in America. 

The DEA has  become a rogue agency  that has lost their mission, using 
threats and intimidation such as;  
1. Tactics of no-knock raids and  arrest, 
2. Forfeiture, 
3. Threat of prison time  
These agents lacking in both knowledge and understanding  of Opiod Pain 
receptors, come  armed with  “BADGES, GUNS AND PROFOUND 
STUPIDITY.” They impose their  will onto the medical profession (nurses, 
pharmacists, physicians, dentists, and especially drug wholesalers) and their 
patients.  
________________________________________________ 
 1. Josh Bloom, PhD, “Comments to the FDA – Opioid Dosing Based on Milligram Morphine Equivalents is 
Unscientific”,  American Council on Science and Health, May 24, 2021, https://www.acsh.org/news/2021/05/24/
comments-fda-opioid-dosing-based-milligram-morphine-equivalents-unscientific-15561 

2. h2ps://www.acsh.org/profile/josh-bloom 

3. Sally Satel, MD, “The Truth About Painkillers” National Affairs, Nr 47, Spring 2021. https://nationalaffairs.com/publications/detail/the-

truth-about-painkillers 

RED FLAGS – ROTATIONAL THERAPY (USING 2 DIFFERENT 
SHORT ACTING OPIOIDS IN THE SAME PATIENT) 

The state of the art of pain management is constantly being studied and 
advances in therapies do occur.  It has been found that rotational therapy is 
highly effective in chronic pain therapy and often leads to the need of lower 
doses over time.  There are 4 different metabolism rates that are genetically 
determined and since it is rare to do expensive genetic testing the titration of 
opiate therapy can be quite challenging but empirical therapy is evolving to 
include rotational therapy on an ever increasing rate due to its efficacy and 
safety.   
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However, the Wall Street Journal Editorial Board further points out: 
” All of this raises constitutional issues based on a lack of legal standing. A 
negligence claim like the one alleged here is supposed to have a specific party 
claiming a specific injury caused by someone specific. Those are typically 
claims by one private party against another. The government can sue for 
violations of law, not because someone was negligent. The government’s 
claims of Controlled Substances Act violations are so general that they seem 
contrived to add some violation of the law.(1) 
_________________________________________________ 
5. THE DEPARTMENT OF INJUSTICE UNDERMINES YOUR HEALTHCARE:” A Case Against Walmart Mocks Justice 
– WSJ” https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2020/12/29/a-case-against-walmart-mocks-justice-wsj/ 

COMPOUNDING VS. MANUFACTURING 

PHARMACEUTICAL COMPOUNDING LICENSED BY THE STATE 
OF FLORIDA  

64B16-27.700 DEFINITION OF COMPOUNDING 

“Compounding” is the professional act by a pharmacist or other practitioner 
authorized by law, employing the science or art of any branch of the 
profession of pharmacy, incorporating ingredients to create a finished product 
for dispensing to a patient or for administration by a practitioner or the 
practitioner’s agent; and shall specifically include the professional act of 
preparing a unique finished product containing any ingredient or device 
defined by Sections 465.003(7) and (8), F.S.  

The term also includes the preparation of nuclear pharmaceuticals and 
diagnostic kits incident to use of such nuclear pharmaceuticals. The term 
“commercially available products,” as used in this section, means any 
medicinal product as defined by Sections 465.003(7) and (8), F.S., that are 
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legally distributed in the State of Florida by a drug manufacturer or 
wholesaler. 

(1) Compounding includes: 
(a) The preparation of drugs or devices in anticipation of prescriptions based 
on routine, regularly observed prescribing patterns. 
(b) The preparation pursuant to a prescription of drugs or devices which are 
not commercially available. 
(c) The preparation of commercially available products from bulk when the 
prescribing practitioner has prescribed the compounded product on a per 
prescription basis, and the patient has been made aware that the compounded 
product will be prepared by the pharmacist.  
The reconstitution of commercially available products pursuant to the 
manufacturer’s guidelines is permissible without notice to the practitioner. 

2) The preparation of drugs or devices for sale or transfer to pharmacies, 
practitioners, or entities for purposes of dispensing or distribution is not 
compounding and is not within the practice of the profession of pharmacy, 
except that the supply of patient specific compounded prescriptions to another 
pharmacy under the provisions of Section 465.0265, F.S., and Rule 
64B16-28.450, F.A.C., is authorized. 

(3) Office use compounding, “Office use” means the provision and 
administration of a compounded drug to a patient by a practitioner in the 
practitioner’s office or by the practitioner in a health care facility or treatment 
setting, including a hospital, ambulatory surgical center, or pharmacy. A 
pharmacist may dispense and deliver a quantity of a compounded drug to a 
practitioner for office use by the practitioner in accordance with this section 
provided: 

(a) The quantity of compounded drug does not exceed the amount a 
practitioner anticipates may be used in the practitioner’s office before the 
expiration date of the drug; 

(b) The quantity of compounded drug is reasonable considering the 
intended use of the compounded drug and the nature of the practitioner’s 
practice; 

(c) The quantity of compounded drug for any practitioner and all 
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practitioners as a whole, is not greater than an amount the pharmacy is capable 
of compounding in compliance with pharmaceutical standards for identity, 
strength, quality, and purity of the compounded drug that are consistent with 
United States Pharmacopoeia guidelines and accreditation practices. 

(d) The pharmacy and the practitioner enter into a written agreement. The 
agreement shall specifically provide: 

1. That the compounded drug may only be administered to the patient and 
may not be dispensed to the patient or sold to any other person or entity, 

2. That the practitioner shall include on the patient’s chart, medication 
order, or medication administration record the lot number and the beyond-use-
date of any compounded drug administered to the patient that was provided by 
the pharmacy, 

3. That the practitioner will provide notification to the patient for the 
reporting of any adverse reaction or complaint in order to facilitate any recall 
of batches of compounded drugs. 

(e) The pharmacy shall maintain readily retrievable records of all 
compounded drugs ordered by practitioners for office use. The records must 
be maintained for a minimum of four (4) years and shall include: 

1. The name, address and phone number of the practitioner ordering the 
compounded drug for office use and the date of the order, 

2. The name, strength, and quantity of the compounded drug provided, 
including the number of containers and quantity in each, 

3. The date the drug was compounded, 
4. The date the compounded drug was provided to the practitioner, 
5. The lot number and beyond use date. 
(f) The pharmacy shall affix a label to any compounded drug that is 

provided for office use. The label shall include: 
1. The name, address, and phone number of the compounding pharmacy, 
2. The name and strength of the preparation of a list of active ingredients 

and strengths, 
3. The pharmacy’s lot number and beyond-use-date, 
4. The quantity or amount in the container, 
5. The appropriate ancillary instructions such as storage instructions, 

cautionary statements, or hazardous drug warning labels were appropriate; 
and, 

6. The statement “For Institutional or Office Use Only – Not for Resale,” or 
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if the drug is provided to a veterinarian the statement “Compounded Drug.” 
(g) In the case of compounded sterile products intended for human use, the 

pharmacy must be in full compliance with 21 U.S.C. §353b, including being 
registered as an Outsourcing Facility. 21 U.S.C. §353b (eff. Nov. 27, 2013) is 
hereby adopted and incorporated by reference and available at http://
www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-04180. 
Rulemaking Authority 465.005 FS. Law Implemented 465.003, 465.0155, 
465.0265 F 

If the officers were asked the difference between compounding and 
manufacturing, they must know what they are being asked. A reasonable 
officer could not support or testify to the facts of any item or file that was 
within the seized computer or secondary storage systems.  In the warrant the 
DEA deliberately misinterpreted compounding as manufacturing control 
substance. 

PHARMACEUTICAL COMPOUNDING IS DEFINED BY FDA 

The FDA has designated 503A compounding as those that compound 
according to prescriptions specific to particular patients and are required by 
state boards of pharmacy to comply with USP and other guidelines. 

These facilities are limited to dispensing inly for home use and are not 
allowed to compound large batches, an ability that can lead to lower product 
cost. Must comply with USP <795> and <797> along with state board of 
pharmacy regulations. Environmental Monitoring must be performed every 
six months. Beyond Use Dating (BUD) may be assigned based on internal or 
external scientific literature showing stability. Pronto pharmacy was 
designated as a 503A. 

The DEA investigation was an act of brazen misconduct against a licensed 
retail pharmacy that is licensed by law to compound medications.  

These cases are not only about bad science but bad law and poor training. 
Diversion Investigator Richard Albert prepared a warrant that was “opinion 
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based on a red flag,” that Pronto Pharmacy engaged in manufacturing-
controlled substances.  
_________________________________________________ 
(OF ROLE MODELS AND INVISIBLE MEN: EXPOSING THE RISE AND MISSION OF THE FILTERED negroe(S)  
https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2020/06/18/of-role-models-and-invisible-men-exposing-the-rise-and-mission-of-the-
filtered-negroes/ 

This is an assumption that a crime was committed within the Pronto 
Pharmacy, wherein a licensed pharmaceutical company by law, that can 
compound medication. Diversion Investigator wrote, 

ILLEGAL MANUFACTURING : 

Between January 2018 and May 2019, the Respondent was engaged in 
manufacturing controlled substances, as that term is defined in the CSA,  
without a separate DEA registration authorizing it to manufacture controlled 
substances, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e). 
ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 20-28.  
“In addition, the Government previewed that its evidence will show that the 
Respondent unlawfully manufactured controlled substances, specifically 
oxycodone and hydromorphone, without a manufacturer’s registration.” 
To support this allegation, the Government intended to show that in May 2012 
the Respondent’s owner, Mr. Norman J. Clement, Sr., told DEA investigators 
that he compounded oxycodone and hydromorphone because it was cheaper 
than obtaining them from distributors.  

THE MANUFACTURING OF OXYCODONE 

Pronto Pharmacy does not manufacture Oxycodone nor Hydromorphone, 
which is a far more complex process. Pronto would have to: 

1. Acquire large tons of harvested opium paste from Tasmania, India, or 
Afghanistan, transporting these volumes to Tampa, Fl., for processing. 
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2. Process the opium paste, large volumes of agents, reagents, equipment, 
and space would be needed, notwithstanding the fact that to bring the 
product Oxycodone and Hydromorphone to a pharmaceutical-grade that 
meets FDA purity standards. 

3. The water bill and electrical bill at Pronto Pharmacy would be 
enormous. 

The manufacturing of Oxycodone into a bulk product is an extremely complex 
procedure and would involve: (see google scholar manufacture Oxycodone 
footnote 4) 

 
Oxycodone is manufactured in high yields and with high purity using codeine 
or salt of codeine as the starting material. The manufacturing process involves 
the following steps: 
• (a) codeine or a codeine salt (e.g., codeine phosphate) is converted into 

the intermediate N-carboalkoxy- or N-carboaryloxynorcodeine, 
• (b) the intermediate N-carboalkoxy- or N-carboaryloxynorcodeine 

resulting from step (a) is oxidized to yield the intermediate N-
carboalkoxy- or N-carboaryloxynorcodeinone; 

• (c) the intermediate N-carboalkoxy- or N-carboaryloxynorcodeinone 
resulting from step (b) is enolized with a base and the resultant enolate is 
thereafter methylated to yield the intermediate N-carboalkoxy- or N-
carboaryloxynorthebaine; 

• (d) the intermediate N-carboalkoxy- or N-carboaryloxynorthebaine 
resulting from step (c) is reduce to yield thebaine; 

• (e) the thebaine resulting from step (d) is oxidized to yield the 
intermediate 14-hydroxycodeinone; and 

• (f) the intermediate 14-hydroxycodeinone resulting from step (e) is 
hydrogenated to yield oxycodone. 

THERE WAS NOT ONE SINGLE CAPSULE EVER 
MANUFACTURED AT PRONTO PHARMACY 

1. There is not one piece of equipment that the DEA seized from Pronto that 
was used in manufacturing. All equipment taken was for compounding. 
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2. All medications compounded was purchase from two wholesalers (Fagron 
and B&B) 

3. There is not a single controlled substance compounded for encapsulation at 
Pronto Pharmacy which was manufactured at the pharmacy or by a Pronto 
pharmacist and/or their technicians. 

4. The containers of powders were obtained from B&B Pharmaceutical and 
were recorded into the CSOS system which reported back to the DEA and 
wholesalers. Therefore, Richard James Albert should have known this but 
chose to falsify his warrant in order to put Pronto out of business and its 
owners in prison.   

DEA MOVING THE GOAL POST BACKWARD AND FORWARD AND 
SETTING QUOTAS 

We see this early in the case of Pronto Pharmacy when Diversion 
Investigator Richard James Albert (DI Albert) came upon compounding, 
and when he could not repeatedly find anything wrong with the pharmacy’s 
records His Supervisors Amy Hickerson and Susan Langston instructed 
him to redefine this long-standing pharmaceutical methodology as 
manufacturing. 

It is more than clear from his testimony that the DEA Diversion Investigators 
were operating in absent the law based on mis-facts, lies, distortions. DEA has 
learned well. When there is no evidence of wrongdoing, DI Richard James 
Albert’s supervisors cleverly instructed him to redefine the meaning of 
pharmaceutical procedures to accomplish their goals. The Diversion 
Investigator’s charges and findings were easily scientifically debunked. 

It became clear from his court testimony he did not understand compounding 
or its procedures. But likely learned from his handlers like Amy Hickerson, 
who was guiding him on how to divert both meanings to convince a Federal 
Administrative Judge to secure a warrant to shut Pronto Pharmacy LLC down.  
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Additionally, he testified that he did not “know or understand the law(s) or 
how any law applies to the practice of Pharmacy.  Florida Statue 499.1.2 states 
the wholesaler must assess the purchases of control medication by an 
individual pharmacy 

TESTIMONY OF DIVERSION INVESTIGATOR ALPERT 

Page 26 (compounding vs manufacturing) 

Q  And how did you become involved? 

A  We got a call from Department of Health about a pharmacy was 
compounding hydromorphone and oxycodone. And myself and my 
supervisor at the time, met the Department of Health Investigator 
out at Pronto Pharmacy. 

Q And so you went to Pronto Pharmacy? 

A  Yes, sir. 

THE ISSUES HERE 

A.The issue here is that in the initiation phase the Diversion Investigator 
testified that the pharmacy was compounding and not manufacturing 
according to the Department of Health Investigator.   

B.Therefore, an investigator with superior knowledge of the law in this matter 
has informed the Diversion Investigator of the fact of compounding and 
somewhere along the line the DEA erroneously conflates manufacturing 
with compounding contrary to the actual legal definitions of both terms. 

C. DEA’s Pharmacy expert, Don Sullivan, interviewed no physicians/dentist, 
no patient receiving prescriptions, nor reviewed any prescriptions of any 
patients from Pronto PHARMACY. Further DEA, expert Don Sullivan 
reviewed no radiographs, performed no physical examinations on the 
patients of Pronto Pharmacy to impeach the primary physician’s initial 
diagnosis.  
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1.Norman Clement was acting in the capacity of a license’s pharmacist. 
Whereby a Pharmacist is a person who is professionally qualified to prepare 
and dispense medicinal drug.   

2.This definition and is a statue within the Florida Administrative Code & 
Florida Administrative Register.  The officer acted upon an oath to enter the 
premises to secure evidence of violations of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) 
possession with the intent to distribute and distribution of oxycodone and 
hydromorphone.  

TESTIMONY OF DIVERSION INVESTIGATOR ALPERT 

Page 26 (29-31) 

Q If you could go to Government's Exhibit Number Do you recognize this 
document? 

A  Yes, I do. 

Q  What is this? 

A  It's receivable records from B&B Pharmaceuticals to Pronto Pharmacy. 

Q  And can you tell, receiving records for what, exactly? 

A  It's hydromorphone, which is a Schedule II controlled substance.  

THE ISSUE HERE: 

A. The issue here is the possession of the schedule II, controlled substances 
and is therefore a non-issue by virtue of the DEA license possessed by the 
Petitioner. 

1. Norman Clement was acting in the capacity of a license’s pharmacist. 
Whereby a Pharmacist is a person who is professionally qualified to prepare 
and dispense medicinal drug.  This definition and is a statue within the Florida 
Administrative Code & Florida Administrative Register.   
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2. The officer acted upon an oath to enter the premises to secure evidence of 
violations of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) (possession with the intent to distribute 
and distribution of oxycodone and hydromorphone.  

TESTIMONY OF DIVERSION INVESTIGATOR ALPERT 

Page 26 (35 - 36) 

Q  And if you look in the middle of the page there's a column, 
manufactured by? 

A  Yes. 

Q  What are those initials? 

A  Those will be the actual -- looks like they would be the distributor 

A. The issue here is the lack of understanding of basic Pharmacy practice.  
Often times there are forms generated or copied from other sources and can 
contain erroneous headings but in practice are used and not adherence to 
any particular law but just for convenience of the user.   

B. In this case even though the form indicates manufacture it is a generic form 
in that the legal definition of manufacturing does not apply due to the 
nature of manufacturing and the nature of the practice. It is no more valid 
than a typographical error. 

C. DEA’s Pharmacy expert, Don Sullivan, interviewed no physicians/dentist, 
no patient receiving prescriptions, nor reviewed any prescriptions of any 
patients from Pronto PHARMACY. Further DEA, expert Don Sullivan 
reviewed no radiographs, performed no physical examinations on the 
patients of Pronto Pharmacy to impeach the primary physician’s initial 
diagnosis.  
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Pages (152 - 154) 

Testimony of Diversion Investigator Alpert:  

Q  Are you familiar with the FDA guidelines with regard to 
compounding? 

A  No, sir. 

Q  As part of your training, the 12 weeks diversion investigator 
training, did you receive training with regard to the compounding 
of medication and the laws that apply to it? 

A  Not compounding, manufacturing. 

Q  Okay. But not compounding? 

A  Not specifically compounding. 

Q  All right. And one of the things that you're trained on in that 12-
week course is the law; right? 

A  Yes. 

Q  And Federal law, I presume? 

A  Yes. 

Q  And have you educated yourself on Florida law that applies to 
pharmacy operations? 

A  My answer will be no on that. 

Q  So in your analysis of this case, you looked solely to federal law? 

A  Correct. 

Q  Even though, for instance, your subpoena references specific 
Florida Administrative Code provisions? 

A  Correct. 

Q You drafted the subpoena, didn't you? 
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A  Yes. 

Q  Okay. So when you put those code provisions in there, they had 
some significance to you; didn't they? 

A  Yes. 

Q  Okay. What was the significance that they had? 

A  I don't know, sir. 

Q  Okay. So you don't know what — you put them in there but you 
don't know what they mean? 

A  They're already in there, actually. 

Q  Oh. So it's just a template? 

A  Part of it, yes, sir. 

Q  Okay. So you just plug it in. But you really don't know what it 
means? 

A  No, sir, 

THE ISSUE HERE: 

A. The issues here are several.  The Diversion Investigator has testified in 
open court that he has no understanding between the difference between 
compounding and manufacturing.  However, in light of this discrepancy he 
continued with the warrant without educating himself about what he was 
doing.   

B. Furthermore, there is no indication that anyone on his team took the time to 
educate him on this crucial factor.  This is somewhat problematic in that 
how can you prove by the preponderance of evidence that this Pharmacy is 
non-compliant in the law without the investigator knowing what is in the 
law? 
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C. Since this investigator drafted the subpoena, he needed to have probable 
cause to present to an administrative law judge to sign.  Without adequate 
probable cause there is no warrant.   

D. Without a warrant there is no case due to violation of the constitutional 
protection of illegal search and seizure. Without the subpoena there is no 
case.   

E. DEA’s Pharmacy expert, Don Sullivan, interviewed no physicians/dentist, 
no patient receiving prescriptions, nor reviewed any prescriptions of any 
patients from Pronto PHARMACY. Further DEA, expert Don Sullivan 
reviewed no radiographs, performed no physical examinations on the patients 
of Pronto Pharmacy to impeach the primary physician’s initial diagnosis.  

F. Therefore, this fails by the virtue of the “fruit of the poisonous tree 
doctrine.” 
________________________________________________ 
(see A SUMMARY OF THE TESTIMONY OF RICHARD JAMES ALBERT DEA DIVERSION INVESTIGATOR AND 
THE DIVERSION OF THE TRUTH, https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/01/01/the-full-testimony-of-richard-james-
albert-dea-investigator-and-the-diversion-of-the-truth/) 

DEA DISPLAYS LACK OF KNOWLEDGE AND OF IN THE 
PHARMACEUTICAL MEDICAL PRACTICE  

The warrant issued identified Items that are evidence of violations of 21 
U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) (possession with the intent to distribute and distribution 
of oxycodone and hydromorphone.    

The intent of this law implies that it shall be unlawful for any person 
knowingly or intentionally— to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or 
possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled 
substance; or to create, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to 
distribute or dispense, a counterfeit substance. 

The DEA use the law with intent to imply a licenses Pharmacist and medical 
professionals as a person that illegally distribute, or dispense, a controlled 
substances.   
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The DEA has deliberately reinterpreted the law to support their effort to attack 
Pharmacist, in essence the DEA willfully and knowingly misguided the courts  
that the petitioner a license pharmacist was in violations of 21 U.S.C. §§ 
841(a)(1) (possession with the intent to distribute and distribution of 
oxycodone and hydromorphone.   The officers should be charged under 
Giglio. 

As a licensed pharmacist, the Petitioner carried out his fiduciary responsibility 
of Petitioner, Norman J Clement was acting in the capacity of a license’s 
pharmacist. Whereby a Pharmacist is a person who is professionally qualified 
to prepare and dispense medicinal drug.   

This definition and is a statue within the Florida Administrative Code & 
Florida Administrative Register.  The officer acted upon an oath to enter the 
premises to secure evidence of violations of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) 
(possession with the intent to distribute and distribution of oxycodone and 
hydromorphone.  

PHARMACEUTICAL COMPOUNDING LICENSED BY THE STATE 
OF FLORIDA 

“Compounding” is the professional act by a pharmacist or other practitioner 
authorized by law, employing the science or art of any branch of the 
profession of pharmacy, incorporating ingredients to create a finished product 
for dispensing to a patient or for administration by a practitioner or the 
practitioner’s agent; and shall specifically include the professional act of 
preparing a unique finished product containing any ingredient or device 
defined by Sections 465.003(7) and (8), F.S.  

The term also includes the preparation of nuclear pharmaceuticals and 
diagnostic kits incident to use of such nuclear pharmaceuticals. The term 
“commercially available products,” as used in this section, means any 
medicinal product as defined by Sections 465.003(7) and (8), F.S., that are 
legally distributed in the State of Florida by a drug manufacturer or 
wholesaler. 
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(1) Compounding includes: 
(a) The preparation of drugs or devices in anticipation of prescriptions based 
on routine, regularly observed prescribing patterns. 
(b) The preparation pursuant to a prescription of drugs or devices which are 
not commercially available. 
(c) The preparation of commercially available products from bulk when the 
prescribing practitioner has prescribed the compounded product on a per 
prescription basis, and the patient has been made aware that the compounded 
product will be prepared by the pharmacist.  
The reconstitution of commercially available products pursuant to the 
manufacturer’s guidelines is permissible without notice to the practitioner. 

If the officers were asked the difference between compounding and 
manufacturing, they must know what they are being asked. A reasonable 
officer could not support or testify to the facts of any item or file that was 
within the seized computer or secondary storage systems.  In the warrant the 
DEA deliberately misinterpreted compounding as manufacturing control 
substance. 

The DEA investigation was an act of brazen misconduct against a licensed 
retail pharmacy that is licensed by law to compound medications. These cases 
are not only about bad science but bad law and poor training. Diversion 
Investigator Richard Albert prepared a warrant that was “opinion based on a 
red flag,” that Pronto Pharmacy engaged in manufacturing-controlled 
substances. This is an assumption that a crime was committed within the 
Pronto Pharmacy, wherein a licensed pharmaceutical company by law, that 
can compound medication.  

Diversion Investigator wrote, ILLEGAL MANUFACTURING: 

Between January 2018 and May 2019, the Respondent was engaged in 
manufacturing controlled substances, as that term is defined in the CSA,  
without a separate DEA registration authorizing it to manufacture controlled 
substances, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e). 
ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 20-28.  



APP- 148

 

 | P a g e  42

“In addition, the Government previewed that its evidence will show that the 
Respondent unlawfully manufactured controlled substances, specifically 
oxycodone and hydromorphone, without a manufacturer’s registration.” 
To support this allegation, the Government intended to show that in May 2012 
the Respondent’s owner, Mr. Norman J. Clement, Sr., told DEA investigators 
that he compounded oxycodone and hydromorphone because it was cheaper 
than obtaining them from distributors.  

THE MANUFACTURING OF OXYCODONE 

Pronto Pharmacy does not manufacture Oxycodone nor Hydromorphone, 
which is a far more complex process. Pronto would have to: 
1. Acquire large tons of harvested opium paste from Tasmania, India, or 

Afghanistan, transporting these volumes to Tampa, Fl., for processing. 
2. Process the opium paste, large volumes of agents, reagents, equipment, 

and space would be needed, notwithstanding the fact that to bring the 
product Oxycodone and Hydromorphone to a pharmaceutical-grade that 
meets FDA purity standards. 

3. The water bill and electrical bill at Pronto Pharmacy would be 
enormous. 

The manufacturing of Oxycodone into a bulk product is an extremely complex 
procedure and would involve: (see google scholar manufacture Oxycodone 
footnote 4) 

 
Oxycodone is manufactured in high yields and with high purity using codeine 
or salt of codeine as the starting material. The manufacturing process involves 
the following steps: 
• (a) codeine or a codeine salt (e.g., codeine phosphate) is converted into 

the intermediate N-carboalkoxy- or N-carboaryloxynorcodeine, 
• (b) the intermediate N-carboalkoxy- or N-carboaryloxynorcodeine 

resulting from step (a) is oxidized to yield the intermediate N-
carboalkoxy- or N-carboaryloxynorcodeinone; 

• (c) the intermediate N-carboalkoxy- or N-carboaryloxynorcodeinone 
resulting from step (b) is enolized with a base and the resultant enolate is 
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thereafter methylated to yield the intermediate N-carboalkoxy- or N-
carboaryloxynorthebaine; 

• (d) the intermediate N-carboalkoxy- or N-carboaryloxynorthebaine 
resulting from step (c) is reduce to yield thebaine; 

• (e) the thebaine resulting from step (d) is oxidized to yield the 
intermediate 14-hydroxycodeinone; and 

• (f) the intermediate 14-hydroxycodeinone resulting from step (e) is 
hydrogenated to yield oxycodone. 

THERE WAS NOT ONE SINGLE CAPSULE EVER 
MANUFACTURED AT PRONTO PHARMACY 

1. There is not one piece of equipment that the DEA seized from Pronto that 
was used in manufacturing. All equipment taken was for compounding 
2. All medications compounded was purchase from two wholesalers (Fagron 
and B&B) 
3. There is not a single controlled substance compounded for encapsulation at 
Pronto Pharmacy which was manufactured at the pharmacy or by a Pronto 
pharmacist and/or their technicians. 
Here are the containers. ( see below) 
4. The containers of powders were obtained from B&B Pharmaceutical and 
were recorded into the CSOS system which reported back to the DEA and 
wholesalers. Therefore, Richard James Albert should have known this but 
chose to falsify his warrant in order to put Pronto out of business and its 
owners in prison.   

DEA MOVING THE GOAL POST BACKWARD AND FORWARD AND 
SETTING QUOTAS 

We see this early in the case of Pronto Pharmacy when Diversion 
Investigator Richard James Albert (DI Albert) came upon compounding, 
and when he could not repeatedly find anything wrong with the pharmacy’s 



APP- 150

 

 | P a g e  44

records supervisors to redefine this long-standing pharmaceutical 
methodology as manufacturing. 

It is more than clear that the DEA Diversion Investigators were operating in 
absent the law based on mis-facts, lies, distortions. DEA has learned well.  
When there is no evidence of wrongdoing, DI Richard James Albert’s handlers 
cleverly instructed him to redefine the meaning of pharmaceutical procedures 
to accomplish their goals. The Diversion Investigator’s charges and findings 
were easily scientifically debunked. 
It became clear from his court testimony he did not understand compounding 
or its procedures.  

Most notable his supervisors guided him on how to divert both meanings to 
convince a Federal Administrative Judge to secure a warrant to shut Pronto 
Pharmacy LLC down. Additionally, he testified that he did not “know or 
understand the law(s) or how any law applies to the practice of Pharmacy. 
 Florida Statue 499.1.2 states the wholesaler must assess the purchases of 
control medication by an individual pharmacy. 

THE BLOG AND VIDEOS BARES WITNESS AND ALLOWS THE 
SYSTEM TO BE HELD ACCOUNTABLE 

  

It was apparent that the Administrative Law Judge (Mr. Dowd), the Diversion 
Expert (Mr. Alpert), the Prosecutor (Mr. Beerbower), as well as the Expert 
Witness (Mr. Sullivan) are not likely to understand the level of care and 
clinical issues.  

The Petitioner created a blog youarewithinthenorms.com, which the 
Respondent’s Counsel introduced as evidence in court and Judge Dowd made 
in part his decision from this blog. 

This Blog consisting of 350 article has served as a National Platform for many 
health practitioner finding themselves Targets of DOJ_DEA 
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THE CONDUCT OF DEA’S PECULIAR COURT SYSTEM NEEDS 
SERIOUS JUDICIAL REVIEW 

The Court System of the Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA), has slipped 
through both Judicial review and Congressional oversight, and operates 
outside the Federal Rules of Civil and Criminal Procedures not bounded by 
Giglio and in contempt and violation of those protections of the Constitution 
of The United States of America. 

The DEA has acted as an unregulated medical agency policing medical 
facilities and medical practices without legal standards and grounds and the 
DEA Administration Court System body, which operates within the 
Department of Justice (DOJ), as a run away unconstitutionally entity, and 
immune to all laws of governance to all courts within the Justice System.  

The DEA has set up a system of de-facto discrimination through Cognitive 
Dissonance which encourages Pharmacists to profiling patients by the 
Processes of “RED FLAGGING.”  The term Red Flag has no statutory 
meaning in the areas of pharmacy and or within the medical profession.   

Those pharmacists who merely question these DEA policies risk loss of 
employment and/or administrative sanctions. The DEA can impose these 
errant actions because they possess un-checked authority and weapons the 
ability to intimidate by seizings property and assets.  That these DEA policies 
are applied so arbitrarily makes them discriminatory. (13) 

This Administrative Court acts in the capacity as both Criminal and Civil 
Court. The Judges of this peculiar court system make their own decision and 
rules which permits DEA Agents, and Diversion Investigators to act as rogues 
to which no Federal or Constitutional protection are they bound to respect or 
abide by.   
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The DEA Court is known to those Attorneys who choose to defend their 
clients in these “Orders To Show Cause” proceedings as the Court of the  
Kangaroos. The DEA Court System, is so unique its conduct is separate from 
any of DOJ formal guidelines; which permits the DEA Agents to operate like 
un-regulated gangsters. 

While in my attorney’s office on February 24, 2020, I over heard a call, 
placed, to one attorney co-counsel who had his first case representing Oak 
Hill Pharmacy, Wv., vs. Uttam Dhillion et al. acting administrator of Drug 
Enforcement Agency.   

The Attorney pointed out, he had clerked in both the Federal District Court 
and Federal 4th Circuit Appeals Court Systems, and never in his legal career 
had he ever seen such Court rules and procedures as he described as arcane, 
stealthy, bizarre as found in DEA Administrative Court System.  

Currently, there is not one law in America the DEA or its Court System is 
bound to respect: 
1. Federal RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURES ARE NOT PERMITTED. 
2. Jenks rulings or procedures are not allowed. 
3. Gigilio rulings or protections are not allowed. 
4. Federal rules of evidence are not allowed. 
5. The Judge of a DEA Court works for the DEA Administrator (DRUG 

CZAR), and he/she has final say so in all hearing decisions. 
6. If the DEA administrator does not agree with the Administrative Judges 

recommendations, the Judge is terminated. 
7. Attorneys who practice before this Court, describe rules as arcane, 

stealthy, very bizarre. 
8. Most of All cases are heard in Virginia, putting the Respondents from 

around the Country and their Attorneys in a logistical disadvantage and 
nightmare. 
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9. Until recently, the DEA Administrator has final decision on all 
recommendations, he/she has can sit on a recommended order as long as 
3 years. 

Associate Supreme Court Justice Gorsuch wrote April 20, 2020, Ramos v 
Louisiana  

“Imagine a constitution that allowed a “jury trial” to mean nothing but a 
single person rubber stamping convictions without hearing any evidence but 
simultaneously insisting that the lone juror come from a specific judicial 
district “previously ascertained by law….And if that’s not enough, imagine a 
constitution that included the same hollow guarantee twice—not only in the 
Sixth Amendment but also in Article III.8 No: The text and structure of the 
Constitution clearly suggest that the term “trial by an impartial jury” carried 
with it some meaning about the content and requirements of a jury trial” 

The officers of this peculiar Court system, mission is not to seek out the truth 
and but to promote injustice by eliminating the truth supporting junk science 
and unscientific bias.   

The DEA continues and explicitly express actions that prohibit officers from 
targeting people based on their religion, national origin, or other 
characteristics.  The DEA agents have substituted the legal standing of 
reasonable suspicion and probable cause and applied a lesser standard of 
cause to single out pharmaceutical facilities to obtain their organizational 
objectives.  

The constitution protects for unwarranted government intrusions.  Whereby 
the government DEA agents express that filled prescriptions without 
corresponding responsibility is the fundamental actions of a pharmacist.  This 
assumption by the DEA is fundamentally incorrect.   
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DANGEROUS MIS-INTERPRETATIONS OF THE LAW 

DEA agents across the country have applied what they reason as the law or 
searching and seizing medical facilities.  This act in which the DEA agents 
apply is too vague to be valid.    

The DEA executed a show cause search warrant in August 2019 at Pronto 
Pharmacy LLC 1461 W Busch Blvd, Tampa, FL 33612. 

While the purpose of the search was to obtain evidence of illegal Opioid 
distribution. The agents took files in the act of searching to discover items to 
suggest a criminal act took place or is taking place.  

The act of taking files, remove all electronic devices, remove scales, capsule 
making machines, ungunator an ointment maker. Diversion Investigator 
Richard James Alpert, along with his crew, the Miami DEA Head Director, 
Supervisors, legal counsel, agents of the DEA who were on site participants of 
the August 29. 2019 raid, set out to damaged Pronto Pharmacy computer hard 
drives and returned the monitor with smash screens 60 days later 

The goal and purpose of this raid was to inflict such physical destruction to 
put Pronto Pharmacy out of business. DEA wanted to send their calling card 
message to Pronto Pharmacy or to any other Pharmacy they feel that gets out 
of line. 

Thus this DEA Court System has allowed this Federal Agency to gain the 
powers over the entire field of medicine (healthcare science) and permitted 
the Agency to redefine medical procedures medical science. 

DEA ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE MARK DOWD AND DEA EXPERT 
DONALD SULLIVAN 

Judge Mark Dowd’s decision of May 5, 2020, has been labeled ridiculous by 
Pronto Pharmacy Attorney Dale Sisco and more than demonstrates his 
incompetents and fails as a Juris. Most importantly, had Judge Dowd simply 
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took a look at the DEA website under 21 USC 1301.13 which he deliberately 
goes out of his way to misinterpreted this law: 

” A pharmacist may manufacture an aqueous or oleaginous solution 
or solid dosage form containing a narcotic controlled substance in 
Schedule II–V in a proportion not exceeding 20% of the complete 
solution, compound, or mixture. A retail pharmacy may perform central 
fill pharmacy activities.“ 

DEA’s argument, has been Pronto Pharmacy compounding of control 
medications was concluded as manufacturing and Pronto Pharmacy needed a 
separate manufacturing registration. This was because their retail registration 
license does not cover for manufacturing. The chart of guidelines more than 
contradicts all DEA assertions made by both DI Albert and his supervisors  
against Pronto Pharmacy. (14) 

The DEA Diversion Investigator Richard James Albert prepared a warrant that 
“opinion based on a red flag that Pronto Pharmacy engaged in manufacturing-
controlled substances. Albert’s actions and those of his handlers (The crew) 
were both deliberate fabrications of the laws and distortion of truths in order 
to shut Pronto Pharmacy down. Specifically, these are the assumptions 
purposely perpetrated by The Crew that crimes were being committed within 
the Pronto Pharmacy to justify the removal of their Control Substance 
Registration Certificate.  

Pronto Pharmacy LLC is a licensed retail community pharmacy by law and 
permitted under this license to compound control medications. The below 
chart demonstrates Richard James Albert nor his handlers comprehended 
existing laws and/or rules guiding the practicing of Pharmacy; DEA Judge 
Mark Dowd was just as complicit in their ignorants. 

More specifically control medications and this chart under (iv) practitioners, 
hospitals retail pharmacies are permitted under their DEA Federal Registry 
certificate to process Schedule medications II-V. This chart specifically 
outlines: 
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“A pharmacist may manufacture an aqueous or oleaginous solution or solid 
dosage form containing a narcotic controlled substance in Schedule II–V in 
a proportion not exceeding 20% of the complete solution, compound, or 
mixture.“ 

DEA WEBSITE UNDER 21USC 1301.13 

Yet, more, troublesome these guidelines are from the DEA’s own website 
under 21 USC 1301.13 under certificate new license and renewal (224&224a) 
and the cost for this license is $731.00 and it is good for 3 years. The 
importance is DI Albert didn’t appear to know any of laws, nor does it appear 
searched for any laws and his handlers, Aimee Hickerson, Susan Langston, 
John Beerbower kept him ignorant of the laws. 

JUDGE MARK DOWD’S 48 PAGE RULING 
Analysis of Unlawful Manufacturing Allegation 

“Finally, the Government alleges that the Petitioner engaged in 
“manufacturing” controlled substances, as that term is defined in the CSA, 
without a separate DEA registration authorizing the manufacture of controlled 
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substances for which registration 
was granted, except that a mid-level 
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research only to the extent 
expressly authorized under state 
statute. A pharmacist may 
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oleaginous solution or solid 
dosage form containing a 
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substances, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e). 
ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 20-28. Specifically, the Government alleges that the Petitioner 
compounded oxycodone and hydromorphone capsules in such large quantities 
that this activity constituted manufacturing rather than permissible 
compounding for individual patients. Id. 
DEA regulations require registrants to obtain a separate registration for each 
regulated business activity in which they engage. 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e). 
Section 1301.13(e) provides ten separate business activities, to include 
manufacturing and dispensing.44 Id. at (e)(1)(i), (iv). Each business activity is 
“deemed to be independent of each other.” 21 U.S.C. § 1301.13(e). In other 
words, a registration for one activity does not authorize the registrant to 
engage in another activity. Id. To engage in both dispensing and 
manufacturing, a registrant would need to apply for and obtain separate 
registrations for each activity. No person or entity may engage in a regulated 
business activity “until the application for registration is granted and a 
Certificate of Registration is issued by the Administrator to such person [or 
entity].” 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(a).” 

The opinion of Judge Mark Dowd is seriously flawed and contrary to the DEA 
own  and requires this Court just based upon the DEA’s own website.  

Furthermore, while we have been extremely critical of  Mark D. Dowd, U.S. 
Administrative Law Judge, his opinion of May 5, 2020, in the matter of 
Pronto Pharmacy, LLC Docket No. 19-42 issues RECOMMENDED 
RULING, FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND 
DECISION OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE, he states;(2) (page 
40-41) 

” I find Dr.Sullivan’s subject conclusion more in the nature of speculation. I 
don’t believe the record provides sufficient factual foundation to support this 
expert opinion. I also find it inconsistent with the facts of the case. 
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Accordingly, on the basis of the instant record, I find Dr. Sullivan’s subject 
conclusion unjustified. 
Dr. Sullivan made a similar conclusion regarding the prescribing of non- 
controlled substances and of controlled substances not subject to abuse or 
diversion. Again, he deemed such prescriptions as an apparent subterfuge on 
the part of the prescriber, designed to mask the improper prescribing of 
controlled substances highly subject to abuse and diversion, and creating a red 
flag, which went unaddressed by the Respondent. I question the sufficiency of 
the factual foundation for Dr. Sullivan’s expert opinion that the above 
prescriptions were an apparent attempt to mask scores of improper opioid 
prescriptions. The relevant medical records were not reviewed, the 
prescriber’s justification for the prescriptions were not considered by Dr. 
Sullivan, nor was the patient’s input as to the subject prescriptions considered. 
I find Dr. Sullivan’s subject opinion, on the basis of this record, to be 
improperly speculative and unjustified as an expert opinion.”   
Yet, Judge Mark D. Dowd appears to freely admit he accepted Dr. Sullivan’s 
testimony solely on his “White Privilege” stating, 
” This finding does not affect the probity of Dr. Sullivan’s opinions as to the 
therapeutic effect of the subject medications, their contraindication with other 
prescribed medications, or the justification of their prescription.” 

_________________________________________________________ 

THE PROBITY: DEA JUDGE MARK D. DOWD AND THE ARROGANCE OF HUBRIS https://
youarewithinthenorms.com/2020/08/18/the-probity-judge-mark-d-dowd-and-the-arrogance-of-hubris/ 

THE DEA’S CADRE OF JUNK SCIENCE-TIERS AND SUPER 
DEFRAUDERS OF THE AMERICAN TAXPAYER’S MONEY 

They’ve (DEA) exploited the use of a network of medical practitioner hustlers 
such as Donald Sullivan RPh., Phd., Timothy Munzing, MD., in Court Rooms 
who have been paid millions by the United States Federal Government 
see GovTribe. (1),(2),(3) Their testimony which often relies on tacit bias 
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without examining radiographs (X-rays) the patients or interviewing 
prescribing practitioners in many cases are equivalent to the discredited bite 
mark evidence once used in courtrooms. 

DONALD SULLIVAN’S LONG HISTORY OF PROFESSIONAL, 
ACADEMIC FRAUD AND JUDICIAL PERJURY CONTINUES 

The year is 2020, the case docket 09-42, Tampa, Florida the United States 
Drug Enforcement Agency vs Pronto Pharmacy LLC., Norman J Clement 
RPh, DDS from the record it reads, 

 DEA Judge Mark D. Dowd writes: 

“I question the sufficiency of the factual foundation for Dr. Sullivan’s expert 
opinion that the above prescriptions were an apparent attempt to mask scores 
of improper opioid prescriptions. The relevant medical records were not 
reviewed, the prescriber’s justification for the prescriptions were not 
considered by Dr. Sullivan, nor was the patient’s input as to the subject 
prescriptions considered. I find Dr. Sullivan’s subject opinion, on the basis of 
this record, to be improperly speculative and unjustified as an expert 
opinion.”   

“This finding does not affect the probity of Dr. Sullivan’s opinions as to the 
therapeutic effect of the subject medications, their contraindication with other 
prescribed medications, or the justification of their prescription.” 

THE ARROGANCE OF HUBRIS 

DEA Judge Mark D. Dowd writes: 

“ Dr. Sullivan demonstrated a commanding grasp of pharmacy practice and of 
the distinctions between pharmacy compounding and manufacturing. 
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However, there were several matters for which he had diminished credibility. 
For one, he was unaware that Florida had codified the standard of care for 
medical personnel.  
Although I later determined the statute in question did not apply to 
pharmacists, it was somewhat surprising he was unaware of it, as he teaches 
Florida pharmacy law, More problematically, he quickly agreed that it was 
consistent with his understanding of the standard of care for pharmacists in 
Florida, which was somewhat surprising, as the standard of care for medical 
personnel is a highly generalized standard, a prudent healthcare provider 
standard.  
While the standard of care for pharmacists in Florida, as set out in the relevant 
Florida regulations, is highly specific in listing particular responsibilities and 
duties.  
He arguably conceded an alternate generalized standard of care for 
pharmacists in Florida, which is not consistent with Florida law or 
regulation.” 

DEA Judge Mark D. Dowd writes: 

“Secondly, he gave inconsistent testimony regarding unresolvable red 
flags. He described several red flags as unresolvable, that no explanation 
could warrant the filing of the subject prescription. Later, he conceded that 
those same red flags could be resolved. At one point he suggested no single 
red flag was unresolvable, rather it was the combination of red flags which 
made them unresolvable. Accordingly, because of these inconsistencies, in the 
absence of a reliable principle or method employed by Dr. Sullivan, I reject 
his conclusions regarding his claim that certain red flags were unresolvable. 
For each of the red flags, he testified were “unresolvable,” I accept his 
alternate opinion that each of those red flags went unresolved in this matter, a 
finding clearly supported by the evidence.” 

DEA Judge Mark D. Dowd writes: 

“An expert, however, must base his knowledge on more than “subjective 
belief or unsupported speculation.” Daubert, 509 U.S. at 590 (discussing 
Federal Rule of Evidence 702). Without additional supporting evidence I am 
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unable to rely on Dr. Sullivan’s opinion regarding this red flag.  The same will 
be true with respect to the other patients as to whom he raised a similar red 
flag to this one. I will, however, accept his opinion that prescriptions for 
opioids and low-dose non-controlled drugs raise a red flag to the extent that a 
low-dose non-controlled medication “doesn’t make sense” alongside a high-
dose opioid. In other words, I accept his testimony that low doses of non-
controlled drugs are suspicious because they do not make medical sense when 
prescribed with high doses of opioids, but I do not accept his testimony that 
any doctor prescribed those non-controlled drugs with the intent to cover 
illegitimate treatment” 

In contrast The American Medical Association wrote on June 16, 2020: 

“While the AMA understands that the apparent goal of the Centers for Disease 
Control (CDC) Guideline was to reduce opioid prescribing, we believe the 
proper role of the CDC is to improve pain care. It follows that a dedicated 
effort must be made to undo the damage from the misapplication of the CDC 
Guideline. 

“We are concerned that such a careful approach to identifying the precise 
combination of pharmacologic options could be flagged on a prescription drug 
monitoring program as indications wrongly interpreted as so-called “doctor 
shopping” and cause the patient to be inappropriately questioned by a 
pharmacist. The AMA strongly supports a pharmacist carrying out his or her 
corresponding responsibility under state and federal law, but the past few 
years are rife with examples of patients facing what amounts to interrogations 
at the pharmacy counter as well as denials of legitimate medication. The AMA 
urges CDC to provide strong guidance and support for physicians and 
pharmacists to work together rather than jumping to conclusions about a 
patient’s PDMP report.”  

RED FLAG DISTANCE TRAVELED; TESTIMONY OF RICHARD 
ALPERT DISTANCE TRAVEL AND LACKS FOUNDATION 
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In an arbitrary reasoning, the DEA agents claim their actions are based 
factors applied that “Traveling Long Distances to Fill Prescriptions 
can be a red flag of abuse and diversion if a patient travels significant 
distance to a particular pharmacy. However there is no law, rule or 
policy anywhere in both federal or State of Florida that establishes a 
boundary or restrict any person from having any prescription filled 
including all Scheduled medication. Distant traveled to fill a 
prescription is found no-where in the CSA Act or is a statue within the 
Florida Administrative Code & Florida Administrative Register. There 
is no such law rule or policy. 

THE ISSUE HERE 

A. Much of this testimony deals with the distances travelled by the patients. 
All of this testimony is irrelevant because the most that it could suggest is a 
suspicion of wrongdoing and could not possibly rise to the level of true 
diversion without actual indications that were gleaned from people who 
were actually diverting these substances.   

B. There is a federal law that gives patients the right to travel.  There is a 
Supreme Court Decision that gives people the right to travel.  And, there is 
a Federal law that gives patients the right to chose whatever Pharmacy that 
they want.  

C. DEA’s Pharmacy expert, Don Sullivan, interviewed no physicians/dentist, 
no patient receiving prescriptions, nor reviewed any prescriptions of any 
patients from Pronto PHARMACY. Further DEA, expert Don Sullivan 
reviewed no radiographs, performed no physical examinations on the patients 
of Pronto Pharmacy to impeach the primary physician’s initial diagnosis.  

TESTIMONY OF DIVERSION INVESTIGATOR ALPERT 

Pages (154 - 155) 
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Q  To your knowledge, based upon your training, education and 
experience, is there a Florida statute that limits the geographic area 
in which a Florida pharmacy can dispense prescriptions? 

A  Not to my knowledge. 

Q  So when you are conducting an investigation that relates to 
allegations that a pharmacist is not resolving red flags, it would be 
important for you to examine all available information to 
determine whether or not there was a reason or a rationale for a 
patient traveling from Cape Coral to Tampa, is that right? 

A  Well, when I asked the pharmacist during the inspection, he 
would not answer that question. 

Q  Other than asking the pharmacist, did you do anything else? 

A  As far as what, sir? 

Q  Well, you already told us you didn't talk to any of the patients. 

A  No, I did not. 

Q  Did you do anything else? 

A  I was going to attempt to talk to one of the doctors but wasn't 
able to. 

THE ISSUE HERE: 

A.In this case the Diversion Inspector who should be very versed upon the 
Federal law as well as Florida law is unaware of any law that limits travel 
distance for a prescription to be filled and the DEA does explicitly state a 
travel distance that rises to even the lowest level of suspicion a so called 
“red flag’” there is absolutely no way that a reasonable and prudent 
pharmacist should document the resolution of this suspension. 
_________________________________________________ 

B. THE FORM: RICHARD JAMES ALBERT DEA DIVERSION INVESTIGATOR AND THE DIVERSION OF THE 
TRUTH: https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/01/04/the-form-richard-james-albert-dea-investigator-and-the-

diversion-of-the-truth/) 
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C.Indeed, in all cases before the DEA in the past no one standard has been 
shown to be a rule that a medical professional can use in daily operations.  

D. DEA’s Pharmacy expert, Don Sullivan, interviewed no physicians/dentist, 
no patient receiving prescriptions, nor reviewed any prescriptions of any 
patients from Pronto PHARMACY. Further DEA, expert Don Sullivan 
reviewed no radiographs, performed no physical examinations on the 
patients of Pronto Pharmacy to impeach the primary physician’s initial 
diagnosis.  

E.Therefore, it puts an undue burden upon a health professional to comply 
with a rule that has at it’s core a level of mutability that would allow for the 
DEA to target individual pharmacies at will in violation of the constitutional 
doctrine of “equal protection under the law.” Even if such a ruling were 
to occur after the fact it would be an “ex post facto” requirement that is also 
unconstitutional.  In any case fails to rise to the level of the preponderance 
of evidence that is required in this case. 

_________________________________________________________ 
United States Supreme Court CANTON v. HARRIS(1989) No. 86-1088 the failure to train means no training at all 

In this and other cases, DEA Diversion Investigators falsely established 
diversion based solely on the use of googles maps and performed absolutely 
no follow up investigation as found in Wheatland Pharmacy, 78 FR 69441, 
69445 (2013) to establish diversion or evidence that any patients had diverted 
any prescription medication filled by pharmacists from At Cost Pharmacy.  
Similar misconduct by DEA Diversion Investigations are on the record in 
investigations of Pronto Pharmacy LLC., Tampa Fl, Lincourt Pharmacy LLC, 
Clearwater Florida, Superior Pharmacy, Tampa, Fl., Gulf-Med Pharmacy, 
Cape Coral,  Florida.  
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2. The DEA has no laws, rules, policy both Federal or State and 
Congressional has pass no law statistical guidelines to support or 
establish boundary levels, which are indicative of a criminal act.  The 
DEA guidelines are tactic acts that specifically target American 
Pharmacist.    

3. The DEA has criminal elements of free commerce by criminalizing 
distance travel as elements of criminal conduct.   

4. Where as in the case of AARRIC pharmacy the DEA reasoned that 
an individual regularly filled controlled substance prescriptions for 
individuals who traveled an unusual distance.  The DEA further stated 
that “Obtain or fill a controlled substance is indicative of diversion 
and/or abuse, and that such behavior is a red flag that must be 
addressed prior to dispensing.”  The DEA reasoned that traveling 78 
miles round trip and over 53 miles round trip is a red flag that must be 
addressed prior to dispensing. The DEA also claimed that traveling 45 
miles round trip and or 44 miles round trip is a red flag that must be 
addressed prior to dispensing. 

5. The DEA applied fictitiously  a distance law USING GOOGLE 
MAPS on Pronto Pharmacy to falsely established probable in their 
search warrant.   

“Approximately 140 miles from that a prescription was filled to a 
patient who was “located approximately 130 miles from Respondent’s 
registered address and another lived “approximately 145 miles yet 
another USING GOOGLE MAPS lived approximately 160 miles 
from Respondent’s registered address. 

It must be noted the DEA agents applied a higher mileage factor in 
different warrants to obtain a sense of urgency to support their cause.  
In AARRIC Pharmacy Rx, of Fort Myers Florida, the DEA said that 
traveling 78 miles round trip, and over 53 miles round trip is a red flag 
that must be addressed prior to dispensing. In  
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5. In Pronto Pharmacy case, the DEA USING GOOGLE MAPS 
stated, a patient was “located approximately 130 miles from 
Respondent’s registered address and another lived “approximately 145 
miles yet another lived approximately 160 miles.   

6. If distance of traveling to obtain a prescription is a factor, these 
rules should and apply to mail order pharmacies, to citizens driving to 
Canada and to pharmacy that fills prescriptions to individuals.  
Moreover, these Class 2 medications are delivered from manufactures 
via UPS and other delivery services.   

7. By the DEA standards, the manufacturers are operating a criminal 
drug enterprise and the delivery service operated as drug carriers. 
Therefore, the entire pharmaceutical industry is at risk when the DEA 
applies their unabashed rules.  Such actions of a government agency 
are to be feared. And such actions violated the 1st, 4th, 8th and 14th 
amendments.         

8. The DEA’ S expert Donald Sullivan opined that traveling long 
distances ALONG WITH THE USE OF GOOGLE MAPS can be a 
red flag of abuse and diversion if a patient travels significant distance 
to a specific pharmacy, especially if the patient also travels significant 
distance to a particular prescriber. Distant traveled to fill a prescription 
is found no-where in the CSA Act or is a statue within the Florida 
Administrative Code & Florida Administrative Register. There is no 
such law rule or policy. 

9. The facts to support probable cause cannot be justified by mere 
suspicion, (SEE OAK HILL final order 12/23/2019) “DEA’s expert 
opined that it can be a red flag of abuse” this cannot support an 
express intent that a crime was afoot. Thus, it cannot establish 
probable cause.  In fact, by the DEA statements that long distances 
“can be” a red flag of abuse and diversion, is a clear application that 
narrowly supports Responsible Suspicion.   
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10. Norman Clement was acting in the capacity of a license’s 
pharmacist. Whereby a Pharmacist is a person who is professionally 
qualified to prepare and dispense medicinal drug.  This definition and 
is a statue within the Florida Administrative Code & Florida 
Administrative Register.  The officer acted upon an oath to enter the 
premises to secure evidence of violations of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) 
(possession with the intent to distribute and distribution of oxycodone 
and hydromorphone.  

_________________________________________________- 
13. https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2020/03/06/824-how-the-dea-turns-legal-into-illegal-the-story-predatory-
prosecutions-and-the-dea-court-of-the-kangaroos-part-2/ 

14. 200 years https://youarewithinthenorms.com/2020/06/07/mark-d-dowd-drug-enforcement-agencies-dea-
administrative-court-law-judge-overturns-nearly-200-years-of-medical-and-pharmacy-law-and-protocols/) 

TESTIMONY OF DIVERSION INVESTIGATOR ALPERT 

Pages (151 - 152) 

Q. Based upon the investigation that you conducted. did you attempt 
to determine what the volume was of prescriptions that were being 
dispensed at Pronto Pharmacy? 

A  No, sir. 

Q  But you could tell from the dispensing records, for instance, how 
man prescriptions were being dispensed each day, each week, each 
month or each year; right? 
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A  I would be able to tell that, yes. 

Q  But you never made an attempt to do that? 

A  No, sir. 

Q  And did you analyze the records, the prescribing records that you 
obtained via the administrative inspection warrant to compare the 
patients who received capsules that were compounded at Pronto 
Pharmacy to the anticipated patient need? 

A  No, sir. 

THE ISSUE HERE 

A. The Issue here is that the even though the Immediate Suspension Order 
indicates excessive dispensing of CII controlled substances the Diversion 
Investigator never made any attempt to quantify the actual number of 
controlled substance prescriptions involved and as such any allegations of 
wrongdoing cannot be met.  

B. DEA’s Pharmacy expert, Don Sullivan, interviewed no physicians/dentist, 
no patient receiving prescriptions, nor reviewed any prescriptions of any 
patients from Pronto PHARMACY. Further DEA, expert Don Sullivan 
reviewed no radiographs, performed no physical examinations on the 
patients of Pronto Pharmacy to impeach the primary physician’s initial 
diagnosis.  

C. AMERICAN MEDICAL ASSOCIATION CALLS CDC GUIDELINES 
OFTEN USED IN PROSECUTING PHARMACISTS AND 
PHYSICIANS, “WRONG”: CONGRESSIONAL INVESTIGATIONS 
NEEDED TO HALT PROSECUTORIAL CORRUPTION!/; https://
youarewithinthenorms.com/2021/03/25/american-medical-association-calls-cdc-guidelines-often-used-in-prosecuting-
pharmacists-and-physicians-wrong-congressional-investigations-needed-to-halt-prosecutorial-corruption/ 



APP- 169

 

 | P a g e  63

THE ISSUE HERE: 

1. This shows Alpert and investigation or basic research therefore this 
invalidates  his order to show cause 

2. “A decade into the crisis, more and more prescription drug users turned to 
the black market. Even though the D.E.A. had tried to “eradicate” illicit drugs 
for nearly 50 years, users could easily buy stolen and counterfeit pills, along 
with a cheaper option, heroin.” 

3. According to Professor Leo Beletsky and Jeremiah Goulka, (ii.) Director of 
Northeastern University’s Health in Justice Action Lab, where Jeremiah 
Goulka is a senior fellow in their September 17, 2018 New York Times 
article;  

The DEA was supposed to curb problematic drug use, but failed to do so 
because its tactics were never informed by public health or addiction science.
(iii.) Despite the investment of hundreds of billions of taxpayer dollars and the 
earnest efforts of thousands of employees, the D.E.A.’s track record is 
abysmal. 
3. According to Professor Leo Beletsky and Jeremiah Goulka, (ii.) Director of 
Northeastern University’s Health in Justice Action Lab, where Jeremiah 
Goulka is a senior fellow in their September 17, 2018 New York Times art. 

Pages (156 - 158) 

Q  And you're aware, are you not, based upon your work in the field, 
that PBMs are pushing down the reimbursement rates available to independent 
pharmacies; right? 

A  I have heard that. 
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JUDGE DOWD: Explain what that is. Your understanding of what — 

THE WITNESS:   

Right. My understanding from pharmacists that I've been on inspections with, 
is that they're not getting reimbursed the amount of money that they think they 
should be reimbursed with using insurance companies. And that's just what 
I've heard in talks from pharmacists. 

JUDGE DOWD:  Based on some kind of ratio? 

THE WITNESS:  I have no idea, sir. 

THE ISSUE HERE: 

A.Based upon this testimony that the DEA is aware of the shrinking 
reimbursements in retail pharmacy and their “red flag” that indicates that 
cash payments are suspicious even though they know that in this country we 
do not have universal healthcare a reasonable and prudent individual would 
conclude that the DEA and its actions against healthcare providers 
especially pharmacists could be construed as an attempt to enslave this class 
of people.   

B. DEA’s Pharmacy expert, Don Sullivan, interviewed no physicians/dentist, 
no patient receiving prescriptions, nor reviewed any prescriptions of any 
patients from Pronto PHARMACY. Further DEA, expert Don Sullivan 
reviewed no radiographs, performed no physical examinations on the 
patients of Pronto Pharmacy to impeach the primary physician’s initial 
diagnosis.  

C.This along with their history of targeting non-white citizens and resident 
aliens in this country is grotesque to any person who is aware of the 
checkered past of this great nation.  18 USC 1589 (a)(3) 

 18 U.S. Code § 1589.Forced labor 
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(a)Whoever knowingly provides or obtains the labor or services of 
a person by any one of, or by any combination of, the following 
means— 

(1)by means of force, threats of force, physical restraint, or 
threats of physical restraint to that person or another person; 
(2)by means of serious harm or threats of serious harm to 
that person or another person; 
(3)by means of the abuse or threatened abuse of law or legal 

process;  

JUDGE DOWD: Okay. Mr. Sisco. 

BY MR. SISCO: 

Q  Well, you understand, based upon your work as a diversion 
investigator, that distributors are limiting the amounts of controlled 
substances that they will dispense to independent pharmacies; isn't 
that right? 

A  Some distributors, yes, sir. 

Q  Well, isn't it true that the DEA is putting pressure on distributors 
through the Know Your Customer initiative, to make sure that 
they're selling a much higher percentage of non-controls to 
pharmacies than controlled substances? 

A  What I do know is that the DEA is putting pressure on distributors 
about Know Your   Customer and doing the due diligence. 

Q  And part of that analysis is doing a comparison of the ratio of 
controlled and non-controlled dispensing; correct? 

A I believe they do that. 

JUDGE DOWD:  Do you know what that ratio is? 

THE WITNESS:  No, sir. 
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JUDGE DOWD:  Do you know if there is an exact ratio of controlled and 
non-controlled? 

THE WITNESS:  I haven't seen anything as exact ratio, no, sir. 

JUDGE DOWD:  Okay. 

BY MR. SISCO: 

Q  You're not aware of any federal regulation that requires a pharmacy 
to accept insurance;    isn't that true? 

A  No, I'm not aware, no. 

Q  And we've already asked you about Florida. You don't know about 
Florida law, right? 

A  Well, not to that extent. No, sir. 

THE ISSUE HERE: 

A. Even though the DEA is aware of the decreasing supply of adequate pain 
medications in various areas of Florida, as well as nation wide and the 
increasing difficulty that patients face in their own neighborhoods, they 
compound their negative impact on the public by using these totally 
ineffective tactics to combat the “opioid crisis” by putting undue burden on 
patients, caregivers, prescribers and pharmacists in violation of their own 
mandate to decrease drug diversion and addiction according to the Office of 
the Inspector General.  

B.) See: https://oig.justice.gov/reports/2019/e1905.pdf We found that DEA 
was slow to respond to the significant increase in the use and diversion of 
opioids since 2000. We also found that DEA did not use its available 
resources, including its data systems and strongest administrative enforcement 
tools, to detect and regulate diversion effectively. 

C.) DEA’s Pharmacy expert, Don Sullivan, interviewed no physicians/dentist, 
no patient receiving prescriptions, nor reviewed any prescriptions of any 
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patients from Pronto PHARMACY. Further DEA, expert Don Sullivan 
reviewed no radiographs, performed no physical examinations on the patients 
of Pronto Pharmacy to impeach the primary physician’s initial diagnosis.  

Since Mr. Alpert , admitted under oath he didn’t know Florida State law 
in the practice of pharmacy and testified under oath he did not 
investigate any patients, interviewed no medical practitioner of Pronto 
Pharmacy. 

 HIS ENTIRE TESTIMONY should be dismissed and the ISO order 
voided. 

I’ve been a Pharmacist 45 years and have been practicing Pharmacy the same 
way  for those years (see Since When law enforcement) http://
youarewithinthenorms.com/2019/12/10/since-when-has-it-become-the-job-or-
the-role-of-law-enforcement-dea-to-dictate-and-define-medical-procedures-
and-protocols-a-reflection/ 

Testimony of Diversion Investigator Alpert and Pharmacist Expert Sullivan 
should be voided  

The entire testimony of Both Don Sullivan and Mr Alpert as Government 
witnesses should be dismissed. Alpert admitted under oath he didn’t know 
Florida State law or for that matter Federal Law which appeared on the Order 
to Show Cause. He simply use a default form of the DEA. Both Sullivan and 
Alpert  testified under oath they did not investigate any patients, interviewed 
no medical practitioner of Pronto Pharmacy. Sullivan never verified any 
prescriptions because DEA never sent them to him. 

For example Government witnesses stated Pronto manufactured 33,333.00 
capsule of 8 mg hydromorphone over and 18 month period. If the average 
prescription of Hydromorphone 8 mg was 120 capsule the amount would 
calculate to 277.77 prescription in total.  
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Then divided by 18 months would amount to 15 prescription per month, then 
divide that total by 22 the day open per month translates to .666 prescription 
for hydromorphone 8 mg 120 capsules, per day.   

This is hardly manufacturing. Not only does Both Alpert and Sullivan not 
understand compounding they can’t even do the math correctly. 

Manufacturing would entail producing a product and dispensing it to and 
outside entity and most importantly it would require a form 222 transfer plus 
invoices.  

All compounding at Pronto Pharmacy was for our patients an we made 
anticipatory dosages as allowed by pharmacy law. 

However, Alpert never took time to know the laws of pharmacy or the 
procedures of  Control Substance Transfer.  Alpert doesn’t have any 
knowledge in pharmacy procedures especially in compounding.  

Nor does pharmacist expert Don Sullivan(see Walter Clement Pronto 
assessment) who interviewed no physicians/dentist, no patient receiving 
prescriptions from Pronto PHARMACY, and reviewed  no radiographs or had 
performed  physical examination on each patient of Pronto Pharmacy to  
impeach the primary physician initial diagnosis.  

What Don Sullivan, does is offer an opinion base on a bias,  by cleverly 
evisorating  the physician patient relationship  by using GOOGLE MAPS and 
distance travel and concluding these prescription are not for legitimate 
medical purpose. 

What further undermines the credibility of Don Sullivan and Alpert most is 
the 11 patients they identified as unresolvable ‘RED FLAGGS,” are still being 
treated today, by the same doctor for the exact same amounts at non- black 
own Pharmacies. Most importantly prescriptions being filled as these other 
pharmacies and the physicians are no longer RED FLAGGS. Both Alert and 
Sullivan could have easily verified this by using the PDMP, so what happen to 
the RED FLAG????? 



APP- 175

 
 

 | P a g e  69

These patients call us to ask when are we at Pronto Pharmacy getting back 
open because they have to pay much more for their meds under a hostile 
environment.  

The ENTIRE TESTIMONY should be dismissed and the ISO order 
voided. (see) 

_______________________________________________________ 

15. WHILE WE WERE NOT LOOKING 
http://youarewithinthenorms.com/2020/01/08/so-while-we-were-all-focused-on-iran-trumps-drug-enforcement-agency-dea-
was-out-attacking-black-own-pharmacies/ 

16. DEA’s Kourt of The Kangaroo 
http://youarewithinthenorms.com/2019/12/23/deas-kourt-of-the-kangaroo-by-norman-j-clement-rph-dds/ 

17. From The New York Times: The Federal Agency That Fuels the Opioid Crisis 
"The Drug Enforcement Administration has proved itself incompetent for decades."  https://www.nytimes.com/2018/09/17/
opinion/drugs-dea-defund-heroin.html 
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DISCUSSION 

THE OTHER SIDE OF THE SO CALLED OPIOD EPIDEMIC  

The idea medically prescribed opioid medications (MPOM) or narcotic 
analgesic medications (NAM) cannot be use for chronic pain are simply not 
true and is misleading. Further the idea these medications are not to be used in 
combination with other medications such those use to relieve anxiety; mood 
disorders or sleep are further in error.  

MPOM or NAM, when prescribe and use for long term chronic pain will 
result in dependency. It is the role of the Pharmacist to ensure the patient who 
is being treated for chronic pain on how to use of this class medications 
correctly to ensure their safety.  

These medications are safe when used correctly and like any medications 
control or non-control when taken beyond their therapeutic dose are 
dangerous and may result in death. More importantly, to this date unless is the 
case of extreme anaphylaxis there is no case in the  literature when any 
individual has succumbed to death when given a therapeutic dose.  

In fact, other medications may cause a higher level of mortality in therapeutic 
doses. Warfarin (an anti- coagulant) for example has an extremely narrow 
therapeutic index and cranial hemorrhage is somewhat common. Antibiotics, 
are too widely prescribed and create a need for newer and stronger antibiotics 
and will be the death of all human kind eventually. The CDC is well aware of 
these dangers. Anti-Neoplastic medications in the treatment of cancer are 
extremely toxic and what is considered “cure” is remission for just 5 years.  
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DEA’s mission is to enforce the controlled substances laws and regulations of 
the United States and bring to the criminal and civil justice system of the 
United States, or any other competent jurisdiction, those organizations and 
principal members of organizations involved in the growing, manufacture, or 
distribution of controlled substances appearing in or destined for illicit traffic 
in the United States; and to recommend and support non- enforcement 
programs aimed at reducing the availability of illicit controlled substances on 
the domestic and international markets.  

However, the Office of the Inspector General reports the inadequacies of the 
DEA in combating diversion, the major issues are the illicit drugs and not the 
prescribed medications. So once again the DEA is off target by targeting 
Healthcare Providers while largely ignoring the low-level diversion actors in 
the street.  

Healthcare Providers are assumed by DEA to be lacking due diligence if they 
don't prove beyond a shadow of a doubt that they have addressed any red 
flags but in court hardly ever produce evidence of real diversion but rely on 
suspicions and glitzy presentations.  

In fact, DEA is the single most government agency who tactics have the 
increase cost of medication and healthcare all across America by mis-
interpreting purpose and roles of medications needed to treat acute, chronic, 
neuropathic and psychological, pain.  

The DEA has been waging a campaign of disinformation to sway the public to 
a point prescribed narcotic analgesic medications are indeed drugs, dangerous 
drugs who dosages are red flags indicating abuse and trafficking contributing 
to the so-called Opioid crisis around America.  

DEA’s Pharmacy expert, Don Sullivan, interviewed no physicians/dentist, no 
patient receiving prescriptions, nor reviewed any prescriptions of any patients 
from Pronto PHARMACY. Further DEA, expert Don Sullivan reviewed no 
radiographs, performed no physical examinations on the patients of Pronto 
Pharmacy to impeach the primary physician’s initial diagnosis.  
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Respondent repeatedly filled prescriptions in the face of “red flags,” which Mr. Sullivan 

opined “were so strongly indicative of drug abuse and diversion that they could not have 

been resolved by a pharmacist acting in the usual course of professional practice.”  Id. at 

pp. 3-4. 

5. According to Mr. Sullivan, these “red flags” included (i) prescribing of “drug 

cocktails” for five (5) patients, (ii) early refills of controlled substance prescriptions for 

five (5) patients, (iii) excessive dispensing of high strength controlled substances, (iv) 

patients traveling long distances to fill prescriptions at Respondent’s pharmacy, and (v) 

excessive cash payments.  Id. at pp. 4-7.

6. In the OSC, the Government also alleged that the Respondent “was engaged in the 

‘manufacture’ of controlled substances, as that term is defined in the Controlled 

Substances Act, despite not being registered with the DEA as a manufacturer.”  Id. at p. 2.

7. The Government alleged that Mr. Sullivan “reviewed purchasing and dispensing 

data for [Respondent] between January 2018 and May 2019,” and “opined that 

[Respondent] was ‘compounding’ an unreasonably large quantity of oxycodone and 

hydromorphone capsules.”  Id.  at p. 9.

8. The Government alleged that Respondent’s owner and pharmacist-in-charge 

(“PIC”) told DEA investigators that Respondent manufactured oxycodone and 

hydromorphone capsules based on projected demand.  Id. at pp. 9-10.

9. Based upon the allegations contained in the OSC regarding Respondent’s 

purportedly improper dispensing practices and illegal manufacturing of controlled 

substances, the Government contended that Respondent’s registration should be revoked 
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Notably, DEA’s evidences always realize upon execration on numbers of 
“pills” and street language such as “pill mills,” “Holy Grails,” and 
“Cocktails,” not on medical disease states or clinical conditions. Prosecutors, 
have found these forms of distortion, redefinition of medical procedures 
effectively sells juries. Further Judges often instruct the juries to ignore any 
clinical presentation or will not allow such testimony on the record.  

  
The damage to a Healthcare Providers and the chronic pain patient 
populations is devastating and the DEA never takes into account the clinical 
needs of the patients. It's as if they have criminalized pain management 
without the benefit of clinical knowledge.  

WHEREFORE, WE REQUEST UPON THIS COURT: 

1. Grant this motion and reverse to findings and decision of the 
Administrative Court, return and restore all privileges of  the DEA 
Control Registration Certificates of Pronto Pharmacy LLC. 

2. Further, Dismiss the Decision of the Administrative Judge Mark Dowd in 
agency case No: 19-42, Federal Registry filed 1927282  on December 20, 
2021with extreme prejudice. 

3. Return all Files, Equipment, Medication to Pronto Pharmacy Llc and its 
owner Norman J Clement of Tampa, Florida. 

4. Reward damages and penalties of amounts greater than $187 million U.S. 
dollars 
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      RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED 

February 16, 2022 
  Norman J Clement 

    Norman J Clement, pro se 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on February 03, 2022 a true and correct copy of the 
foregoing was electronically filed via ECF and/or served via e-mail upon the 
following: 

I, Norman J Clement, hereby certify that I electronically filed and agree to 
utilize jointly the foregoing Respondent’s Notice of Filing the Certified List of 
the Record with the Clerk of the Court for the United States Court of Appeals 
for the District of Columbia Circuit, by using the appellate CM/ECF system, 
on February 15, 2022. I certify further that Petitioner is pro se, and that 
service will is accomplished  by electronic mail to 

   Anita Gay, Esq United States Department of Justice  

   Criminal Division/ Narcotic and Dangerous Drugs Section 

   145 N Street, NE, Room 2E-404 Washington, D.C. 20002  

     (202) 353-7629  anita.gay2@usdoj.gov  

       Respectfully Submitted 

       Norman J Clement 

       Norman J Clement pro. se 

       prontopharmacy@aol.com 
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United States Court of Appeals FOR THE 
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT  

Norman Clement,  

        Case: No. 21-1262  

    Petitioner  

v.  

Drug Enforcement Administration,  

    Respondent 
___________________________________________________ 

PETITIONER’S DISPOSITIVE MOTION TO VACATE 
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGES FINDINGS AND DEA 

ADMINISTER’S ORDERS, RESTORE CSA 
REGISTRATION of PRONTO PHARMACY LLC AN 
AWARD DAMAGES, AMEND INDEX OF RECORD

Pursuant to the Court’s Order of  December 20, 2021 and D.C. 
Circuit Rule 30 (c), Petitioners Norman Clement pro-se in 
Case No. 21-1262  files this Dispositive Motion and Amend 
Petitioner’s Certified Index Record to include blog 
youarewithinthenorms.com,  hereby states,  
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STATEMENT 
The decision in this case will have far-reaching deleterious effects on the 
professions of Medicine, Nursing and other Mid-Level Practitioners and 
Pharmacists.  

After reading the TRIAL TRANSCRIPT and ALJ DECISION many 
glaring errors became apparent.  This document is intended to enlighten 
the court as to the true nature of the STANDARD of CARE as it pertains 
to the practice of PHARMACY.   

The practice of Pharmacy has many traditional and emerging roles and a 
one size fits all standard cannot apply.  The proof of this is that certain 
facets are known as retail establishments, institutional establishments, 
healthcare organizations and others.  Within these broad categories there 
are subdivisions.   

ARGUMENT 
The Controlled Substances Act (CSA) and its implementing regulations 
established a closed system of distribution to ensure appropriate medical 
care and to maintain the integrity of the system through an 
accountability process.  

One of the most important principles underlying the CSA and its 
implementing regulations is that to be valid, every prescription for a 
controlled substance must be based on a determination by an individual 
practitioner, that the dispensing of the controlled substance is for a 
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legitimate medical purpose in the usual course of professional practice. 
United States v. Moore, 423 U.S.C. 122 (1975) and 21 CFR 1306.04(a).  

Federal regulations do not define the term legitimate medical purpose 
nor do they set forth the standards of medical practice. It is up to each 
DEA-registered practitioner authorized by DEA to do so, to treat patients 
according to his or her professional medical judgement in accordance 
with a standard of medical practice that is generally recognized and 
accepted in the United States. 

DEA has not promulgated any new regulations regarding the treatment 
of pain. Federal law and DEA regulations do not impose a specific 
quantitative minimum or maximum limit on the amount of medication 
that a practitioner may prescribe on a single prescription, or the duration 
of treatment intended for a particular patient.  

What is clear here is that Pronto Pharmacy is acting as a specialty 
pharmacy which specializes in pain management as well as non-sterile 
compounding.   

Since DEA expert, Dr. Sullivan seems not to have any experience in pain 
management nor non-sterile compounding it is understandable that he 
does not grasp of the fine nuances in these fields.  Since THE 
PETITIONER has experience in the fields listed above the following is 
submitted to enlighten the court.  

REFLECTING THE DISTINCT ROLES OF PRESCRIBERS AND 
PHARMACIST, § 1306.04 IMPOSES LIABILITY ONLY ON 

PHARMACIST WHO “knowingly” fill an illegitimate prescription. 

Although § 1306.04(a) regulates both prescribers and pharmacists, the 
two roles are far from inter- changeable, including for purposes of 
determining potential liability. With different licenses, education, skill 
sets, responsibilities, and workplaces from physicians, pharmacists play 
a vital but distinct role in a patient’s care. (see Amicus Curiae Brief 
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National Association Chain Drug Stores, US Supreme Court Case No. 
20-1410, Ruan vs. United States of America) 

Specifically, when dispensing a controlled substance to a patient, as 
prescribed by a physician, a pharmacist relies on the physician’s 
assessment of the patient’s needs. The pharmacist has neither examined 
nor diagnosed the patient, and lacks the information the physician has 
collected on the patient’s medical  situation, records, and history, 
including such things as x-rays, ultrasounds, lab results, and treatment 
plans. 

The CSA recognizes pharmacists’ circumscribed role in dispensing 
controlled substances. It provides that pharmacists may not dispense 
Schedule II con- trolled substances “without the written prescription of a 
practitioner,” 21 U.S.C. § 829(a), and that they risk criminal and civil 
liability if they do, see id. §§ 841(a), (c), 842.  

The CSA’s implementing regulations further explain that a prescription 
for a controlled substance “must be issued for a legitimate medical 
purpose by an individual practitioner acting in the usual course of his 
professional practice.” 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a).  

The regulations separately provide that such a prescription “may only be 
filled by a pharmacist, acting in the usual course of his professional 
practice and either registered individually or employed” by a registered 
entity. 21 C.F.R. § 1306.06. 

Consistent with the division of responsibility be- tween prescribers and 
pharmacists, § 1306.04 limits when pharmacists may be held liable for 
filling controlled-substance prescriptions to situations where a 
pharmacist knows a prescription is illegitimate: 

The responsibility for the proper prescribing and dispensing of 
controlled substances is upon the prescribing practitioner, but a corre- 
sponding responsibility rests with the pharmacist who fills the 
prescription.  
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An order purporting to be a prescription issued not in the usual course of 
professional treatment or in legitimate and authorized research is not a 
prescription within the meaning and intent of section 309 of the Act (21 
U.S.C. [§] 829) and the person knowingly filling such a purported 
prescription, as well as the person issuing it, shall be subject to the 
penalties provided for violations of the provisions of law relating to 
controlled substances. 

21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a) (emphasis added). A pharmacist violates this 
provision only if the pharmacist “knowingly fill[s]” a “purported” 
prescription—i.e., a prescription that was not written “in the usual 
course of professional treatment.”  

These critical limitations on a pharmacist’s possible liability under § 
1306.04 are no accident. They were added to the regulation intentionally 
to avoid the un- warranted and counterproductive imposition of liabiity.  

When first proposed in 1971, the regulation lacked the word 
“knowingly,” which would have allowed penalties for any “person 
filling [an illegitimate] prescription.” Purpose of Issue of Prescription, 
36 Fed. Reg. 4847, 4948 (Mar. 13, 1971).  

Pharmacists protested such an expansive rule, however, and during the 
comment period specifically “objected to the responsibility placed upon 
a pharmacist under § [1306.04] to determine the legitimacy of a 
prescription.”  

Comments and Objections to Part 306, 36 Fed. Reg. 7776, 7777 (Apr. 
24, 1971).  

The DEA agreed with these comments and changed the legal standard in 
the final regulations, noting the “language [was] revised to require 
knowledge.” 
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DEA DISPLAYS LACK OF KNOWLEDGE AND OF IN THE 
PHARMACEUTICAL MEDICAL PRACTICE  

The warrant issued identified Items that are evidence of violations of 21 
U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) (possession with the intent to distribute and 
distribution of oxycodone and hydromorphone.    

The intent of this law implies that it shall be unlawful for any person 
knowingly or intentionally— to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or 
possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled 
substance; or to create, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to 
distribute or dispense, a counterfeit substance. 

The DEA use the law with intent to imply a licenses Pharmacist and 
medical professionals as a person that illegally distribute, or dispense, a 
controlled substances.   

The DEA has deliberately reinterpreted the law to support their effort to 
attack Pharmacist, in essence the DEA willfully and knowingly 
misguided the courts  that the petitioner a license pharmacist was in 
violations of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) (possession with the intent to 
distribute and distribution of oxycodone and hydromorphone.   The 
officers should be charged under Giglio. 

As a licensed pharmacist, the Petitioner carried out his fiduciary 
responsibility of Petitioner, Norman J Clement was acting in the 
capacity of a license’s pharmacist. Whereby a Pharmacist is a person 
who is professionally qualified to prepare and dispense medicinal drug.   

This definition and is a statue within the Florida Administrative Code & 
Florida Administrative Register.  The officer acted upon an oath to enter 
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the premises to secure evidence of violations of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) 
(possession with the intent to distribute and distribution of oxycodone 
and hydromorphone.  

The DEA agents removed files with the intent of searching to discover 
items to suggest a criminal act took place or is taking place.  This is not 
implied within the warrant and the act of looking to find a criminal act is 
not supported by probable cause.   

In this and other cases DEA Diversion Investigator falsely established 
diversion based solely on the use of googles maps and performed  
absolutely no follow up investigation as found in Wheatland Pharmacy, 
78 FR 69441, 69445 (2013) to establish diversion or evidence that any 
patients had diverted any prescription medication filled by pharmacist 
from Pronto Pharmacy LLC.  

Similar misconduct by DEA Diversion Investigation is on the record in 
investigations of  At Cost Pharmacy Rx., Ft. Myers Fl, Lincourt 
Pharmacy LLC, Clearwater Florida, Superior Pharmacy, Tampa, Fl., 
Gulf-Med Pharmacy, Cape Coral,  Florida.  

Such acts to search to find without stated cause for the search is an 
investigative function that violates the premise of a search warrant and 
violated the basis of Probable Cause, and elements of Reasonable 
Suspicion.  The search conducted was not specific in nature whereby the 
agents confiscated items not specific to the warrant. 

The removal of such documents and items serves no purpose of criminal 
activity but only to developing a case beyond the scope and statues of 
the search.  The intent that a person and not a sold medication and 
criminalizing the job of a licenses Pharmacist. 

The Fourth Amendment was intended to create a constitutional buffer 
between U.S. citizens and the intimidating power of law enforcement.  
The officers failed to indicate within their search warrant the 
components of what was to be seized.  The officers exercised undue 
discretion when they choose to search and seize.   
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Therefore, the interest of the defendant was violated when the search 
and seizures became "unreasonable" and not authorized by the warrant 
based upon probable cause, to remove personal artifacts such as 
documents of academic research.  This binder contained copyrighted 
academic research. 

THE CONDUCT OF DEA’S PECULIAR COURT SYSTEM 
NEEDS SERIOUS JUDICIAL REVIEW 

The Court System of the Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA), has 
slipped through both Judicial review and Congressional oversight, 
and operates outside the Federal Rules of Civil and Criminal 
Procedures not bounded by Giglio and in contempt and violation 
of those protections of the Constitution of The United States of 
America.

This Administrative Court acts in the capacity as both Criminal 
and Civil Court. The Judges of this peculiar court system make 
their own decision and rules which permits DEA Agents, and 
Diversion Investigators to act as rogues to which no Federal or 
Constitutional protection are they bound to respect or abide by.  

Associate Supreme Court Justice Gorsuch wrote April 20, 2020, 
Ramos v Louisiana 

“Imagine a constitution that allowed a “jury trial” to mean nothing 
but a single person rubber stamping convictions without hearing 
any evidence but simultaneously insisting that the lone juror come 
from a specific judicial district “previously ascertained by 
law….And if that’s not enough, imagine a constitution that 
included the same hollow guarantee twice—not only in the Sixth 
Amendment but also in Article III.8 No: The text and structure of 
the Constitution clearly suggest that the term “trial by an impartial 
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jury” carried with it some meaning about the content and 
requirements of a jury trial”

The officers of this peculiar Court system, mission is not to seek out the 
truth and but to promote injustice by eliminating the truth supporting 
junk science and unscientific bias.   

Thus this DEA Court System has allowed this Federal Agency to gain 
the powers over the entire field of medicine (healthcare science) and 
permitted the Agency to redefine medical procedures medical 
science. 

IMPROPER DOSING FOR PAIN MANAGEMENT AND 
CONSTRUCTION OF THE CSA THAT CRIMINALIZE 

MEDICAL ERROR IMPROPERLY INTRUDES ON THE 
STATES’ POWER TO REGULATE THE PRACTICE OF 

MEDICINE.  (See BRIEF OF AMICI CURIAE PROFESSOR OF 
HEALTH LAW AND POLICY IN SUPPORT OF  PETITIONER DR. 

XIULU RUAN V. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA CASE NO. 20-1410, 
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES …..24) 

Federal law and DEA regulations do not impose a specific quantitative 
minimum or maximum limit on the amount of medication that a 
practitioner may prescribe on a single prescription, or the duration of 
treatment intended for a particular patient.   

According to the Office of the Inspector General’s report on the 
DEA as prescription opioids has remained relatively flat the increase of 
heroin use has been skyrocketing.  Death by fentanyl, which was once a 
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rarity, is becoming a big player in the death of Americans due to opioids.   
If Pronto Pharmacy were actually in the business of diversion, I would 
applaud the DEA’s effort to rid the profession of bad actors.  However, 
in this case it seems that there are too many irregularities to come to that 
conclusion.  Not only is there no evidence to the level of “more likely 
than not” but the level of “preponderance of evidence” has not been met 
either.   

However as noted from the record both federal and Florida law require a 
pharmacist to identify and address red flags of drug abuse or diversion 
including over- utilization and under-utilization. See 21 CFR 1306.04(a); 
21 CFR 1306.06; Fla. Admin. Code. Ann. r. 64B16–27.810. 

21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a) (emphasis added). A pharmacist violates this 
provision only if the pharmacist “knowingly fill[s]” a “purported” 
prescription—i.e., a prescription that was not written “in the usual 
course of professional treatment.”  

These limitations sensibly reflect the very real constraints on 
pharmacists presented with prescriptions for controlled substances. To 
be sure, pharmacists can do things like inspect prescriptions for indicia 
of facial invalidity to determine if they can be filled—e.g., tampering, 
missing or incorrect information, a forged signature, or a prescribing 
physician who is not DEA-registered. See 21 C.F.R. § 1306.05(a).  

HIGH DOSE OPIOIDS 

When presented with a facially valid prescription, however, a pharmacist 
cannot be expected to second-guess the prescriber’s medical judgment 
that the prescribed medicine is appropriate, to interrogate the patient re- 
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garding whether they actually need the prescribed medication, or to 
obstruct the patient’s care by with- holding it.  

The law should not unduly chill a pharmacist’s performance of her/his 
duties to make medications safely available to patients who need them. 
The knowledge requirement in § 1306.04 properly reflects this 
circumscribed role. 

Any construction of Section 841(a)(1) that permits the federal 
government to criminalize good faith med- ical errors raises alarming 
federalism implications.

 The states that have primary authority to regulate the practice of 
medicine under their reserved Tenth Amendment police powers. See, 
e.g., Linder v. United States, 268 U.S. 5, 18 (1925) (“[D]irect control of 
medical practice in the states is beyond the power of the federal 
government.”); Barsky v. Bd. of Regents, 347 U.S. 442, 449 (1954) 
(“The state’s [broad power to establish and enforce standards of conduct 
within its borders relative to health] extends naturally to the regulation 
of all professions concerned with health.”); Hillsborough Cty. v. 
Automated Med. Labs., Inc., 471 U.S. 707, 719 (1985) (The regulation 
of health and  safety is “primarily, and historically, a matter of local 
concern[.]”); Rush Prudential HMO, Inc. v. Moran, 536 U.S. 355, 387 
(2002) (espousing that establishing “standards of reasonable medical 
care” is a “quintessentially state-law” function). 

The preservation of a proper balance between fed- eral and state powers 
is central to our constitutional design and the protection of fundamental 
liberties. As this Court has explained: 
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This federalist structure of joint sovereigns preserves to the people 
numerous advantages. It assures a decentralized government that will be 
more sensitive to the diverse needs of a heterogenous society; it 
increases opportunity for citizen involvement in democratic processes; it 
allows for more innovation and experimentation in government; and it 
makes government more responsive. . . . Just as the separation and 
independence of the coordinate branches of the Federal Government 
serve to prevent the accumulation of excessive power in any one branch, 
a healthy balance of power between the States and the Federal 
Government will reduce the risk of tyranny and abuse from either front. 

Gregory v. Ashcroft, 501 U.S. 452, 458 (1991). 

Consequently, the federal-state balance of power cannot be dramatically 
reconstrued by either judicial supposition or a federal law enforcement 
agency’s in- terpretation of a statute that runs afoul of its plain text. 
Raygor v. Regents of University of Minnesota, 534 

U.S. 533, 543 (2002) (“When Congress intends to alter the usual 
constitutional balance between the States and the Federal Government, it 
must make its inten- tion to do so unmistakably clear in the language of 
the statute.”). 

The federal government has no right to interfere with a state’s authority 
to regulate medical practice without “a clear indication that Congress in- 
tended that result.” Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County v. 
United States Corps of Engineers, 531 U.S. 159, 172 (2001); Pegram v. 
Herdrich, 530 U.S. 211, 237 (2000) (“[I]n the field of health care, a 
subject of traditional state regulation, there is no . . . preemption without 
clear manifestation of congressional purpose.”). 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on February 03, 2022 a true and 
correct copy of the foregoing was electronically filed via ECF 
and/or served via e-mail upon the following: 

I, Norman J Clement, hereby certify that I electronically filed and 

agree to utilize jointly the foregoing Respondent’s Notice of Filing 

the Certified List of the Record with the Clerk of the Court for the 

United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, 

by using the appellate CM/ECF system, on February 03, 2022. I 

certify further that Petitioner is pro se, and that service will is 

accomplished  by electronic mail to 

Anita Gay, Esq United States Department of Justice  
Criminal Division/ Narcotic and Dangerous Drugs Section 
145 N Street, NE, Room 2E-404 Washington, D.C. 20002  
(202) 353-7629  anita.gay2@usdoj.gov  

       Norman J Clement 
       Norman J Clement pro. se 
       prontopharmacy@aol.com 
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The Acting Administrator, Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA), issued 

an Order to Show Cause and Immediate Suspension of Registration (OSC/ISO),1 

dated August 23, 2019, suspending and seeking to revoke the Respondent’s 

Certificate of Registration (COR), number FP2302076, and to deny any pending 

applications for renewal or modification of such registration, or for additional DEA 

registrations, on the ground that the Respondent’s registration would be inconsistent 

with the public interest, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 824(a)(4), and as defined in 

21 U.S.C. § 823(f).  The Respondent requested a hearing on September 18, 2019,2 

and prehearing proceedings were initiated.3  A hearing was conducted in this matter 

on January 28-29, 2020, in Tampa, Florida.   

The issue ultimately to be adjudicated by the Administrator, with the 

assistance of this Recommended Decision, is whether the record as a whole 

establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that the DEA Certificate of 

Registration, No. FP2302076, issued to the Respondent should be revoked, and any 

pending applications for modification or renewal of the existing registration be 

denied, and any applications for additional registrations be denied, because its 

continued registration would be inconsistent with the public interest under 21 U.S.C. 

§§ 823(f) and 824(a)(4). 

After carefully considering the testimony elicited at the hearing, the admitted 

exhibits, the arguments of counsel, and the record as a whole, I have set forth my 

recommended findings of fact and conclusions of law below. 

 

 

                                                 
1  ALJ Ex. 1. 
2  ALJ Ex. 3. 
3  ALJ Ex. 4. 
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THE ALLEGATIONS 
1. The Respondent repeatedly issued prescriptions in violation of the minimum 

practice standards that govern the practice of pharmacy in Florida.  ALJ Ex. 1 

at ¶ 4.  Specifically, from at least January 2018 through at least May 2019, the 

Respondent repeatedly filled prescriptions for Schedule II narcotics in the face 

of obvious red flags of drug abuse and diversion.  Id.  Filling these 

prescriptions violated federal and Florida law, including 21 C.F.R. 

§§ 1306.04(a) and 1306.06, and Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.810. 

2. In addition, the Respondent engaged in the “manufacture” of controlled 

substances, as the Controlled Substances Act defines that term.  ALJ Ex. 1 at 

¶ 5.  The Respondent is not registered with the DEA as a manufacturer.  Id.  

Manufacturing controlled substances without the appropriate registration is a 

violation of federal law, including 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and 21 C.F.R. 

§ 1301.13(e).  Id. 

IMPROPER DISPENSING 
 Between January 9, 2018, and May 7, 2019, the Respondent repeatedly issued 

prescriptions in violation of the minimum practice standards that govern the practice 

of pharmacy in Florida.  ALJ Ex. 1 at ¶ 11.  These prescriptions presented numerous 

red flags of drug abuse and diversion, including drug cocktails, early refills, 

excessive dispensing of high-strength controlled substances, travelling long 

distances, and cash payments.  Id. at ¶¶ 12, 13, 14, 15, 18, 19.  Filling these 

prescriptions violated federal and state law, including 21 U.S.C. § 842(a)(1), 

21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a), and Florida Administrative Code r. 64B16-27.810.  Id. at 

¶ 19.  The OSC/ISO provided the following specific examples of prescriptions that 

raised these red flags: 
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 Drug Cocktails 
3. Patient A.G.:  On at least nine occasions between January 25, 2018, and April 

12, 2019, the Respondent filled prescriptions issued by the same prescriber 

for patient A.G. for alprazolam and oxycodone or hydromorphone on the 

same date.  ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 12(a).  Specifically, the Respondent filled 

prescriptions for hydromorphone and alprazolam for A.G. on the following 

four occasions:  January 25, 2018; March 1, 2018; April 12, 2018; and May 

8, 2018.  Id.  The Respondent filled prescriptions for oxycodone and 

alprazolam for A.G. on the following five occasions:  December 20, 2018; 

January 17, 2019; February 14, 2019; March 20, 2019; and April 12, 2019.  

Id. 

4. Patient B.S.:  On at least five occasions between January 29, 2018, and April 

22, 2019, the Respondent filled prescriptions issued by the same prescriber 

for patient B.S. for alprazolam and oxycodone or hydromorphone on the same 

date.  ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 12(b).  Specifically, the Respondent filled prescriptions for 

hydromorphone and alprazolam for B.S. on the following two occasions:  

January 29, 2018, and May 22, 2018.  Id.  The Respondent filled prescriptions 

for oxycodone and alprazolam for B.S. on the following three occasions:  

December 20, 2018; February 28, 2019; and March 26, 2019.  Id. 

5. Patient N.B.:  On at least three occasions between September 14, 2018, and 

January 16, 2019, the Respondent filled prescriptions issued by the same 

prescriber for patient N.B. for alprazolam and oxycodone or hydromorphone 

on the same date.  ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 12(c).  Specifically, the Respondent filled 

prescriptions for hydromorphone and alprazolam for N.B. on September 14, 

2018.  Id.  The Respondent filled prescriptions for oxycodone and alprazolam 

for N.B. on the following two occasions:  December 20, 2018, and January 

16, 2019.  Id.  
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6. Patient C.R.:  On at least three occasions between March 6, 2018, and July 

12, 2018, the Respondent filled prescriptions issued by the same prescriber 

for patient C.R. for alprazolam and oxycodone on the same date.  ALJ. Ex. at 

¶ 12(d).  Specifically, the Respondent filled prescriptions for oxycodone and 

alprazolam for C.R. on March 6, 2018; April, 19, 2018; and July 12, 2018.  Id.  
7. Patient J.M.:  On at least five occasions between January 25, 2018, and May 

16, 2018, the Respondent filled prescriptions issued by the same prescriber 

for patient J.M. for alprazolam and oxycodone on the same date.  Id.  

Specifically, the Respondent filled prescriptions for oxycodone and 

alprazolam for J.M. on January 25, 2018; March 1, 2018; April 4, 2018; April 

19, 2018; and May 16, 2018.  Id.  

Early Refills 
8. Patient A.H.:  On January 22, 2019, the Respondent filled a prescription for 

patient A.H. for a 30-day supply of hydromorphone 8 mg tablets.  ALJ Ex. 1, 

¶ 13(a).  The Respondent filled additional  prescriptions for A.H. for 30-day 

supplies of hydromorphone 8 mg tablets on February 15, 2019 (six days 

early); February 27, 2019 (18 days early); and March 14, 2019 (15 days early).  

Id.    
9. Patient M.M.:  On January 3, 2019, the Respondent filled a prescription for 

patient M.M. for a 28-day supply of hydromorphone 8 mg tablets.  ALJ Ex. 

1, ¶ 13(b).  The Respondent filled additional prescriptions for M.M. for 30-

day supplies of hydromorphone 8 mg tablets on January 24, 2019 (seven days 

early); February 19, 2019 (four days early); and a 28-day supply on March 15, 

2019 (six days early).  Id. 
10. Patient J.D.:  On May 10, 2018, the Respondent filled a prescription for 

patient J.D. for a 30-day supply of hydromorphone HCL powder.  ALJ Ex. 1, 

¶ 13(c).  The Respondent filled additional prescriptions for J.D. for 30-day 
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supplies of hydromorphone HCL powder on May 30, 2018 (10 days early); 

June 15, 2018 (14 days early); and June 30, 2018 (15 days early).  Id. 

11. Patient R.G.:  On January 29, 2018, the Respondent filled prescriptions for 

patient R.G. for a 30-day supply of oxycodone HCL powder and a 30-day 

supply of alprazolam 2 mg tablets.  ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 13(d).  The Respondent filled 

additional prescriptions for 30-day supplies of oxycodone HCL powder and 

alprazolam 2 mg tablets for R.G. on February 21, 2018 (seven days early); 

March 19, 2018 (four days early); April 17, 2018 (one day early); and May 8, 

2018 (nine days early).  Id. 
12. Patient R.L.:  On February 1, 2018, the Respondent filled a prescription for 

patient R.L. for a 30-day supply of hydromorphone HCL powder.  ALJ Ex. 

1, ¶ 13(e).  The Respondent filled additional prescriptions for 30-day supplies 

of hydromorphone HCL powder for R.L. on February 26, 2018 (five days 

early); a 29-day supply on March 22, 2018 (six days early); a 30-day supply 

on April 17, 2018 (three days early); and a 30-day supply on May 11, 2018 

(six days early).  Id. 

High-Strength Controlled Substances 
13. During the relevant time period, virtually all of the prescriptions for 

oxycodone and hydrocodone that the Respondent “compounded” were for 

oxycodone 30 mg immediate release and hydromorphone 8 mg immediate 

release, the highest strengths of these controlled substances.  ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 14.  

Furthermore, between January 11, 2018, and July 17, 2018, 100 percent of the 

oxycodone tablet prescriptions and 87 percent of the hydromorphone tablet 

prescriptions (approximately 44 prescriptions total) issued by a particular 

prescriber were for the highest strength available for those controlled 

substances.  Id.  
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Long Distances 
14. Between September 10, 2018, and May 6, 2019, the Respondent filled: 

a. 86 prescriptions for patients with addresses in Cape Coral, Florida, which 

is approximately 140 miles from the Respondent; 

b. 145 prescriptions for patients with addresses in Fort Myers, Florida, which 

is approximately 130 miles from the Respondent; 

c. 41 prescriptions for patients with addresses in Lehigh Acres, Florida, 

which is approximately 140 miles from the Respondent; 

d. 15 prescriptions for patients with addresses in Immokalee, Florida, which 

is approximately 150 miles from the Respondent; 

e. 15 prescriptions for patients with addresses in Naples, Florida, which is 

approximately 170 miles from the Respondent; 

f. 11 prescriptions for patients with addresses in Opa-locka, Florida, which 

is approximately 270 miles from the Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 1, ¶¶ 15(a)-(f).   

15. In addition, between September 10, 2018, and May 6, 2019, over 75 percent 

of the prescriptions for controlled substances filled by the Respondent were 

issued by prescribers whose medical practices are located more than 150 miles 

away from the Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 16. 

Cash Payments 
16.  During the relevant time period, over 90 percent of the Respondent’s 

prescriptions for oxycodone 30 mg and hydromorphone 8 mg filled by the 

Respondent were paid for with cash.  ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 18.  In contrast, in 2018 

approximately 11 percent of all prescriptions filled by independently owned 

pharmacies were paid for in cash.  Id.    

ILLEGAL MANUFACTURING  
17. Between January 2018 and May 2019, the Respondent was engaged in 

manufacturing controlled substances, as that term is defined in the CSA, 
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without a separate DEA registration authorizing it to manufacture controlled 

substances, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e).  

ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 20-28. 

THE HEARING 
 
Government’s Opening Statement 
 In its Opening Statement, Tr. 14-17, the Government stated that through its 

investigation of the Respondent, the DEA obtained the Respondent’s dispensing 

records and patient profiles, a pharmacy expert reviewed those records, and that 

review revealed suspicious patterns.  Tr. 14.  Those suspicious patterns included the 

fact that 99 percent of the Respondent’s prescriptions were paid for in cash; over 90 

percent of the Respondent’s patients travelled more than 100 miles to fill their 

prescriptions; and that the Respondent dispensed a disproportionately high volume 

of opioids.  Id.  The DEA’s expert reviewed the Respondent’s records related to 11 

specific patients and found that the prescriptions filled by these patients presented 

numerous red flags that could not have been resolved by a pharmacist acting in the 

usual course of professional practice.  Tr. 14-15.  The expert further opined that 

based on his review of the Respondent’s records, the Respondent made no attempt 

to resolve the red flags presented by these prescriptions.  Id.   

 In addition, the Government previewed that its evidence will show that the 

Respondent unlawfully manufactured controlled substances, specifically oxycodone 

and hydromorphone, without a manufacturer’s registration.  Tr. 15-17.  To support 

this allegation, the Government intended to show that in May 2012 the Respondent’s 

owner, Mr. Norman J. Clement, Sr., told DEA investigators that he compounded 

oxycodone and hydromorphone because it was cheaper than obtaining them from 

distributors.  Tr. 14-15.  In conclusion, the Government requested that the 

Respondent’s registration be revoked and any pending applications be denied 
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because its continued registration presents a threat to the public.  Tr. 17.        

Respondent’s Opening Statement 
 In the Respondent’s opening statement, Tr. 503-06, the Respondent stated that 

the DEA initiated this case without objectively evaluating the evidence.  Tr. 503.  

The DEA did not interview any patients identified in the OSC/ISO or the doctors 

who issued the prescriptions involved in this case.  Id.  The DEA also did not 

subpoena the medical records of the patients at issue.  Id.   

The Respondent argued that the Government’s evidence will fail to show that 

any patients involved in this case suffered adverse consequences from the 

prescriptions filled by the Respondent.  Tr. 504.  Furthermore, the Respondent 

argued that the Government’s evidence will fail to meet its burden to revoke the 

Respondent’s registration.  Id.  In the Respondent’s view, the Government’s case is 

based on the faulty assumption that the patients must have been drug abusers because 

they received treatment for chronic pain.  Id.  The Respondent characterized this 

assumption as “inherently unfair and inappropriate.”  Id.   

The Government’s assumption ignores the Respondent’s combined 90-years 

of pharmacy experience possessed by the Respondent’s pharmacists as well as their 

professional education and training.  Tr. 505.  The Respondent’s evidence is 

expected to prove that its pharmacists exercised appropriate professional judgment 

and resolved red flags.  Id.  The Respondent highlighted that the Government’s 

evidence on red flags comes from a witness who has never practiced in Florida.  Id.  

Furthermore, the Respondent’s evidence will show that its pharmacists’ professional 

judgment complied with the Florida standard of care, and that the Florida standard 

of care is established by state statutes rather than an “ivory tower aspirational goal.”  

Id.  
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GOVERNMENT’S CASE-IN-CHIEF 
  
 The Government presented its case-in-chief through the testimony of three 

witnesses.  First, the Government presented the testimony of Diversion Investigator 

Richard Albert.  Tr. 24-180.  Secondly, the Government presented the testimony of 

Task Force Officer Jeffrey Shearer.  Tr. 181-94.  Finally, the Government presented 

the testimony of its expert, Dr. Donald Sullivan.  Tr. 195-502.   

 

Diversion Investigator (DI) Richard J. Albert, Jr. 
 DI Albert has been a Diversion Investigator for more than seven years.  Tr. 24-

25.  He is currently stationed in Tampa, Florida.  Previously, he was stationed in 

Nashville, Tennessee.  Tr. 24.  To become a Diversion Investigator, DI Albert 

received training at the 12-week basic diversion school in Quantico, Virginia.  

Tr. 25.   

 DI Albert became involved in the investigation of the Respondent in May 

2017, when he received a call from the Department of Health regarding a pharmacy 

that was compounding hydromorphone and oxycodone.  Tr. 26.  DI Albert and his 

supervisor then met with the Health Department investigator at the subject 

pharmacy.  Id.  The Respondent’s owner, Mr. Norman J. Clement, Sr., was not 

present at the pharmacy, but his daughter and wife were present.  Tr. 26-27.  The 

investigators presented a Notice of Inspection to Mr. Clement, Sr.’s, daughter, who 

allowed the investigators to inspect the pharmacy.  Id.  Approximately 15-minutes 

into the inspection, Mrs. Clement asked the investigators to leave.  Id.  The 

investigators complied.  Tr. 27. 

 In September 2017, the DEA served a subpoena on the Respondent requesting 

Schedule II controlled substance prescriptions, receiving records, and batch records.  

Tr. 27.  Government Exhibit 2 is a receiving record sent from Auburn 
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Pharmaceutical to the Respondent.  Tr. 28; GX 2.  The DEA received this document 

in response to the September 2017 subpoena.  Id.   

 Government Exhibit 3 is a receiving record for hydromorphone4 sent from 

B&B Pharmaceuticals to the Respondent.  Tr. 29; GX 3.  The DEA received this 

document in response to the September 2017 subpoena.  Id.  

 Government Exhibit 4 is a receiving record for oxycodone sent from Fagron, 

Inc., to the Respondent.  Tr. 31; GX 4.  The DEA received this document in response 

to the September 2017 subpoena.  Tr. 32.    

 Government Exhibit 5 contains batch records for hydromorphone 8 mg.  

Tr. 32-33; GX 5.  A batch record documents the production of a controlled substance 

and lists the ingredients in the controlled substance.  Tr. 33.  The batch record is 

created by the person who makes the substance.  Id.  The batch records indicate how 

many capsules were used in the production of a particular batch.  Tr. 38, 40-41.  

Government Exhibit 5 documents the production of hydromorphone 8 mg.  Tr. 33.  

The initials “N.C.,” who DI Albert presumed to be the Respondent’s owner, Norman 

J. Clement, Sr., appear in the columns labelled “Manufactured By,” “Checked By,” 

and “Final Product Checked By.”5  Tr. 35-37. 

 Government Exhibit 6 contains batch records for oxycodone 30 mg.  Tr. 38-

39; GX 6.  The DEA received this document in response to the September 2017 

subpoena.  Tr. 39. 

 Upon reviewing the batch records received in response to the September 2017 

subpoena, DI Albert noticed that the records listed lactose as the only non-controlled 

substance ingredient.  Tr. 42-43.  When he reviewed the prescriptions received in 

                                                 
4  Hydromorphone is a Schedule II controlled substance.  Tr. 29. 
5  During cross-examination, the Respondent’s counsel directed DI Albert’s attention to page 7 and 11 of Government 
Exhibit 6, which shows illegible initials in the “Manufactured By” column (page 7) and the “Checked By” column 
(page 11).  Tr. 150; GX 6, pp. 7, 11.  DI Albert was also unable to identify the signature on page 13 of Government 
Exhibit 6.  Tr. 151; GX 6, p. 13. 
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response to the subpoena, he noticed that patients were travelling long distances to 

the pharmacy.  Tr. 43, 129-30. 

 Government Exhibit 10 is a printout of the prescription drug monitoring 

program (“PDMP”) for the Respondent’s dispensing from September 2016 to June 

2018.  Tr. 46, 159, 162; GX 10, pp. 1, 20.  This document represents the total number 

of controlled substance prescriptions that the Respondent dispensed during that 21-

month time period.  Tr. 162-63.  The document lists 2,360 prescriptions.  Tr. 162-

63.  DI Albert reviewed the Respondent’s PDMP records during his investigation.  

Tr. 43-44.  Government Exhibits 8 and 9 also contain PDMP printouts of the 

Respondent’s dispensing.  Tr. 49-52; GX 8-9. 

 DI Albert returned to the subject pharmacy in September 2018 to serve an 

administrative inspection warrant (“AIW”) and subpoena.  Tr. 52.  Government 

Exhibit 67 is the subpoena, dated September 5, 2018, that DI Albert served on the 

Respondent’s counsel at the time of executing the AIW.  Tr. 52-53; GX 67.  The 

second page of the subpoena is a list of patient names.  Tr. 53; GX 67, p. 2.  DI Albert 

did not speak with any patients who presented at the pharmacy while the AIW was 

being executed.  Tr. 168.  He also did not speak with any of the Respondent’s staff, 

including Mr. Norman J. Clement, Sr., who was instructed by counsel to not answer 

any questions.  Tr. 168, 173, 177.     

During service of the AIW, digital forensic specialists captured mirror images 

of the Respondent’s computer system.  Tr. 54, 62, 91, 93, 134.  The Respondent used 

Rx30 pharmacy software.  Tr. 135.  DI Albert received the information that was 

captured from the Respondent’s system in Excel format, but he did not know the 

process that the digital forensic team used to convert that information into the format 

he received.  Tr. 136.  DI Albert was unable to determine whether errors were made 

in converting the captured images of the Respondent’s system into Excel.  Tr. 136-

37.   
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 During execution of the AIW, DI Albert observed Mr. Clement, Sr., conduct 

a closing inventory of the controlled substances that the Respondent had on-hand at 

the time.  Tr. 54, 56, 165-66.  Mr. Clement, Sr., signed the closing inventory.  Tr. 56, 

58; GX 7.  The closing inventory lists 470 tablets of hydromorphone 8mg, 3,546 

capsules of hydromorphone 8 mg, hydromorphone powder, 204 tablets of 

oxycodone 30 mg, 574 capsules of oxycodone 30 mg, and oxycodone powder.  

Tr. 59, 61; GX 7.  Medications from distributors are in the form of tablets.  When 

medications are compounded from powder in batch at a pharmacy, the dosage units 

are contained in capsules.  Tr. 60. 

 Government Exhibit 11 is saved on a DVD.  Tr. 63-64; GX 11.  Government 

Exhibit 11 contains records electronically downloaded from the Respondent’s 

computer system during execution of the AIW.  Tr. 63. 

Government Exhibit 12 is a report of the Respondent’s dispensing over a 

three-month period.  Tr. 68; GX 12.  It covers November 2015 through January 2016.  

Id.  This document was obtained electronically during execution of the AIW in 

September 2018.  Tr. 69.  Government Exhibit 13 was also obtained during service 

of the AIW.  Tr. 70; GX 13. 

Government Exhibit 14 is a PDMP dispensing record for patient A.G.  Tr. 71-

72; GX 14.  Government Exhibit 15 is a record kept by the Respondent for patient 

A.G. with information about the patient as well as notes.  Tr. 73-74; GX 15.  It was 

electronically downloaded from the Respondent’s computer system during the AIW 

search.  Tr. 75.  The DEA also obtained Government Exhibits 16 and 17 during the 

AIW search.  Tr. 76-81, 140; GX 16-17.  Government Exhibits 16 and 17 are 

dispensing records for patient A.G. maintained by the Respondent and obtained from 

the pharmacy.  Id.   

Government Exhibit 19 is a PDMP dispensing record for patient A.H.  Tr. 81-

82; GX 19.  The Government moved for the admission of Exhibits 19 through 43 
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and 46 through 52 as a group.  Tr. 85-87.  These exhibits were either obtained from 

the Respondent during the AIW search in September 2018 or printed from the 

PDMP.  Id.  They relate to the specific patients identified in the OSC/ISO.  Id.    

After executing the AIW at the pharmacy in September 2018, DI Albert sent 

the records he obtained to a pharmacy expert, Dr. Donald Sullivan, for review.  

Tr. 88.  DI Albert served another subpoena on the Respondent in May 2019.  Tr. 88-

89; GX 68.  Attached to the subpoena is a list of seven patients.  Tr. 89; GX 68, p. 2.  

This subpoena requested that the Respondent produce five categories of documents, 

to include (1) patient profiles for the patients identified in the attachment; (2) other 

records maintained pursuant to the Florida Administrative Code; (3) original 

prescriptions and fill stickers of all prescriptions filled for patients listed in the 

attachment from September 10, 2018, to May 10, 2019; (4) any notes documenting 

the resolution of red flags; (5) and any other documentation related to the specific 

patients identified, such as dispensing records, billing records, PDMP records, and 

medical records.  Tr. 89-90. 

DI Albert received additional documents from the Respondent in response to 

the May 2019 subpoena.  Tr. 94.  The documents that DI Albert received related to 

patients A.G. and R.B. and are contained in Government Exhibits 18 and 44.  Tr. 94-

98; GX 18; GX 44.  DI Albert sent the documents that he received in response to the 

May 2019 subpoena to the expert witness for review.  Tr. 118.  He then began 

preparing the OSC/ISO.  Tr. 118-19. 

In his investigation of the Respondent, DI Albert calculated the approximate 

distances from the cities where patients lived to the Respondent pharmacy.  Tr. 99-

105, 130.  DI Albert made these calculations by using Google Maps to determine the 

distance from the cities of residence to the Respondent’s address.  Tr. 99-101.  The 
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approximate distances on Google Maps are contained in Government Exhibit 54.6  

Tr. 99; GX 54.   

DI Albert also searched for specific addresses in Google Maps.  Tr. 105-12.  

Each of the specific addresses that DI Albert searched relate to a specific patient.  

Tr. 106, 108-09, 111-12.  The one-way distances from those addresses to the 

Respondent are in Government Exhibits 55 through 60 and 62 through 65.  Tr. 105-

12; GX 55-60; GX 62-65.   

Government Exhibit 55 shows a distance of 131 miles.7  Tr. 106; GX 55, p. 1.  

Government Exhibit 56 shows a distance of 132 miles.  Tr. 109; GX 56, p. 1.  

Government Exhibit 57 shows a distance of 148 miles.  Tr. 110; GX 57, p. 1.  

Government Exhibit 58 shows a distance of 134 miles.  GX 58, p. 1.  Government 

Exhibit 59 shows a distance of 130 miles.  GX 59, p. 1.  Government Exhibit 60 

shows a distance of 144 miles.  GX 60, p. 1.   

Government Exhibit 62 shows a distance of 137 miles.  GX 62, p. 1.  

Government Exhibit 63 shows a distance of 138 miles.  GX 63, p. 1.  Government 

Exhibit 64 shows a distance of 131 miles.  GX 64, p. 1.  Government Exhibit 65 

shows a distance of 138 miles.  GX 65, p. 1.   

Government Exhibit 61 shows the roundtrip distance from patient M.M.’s 

home, to the doctor’s office, to the Respondent, and then back home.  Tr. 112-18, 

131, 172; GX 61.  The total roundtrip distance from M.M.’s home to the doctor’s 

office and the Respondent, and then back home, is 327 miles.  Tr. 117, 131; GX 61, 

p. 1.  Although DI Albert searched for the roundtrip distance between M.M.’s home, 

doctor’s office, and the Respondent, he did not check to see whether M.M. filled any 

prescriptions at the Respondent in Tampa on the same day that he obtained them 

                                                 
6  Although Google Maps includes estimated travel times as well as mileage, due to the high variability of travel times, 
only the mileage is being considered herein. 
7  The Google Maps printouts list three routes with different distances and travel times.  When speaking of the distances 
between patients’ homes and the Respondent, I will refer to the route with the shortest mileage. 
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from the doctor in Fort Myers.  Tr. 133, 171.  DI Albert is therefore not sure whether 

M.M. ever made the roundtrip drive that is depicted in Government Exhibit 61.  Id.  

If M.M. had travelled from her home to the doctor’s office and the Respondent on 

separate days, however, the total travel distance would be similar to the roundtrip 

distance travelled on one day.8  Tr. 173.   

DI Albert was candid in conceding there were matters and facts of which he 

was unaware.    For example, during his investigation, DI Albert readily conceded 

he did not talk to any of the 11 patients named in the OSC/ISO.  Tr. 123-24, 155.  

He also conceded that he did not contact the subject prescribing doctors.  Tr. 125-

26, 128, 173-74, 178-80.  DI Albert also conceded that he was unfamiliar with the 

FDA guidelines on compounding and that he did not receive training on 

compounding during DI training.  Tr. 152.  He also admitted that he did not 

familiarize himself with the Florida laws governing pharmacies, and that he only 

applied federal law in his investigation.  Tr. 152-53.  DI Albert also candidly 

acknowledged that he did not know the significance of the citations to Florida law 

in the subpoenas that he served.  Tr. 153-54.  In addition, DI Albert acknowledged 

that he had not done a comparison of the Respondent’s daily, weekly, and monthly 

dispensing volume to other nearby pharmacies.  Tr. 167-68. 

DI Albert’s willingness to concede these points, excepting in these areas, 

bolsters his credibility.  DI Albert’s testimony focused primarily on identifying 

exhibits and describing his investigation.  Based on my close observation of 

                                                 
8  The distance from M.M.’s home to her doctor’s office is 134 miles.  GX 61, p. 3.  Thus, the total distance travelled 

if M.M. went to the doctor and returned home on the same day would be 268 miles.  The distance from M.M.’s home 

to the Respondent is 38 miles.  Tr. 134; GX 61, p. 6.  Thus, the total distance travelled if M.M. went to the Respondent 

and returned home on the same day would be 76 miles.  Added together, these distances total 344 miles.  Thus, if 

M.M. travelled to her doctor’s office to obtain a prescription on one day and returned home, and then travelled to the 

Respondent on another day to fill the prescription and returned home, the total distance travelled to obtain and fill that 

prescription would be slightly higher (344 miles) than if she had made the roundtrip drive from home, to the doctor’s 

office, to the pharmacy, and back home, all in one day (327 miles).  However, during the hearing, counsel for the 

Government conceded, and Dr. Sullivan confirmed, it was the distance from the patient’s home to her physician’s 

office which represented the red flag of long distance.  Tr. 294. 
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DI Albert at the hearing, my careful review of his testimony in the transcript, and in 

conjunction with other credible evidence, I find DI Albert to be a credible witness.  

DI Albert presented as an impartial investigator with no direct stake in the outcome 

of the case, and his testimony was straightforward, professional, and candid.  

Furthermore, his testimony was also detailed and internally consistent.  For these 

reasons, I fully credit DI Albert’s testimony and find that his testimony merits 

considerable weight in this Recommended Decision.  

 

Task Force Officer (TFO) Jeffrey Shearer  
 TFO Shearer has been running a private investigation business for the past 

five years.  Tr. 182.  Before that, he was a police officer with the Tampa Police 

Department for 16 years.  Id.  He spent the last five-and-a-half years of his career 

with the Tampa Police Department as a task force officer working out of the DEA’s 

Tampa District Office.  Tr. 182-83.  As a TFO, Mr. Shearer worked with the DEA 

in the Tactical Diversion Squad on investigations related to the diversion of 

controlled substances.  Tr. 182.   

 TFO Shearer worked on an investigation of the Respondent.  Tr. 183.  In May 

2012, during execution of an AIW at the Respondent pharmacy, TFO Shearer 

interviewed Mr. Clement, Sr., the Respondent’s owner.  Id.  Mr. Clement, Sr., was 

cooperative during execution of the AIW.  Tr. 192.  Mr. Clement, Sr., was not in 

custody at the time and was free to leave.  Tr. 183.  In the interview, Mr. Clement, 

Sr., told TFO Shearer about his process for manufacturing oxycodone and 

hydromorphone in capsules.  Tr. 183-84.  Mr. Clement, Sr., told TFO Shearer that 

he could buy a 100 gram bottle of oxycodone powder for $1,100, enough to 

manufacture about 6,000 dosage units.  Tr. 185.  Tablets of oxycodone purchased 

from commercial distributors cost roughly $2-$10 per pill.  Id.  Mr. Clement, Sr., 

told TFO Shearer that he manufactured thousands of capsules per batch because it 
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was cost effective.9  Tr. 184-85.  The batch records that TFO Shearer reviewed in 

2012 documented that Mr. Clement, Sr., produced thousands of pills in each batch.  

Id.  Mr. Clement, Sr., was not charged with a crime.  Tr. 190.     

Based on listening to him testify at the hearing, and reviewing the transcript 

of his testimony, I find TFO Shearer to be a credible witness who testified in a 

candid, professional, and straightforward manner.  TFO Shearer testified regarding 

events that had occurred approximately seven years prior to the hearing.  He seemed 

fully capable of recalling the majority of those events with ease, but it is not 

surprising that some of his answers lacked detail.  Any lack of detail, however, did 

not detract from his credibility or the usefulness of his testimony.  He was honest 

about what he could not recall and he presented as an impartial individual without a 

direct stake in the outcome of the case.  For these reasons, TFO Shearer’s testimony 

is credible and merits significant weight in this Recommended Decision.

                                                 
9  Dr. Sullivan conceded a pharmacist is obligated to provide the least expensive medication available, and noted the 
price to the patient for oxycodone 30 mg in capsule form was $3.00 less than the cost for the same dosage in tablet 
form.  Tr. 431-32, 477.   
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Dr. Donald L. Sullivan10 

Dr. Sullivan is presently employed as a professor of Clinical Pharmacy at 

Ohio State University College of Pharmacy, and has been for five years.  Tr. 196.  

See GX 53.  Previously, he was employed at Ohio Northern University for 17 years.  

He obtained his Bachelor’s degree in 1990.  In 1991, he obtained his Master’s in 

pharmacy administration, and his doctorate in pharmacy administration in 1996.  

Tr. 198.  At Ohio State, in addition to performing research, he teaches pharmacy 

practice law to all four years of students.  He teaches two courses on pharmacy 

operations, financial analysis, marketing, and human resource issues.  Tr. 197.  His 

courses cover professional standards for pharmacy personnel, including:  

                                                 
10  The Respondent objected to the Government’s leading questions to its own expert witness.  It is my practice to 
permit the parties to ask leading questions to their own experts during direct examination.  Tr. 498.  The proscription 
of leading questions is designed to ensure a witness offers his own accurate testimony and is not manipulated by 
sponsoring counsel.  It is designed to avoid suggested memory, and suggested conclusions.  In short, to prevent the 
attorney from testifying through a pliable witness.  The danger of leading questions on direct examination is the 
potential for their suggestibility on the witness, and the susceptibility of the witness to seek to please the questioner; 
essentially permitting the attorney to testify.  Although the subject hearings are not strictly governed by the Federal 
Rules of Evidence, see Fed. R. Evid. 611, they may provide guidance consistent with relevant statutory and regulatory 
provisions.  Regulations provide further guidance.  Herein, the ALJ shall conduct the hearing in “an informal but 
orderly manner.”  See 21 C.F.R. § 1316.52.  The ALJ shall “conduct a fair hearing, to avoid delay, and to maintain 
order.”  The ALJ “shall have all powers necessary to these ends, including . . . receive, rule on, exclude or rule on or 
limit evidence”; and take any other action as permitted by the Administrative Procedure Act (APA).  

I don’t find the dangers traditionally inherent in leading questions applicable to expert witnesses providing 
expert opinion in these hearings.  They are not in the nature of traditional fact witnesses.  They are not eye-witnesses. 
They are not offering testimony to establish the underlying facts or events.  They do not rely on memory of distant 
events.  They are called to provide interpretation of the underlying facts and to apply that interpretation to the various 
standards of care according to their expertise.  They typically observe significant portions of the hearing, if not the 
entire hearing.  I must presume sponsoring counsel has previewed their expert’s prospective testimony prior to the 
commencement of the hearing.  The direct testimony of expert witnesses in these hearings are typically thoroughly 
prepared presentations.  Presumably, the direct expert testimony is typically rehearsed, and not improperly so.  By the 
commencement of the hearing, sponsoring counsel has had abundant opportunity to “influence” their expert witness.  
The expert witnesses called in these matters typically display impressive credentials, are typically published in their 
fields and have previously offered expert testimony.  Their subject opinions are rarely aired for the first time during 
the hearing.  A summary of their testimony is provided to opposing counsel well before the hearing, enabling opposing 
counsel the opportunity to confront the subject opinion testimony with the expert’s testimony summary, historic 
writings, statements, and prior testimony.  Typically, an expert’s subject opinions are confronted by an expert engaged 
by opposing counsel.  Heretofore, I have not viewed these experts as susceptible to undue influence or manipulation 
by sponsoring counsel.  Further, the nature of the issues justifying expert testimony in these matters is often complex 
and often requires exploration of subtle details and nuanced opinions.  Restricting sponsoring counsel from leading 
questions often challenges counsel’s ability to expeditiously probe the subject’s complexities.  Whereas a leading 
question can more readily direct the expert’s attention to the issue at hand.  If I were to see abuse of this practice, 
I have the discretion to suspend this practice.     
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dispensing; record keeping; documentation; drug utilization review; patient 

education and counseling; compounding from a pharmacy practice perspective, as 

well as state and federal statutes governing the practice of pharmacy.  The study of 

federal law comprises about 50-percent of the legal curriculum.  Tr. 197-98, 203.   

He’s lectured to independent pharmacies on behalf of wholesalers, including 

Cardinal Health, AmerisourceBergen, HD Smith, as well as several pharmacy 

organizations.  Tr. 199.  For the past four years, he’s presented a two-hour 

Continuing Education program to Florida pharmacists on controlled substance 

dispensing.  Tr. 199.  Within the past two-to-three years, Florida has increased the 

professional requirements for pharmacists, to include validating controlled 

substance prescriptions, understanding different types of diversion, red flags for 

diversion, how to resolve red flags, naloxone availability, and state and federal laws 

governing dispensing controlled substances and related record keeping.  Tr. 200.  

Dr. Sullivan has authored five publications, consumer drug reference books, as well 

as several peer-reviewed publications.  Tr. 200.  He’s completed a research study 

into community pharmacists, the resources they use in identifying red flags, and their 

willingness to identify red flags of diversion.  Tr. 202.  He presents training for 

government investigators and attorneys.  Tr. 203.  He’s been qualified as an expert 

in a California criminal trial and in four DEA show cause hearings similar to the 

instant hearing.  Tr. 201, 354-55, 359.       

He’s a registered pharmacist in Ohio and in Florida.  He’s worked as a 

pharmacist in Ohio, but not in Florida.  Tr. 198.  However, he has not worked in 

retail pharmacy for 20 years.  Tr. 414.  His background is primarily in community 

pharmacy, which relates to typical private pharmacies and chain pharmacies.  

Tr. 199.  He’s also had experience at a pharmacy located within a mental health 

clinic, and in a mail order pharmacy.  Id.    
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Dr. Sullivan described a recent problematic trend in medication 

reimbursement in which the pharmacies are sometimes being reimbursed less than 

their actual costs to purchase the medications.  Tr. 430-31.  This trend has caused 

small independent pharmacies to seek niche markets.  Tr. 431.    

Through his education, training, and experience, Dr. Sullivan is familiar with 

compounding in retail pharmacy, as well as issues related to abuse and diversion of 

controlled substances, and with the responsibilities of a retail pharmacist in the 

detection and prevention of such abuse and diversion.  Tr. 203.  Dr. Sullivan is also 

familiar with a pharmacist’s corresponding responsibility under federal law, and the 

standard of care and professional obligations of a pharmacist in the state of Florida.  

Tr. 204.  Dr. Sullivan was qualified as an expert in the field of pharmacy and the 

standard of care for the practice of pharmacy in the state of Florida.  Tr. 204-05, 490.   

Dr. Sullivan described the duties of a pharmacist in filling a controlled 

substance prescription.  Tr. 206.  First, the pharmacist must ensure the prescription 

is a “valid prescription for a legitimate medical purpose.”  Id.  That is, the pharmacist 

must determine if it is issued “in the normal course of professional practice,” that 

the pharmacist believes the patient can safely take it, that the medication is for an 

actual medical purpose, and is not being abused, misused, or diverted.  Id.  These 

requirements are codified in both federal and Florida law.  Fla. Admin. Code r. 

64B16-27.800, .810, and .831.   

In reviewing a prescription, a pharmacist must first determine if the 

prescription appears legal on its face; that all the information necessary appears on 

the face of the prescription.  Tr. 208.  Then, applying clinical expertise, the 

pharmacist must consider possible over-utilization and under-utilization, where the 

patient is taking more or less medication than prescribed; consider possible abuse or 

misuse; whether it’s serving a legitimate medical purpose; and whether it exposes 

the patient to potential undue risk of side-effects, adverse effects, or overdose.  
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Tr. 208-09.  The Florida standard of care requires pharmacists to document their 

resolution of any potential issues discovered in the pharmacist’s review of a 

prescription.  Tr. 210, 437, 489.   

Dr. Sullivan was unaware that Florida had codified “standard of care” for 

healthcare workers.  Tr. 438; § 766.102, Fla. Stat.11  He was unaware of the Florida 

Patient Bill of Rights.  Tr. 462.  Dr. Sullivan initially conceded there was no federal 

or Florida regulation mandating where or how the resolution of red flags must be 

documented.  Tr. 435-37.  In particular, Florida Administrative Code r. 64B16-

27.831, Standards of Practice for the Filling of Controlled Substance Prescriptions, 

is silent as to whether a pharmacist must document the steps a pharmacist takes to 

validate a prescription.  Tr. 449-50, 453-54.  But see Tr. 488-89.   

In conjunction with the precautionary evaluation described, the pharmacist is 

required to maintain a “patient profile” for each patient, which includes:  the 

patient’s full name, address and telephone number, age or date of birth, gender, a list 

of all new and refilled prescriptions obtained by the patient at the pharmacy, and any 

notes or comments by the pharmacist particular to that patient, such as drug allergies 

or contraindications.  Tr. 209-10.      

Dr. Sullivan explained the pharmacist’s “corresponding responsibility” with 

that of the prescribing physician. Under federal law, the pharmacist has a 

corresponding responsibility, an equal responsibility with the prescribing physician, 

to determine if a prescription has been written for a legitimate medical purpose.  

Tr. 210-11.  That a prescription is written by a physician does not absolve the 

pharmacist from ensuring that it is for a legitimate medical purpose.  Tr. 211.    

Common potential concerns for a pharmacist are referred to as “red flags.”  Red flags 

                                                 
11  The “prevailing professional standard of care,” which under Florida law is defined as “that level of care, skill, and 
treatment which, in light of all relevant surrounding circumstances, is recognized as acceptable and appropriate for 
reasonably prudent similar heath care providers.”  § 766.102, Fla. Stat. 
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include potential for diversion or abuse, patients traveling long distances to see their 

physicians, or to the pharmacy12,13 “drug cocktails commonly abused, large dosage 

units, payment in cash for all or part of a patient’s prescriptions,14 over-prescribing 

of immediate release pain killers, and patients traveling in groups.  Tr. 213-15, 240-

4115, 473-76.  Traveling long distances to a pharmacy creates the suspicion that 

pharmacies closer to the patient have declined to fill that particular prescription.  

Tr. 220.  Drug cocktails, or drug combinations known for abuse, such as the 

combination opioid/benzodiazepine, represent a “red flag.”  Tr. 220-21; GX 66.  

Indeed, the FDA has issued a “black box” warning in August 2016, highlighting the 

potential danger to the patient of this combination of medications.  Tr. 221-23.  Cash 

payment for medications is a red flag as medications are typically expensive and 

normally patients will defer those costs to their health insurance.  Tr. 224-25.  Early 

refills, or early fills of new prescriptions, are suspicious as it may suggest the patient 

is not taking the medication as prescribed.  Tr. 224-25.  Florida initiated annual CME 

four years previously involving “validation and appropriate use of controlled 

substances.”  Tr. 235.  Florida pharmacists are taught to identify the above red flags, 

to resolve them, and to document the resolution.  Tr. 235-36.      

                                                 
12  Dr. Sullivan noted 90% of prescriptions filled at the Respondent involved patients living more than 100 miles from 
the pharmacy.  Tr. 235.   
13  Dr. Sullivan conceded he was not aware of any federal or Florida regulation limiting the distance traveled to fill a 
prescription.  Tr. 462.   
14  Dr. Sullivan conceded no federal or Florida law prohibits pharmacies from accepting cash as payment for 
prescriptions.  Tr. 444.  
15  The Government offered various statistical evidence regarding average national prices for controlled substances, 
average miles driven to the pharmacy by patients nationally, a high percentage of Respondent’s patients traveling long 
distances to the Respondent’s pharmacy, the relatively high percentage of the Respondent’s patients paying by cash, 
the high percentage of the Respondent’s controlled substance dispensations versus non-controlled, the extremely high 
percentage of compounded hydromorphone 8 mg dispensed versus the commercially available hydromorphone 8 mg 
tablet dispensed by the Respondent, the extremely high percentage of oxycodone 30 mg, and Alprazolam 2 mg (the 
highest dosage units commercially produced) prescriptions issued as compared with lower dosage units dispensed, 
that the Respondent dispensed almost twice as many oxycodone 30 mg capsules as tablets.  Tr. 235-38, 241, 244-46, 
250-51.  This evidence was admitted as it related to the prompting and evaluation of various red flags.  It was not 
admitted, and will not be considered, as probative evidence that specific prescriptions were filled contrary to the 
standard of care in Florida, which determination requires individualized proof and individualized analysis.  
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To resolve red flags, a pharmacist should first discuss the matter with the 

patient, and attempt to get to know each patient.  Tr. 239, 445-49; see Fla. Admin. 

Code r. 64B16-27.831.  The next step would be to discuss the matter with the 

prescribing physician, which would provide another source of input for the 

pharmacist.  However, the prescribing physician can never be the only source of 

information obtained.  Tr. 229.  Next, the pharmacist would review the patient’s drug 

record, the PDMP, to determine other medications and the strengths of those 

medications, and conduct a “prospective drug utilization review,” to make an 

independent clinical evaluation whether the subject prescription was written for a 

legitimate medical purpose.  Tr. 211, 227.  Once the pharmacist makes his 

independent clinical evaluation, the standard of care requires the pharmacist to 

document his evaluation.  Tr. 228.     

If a pharmacist is unable to resolve the red flags he should decline to fill the 

subject prescription.  Tr. 228, 488.  An example of an unresolvable red flag would 

be a prescription containing two immediate release narcotic pain killers in very high 

doses.  Tr. 228-29.   Dr. Sullivan later clarified that red flags should be evaluated in 

combination, that no single red flag was unresolvable.  Tr. 480-86.  Later, he 

corrected himself by explaining that a single red flag could be so egregious that it 

was unresolvable in isolation.  Tr. 497-99. 

Dr. Sullivan explained compounding, in which a pharmacist “makes a 

drug . . . from scratch . . . to meet the unique therapeutic needs of a patient.”  Tr. 230.   

Typical justification for compounding may include a patient’s allergies to certain 

ingredients within commercially manufactured medications, or the unavailability of 

a particular medication, or strength of medication required for treatment among 

commercially available medications.  Tr. 230-32, 336-38.  Both oxycodone 30 mg, 

and hydromorphone 8 mg, are commercially available.  Tr. 232.    
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 By the fall of 2019, Dr. Sullivan had reviewed the materials sent to him by 

DI Albert.  Tr. 233, 349, 405-06.  These materials included the Respondent 

pharmacy prescription log covering approximately three months [GX 11], PDMP 

data over an 18-month period [GX 8-10], and the Respondent’s Prehearing 

Statement, which included witness summaries.  Tr. 341-43, 347-48.  Dr. Sullivan 

did not speak with the subject patients.  Tr. 407, 416-18.  Dr. Sullivan did not review 

copies of the actual prescriptions.  Tr. 348, 416, 500.  Dr. Sullivan conceded the 

average 4-5 prescriptions filled at the Respondent’s pharmacy per day were much 

fewer than the average community pharmacy of 190 prescriptions.  Tr. 420.  

Dr. Sullivan reviewed a list of prescriptions issued by Dr. Lemon.  Tr. 251; 

ALJ Ex. 4216, p. 8.  Dr. Lemon’s prescriptions for the highest strength available 

opioid was a potential red flag for diversion or abuse.  Tr. 251-52.  As to Dr. Purpora, 

whose prescribing history revealed he prescribed 65,000 doses of hydromorphone 8 

mg to only 135 doses of hydromorphone 4mg, Dr. Sullivan opined that a prudent 

pharmacist would not fill Dr. Purpora’s prescriptions for the highest dosage of 

hydromorphone.  Tr. 253, 496.  Similarly, Dr. Sullivan opined a reasonable 

pharmacist would not fill Dr. Purpora’s prescriptions for oxycodone 30 mg, as 

Dr. Purpora prescribed over 24,000 dosage units of oxycodone 30 mg, to only 200 

of the lower dosage units.  Tr. 253-54.         

 Turning to specific patients, Dr. Sullivan opined the distance traveled by 

Patient A.G. from his home to the Respondent’s pharmacy was a red flag.  Tr. 254; 

GX 55; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 10.  In reviewing A.G.’s prescription history, he was always 

prescribed the highest dose of hydromorphone and of oxycodone, and except for one 

instance, the highest dose of alprazolam.  Tr. 254-55; GX 17; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 11.  The 

combination of opioid and benzodiazepine, coming even after the FDA’s black box 

                                                 
16  The Government’s demonstrative exhibit will be marked as ALJ Exhibit 42. 
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warning, represent unresolvable red flags and the potential for diversion and abuse.  

Tr. 255-56.  A review of the PDMP report revealed the dangerous combination of 

the highest dosage unit of opioid along with a benzodiazepine, in addition to early 

fills on April 12, 2019, representing unresolvable red flags.  Tr. 256-57, 267; GX 14; 

ALJ Ex. 42, p. 12. 
A review of the patient profile in RX30, and of the subject prescriptions and 

fill stickers, failed to resolve the red flags noted or justify the compounding done.  

Tr. 259, 267; GX 17; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 11.  In the patient memo, it simply stated, 

“Doctor okayed, received medication in compound capsule form,” which is 

insufficient to justify compounding that medication, which requires an 

individualized therapeutic need.  Tr. 257-58; GX 15; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 13.  See 21 

U.S.C. § 802(10), (15); Wedgewood Village Pharm., 71 Fed. Reg. 16593, 16595 

(2006).  In addition, Dr. Sullivan noted that A.G. was prescribed both capsules and 

tablets of oxycodone 30 mg between November 8, 2017, and January 25, 2018, 

demonstrating there was no therapeutic need for compounding the oxycodone 

30 mg.  Tr. 256.   

Dr. Sullivan was suspicious of the patient questionnaire used by the subject 

pharmacy.  Tr. 259-60; GX 18.  The questionnaire questioned whether the patient 

lived more than 100 miles from the pharmacy.  Dr. Sullivan interpreted the 

questionnaire as cover for filling prescriptions for distant patients, rather than an 

effort to disclose or resolve red flags.  Tr. 259-61; GX 18.  A follow-up question to 

the distant traveling patients asked, “why do you travel this distance,” and in this 

case, the patient responded, “quick and good service.”  Tr. 262.  Dr. Sullivan opined 

that this reason was insufficient to resolve the red flags.  The questionnaire contained 

a certification to be made by the patient, certifying that “I am taking all of my 

medication prescribed.”  Tr. 262.  Dr. Sullivan deemed this certification ineffectual 

in resolving the red flags of early fills and of diversion.   A further statement by the 
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patient that, “I am not selling any of my medication,” did not alleviate any concerns 

that the patient may have been diverting his medication.  Tr. 262.  Indeed, 

Dr. Sullivan suspected the question exposed a subterfuge by the pharmacy, revealing 

the pharmacy believed patients were selling their medications, and the question was 

designed to relieve the pharmacy of any liability.  Tr. 263.   If a pharmacist believes 

a patient is selling his medications, the pharmacist should not fill any further 

prescriptions of that patient.  Tr. 264.17  Dr. Sullivan was directed to the “Pharmacy 

Comment” at the bottom of the prescriptions for A.G.  Tr. 265-66; GX 18, p. 6.  The 

notation, “non acute pain Uninsured Patient” suggested to Dr. Sullivan that whoever 

made the notations was trying to signal that this medication therapy was ongoing 

and to provide some justification for cash payment.  Tr. 266.   

As to Patient A.H., Dr. Sullivan opined the 132 miles from A.H.’s home to 

the Respondent pharmacy represented a red flag.  Tr. 268; GX 56; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 14.  

The prescriptions from January to August, 2018 contained several red flags 

including, highest dosage of short acting pain-relievers, hydromorphone 8 mg and 

oxycodone 30 mg, and of alprazolam 2 mg; capsules of hydromorphone being 

dispensed without required therapeutic justification; and the combination of short-

acting opioids with a benzodiazepine.  Dr. Sullivan deemed these unresolvable red 

flags.  Tr. 269.  Later prescriptions for A.H. revealed significantly early fill dates for 

four consecutive months.  Tr. 269-71; GX 19; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 16.  Dr. Sullivan 

viewed this pattern of early fills as evidence of diversion or abuse, warranting action 

by the pharmacist such as refusing to fill these prescriptions.  Tr. 271-72.  The fact 

that the prescribing physician wrote the prescriptions early does not relieve the 

                                                 
17  Dr. Sullivan also questioned the prescribing protocol for A.G., in that he was prescribed alternate monthly doses of 
30 mg oxycodone and 10 mg of oxycodone.  Tr. 264; GX 18, p. 6.  However, I believe Dr. Sullivan misread the 30 mg 
oxycodone prescription of October 30, 2018, as a 10 mg dosage due to a poor copy.  So, his conclusions in this regard 
will not be considered.       
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pharmacist’s responsibility to resolve the red flag of early fills.  Tr. 272.  A review 

of this patient’s file received by Dr. Sullivan failed to reveal any effort by the 

Respondent to resolve the red flags relating to Patient A.H.  Tr. 272-73.  Dr. Sullivan 

opined that, for the reasons discussed above, the relevant standard of care would 

have caused a reasonable pharmacist to decline filling the prescriptions for A.H.  

GX 19, 21; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 15-16. 

As to Patient B.S., Dr. Sullivan opined the 132 mile distance from B.S.’s home 

to the Respondent pharmacy represented a red flag.  Tr. 273; GX 57; ALJ Ex. 42, 

p. 18.  The prescriptions from August 2017 to August 2018 contained several red 

flags including, highest dosage of short-acting pain-relievers, hydromorphone 8 mg 

and oxycodone 30 mg, and of alprazolam 2 mg; capsules of hydromorphone being 

dispensed without required therapeutic justification; and the combination of short-

acting opioids with a benzodiazepine.  Dr. Sullivan deemed these unresolvable red 

flags.  Tr. 274, 276.  Dr. Sullivan noted the anti-inflammatory ibuprofen 400 mg 

prescription, which he found inconsistent in combination with the high dose of pain 

medication.  A once a day ibuprofen dose would have no effect in combination with 

such a high dose of pain medication.  Dr. Sullivan interpreted the ibuprofen as an 

attempt to demonstrate that the doctor was trying an alternate therapy as opposed to 

prescribing controlled substances without a legitimate medical purpose, which 

Dr. Sullivan viewed as a red flag.  Tr. 275.  Later prescriptions for B.S. revealed 

significantly early fill dates.  Tr. 275-76; GX 22; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 20.  Dr. Sullivan 

viewed this pattern of early fills as evidence of diversion or abuse, warranting action 

by the pharmacist such as refusing to fill these prescriptions.  Tr. 276-78.  A review 

of this patient’s file received by Dr. Sullivan failed to reveal any effort by the 

Respondent to resolve the red flags relating to patient B.S.  Tr. 277.  Dr. Sullivan 

opined that, for the reasons discussed above, the relevant standard of care would 



APP- 223

 29 
 

have caused a reasonable pharmacist to decline filling the prescriptions for B.S.  

GX 22, 24; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 19-20. 

As to Patient C.R., Dr. Sullivan opined the 134 miles from B.S.’s home to the 

Respondent pharmacy represented a red flag.  Tr. 279; GX 58; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 22.  

The prescriptions from July 2017 to August 2018 contained several red flags 

including, highest dosage of short-acting pain-reliever, oxycodone 30 mg, capsules 

of oxycodone 30 mg being dispensed without required therapeutic justification; and 

the combination of short-acting opioids with a benzodiazepine, and the muscle 

relaxant tizanidine.  A July 12, 2018 prescription for morphine sulphate 60 mg per 

day further heightened the danger to the patient.  Tr. 280.  Dr. Sullivan deemed these 

unresolvable red flags.  Tr. 279-82; GX 27; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 23.  A review of this 

patient’s profile received by Dr. Sullivan failed to reveal any effort by the 

Respondent to resolve the red flags relating to patient C.R.  Tr. 281.  Dr. Sullivan 

opined that, for the reasons discussed above, the relevant standard of care would 

have caused a reasonable pharmacist to decline filling the prescriptions for C.R.  

Tr. 281-83; GX 27; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 23. 

As to Patient J.D., Dr. Sullivan opined the 130 miles from J.D.’s home to the 

Respondent pharmacy represented a red flag.  Tr. 283; GX 59; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 23.  

The prescriptions from January 2018 to September 2019 contained several red flags 

including, highest dosage of short-acting pain-reliever, hydromorphone 8 mg, 

capsules of hydromorphone 8 mg being dispensed without required therapeutic 

justification; and the combination of two short-acting pain-relievers, 

hydromorphone and methadone 10 mg, resulting in an “extreme risk of overdose.”  

Tr. 283-84, 468; GX 30; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 26.  Dr. Sullivan deemed these red flags 

unresolvable.  Tr. 284, 289.  Several prescriptions filled in mid-2018 revealed 

unjustified early fills.  Tr. 284-87; GX 30; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 27.  The pharmacist noted 

in J.D.’s patient profile, “NEXT FILL DATE 7/5/18!!! WATCH FILL 
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DATES!!!!!!,” demonstrating the Respondent knew of J.D.’s issues with early fills.  

Such note is insufficient to justify filling J.D.’s prescriptions early.  Tr.  287-88; 

GX 29; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 28.       

As to Patient J.M., Dr. Sullivan opined the 144 miles from J.M.’s home to the 

Respondent pharmacy represented a red flag.  Tr. 289; GX 60; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 29.  

The prescriptions from June 2017 to September 2018 contained several red flags 

including, highest dosage of short-acting pain-relievers, hydromorphone 8 mg and 

oxycodone 30 mg, and of alprazolam 2 mg; capsules of oxycodone and 

hydromorphone being dispensed without required therapeutic justification; and the 

combination of short-acting opioids with a benzodiazepine, and a muscle relaxer.  

Dr. Sullivan deemed these unresolvable red flags.  Tr. 290-91.  Dr. Sullivan noted 

that J.M. was prescribed both capsules and tablets of oxycodone 30 mg between 

April 2018 and May 2018 demonstrating there was no therapeutic need for 

compounding the oxycodone 30 mg.  Tr. 290.  A review of this patient’s file received 

by Dr. Sullivan failed to reveal any effort by the Respondent to resolve the red flags 

relating to patient J.M.  Id.  Dr. Sullivan opined that, for the reasons discussed above, 

the relevant standard of care would have caused a reasonable pharmacist to decline 

to fill the prescriptions for J.M.  Tr. 291; GX 33; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 30. 

As to Patient M.M., Dr. Sullivan opined the distance between M.M.’s home 

and the prescribing physician’s office, south of Ft. Myers, Florida, represented a red 

flag.  Tr. 294; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 32.  In reviewing M.M.’s dispensing log, Dr. Sullivan 

identified many of the same red flags as revealed by the other patient’s records:  

high-strength hydromorphone prescribed and dispensed; and capsules of 

hydromorphone dispensed without individualized therapeutic justification.  Tr. 295; 

GX 36; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 33.  Dr. Sullivan was also suspicious of the .4 mg of folic 

acid, which he suspected was intended to mask the opioid prescriptions.  Tr. 295-96.  

In reviewing the prescriptions filled from January 2019 to April 2019, Dr. Sullivan 
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noted that the Respondent filled both capsules and tablets of hydromorphone, thus 

negating any prospect that the patient had an individualized therapeutic need for 

compounded medication.  Tr. 297-98; GX 34; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 34.  Dr. Sullivan was 

also concerned regarding a significant break in therapy, from July 18, 2018, and 

January 3, 2019.  Tr. 297.  Despite an almost six-month lapse in opioid therapy, the 

Respondent filled a prescription for hydromorphone 8 mg, the highest commercially 

available dosage.  Tr. 298.  If the patient had become opioid naïve during this lapse, 

there is a heightened risk of overdose.  Tr. 298.  Dr. Sullivan also recognized some 

red flags in the form of early fills.  Tr. 299; GX 34; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 34.  Dr. Sullivan 

deemed the above red flags unresolvable, and that no reasonable pharmacist would 

have filled the subject prescriptions.  Tr. 299-300.  But see Tr. 480-86. 

As to Patient N.B., Dr. Sullivan opined the 137 miles from N.B.’s home to the 

Respondent pharmacy represented a red flag.  Tr. 301; GX 62; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 36.  

The prescriptions from June 2017 to August 2018 contained several red flags 

including, highest dosage of short-acting pain-reliever, hydromorphone 8 mg, 

capsules of hydromorphone 8 mg being dispensed without required therapeutic 

justification; two separate prescriptions for alprazolam with two separate dosage 

units; and the combination of an opioid and benzodiazepine.  Dr. Sullivan noted the 

anti-inflammatory ibuprofen 400 mg prescription, which he found inconsistent in 

combination with the high dose of pain medication.  A once a day low ibuprofen 

dose would have no effect in combination with such a high dose of pain medication.  

Dr. Sullivan found these red flags unresolvable.  Tr. 302-03, 305-06; GX 39; ALJ 

Ex. 42, p. 37.  The PDMP data revealed several prescriptions filled unjustifiably 

early.  Tr. 303-04; GX 37; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 38.  Dr. Sullivan found no evidence of an 

attempt to resolve these red flags.  Tr. 306-07; GX 37, 39; ALJ Ex. 42, pp. 38-39.  

Dr. Sullivan was concerned by the two-month gap in opioid treatment from 

September 14, 2018, and December 20, 2018, potentially producing opioid naïveté 
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in the patient.  Tr. 304.  In the patient memo, it simply stated, “Doctor ok patient to 

receive medication in compound capsule form,” which is insufficient to justify 

compounding that medication, which requires an individualized therapeutic need.   

Tr. 306, 471; GX 38; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 39. 

 As to Patient R.B., Dr. Sullivan opined the 138 miles from N.B.’s home to the 

Respondent pharmacy represented a red flag.  Tr. 307; GX 63; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 40.  

Dr. Sullivan further asserted that the number of patients traveling from the Ft. Myers 

area to the Respondent’s pharmacy represented a red flag itself.  Tr. 308.   The 

coincidence of patients traveling over 100 miles to the Respondent’s pharmacy from 

the same proximate area represents a pattern that the standard of care would require 

a pharmacist to notice and to investigate.  Tr. 309-10.     

  The prescriptions from June 2017 to August 2018 contained several red flags 

including, highest dosage of short-acting pain-reliever, hydromorphone 8 mg, 

capsules of hydromorphone 8 mg being dispensed without required therapeutic 

justification; prescriptions for alprazolam at the highest dosage strength; and the 

combination of an opioid and benzodiazepine.  Dr. Sullivan found these unresolved 

red flags inconsistent with the standard of care in Florida.  Tr. 311, 321; GX 43; ALJ 

Ex. 42, p. 41.  The PDMP data revealed several prescriptions filled unjustifiably 

early.  Tr. 311-12; GX 40; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 42.  Dr. Sullivan was concerned by the 

two-month gap in opioid treatment from September 12, 2018, to January 22, 2019, 

potentially producing opioid naïveté in the patient.  Tr. 312, 471.  Dr. Sullivan found 

no evidence of an attempt to resolve these red flags.  Tr. 313; GX 41; ALJ Ex. 42, 

p. 41.  In R.B.’s Patient Questionnaire, R.B. gave conflicting information as to the 

year of her injury.  Tr. 313-14.  Furthermore, R.B.’s justification for traveling more 

than 100 miles to the Respondent’s pharmacy, “it’s cheaper and they’re good 

people,” does not resolve the red flag of long-distance travel.  Tr. 315; GX 44.  Nor 

does R.B.’s declaration that she’s not selling her medications resolve concerns of 
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diversion.  Tr. 315.   Patient R.B.’s PDMP report reveals she filled prescriptions at 

five different pharmacies, including the Respondent’s pharmacy.  Tr. 316-17; 

GX 44, p. 5.  Dr. Sullivan views this as clear evidence of pharmacy shopping.  

Another suspicious entry in the PDMP record is the payment source for an April 6, 

2016 prescription for oxycodone acetaminophen, and two August 22, 2017 

prescriptions for hydrocodone, which were paid for using commercial insurance.  

Tr. 317-18; GX 44, p. 4.  A patient alternately paying cash and using commercial 

insurance is a red flag of diversion or abuse.  Tr. 318-19.   

 Dr. Sullivan noted prescriptions for R.B. in which it appeared the pharmacist, 

by permission of the prescribing physician, changed the prescribed “tablet” form of 

medication to compounded capsule.  Tr. 319-20; GX 44, pp. 6, 8.  As the “tablet” 

form was initially prescribed, changing to compounded capsule does not appear to 

have been done on the basis of an individualized therapeutic purpose.  Tr. 321. 

As to Patient R.G., Dr. Sullivan opined the 131 miles from R.G.’s home to the 

Respondent pharmacy represented a red flag.  Tr. 322; GX 64; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 44.    

The prescriptions from June 2017 to September 2018 contained several red flags 

including, highest dosage of short-acting pain-reliever, capsules of oxycodone 

30 mg being dispensed without required therapeutic justification; the highest 

strength for alprazolam; and the combination of an opioid and benzodiazepine.  

Dr. Sullivan noted the ongoing prescribing at the highest opioid dosage suggested a 

red flag for the lack of individualized treatment, with patients consistently receiving 

the highest dosage.  Tr. 322-24, 329-30.  A further indication that there was no 

therapeutic justification for the compounded capsules of oxycodone 30 mg was the 

two fills on August 10, 2018, for oxycodone.  Tr. 324; GX 49; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 45.  

R.G. was dispensed 68 tablets and 70 capsules on that same day.  Tr. 324-26.   

Dr. Sullivan found these red flags unresolvable.  Tr. 322-23, 326; GX 49; ALJ Ex. 

42, p. 45.  The PDMP data revealed several prescriptions filled unjustifiably early.  

REQUEST FOR HEARING

Anypersondesiring a hearingwith request to an Order to ShowCausemust,
withinthirty (30)days from receipt of theOrder toShow Cause, file a request for a
hearing in the following format:

[DATE]

DBA Headquarters
Office of the AdministrativeLaw Judges
Hearing Clerk
8701 Morrissette Drive
Springfield, Virginia 22152

Dear Madam:

The undersigned, [Nameofperson], hereby requestsa hearing in the matter of
[Identification of the proceeding].

(A) [State with particularity theinterest of theperson in the proceeding.]

(B) [State with particularity theobjections or issues, if any concerning
which the person desires to be heard.]

(C) [State briefly the position of the person with regard to the particular
objections or issues.]

(D) [Name (either registrant, applicant, or attorney), address (including
streetaddress, city, state andzip code),and telephone number
(including areacode)of person towhom all subsequent notices or
mailings in thisproceeding should be sent.]

Respectfully yours.

(Signature ofregistrant, applicant, or
attorney]

Note: Pursuant to 21 C.F.R. § 1316.47(b), theAdministrative Law Judge, upon request
and showing ofgood cause, may grant a reasonable extension oftime allowing for
response to an Order to Show Cause.
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Tr. 326-28; GX 49; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 46.  The pharmacist noted in R.G.’s patient 

profile, “WATCH FILL DATES!!!!!!,” demonstrating the Respondent knew of 

R.G.’s issues with early fills.  Such note is insufficient to justify filling R.G.’s 

prescriptions early.  Tr. 328; GX 47; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 47.  Dr. Sullivan found no 

evidence of the resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 329; GX 49; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 45.    

As to Patient R.L., Dr. Sullivan opined the 138 miles from R.L.’s home to the 

Respondent pharmacy represented a red flag.  Tr. 330; GX 65; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 48.  

The prescriptions from June 2017 to September 2018 contained several red flags 

including, highest dosage of short-acting pain-relievers, hydrocodone 8 mg and 

oxycodone 30 mg; capsules of hydromorphone 8 mg being dispensed without 

required therapeutic justification; the highest strength of alprazolam; and the 

combination of an opioid and benzodiazepine.  Dr. Sullivan was concerned by the 

promethazine 25 mg prescription, as it acts as a muscle relaxant with sedative 

qualities, thus increasing potential side effects in combination with the opioid and 

benzodiazepine medications.  Dr. Sullivan noted the ongoing prescribing at the 

highest opioid dosage suggested a red flag for the lack of individualized treatment, 

with patients consistently receiving the highest dosage.  Tr. 331-32, 329-30.  

Dr. Sullivan found these red flags unresolvable.  Tr. 332; GX 52; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 49.   

The PDMP data revealed several prescriptions filled unjustifiably early.  

Tr. 333-35; GX 52; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 51.  The pharmacist noted in R.L.’s patient 

profile, “NEXT FILL 6/10/18-10 DAYS EARLY MARCH & APRIL-TOLD HIM 

THIS 5/11/18GD,” demonstrating the Respondent knew of R.L.’s issues with early 

fills.  Such note is insufficient to justify filling R.L.’s prescriptions early.  Tr. 334-

35; GX 51; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 52.  Dr. Sullivan found no evidence of the resolution of 

these red flags.  Tr. 335-36; GX 50, 52; ALJ Ex. 42, pp. 49-52. 

Finally, Dr. Sullivan opined that the compounding done in this case was not 

legitimate, as it was outside the standard of practice.  Tr. 336-38.  Dr. Sullivan 



APP- 229

 35 
 

explained that the FDA wants pharmacists to have the ability to compound to address 

the rare cases of patients with special needs, such as allergies.   Tr. 337-38.  However, 

compounding is also the subject of licensing and regulation.  Tr. 339-40.  See 21 

U.S.C. § 353a; Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.700, .797.  Manufacturing is not 

permitted under a standard community retail pharmacy license.  Tr. 340.  It requires 

specific licensing.  Id.  

Dr. Sullivan noted that 95 or 96 percent of the subject hydromorphone 

medication was compounded.  Dr. Sullivan concluded the extreme volume alone as 

proof positive that the Respondent’s compounding was not limited to patients with 

individualized therapeutic needs.  Tr. 337.  Although the Patient Profiles reviewed 

contained a category for “allergy,” no allergies were documented, either within the 

Patient Profiles or in any of the other records reviewed.  Tr. 339; see Fla. Admin. 

Code r. 64B16-27.800(2).  Dr. Sullivan found no evidence that any of the subject 

patients receiving compounded medications were subject to medication allergies.  

Tr. 339. 

EXPERT OPINION 

Although these proceedings are not bound by the Federal Rules of Evidence, 

they are often instructive in the evaluation of the admissibility of evidence herein.   

Rule 702 states as follows: 

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the 
trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a 
witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, 
or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, 
if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the 
testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the 
witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of 
the case. 

Fed. R. Evid. 702.  The tribunal should ensure that any and all scientific testimony 

or evidence admitted is not only relevant, but reliable.  Daubert v. Merrell Dow 
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Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 589 (1993).  The subject of an expert’s 

testimony must be scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge.  Id. at 589-

90.  This requirement “establishes a standard of evidentiary reliability.”  Id. at 590; 

see also Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 147 (1999) (noting it is 

the word “knowledge” in Rule 702 that establishes a standard of evidentiary 

reliability).  “Knowledge connotes more than subjective belief or unsupported 

speculation,” although the subject of the testimony need not be known to a certainty. 

Id.; see also United States v. Garcia, 919 F.3d 489, 496 (7th Cir. 2019) (ruling that 

without corroborating evidence agent’s opinion testimony consisted of “educated 

speculation” rather than sufficient proof);  McLean v. 988011 Ontario, Ltd., 224 F.3d 

797, 801 (6th Cir. 2000) (reciting rule that if expert bases his or her opinion on 

“assumed facts,” the record must support those assumptions); Viterbo v. Dow 

Chemical Co., 826 F.2d 420, 422 (5th Cir. 1987) (articulating general rule that 

questionable factual bases underlying an expert’s opinion negatively impact the 

opinion’s weight). 

In order to be “scientific knowledge,” an assertion or inference must be 

derived by the scientific method.  Id.  “Proposed testimony must be supported by 

appropriate validation—i.e., ‘good grounds,’ based on what is known.”  Id.  Expert 

evidence is unreliable, and thus inadmissible, “if it is speculative, unsupported by 

sufficient facts, or contrary to the facts of the case.”  United States v. Bailey, 571 

F.3d 791, 803 (8th Cir.2009); see also United States v. Two Elk, 536 F.3d 890, 904 

(8th Cir. 2008).  

Faced with a proffer of expert scientific testimony, then, the judge should 

determine at the outset, pursuant to Rule 104(a), whether the expert is proposing to 

testify to (1) scientific knowledge that (2) will assist the trier of fact to understand 

or determine a fact in issue.  Daubert, 509 U.S. at 592.  “This entails a preliminary 

assessment of whether the reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is 
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scientifically valid and of whether that reasoning or methodology properly can be 

applied to the facts in issue.”  Id. at 592-93.   

Regardless of what factors are evaluated, the main inquiry is whether the 

proffered expert’s testimony is sufficiently reliable.  Id. at 574 (citing Unrein v. 

Timesavers, Inc., 394 F.3d 1008, 1011 (8th Cir. 2005) (“There is no single 

requirement for admissibility as long as the proffer indicates that the expert evidence 

is reliable and relevant.”)).  Rule 702 requires a flexible approach.  Daubert, 509 

U.S. at 594.  The focus of Rule 702 “must be solely on principles and methodology, 

not on the conclusions that they generate.”  Id. at 595.  “Vigorous cross-examination, 

presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof are 

the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence.” 

Id. at 596; see also Two Elk, 536 F.3d at 903 (a district court “‘must exclude expert 

testimony if it is so fundamentally unreliable that it can offer no assistance to the 

jury, otherwise, the factual basis of the testimony goes to the weight of the 

evidence.’” (emphasis in original) (quoting Larson v. Kempker, 414 F.3d 936, 940-

41 (8th Cir. 2005))). 

Here, Dr. Sullivan was qualified as an expert in the field of pharmacy and the 

standard of care for the practice of pharmacy in the state of Florida.  He gave his 

opinion regarding the relevant standards of care in Florida for the practice of 

pharmacy, including the existence of red flags, or generally suspicious 

circumstances.  He also gave his opinion regarding the parameters of lawful 

pharmacy compounding in light of federal statutes and regulations governing 

compounding and manufacturing.  The relevant standard of care may be established 

by an expert witness through his experience in the field, and through his reliance 

upon and application of state and federal professional standards.  

As the Supreme Court noted in Kumho Tire, 526 U.S. at 142, expert opinion, 

“whether based upon professional studies or personal experience, employs in the 
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courtroom the same level of intellectual rigor that characterizes the practice of an 

expert in the relevant field.”  Id. at 152.  The district court’s role is especially 

significant since the expert’s opinion “can be both powerful and quite misleading 

because of the difficulty in evaluating it.”  Daubert, 509 U.S. at 595 (quoting Jack 

B. Weinstein, Rule 702 of the Federal Rules of Evidence is Sound; It Should Not Be 

Amended, 138 F.R.D. 631, 632 (1991)).  

 
The Committee Note to the 2000 Amendments of Rule 
702 also explains that “[n]othing in this amendment is 
intended to suggest that experience alone ... may not 
provide a sufficient foundation for expert testimony.” Fed. 
R. Evid. 702 advisory committee’s note (2000 amends.).  
Of course, the unremarkable observation that an expert 
may be qualified by experience does not mean that 
experience, standing alone, is a sufficient foundation 
rendering reliable any conceivable opinion the expert may 
express.  As we observed in Quiet Technology, “while an 
expert’s overwhelming qualifications may bear on the 
reliability of his proffered testimony, they are by no means 
a guarantor of reliability . . . . [O]ur caselaw plainly 
establishes that one may be considered an expert but still 
offer unreliable testimony.”  326 F.3d at 1341-42.  Quite 
simply, under Rule 702, the reliability criterion remains a 
discrete, independent, and important requirement for 
admissibility.  Indeed, the Committee Note to the 2000 
Amendments of Rule 702 expressly says that, “[i]f the 
witness is relying solely or primarily on experience, then 
the witness must explain how that experience leads to the 
conclusion reached, why that experience is a sufficient 
basis for the opinion, and how that experience is reliably 
applied to the facts.  The trial court’s gatekeeping function 
requires more than simply ‘taking the expert’s word for 
it.’”  Fed. R. Evid. 702 advisory committee’s note (2000 
amends.) (emphasis added); see also Daubert v. Merrell 

Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (on remand), 43 F.3d 1311, 
1316 (9th Cir.1995) (observing that the gatekeeping role 
requires a district court to make a reliability inquiry, and 
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that “the expert’s bald assurance of validity is not 
enough”).  If admissibility could be established merely by 
the ipse dixit of an admittedly qualified expert, the 
reliability prong would be, for all practical purposes, 
subsumed by the qualification prong.   
 

United States v. Frazier, 387 F.3d 1244, 1261 (11th Cir. 2004). 

Dr. Sullivan demonstrated a commanding grasp of pharmacy practice and of 

the distinctions between pharmacy compounding and manufacturing.  However, 

there were several matters for which he had diminished credibility.  For one, he was 

unaware that Florida had codified the standard of care for medical personnel.  

Although I later determined the statute in question did not apply to pharmacists, it 

was somewhat surprising he was unaware of it, as he teaches Florida pharmacy 

law.18  More problematically, he quickly agreed that it was consistent with his 

understanding of the standard of care for pharmacists in Florida, which was 

somewhat surprising, as the standard of care for medical personnel is a highly 

generalized standard, a prudent healthcare provider standard, while the standard of 

care for pharmacists in Florida, as set out in the relevant Florida regulations, is highly 

specific in listing particular responsibilities and duties.19  He arguably conceded an 

alternate generalized standard of care for pharmacists in Florida, which is not 

consistent with Florida law or regulation.  See Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.800, 

                                                 
18  However, under Florida Statute § 766.102, pharmacists are not considered “healthcare providers.”  This Florida 
law defines “healthcare providers” as:   

. . . any hospital or ambulatory surgical center as defined and licensed under chapter 395; a birth 
center licensed under chapter 383; any person licensed under chapter 458, chapter 459, chapter 460, 
chapter 461, chapter 462, chapter 463, part I of chapter 464, chapter 466, chapter 467, part XIV of 
chapter 468, or chapter 486; a health maintenance organization certificated under part I of chapter 
641; a blood bank; a plasma center; an industrial clinic; a renal dialysis facility; or a professional 
association partnership, corporation, joint venture, or other association for professional activity by 
health care providers.  

§ 766.202(4), Fla. Stat.  Pharmacists are administered under chapter 465.    
19  The “prevailing professional standard of care,” which under Florida law is defined as “that level of care, skill, and 
treatment which, in light of all relevant surrounding circumstances, is recognized as acceptable and appropriate for 
reasonably prudent similar heath care providers.”  § 766.102, Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). 
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.810, and .831. 

Secondly, he gave inconsistent testimony regarding unresolvable red flags.  

He described several red flags as unresolvable, that no explanation could warrant the 

filling of the subject prescription.  Later, he conceded that those same red flags could 

be resolved.  At one point he suggested no single red flag was unresolvable, rather 

it was the combination of red flags which made them unresolvable.  Accordingly, 

because of these inconsistencies, in the absence of a reliable principle or method 

employed by Dr. Sullivan, I reject his conclusions regarding his claim that certain 

red flags were unresolvable.  For each of the red flags he testified were 

“unresolvable,” I accept his alternate opinion that each of those red flags went 

unresolved in this matter, a finding clearly supported by the evidence. 

Dr. Sullivan deemed the questionnaire used by the Respondent as essentially 

a subterfuge, designed not to reveal red flags and enable the Respondent to assess 

them, but as cover for red flags already known to exist by the Respondent.  This 

conclusion was developed on the basis of Dr. Sullivan’s experience in reviewing 

pharmacies, which were found to be operating in violation of pharmacy standards.  

It seemed more in the nature of an observation of coincident patterns.  This 

conclusion assumes the questionnaires were never intended to assist the Respondent 

in assessing red flags versus being a good faith effort to identify red flags, which 

was never fullfilled.  If the questionnaires were designed to provide cover to the 

Respondent’s illegal behavior, they fail to do so.  I didn’t see the questionnaires as 

providing any cover to the Respondent’s improper filling of prescriptions.  If 

anything, the completed questionnaires highlighted and documented red flags of 

long-distance travel.  The completed questionnaires are damning not exculpatory.  

Although not dispositive of this issue, the Government has not alleged intentional 

diversion.   I find Dr. Sullivan’s subject conclusion more in the nature of speculation.    

I don’t believe the record provides sufficient factual foundation to support this expert 
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opinion.20  I also find it inconsistent with the facts of the case.  Accordingly, on the 

basis of the instant record, I find Dr. Sullivan’s subject conclusion unjustified. 

Dr. Sullivan made a similar conclusion regarding the prescribing of non-

controlled substances and of controlled substances not subject to abuse or diversion.  

Again, he deemed such prescriptions as an apparent subterfuge on the part of the 

prescriber, designed to mask the improper prescribing of controlled substances 

highly subject to abuse and diversion, and creating a red flag, which went 

unaddressed by the Respondent.  I question the sufficiency of the factual foundation 

for Dr. Sullivan’s expert opinion that the above prescriptions were an apparent 

attempt to mask scores of improper opioid prescriptions.  The relevant medical 

records were not reviewed, the prescriber’s justification for the prescriptions were 

not considered by Dr. Sullivan, nor was the patient’s input as to the subject 

prescriptions considered.  I find Dr. Sullivan’s subject opinion, on the basis of this 

record, to be improperly speculative and unjustified as an expert opinion.21  This 

finding does not affect the probity of Dr. Sullivan’s opinions as to the therapeutic 

effect of the subject medications, their contraindication with other prescribed 

medications, or the justification of their prescription.     

The Respondent made the point that Dr. Sullivan did not confer with the 

subject patients or with their prescribing physicians.  Dr. Sullivan conceded that a 

diligent pharmacist would, as circumstances require, attempt to resolve any red flags 

by discussing them with the patient and with the prescribing physician.  The 

Respondent argues that the fact Dr. Sullivan did not discuss any red flags with the 

patients or with the prescribers renders Dr. Sullivan’s conclusions regarding red 

flags questionable as Dr. Sullivan did not attempt to resolve the subject red flags.   

Although certainly the extent of Dr. Sullivan’s review of relevant material is 

                                                 
20  Daubert, 509 U.S. at 592-93; Garcia, 919 F.3d at 496.  
21  This finding is based on principles governing expert witnesses.  See Garcia, 919 F.3d at 496.    
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critical to the conclusions he draws, the focus of Dr. Sullivan’s opinions relate to 

whether the Respondent complied with his corresponding responsibility to resolve 

red flags prior to dispensing the subject medications, and to documenting any 

resolution within the file.  It is neither here nor there that Dr. Sullivan could have 

resolved his own concerns regarding the subject red flags by speaking to the patients 

and prescribers years later.  Nor is it dispositive that Dr. Sullivan could have 

determined that the subject red flags were resolvable at the time they were dispensed, 

if the Respondent failed to satisfy his corresponding responsibility to resolve them.  

So, with the exception of his opinion regarding the apparent red flag created by the 

prescribing of non-controlled substances (discussed immediately above), I don’t 

view the fact that Dr. Sullivan didn’t speak with the subject patients or prescribers 

as diminishing the probity of his relevant opinions as to the Respondent’s acts or 

omissions at all.        

The Respondent makes the similar point regarding the fact that Dr. Sullivan 

did not review copies of the physical prescriptions, as there is evidence Respondent 

may have made notations relevant to resolving red flags directly onto the 

prescriptions.  Dr. Sullivan freely conceded he had not been provided with copies of 

the prescriptions to review.   Indeed, if Dr. Sullivan had been provided with the hard-

copy prescriptions, presumably, he would have been able to provide an opinion as 

to those documents, and his other opinions and conclusions would have the benefit 

of that additional information.  However, he was not asked to review the 

prescriptions by the Government.  If an expert does not review all of the relevant 

evidence in the case, obviously the value or probity of his opinions and findings are 

limited accordingly.  Here, he was provided sufficient materials to develop his 

opinions, which assist the factfinder to understand or to determine facts in issue. 

Daubert, 509 U.S. at 592.      
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RESPONDENT’S CASE-IN-CHIEF 
 

The Respondent presented its case-in-chief through the testimony of a single 

witness, Norman L. Clement, Jr.  Tr. 506-57. 

 

Norman L. Clement, Jr. 
 Mr. Clement, Jr., is the son of Mr. Norman Clement, Sr., the Respondent’s 

owner.  Tr. 506-07.  Mr. Clement, Jr., has held a pharmacy tech license in Florida 

since 2014.  Tr. 507.  He has worked for the Respondent since 2014.  Tr. 507, 521.  

Mr. Clement, Jr., reported the Respondent employs approximately four pharmacists-

in-charge.  Id.  He described the Respondent as a family operation.  Id. 

 The Respondent gets few patient customers per day.  Tr. 508.  Typically, the 

pharmacy would only see two to three patients a day, sometimes none.  Id.  Four 

patients in one day would make for a busy day at the pharmacy.  Id.  The fact that 

the Respondent only saw a few patients per day meant that the staff could spend 

more time talking with the patients and getting to know them.  Id.   

Mr. Clement, Jr., testified that the Respondent’s staff always recorded the 

information it collected from the patients.  Tr. 509, 543.  The types of information 

the Respondent collected from patients included “personal life information,” how 

treatment was progressing, and dietary information.  Tr. 509.  The Respondent 

recorded this information in the patient’s profile.  Tr. 543.  Sometimes it recorded 

the information on the hard-copy prescriptions.  Id. 

When a new patient presents at the pharmacy, the Respondent gathers 

information about the patient to assist the pharmacist in making a decision about 

whether to dispense to that patient.  Tr. 509, 537-38, 540.  The Respondent charges 

new patients $25 for an initial consultation.  Tr. 542.  As part of this information-

gathering process, the Respondent asks patients to complete a questionnaire.  
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Tr. 511, 537-38, 542.  The questionnaire solicits information regarding the reason 

the patient is visiting the Respondent, how the patient feels, and what caused the 

patient’s ailment or injury.  Tr. 511-12, 538, 540.  Sometimes a patient has been 

rejected by three to six other pharmacies before visiting the Respondent.  Tr. 538.  

The Respondent creates a patient profile for all new patients and places a copy of 

the questionnaire in the profile.  Tr. 546-48.  Notes regarding the resolution of red 

flags would be contained in the patient’s profile.  Tr. 553.  Mr. Clement, Jr., testified 

that the Respondent “look[ed] at every aspect” of a prescription before filling it, and 

that if “everything checks out,” the patient is cleared to fill the prescription.  Tr. 540-

41.  The Respondent places a check mark on a prescription to verify it is cleared for 

dispensing.  Tr. 554-55.   

Mr. Clement, Jr., testified that the questionnaire asks the patients to provide 

details about their injury; simply claiming that “my back pain hurts” will not suffice.  

Tr. 512.  The Respondent also makes a copy of the patient’s driver’s license.  Tr. 513, 

538.  Mr. Clement, Jr., testified that the pharmacy checked the medical legitimacy 

of prescriptions22 and called the prescribing doctor for all controlled substance 

prescriptions.  Tr. 538-40, 542-43, 545.  Initially, Mr. Clement, Jr., testified that the 

Respondent would write down what the doctor says in the patient’s profile.  Tr. 543-

44.  Government counsel later asked if the lack of notes about calling the doctor 

meant the doctor was never called.  Tr. 550.  Mr. Clement, Jr., responded, “Not 

necessarily,” and explained that sometimes the Respondent would write those notes 

                                                 
22  Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, testimony that the Respondent verified the medical legitimacy of the prescriptions it filled runs 
counter to Mr. Clement, Sr.’s, view, as written in his blog, that he is “not authorized or qualified to challenge a 
physician’s diagnosis and treatment.”  Tr. 538, 566.  If that is the case, it seems inconsistent that the Respondent would 
call a doctor’s office at all, let alone to confirm a diagnosis.  Tr. 551.  Furthermore, it is difficult to understand how 
the Respondent ensured that prescriptions were medically legitimate if the Respondent believed it could not question 
a doctor’s decision to prescribe a certain medication.  Tr. 538, 566.  The Respondent’s vetting process, as described 
by Mr. Clement, Jr., seems superfluous if the Respondent’s pharmacists are unable to question a diagnosis and 
treatment.   
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on the hard-copy prescription.  Tr. 550-51.  The Respondent would write, “M.D. 

okay” on the prescription to verify the doctor had been called.  Tr. 550-52.   

After reviewing the questionnaire, a staff member searches for the patient in 

the PDMP to see if the patient is visiting other pharmacies.  Tr. 512-13, 538.  

Typically, the Respondent attaches a copy of the PDMP reports to the patient’s file.  

Tr. 513.  The software system that the Respondent used also produced a “Narx” 

score that informed the pharmacy about a patient’s risk of addiction.  Tr. 518-19.  

The Respondent and its staff used the “Narx” score feature when deciding whether 

to fill prescriptions.  Id.  Sometimes after conducting this process the Respondent 

has turned patients away.  Tr. 512, 538, 542. 

Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, primary duties at the Respondent are working with the 

computer system and records.  Tr. 515, 522.  The Respondent uses Rx30 software.  

Tr. 514.  When the DEA served the OSC/ISO on the Respondent in August 2019, it 

also executed a search warrant and seized two of the Respondent’s computers.  

Tr. 514-15, 530-31.  The Respondent also kept files on a back-up system which was 

also seized by the DEA.  Tr. 534-35.  When the computers were eventually returned, 

they did not work and the scanned copies of prescriptions had been erased.23  

Tr. 514-15, 530-31.  Mr. Clement, Jr., worked with an IT consultant and Rx30’s 

technical support to try to recover the prescription image files from the computers 

seized by DEA.  Tr. 517-18.  Those recovery efforts were unsuccessful.  Id.   

The DEA also seized a touch-screen computer monitor.  Tr. 516.  When DEA 

returned the monitor, the screen had been shattered and it no longer worked.24  

                                                 
23  Although Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, testimony about how files were backed-up was sometimes difficult to follow, Tr. 531-
36, he seemed to indicate that the Respondent had the capability of retrieving lost files from Rx30’s system.  Tr. 535-
36. 
24  I permitted the Respondent’s counsel, over Government objection, to question Mr. Clement, Jr., on this topic to the 
extent it related to the issue of unfair, unequal, or uneven treatment, a defensive claim by the Respondent.  Tr. 516-
17.  This claim is cognizable herein to the extent it may demonstrate the Respondent is treated unevenly vis-a-vis 
other like-situated respondents.  The unexplained damage to computer equipment and deletion of files could be 
relevant to the issue of uneven treatment by the Agency.  This evaluation will ultimately focus on the Administrator’s 
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Tr. 516-17, 531.  The DEA also seized most of the hard-copy prescriptions that were 

kept at the pharmacy.25  Tr. 516. 

In general, I found Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, testimony to be somewhat subjective.  

As essentially a party to the litigation, he had a clear personal and family interest in 

the outcome.  The Respondent’s position that the Agency has treated the Respondent 

unfairly was reflected in Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, testimony.  His emotional description 

of the manner of the seizure of Respondent’s equipment and records, and their 

destruction and loss in the hands of the Agency, manifests his partiality in this 

matter.  However, having a personal interest in the litigation, or manifesting an 

emotional commitment to your cause, are not bars to credibility.  They are simply 

factors to be considered.  I had some concerns with aspects of his testimony, 

however, which detracted from his credibility on certain topics.  For the most part, 

these concerns were situations where Mr. Clement, Jr., provided conclusory 

testimony, and then followed-up with more detail when pressed by counsel.   

There were also instances of inconsistency.  For example, Mr. Clement, Jr., 

initially testified that the Respondent’s computer system worked normally after the 

                                                 
disposition of this matter.  Chein v. DEA, 533 F.3d 828, 836-37 (D.C. Cir. 2008).  In Morall v. DEA, 412 F.3d 165 
(D.C. Cir. 2005), DEA’s revocation of a physician’s registration was vacated because DEA had “consistently 
declined . . . to revoke the registration of any other physician in a comparable context, or even under significantly 
more troubling circumstances” and because DEA offered “no explanation” for the departure from its precedent.  Id. 
at 181.  Under the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), the Administrator’s choice of sanction is 
entitled to substantial deference and will be set aside only if his decision is “‘arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of 
discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law.’”  Id. at 177 (quoting Tourus Records, Inc. v. DEA, 259 F.3d 731, 
736 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (quoting 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A))).  Ordinarily, the “mere unevenness in the application of [a] 
sanction [will] not render its application in a particular case ‘unwarranted in law.’”  Id. at 183 (quoting Butz v. Glover 
Livestock Comm’n Co., 411 U.S. 182, 188 (1973)) (first alteration in Morall).  If the revocation represents a “flagrant 
departure from DEA policy and practice,” however, and if the departure is “not only unexplained, but entirely 
unrecognized in the [DA’s] decision, the agency’s sanction [cannot] withstand abuse of discretion review.”  Id. at 183. 
This issue is strictly governed by the above evaluation.  As I noted during the hearing, equal protection issues are not 
cognizable herein.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1331.   

Additionally, no issues of spoliation were raised, and so will not be addressed.  Even if spoliation had been 
alleged, the Respondent would have to show the Government acted in bad faith in the loss or destruction of evidence 
in their control.  No such showing was made.  Managed Care Solutions, Inc. v. Essent Healthcare, Inc., 736 F. Supp. 
2d 1317, 1322 (S.D. Fla. 2010).   
25  Mr. Clement, Jr., testified that the Respondent has not received back the hard-copy prescriptions seized by the 
DEA.  Tr. 520.  After testifying to this, the Respondent’s counsel informed the Tribunal, on the record, that the DEA 
had provided copies of the prescriptions to counsel’s office.  Id.   
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DEA made mirror images of the Respondent’s computer hard-drive.  Tr. 522, 525.  

He then clarified that the Respondent’s computers did not work normally.  Tr. 525-

26.  The computer system started working normally again about 3-4 months after the 

DEA made mirror images of it.  Tr. 527. 

Another example concerns the Respondent’s efforts to call patients’ past 

pharmacies.  At the beginning of direct examination, Mr. Clement, Jr., testified that 

as part of its intake process for new patients, the Respondent would call a new 

patient’s past pharmacy only if the Respondent had questions of that pharmacy.  

Tr. 512.  Government counsel later asked, “Sometimes you call their past 

pharmacist?”  Tr. 546.  He answered, “Yes.”  Id.  Just moments later, Mr. Clement, 

Jr., testified that the Respondent always called pharmacies for every new patient.  

Tr. 547, 549.  This testimony paints an unclear picture of whether the Respondent 

always called a patient’s previous pharmacy or whether it only called in certain 

situations.  

Another example concerned the extent to which the Respondent verified 

prescriptions’ medical legitimacy.  Mr. Clement, Jr., explained that neither he nor 

the Respondent’s pharmacists were qualified to read an MRI report (or any other 

laboratory test).  Tr. 539-40.26  He said that some patients would provide a copy of 

their MRI report, but “no pharmacist needs to look at an MRI.”  Id.  This testimony 

seems to conflict with his testimony that the Respondent got to know its new patients 

by looking into their history, background, “pain ailments, what they’re going 

through, [and] sometimes treatment plans.”  Tr. 508.  If the Respondent checked a 

patient’s background, and confirmed medical legitimacy of the prescription, then it 

seems that the Respondent merely took the patient (and his or her doctor) at their 

                                                 
26  Mr. Clement, Jr’s., testimony would make sense if he was referring to the actual x-ray or MRI, which require 
special training to interpret, such as that of a radiologist, who reduces his findings to a written report, which would be 
appropriate for a pharmacist to review.    
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word, since checking commonly-procured objective medical findings, such as an 

MRI report, was outside the Respondent’s scope of review.  The fact that the 

Respondent may have merely taken doctors, patients, and pharmacies at their word 

is supported by Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, later testimony that a patient is cleared to receive 

controlled substances if the doctor says “yes” and the patient’s previous pharmacy 

says the patient is “okay.”  Tr. 542.    

There was another instance where Mr. Clement, Jr., came across as more of 

an advocate for the Respondent rather than an objective witness.  In this instance, 

the Respondent’s counsel asked Mr. Clement, Jr., whether the Respondent had 

developed a niche business in the types of patients it sees.  Tr. 509-10.  This seemed 

to be a straightforward, unambiguous question.  Mr. Clement, Jr., responded, 

however, by describing, at length, the process of checking the patient’s 

identification, and checking the PDMP and NarcFacts.  Tr. 510-11.  The 

Respondent’s counsel then followed-up with a leading question, asking 

Mr. Clement, Jr., whether the Respondent “dispense[d] primarily to patients who are 

suffering from chronic non-malignant pain?”  Tr. 511.  Mr. Clement, Jr., answered 

in the affirmative.  Id.  Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, non-responsive answer demonstrated an 

eagerness to advocate the Respondent’s safety measures for screening patients and 

preventing diversion, rather than answering the question about what types of clients 

the Respondent serviced.   

Having listened to Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, testimony at the hearing, and having 

closely reviewed the transcript of his testimony, I find him to be generally credible, 

with the few exceptions noted above.  He generally presented as a professional, 

knowledgeable, and honest witness.  I will give his testimony weight to the extent it 

is internally consistent, and to the extent it is consistent with other evidence and 

testimony of record. 
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THE GOVERNMENT’S REBUTTAL CASE 

 After each party presented its case-in-chief, the Government presented the 

rebuttal testimony of DI Albert.  Tr. 557-68. 

DI Albert 
 The Government introduced DI Albert’s rebuttal testimony to rebut 

Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, testimony about the resolution of red flags.  Tr. 559-60, 563-64.  

DI Albert testified about a blog post authored by Mr. Clement, Sr.27  Tr. 559, 561.  

DI Albert downloaded this blog post from the internet.  Tr. 562.  The blog post 

identifies its author as “Norman J. Clement, R.Ph, DDS.”  Tr. 563.  DI Albert also 

downloaded an attachment from the blog post.  Tr. 564-65.  The attachment is a copy 

of the Government’s prehearing statement in this case.  Tr. 565.  There are notes 

written on the prehearing statement, to include the following note on page 23:   

The question of the red flag issue is not an issue to [me] because I don’t 
challenge the physician for diagnosing and writing prescriptions for the 
patients because I’m not authorized or qualified to challenge a 
physician’s diagnosis and treatment of his or her patients.  Therefore, 
on the red flag issues, the question is, are they challenging me for filling 
the prescription or are they challenging the physician who wrote the 
prescription? 
 

Tr. 566.  Neither the hard-copied blog post nor attachment were admitted into 

evidence; only the oral testimony of DI Albert reading the above-quoted paragraph.  

Tr. 567. 

 During this brief rebuttal testimony, DI Albert presented, as he did in the 

Government’s case-in-chief, as an honest, professional, and impartial investigator 

who had no stake in the case’s outcome.  DI Albert presented his rebuttal testimony 

in a credible and reliable manner.  Although I fully credit DI Albert’s rebuttal 

                                                 
27 Although the Government offered the title of the blog post, “DEA’s Kourt of the Kangaroo,” the title was only 
admitted for authentication purposes.   
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testimony, I will only consider his rebuttal testimony to the extent that the paragraph 

he read into the record rebuts Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, testimony that the Respondent 

resolved red flags. 

THE FACTS 

STIPULATIONS OF FACT 
 

 The Government and the Respondent did not agree to any stipulations of fact.  

 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
The factual findings below are based on a preponderance of the evidence, 

including the detailed, credible, and competent testimony of the aforementioned 

witnesses, the exhibits entered into evidence, and the record before me.  The findings 

of fact are based primarily on those proposed by the Government in its post-hearing 

brief.  I have also considered the findings of fact proposed by the Respondent and 

found that many of those proposed findings related to matters proposed by the 

Government or related to matters addressed elsewhere in this Recommended 

Decision.  If a proposed finding of fact is not included in this section and is also not 

addressed elsewhere in this Decision, it is because that proposed finding was not 

relevant to deciding this case.  

 

1. Respondent is registered with the DEA to handle controlled substances in 

Schedules II through V under Certificate of Registration No. FP2302076. 

Respondent’s registered address is 1461 West Busch Boulevard, Tampa, 

Florida 33612.  Respondent’s DEA Certificate of Registration expires by its 

own terms on March 31, 2022.  GX 1. 

2. Oxycodone is a Schedule II controlled substance.  21 C.F.R. § 1308.12(b)(1). 
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3. Hydromorphone is a Schedule II controlled substance.  21 C.F.R. 

§ 1308.12(b)(1). 

4. Alprazolam is a Schedule IV controlled substance.  21 C.F.R. § 1308.14(c). 

5. Morphine Sulfate is a Schedule II controlled substance. 21 C.F.R. 

§ 1308.12(b)(1). 

6. Methadone is a Schedule II controlled substance.  21 C.F.R. § 1308.12(c). 

7. Hydromorphone 8 mg is a commercially available drug.  Tr. 232. 

Hydromorphone 8 mg is the highest strength of hydromorphone that is 

commercially available.  Tr. 248. 

8. Oxycodone 30 mg is a commercially available drug.  Tr. 232. 

DEA’s Investigation 
9. After receiving a tip from the Florida Department of Health in May 2017, 

DEA investigators traveled to Respondent’s registered address and presented 

a Notice of Inspection to the pharmacist present, who consented to the 

inspection. Approximately 10 to 15 minutes later, Respondent’s owner, 

Norman Clement, Sr., indirectly asked the DEA investigators to leave, which 

they did.  Tr. 26-27. 

10. In September 2017, DEA investigators served an administrative subpoena on 

Respondent seeking, among other things, receiving records for 

hydromorphone and oxycodone powder used in Respondent’s compounding 

as well as “batch records.”  Tr. 27.  Government Exhibits 2 through 6 were 

produced by Respondent to DEA in response to the September 2017 subpoena 

and were admitted into evidence in this matter.  Tr. at 27-34. 

11. On September 10, 2018, DEA investigators executed an Administrative 

Inspection Warrant (“AIW”) at Respondent’s registered address.  Tr. 52. 

12. DI Albert and Respondent’s owner conducted an inventory of the Schedule II 

controlled substances contained in the safe located at Respondent’s address. 
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Tr. 56.  On September 10, 2018, there were 3,546 compounded capsules of 

hydromorphone 8 mg; 460 commercially-produced tablets of hydromorphone 

8 mg; 574 compounded capsules of oxycodone 30 mg; and 204 commercially-

produced oxycodone 30 mg tablets in the safe.  GX 7.  There were also 155.2 

grams of hydromorphone powder and 26 grams of oxycodone powder.  Id. 

There were no other Schedule II controlled substances contained in the safe. 

Tr. 59. 

13. During the AIW, DEA investigators attempted to inspect and copy certain 

records.  Tr. 56.  At the time, Respondent’s owner was not able to tell the 

investigators where these records were located.  Tr. 56-57.  As a result, one of 

Respondent’s owner’s sons (Norman Clement, Jr.) was reached by video-

teleconference on a series of mobile devices and was able to direct the 

investigators to the location of various records.  Tr. 61-62; see also Tr. 521-

23. 

14. During the execution of the AIW, DEA investigators also served an 

administrative subpoena, seeking complete copies of the “patient record 

system” for certain specific patients.  Tr. 53; GX 67. 

15. During the execution of the AIW, a technician from DEA’s Digital Evidence 

Laboratory (SFL-9) was able to obtain copies of electronic records from 

Respondent’s system by “mirroring” the hard drive.  Tr. 62.  The records 

obtained by the SFL-9 investigator included information relating to patients 

not involved in this proceeding.28  Tr. 90-93.  The SFL-9 provided DI Albert 

                                                 
28  I do not agree that DI Albert’s testimony supports a finding that the SFL-9 investigator obtained a complete copy 
of the Respondent’s electronic records, as the Government proposed in its post-hearing brief.  Gov’t PHB, p. 4, ¶ 16 
(citing Tr. 90-93).  DI Albert’s testimony supports a finding that the information “mirrored” from the hard-drive 
included patients other than the eleven involved here, but his testimony does not support the conclusion that the 
information obtained was a “complete copy” of all of the Respondent’s records.  Tr. 90-93. 
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with electronic copies of the records obtained during the execution of the 

AIW.  Tr. 62-63, 94. 

16. Government Exhibit 11 is a complete and accurate copy of Respondent’s 

dispensing log for June 1, 2017, to September 7, 2018, which was obtained 

during the execution of the AIW in September 2018.  Tr. 63-66.  Government 

Exhibits 12-13; 15-17; 20-21; 23-24; 26-27; 29-30; 32-33; 35-36; 38-39; 41-

43; 47-49, and 51 are correct and accurate copies of documents that were 

obtained from Respondent’s electronic record system by the SFL-9 technician 

during the execution of the AIW.  Tr. 68-86.   

17. During the course of the investigation, DI Albert queried the Florida 

Prescription Drug Monitoring Database (E-FORCSE or PDMP) and obtained 

information regarding Respondent’s dispensing of controlled substance as it 

was reported to the State of Florida.  Tr. 44.  Government Exhibits 8-10 are 

accurate copies of the data obtained from the E-FORSCE database for the 

dates listed.  Tr. 48-51.  Government Exhibits 14, 19, 22, 25, 28, 31, 34, 37, 

40, 46, and 50 are complete and accurate copies of E-FORSCE information 

for certain specific enumerated patients.  Tr. 68-86.  There is no evidence in 

the record to indicate that the information reported by Respondent to the E-

FORSCE database is inaccurate or unreliable. 

18. In May 2018, DI Albert served an additional subpoena on Respondent seeking 

the complete patient record system maintained by Respondent for certain 

specific patients, as well as any “other documentation kept by [Respondent] 

in connection with the filling of prescriptions . . . for these individuals.”  

Tr. 88-89; GX 68. 

19. Government Exhibit 18 includes all documents and information produced in 

response to the May 2018 subpoena regarding Patient A.G.  Tr. 96; GX 18. 
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Government Exhibit 44 includes all documents and information produced in 

response to the May 2018 subpoena regarding Patient R.B.  Tr. 97-98; GX 44. 

20. The Respondent dispensed four to five prescriptions per day on average.  

Tr. 419. 

The Standard of Professional Pharmacy Practice in Florida 
21. The standard of care in Florida requires that a pharmacist make sure each 

prescription is valid and has been issued for a legitimate medical purpose prior 

to dispensing controlled substances. As part of this evaluation, a pharmacist 

must first determine whether the prescription is facially legitimate—whether 

it includes all of the required information.  Then, the pharmacist must attempt 

to determine whether there is over-utilization or under-utilization; clinical 

abuse or misuse going on; whether the prescription was issued for a legitimate 

medical purpose; and whether the prescription puts the patient at “any 

potential undue risk of side effects, adverse effects, and/or potentially 

overdose situations.”  Tr. 207-08.  Many of these issues are specifically 

enumerated in Florida Administrative Code r. 64B16-27.810.  Florida law 

places a duty on a pharmacist to “take appropriate steps to avoid or resolve 

the potential problems.”  Id.  If, during the course of the validation process, 

the concerns cannot be resolved, “the pharmacist shall refuse to fill or 

dispense the prescription.”  Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.931(2)(c); see also 

Tr. 228. 

22. Florida law also requires that a pharmacy maintain a “patient profile” for its 

customers that includes a variety of information.  Tr. 209; Fla. Admin. Code 

r. 64B16-27.800.  Both Florida law and the standard of care require a 

pharmacist to document the steps that he took to resolve any areas of concern 

or potential problems in the patient profile.  Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-

27.800; Tr. 209-10, 489. 
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23. Dr. Sullivan testified that a “red flag” is a “warning sign” that “there’s 

something potentially wrong with the prescription.”  Specifically, it is a sign 

that “the patient may either be abusing or diverting it.”  Dr. Sullivan testified 

that these “red flags” are well-documented in the pharmacy community and 

are known to pharmacists in the State of Florida.  Tr. 211-14; 235-36. 

24. Dr. Sullivan testified that some of these red flags include (1) patients 

travelling long distances to the pharmacy; (2) certain drug cocktails; (3) high 

dosages of immediate release pain killers; and (4) cash-paying customers. 

Tr. 214. 

25. Dr. Sullivan testified that the prescribing of an opioid pain reliever and 

benzodiazepine at the same time is a significant red flag.  Dr. Sullivan noted 

that the Food & Drug Administration had issued a warning in 2016 regarding 

the serious health risks posed by the combination of those two medications. 

Tr. 220-21; GX 66.  Dr. Sullivan testified that a reasonable pharmacist acting 

within the usual course of professional practice in Florida would be “very very 

reluctant to dispense that combination of drugs” after the FDA safety warning. 

Tr. 223. 

26. Dr. Sullivan testified that filling a controlled substance prescription early is a 

red flag.  Tr. 225-27.  He testified that the standard of care required a 

pharmacist not to fill a Schedule II controlled substance prescription until “the 

day or day before the medication from a previous prescription is supposed to 

run out.”  Tr. 270-71.  While there may be legitimate reasons for a particular 

prescription to be filled early in “extreme” and “unusual” cases, there is no 

legitimate reason for a pharmacist to fill a Schedule II controlled substance 

prescription early in multiple consecutive months.  Tr. 270-71. 

27. When a pharmacist identifies one or more red flags, he must undertake an 

investigation into the prescription before he can fill it.  Tr. 227.  This may 
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include speaking with the patient and/or speaking with the prescriber.  

A pharmacist would also be expected to look at the patient profile as well as 

apply his clinical expertise to the drug, quantity, and strength prescribed.  Id.  

The standard of care requires that the pharmacist document these 

conversations and analyses.29  Tr. 227-28. 

Respondent’s Dispensing 

Patient A.G.  
28. At all times relevant to this matter, Patient A.G. resided at 411 NE 25th Ave, 

Cape Coral, Florida 33909.  GX 15.  Patient A.G.’s residence is approximately 

130 miles (one-way) from Respondent’s registered address.  GX 55. 

29. All of the prescriptions filled by Patient A.G. at Respondent were paid for in 

cash.  GX 14, 17. 

30. Dr. Sullivan examined the dispensing data and the patient profile for Patient 

A.G. and identified multiple “red flags.”  Specifically, Dr. Sullivan concluded 

that the distance travelled by Patient A.G. was a “red flag,” as was the fact 

that Patient A.G. was prescribed a “cocktail of benzodiazepine and opioid” at 

the highest strengths of both medications.  Tr. 254-55.  Dr. Sullivan also 

observed that Patient A.G. filled multiple prescriptions early.  Tr. 257-59. 

31. Between June 26, 2017, and August 30, 2018, Respondent filled 30 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient A.G., including 10 

prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg; 10 prescriptions for oxycodone 

30 mg; 9 prescriptions for alprazolam 2mg; and 1 prescription for alprazolam 

1mg.  Information regarding the controlled substances dispensed to Patient 

A.G. is accurately set forth in Government Exhibit 17. 

                                                 
29  For reasons explained elsewhere in this Recommended Decision, I am not accepting Dr. Sullivan’s testimony that 
certain combinations of red flags are unresolvable, as proposed by the Government.  Gov’t PHB, p. 8, ¶ 34.  
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32. Between December 20, 2018, and April 12, 2019, Respondent filled 10 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient A.G., including 5 

prescriptions for oxycodone 30 mg and 5 prescriptions for alprazolam 1 mg. 

Information regarding the controlled substances dispensed to Patient A.G. is 

accurately set forth in Government Exhibit 14. 

33. Respondent maintained a patient profile for Patient A.G. The only pharmacist 

note in the profile for Patient A.G. stated: “Doctor OK to Receive Medication 

in Compound Capsule Form.” Govt. Ex. 15. 

34. Dr. Sullivan testified that the notes contained the Patient A.G.’s patient profile 

were insufficient to resolve (or to suggest an attempt to resolve) any of the red 

flags that he identified.  Tr. 258. 

35. Dr. Sullivan further testified that the answers provided on the Medical 

Questionnaire were not sufficient to resolve any of the specific red flags that 

he identified.  Tr. 260-63. 

Patient A.H. 
36. At all times relevant to this matter, Patient A.H. resided at 1001 NE 6th Place, 

Cape Coral, Florida 33909.  GX 20.  Patient A.H.’s residence is approximately 

130 miles (one-way) from Respondent’s registered address.  GX 56. 

37. All of the prescriptions filled by Patient A.H. at Respondent were paid for in 

cash.  GX 19, 21. 

38. Dr. Sullivan examined the dispensing data and the patient profile for Patient 

A.H. and identified multiple “red flags.”  Specifically, Dr. Sullivan concluded 

that the distance travelled by Patient was a “red flag,” as was the fact that 

Patient A.G. was prescribed a “cocktail of benzodiazepine and opioid” at the 

highest strengths of both medications.  Tr. 268-69. 

39. Between January 4, 2018, and August 16, 2018, Respondent filled 11 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient A.H., including six 
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prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg and five prescriptions for alprazolam 

2 mg.  Information regarding the controlled substances dispensed to Patient 

A.H. is accurately set forth in Government Exhibit 21. 

40. Between September 11, 2018, and April 18, 2019, Respondent filled at least 

seven prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient A.H., including seven 

prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg.  Information regarding the controlled 

substances dispensed to Patient A.H. is accurately set forth in Government 

Exhibit 19. 

41. Respondent maintained a patient profile for Patient A.H.  The patient profile 

for Patient A.H. contained no pharmacist notes or comments.  GX 20.  In 

Dr. Sullivan’s opinion, Patient A.H.’s patient profile was insufficient to 

resolve any of the red flags that he identified.  Tr. 272. 

Patient B.S. 
42. At all times relevant to this matter, Patient B.S. resided at 117 Zobora Circle, 

Fort Myers, Florida 33913.  GX 23.  Patient B.S.’s residence is approximately 

150 miles (one-way) from Respondent’s registered address.  GX 57. 

43. All of the prescriptions filled by Patient B.S. at Respondent were paid for in 

cash.  GX 22, 24. 

44. Dr. Sullivan examined the dispensing data and the patient profile for Patient 

B.S. and identified multiple “red flags.”  Specifically, Dr. Sullivan concluded 

that the distance travelled by Patient B.S. was a “red flag,” as was the fact that 

Patient B.S. was prescribed a cocktail of benzodiazepine and opioid at the 

highest strengths of both medications.  Tr. 274-75. 

45. Between August 22, 2017, and August 23, 2018, Respondent filled 19 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient B.S., including 12 

prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg; six prescriptions for alprazolam 2 mg; 

and one prescription for alprazolam 1 mg.  Information regarding the 



APP- 253

 59 
 

controlled substances dispensed to Patient B.S. is accurately set forth in 

Government Exhibit 24. 

46. Between December 20, 2018, and April 22, 2019, Respondent filled at least 

nine prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient B.S., including two 

prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg, four prescriptions for oxycodone 

30 mg, and three prescriptions for alprazolam 1 mg.  Information regarding 

the controlled substances dispensed to Patient B.S. is accurately set forth in 

Government Exhibit 22. 

47. Respondent maintained a patient profile for Patient B.S.  The patient profile 

for Patient B.S. contained no pharmacist notes or comments.  GX 23. 

48. Dr. Sullivan testified that the notes contained in Patient B.S.’s patient profile 

were insufficient to resolve (or to suggest an attempt to resolve) any of the red 

flags that he identified.  Tr. 277. 

Patient C.R. 
49. At all times relevant to this matter, Patient C.R. resided at 2907 Jackson Street, 

Fort Myers, Florida 33901.  GX 26.  Patient C.R.’s residence is approximately 

130 miles (one-way) from Respondent’s registered address.  GX 58. 

50. All of the prescriptions filled by Patient C.R. at Respondent were paid for in 

cash.  GX 25, 27. 

51. Dr. Sullivan examined the dispensing data and the patient profile for Patient 

C.R. and identified multiple “red flags.”  Specifically, Dr. Sullivan concluded 

that the distance travelled by Patient C.R. was a “red flag,” as was the fact that 

Patient C.R. was prescribed a cocktail of benzodiazepine and opioid with the 

opioid prescribed at the highest strength.  Tr. 279-80. 

52. Between July 19, 2017, and August 30, 2018, Respondent filled 13 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient C.R., including six 

prescriptions for oxycodone 30 mg, six prescriptions for alprazolam 1 mg, and 
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one prescription for morphine sulfate 30 mg.  Information regarding the 

controlled substances dispensed to Patient C.R. is accurately set forth in 

Government Exhibit 27. 

53. Respondent maintained a patient profile for Patient C.R.  The only pharmacist 

note in the profile for Patient C.R. stated:  “Script has wrong birthdate on it. 

Dr[.] has now update[.]”  GX 26. 

54. Dr. Sullivan testified that the notes contained the Patient C.R.’s patient profile 

were insufficient to resolve (or to suggest an attempt to resolve) any of the red 

flags that he identified. Tr. at 281. 

Patient J.D. 
55. At all times relevant to this matter, Patient J.D. resided at 229 NW 15th Place, 

Cape Coral, Florida 33993.  GX 29.  Patient J.D.’s residence is approximately 

130 miles (one-way) from Respondent’s registered address.  GX 59. 

56. All of the prescriptions filled by Patient J.D. at Respondent were paid for in 

cash.  GX 28, 30. 

57. Dr. Sullivan examined the dispensing data and the patient profile for Patient 

A.H. and identified multiple “red flags.”  Specifically, Dr. Sullivan concluded 

that the distance travelled by Patient A.H. was a “red flag,” as was the fact 

that Patient A.G. was prescribed the highest strengths of hydromorphone. 

Tr. 283. 

58. Between January 15, 2018, and September 4, 2018, Respondent filled ten 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient J.D., including nine 

prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg and one prescription for methadone 

10 mg.  Information regarding the controlled substances dispensed to Patient 

J.D. is accurately set forth in Government Exhibit 30. 

59. In addition, Dr. Sullivan noted that Respondent dispensed two immediate 

release narcotic pain relievers (hydromorphone 8 mg and methadone 10 mg) 
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to Patient J.D. on March 24, 2018.  Dr. Sullivan testified that dispensing two 

immediate release narcotic pain relievers on the same day was “a red flag in 

and of itself.”  Tr. 283-84. 

60. Respondent maintained a patient profile for Patient J.D.  The only pharmacist 

note in the profile for Patient J.D. stated:  “Next Fill 7/5/18!!!  Watch fill 

dates!!!!!!”  GX 29. 

61. Dr. Sullivan testified that the notes contained in Patient J.D.’s patient profile 

were insufficient to resolve (or to suggest an attempt to resolve) any of the red 

flags that he identified.  Tr. 287-88. 

Patient J.M. 
62. At all times relevant to this matter, Patient J.M. resided at 3004 30th Street 

SW, Lehigh Acres, Florida 22976.  GX 32.  Patient J.M.’s residence is 

approximately 140 miles (one-way) from Respondent’s registered address. 

GX 60. 

63. All of the prescriptions filled by Patient J.M. at Respondent were paid for in 

cash.  GX 31, 33. 

64. Dr. Sullivan examined the dispensing data and the patient profile for Patient 

J.M. and identified multiple “red flags.”  Specifically, Dr. Sullivan concluded 

that the distance travelled by Patient J.M. was a “red flag,” as was the fact that 

Patient J.M. was prescribed a cocktail of benzodiazepine and opioid with the 

opioid prescribed at the highest strength.  Tr. 289-90. 

65. Between June 22, 2017, and September 7, 2018, Respondent filled 23 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient J.M., including eight 

prescriptions for oxycodone 30 mg; six prescriptions for hydromorphone 

8 mg; and nine prescriptions for alprazolam 2 mg.  Information regarding the 

controlled substances dispensed to Patient J.M. is accurately set forth in 

Government Exhibit 33. 
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66. Respondent maintained a patient profile for Patient J.M.  The patient profile 

for Patient J.M. contained no pharmacist notes or comments.  GX 32. 

67. Dr. Sullivan testified that the notes contained the Patient J.M.’s patient profile 

were insufficient to resolve (or to suggest an attempt to resolve) any of the red 

flags that he identified.  Tr. 290. 

Patient M.M. 
68. At all times relevant to this matter, Patient M.M. resided at 1145 W Walnut 

Street, Lakeland, Florida 22815.  GX 35.  The prescriptions that Patient M.M. 

filled at Respondent were issued by a practitioner located at 1670 San Carlos 

Blvd., Fort Myers Beach, Florida 22931.  GX 36. 

69. Patient M.M.’s residence is approximately 130 miles (one-way) from the 

prescriber’s location.  GX 61.  All of the prescriptions filled by Patient M.M. 

at Respondent were paid for in cash.  GX 34, 36. 

70. Between June 6, 2017, and August 16, 2018, Respondent filled 14 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient M.M., including 14 

prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg.  Information regarding the controlled 

substances dispensed to Patient M.M. is accurately set forth in Government 

Exhibit 36. 

71. Between January 3, 2019, and April 16, 2019, Respondent filled at least 5 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient M.M., including 5 

prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg.  Information regarding the controlled 

substances dispensed to Patient M.M. is accurately set forth in Government 

Exhibit 34. 

72. Dr. Sullivan examined the dispensing data and the patient profile for Patient 

M.M. and identified multiple “red flags.”  Specifically, Dr. Sullivan 

concluded that the distance travelled by Patient M.M. from her home to her 
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physician was a “red flag,” as was the fact that Patient M.M. was prescribed 

the highest available strength of hydromorphone.30  Tr. 292-95. 

73. Respondent maintained a patient profile for Patient M.M.  The patient profile 

for Patient M.M. contained no pharmacist notes or comments.  GX 35. 

74. Dr. Sullivan testified that the notes contained in Patient M.M.’s patient profile 

were insufficient to resolve (or to suggest an attempt to resolve) any of the red 

flags that he identified.  Tr. 300. 

Patient N.B. 
75. At all times relevant to this matter, Patient N.B. resided at 2132 SE 5th Place, 

Cape Coral, Florida 33990.  GX 38.  Patient N.B.’s residence is approximately 

135 miles (one-way) from Respondent’s registered address.  GX 62. 

76. All of the prescriptions filled by Patient N.B. at Respondent were paid for in 

cash.  GX 37, 39. 

77. Between June 21, 2017, and August 14, 2018, Respondent filled 19 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient N.B., including 12 

prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg, four prescriptions for alprazolam 

2 mg, and three prescriptions for alprazolam 1 mg.  Information regarding the 

controlled substances dispensed to Patient N.B. is accurately set forth in 

Government Exhibit 39. 

78. Between September 14, 2018, and April 10, 2019, Respondent filled at least 

nine prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient N.B., including five 

prescriptions for oxycodone 30 mg, three prescriptions for alprazolam 1 mg, 

and one prescription for hydromorphone 8 mg.  Information regarding the 

                                                 
30  For reasons explained later in this Recommended Decision, I am not accepting Dr. Sullivan’s opinion that the 
roundtrip distance from M.M.’s home to the prescriber’s office, to the Respondent, and back home, is a red flag, as 
proposed by the Government.  Gov’t PHB, pp. 20-21, ¶ 101. 
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controlled substances dispensed to Patient N.B. is accurately set forth in 

Government Exhibit 37. 

79. Dr. Sullivan examined the dispensing data and the patient profile for Patient 

N.B. and identified multiple “red flags.”  Specifically, Dr. Sullivan concluded 

that the distance travelled by Patient N.B. was a “red flag,” as was the fact 

that Patient N.B. was prescribed a cocktail of benzodiazepine and opioid at 

the highest strengths of both medications.  Tr. 301-02, 305. 

80. Respondent maintained a patient profile for Patient N.B.  The only pharmacist 

note in the profile for Patient N.B. stated:  “Doctor OK Patient to Receive 

Medication in Compound Capsule Form.”  GX 38. 

81. Dr. Sullivan testified that the notes contained in Patient N.B.’s patient profile 

were insufficient to resolve (or to suggest an attempt to resolve) any of the red 

flags that he identified.  Tr. 306. 

Patient R.B. 
82. At all times relevant to this matter, Patient R.B. resided at 2512 Pauldo Street, 

Fort Myers, Florida 33916.  GX 41.  Patient R.B.’s residence is approximately 

140 miles (one-way) from Respondent’s registered address.  GX 63. 

83. All of the prescriptions filled by Patient R.B. at Respondent were paid for in 

cash.  GX 40, 43. 

84. Between June 28, 2017, and August 16, 2018, Respondent filled 24 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient R.B., including 12 

prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg, 11 prescriptions for alprazolam 2 mg, 

and one prescription for alprazolam 1 mg.  Information regarding the 

controlled substances dispensed to Patient R.B. is accurately set forth in 

Government Exhibit 43. 

85. Between September 12, 2018, and April 15, 2019, Respondent filled at least 

10 prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient R.B., including five 
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prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg and five prescriptions for alprazolam 

1 mg.  Information regarding the controlled substances dispensed to Patient 

R.B. is accurately set forth in Government Exhibit 40. 

86. Respondent maintained a patient profile for Patient R.B.  The patient profile 

for Patient R.B. contained no pharmacist notes or comments.  GX 41. 

87. Dr. Sullivan examined the dispensing data and the patient profile for Patient 

R.B. and identified multiple “red flags.”  Specifically, Dr. Sullivan concluded 

that the distance travelled by Patient R.B. was a “red flag,” as was the fact that 

Patient R.B. was prescribed a cocktail of benzodiazepine and opioid with the 

opioid prescribed at the highest strength. Tr. 310-11. 

88. Dr. Sullivan testified that the notes contained in Patient R.B.’s patient profile 

were insufficient to resolve (or to suggest an attempt to resolve) any of the red 

flags that he identified.  Tr. 313. 

Patient R.G. 
89. At all times relevant to this matter, Patient R.G. resided at 1915 NE 5th Street, 

Cape Coral, Florida 33909.  GX 47.  Patient R.G.’s residence is approximately 

130 miles (one-way) from Respondent’s registered address.  GX 64. 

90. All of the prescriptions filled by Patient R.G. at Respondent were paid for in 

cash.  GX 46, 49. 

91. Between June 28, 2017, and September 7, 2018, Respondent filled 29 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient R.G., including 17 

prescriptions for oxycodone 30 mg, and 12 prescriptions for alprazolam 2 mg. 

Information regarding the controlled substances dispensed to Patient R.G. is 

accurately set forth in Government Exhibit 49. 

92. Dr. Sullivan examined the dispensing data and the patient profile for Patient 

R.G. and identified multiple “red flags.”  Specifically, Dr. Sullivan concluded 

that the distance travelled by Patient R.G. was a “red flag,” as was the fact 
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that Patient R.G. was prescribed a cocktail of benzodiazepine and opioid at 

the highest strengths of both medications.  Tr. 322-23. 

93. Respondent maintained a patient profile for Patient R.G.  The only pharmacist 

note in the profile for Patient R.G. stated:  “Watch Fill Dates!!!!!!!!!!!!”  

GX 47. 

94. Dr. Sullivan testified that the notes contained in Patient R.G.’s patient profile 

were insufficient to resolve (or to suggest an attempt to resolve) any of the red 

flags that he identified.  Tr. 328. 

Patient R.L. 
95. At all times relevant to this matter, Patient R.L. resided at 135 SW 29th 

Terrace, Cape Coral, Florida 33914.  GX 51.  Patient R.L.’s residence is 

approximately 140 miles (one-way) from Respondent’s registered address. 

GX 65. 

96. All of the prescriptions filled by Patient R.L. at Respondent were paid for in 

cash.  GX 50, 52. 

97. Between June 21, 2017, and September 4, 2018, Respondent filled 16 

prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient R.L., including 14 

prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg, one prescription for oxycodone 

30 mg, and one prescription for alprazolam 2 mg.  Information regarding the 

controlled substances dispensed to Patient R.L. is accurately set forth in 

Government Exhibit 52. 

98. Between December 27, 2018, and April 16, 2019, Respondent filled at least 

five prescriptions for controlled substances for Patient R.L., including five 

prescriptions for oxycodone 30 mg.  Information regarding the controlled 

substances dispensed to Patient R.L. is accurately set forth in Government 

Exhibit 50. 
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99. Dr. Sullivan examined the dispensing data and the patient profile for Patient 

R.L. and identified multiple “red flags.”  Specifically, Dr. Sullivan concluded 

that the distance travelled by Patient R.L. was a “red flag,” as was the fact that 

Patient R.L. was prescribed opioids at the highest strengths available.  Tr. 330-

31. 

100. Respondent maintained a patient profile for Patient R.L.  The only pharmacist 

note in the profile for Patient R.L. stated:  “Next Fill 6/10/18 - 10 Days Early 

March & April – Told Him This 5/11/18 GD[.]”  GX 51. 

101. Dr. Sullivan testified that the notes contained in Patient R.L.’s patient profile 

were insufficient to resolve (or to suggest an attempt to resolve) the red flags 

that he identified.  Tr. 335. 

Compounding 
102. Respondent repeatedly dispensed both commercially-available tablet and 

compounded capsule forms of controlled substances to the same patients, 

indicating that those patients did not have a legitimate therapeutic need for the 

compounded form.  See, e.g., Tr. 256, 290, 297, 321, 325, 326. 

103. In May 2012, then-TFO Jeffrey Shearer conducted an interview with 

Respondent’s owner regarding the compounding that he doing at Respondent. 

Tr. 183. 

104. Respondent’s owner indicated that his formulary was designed to ensure that 

the compounded product was “essentially similar” to the commercially-

produced product.  Respondent’s owner stressed that his compounded product 

had the same “bioavailability” as the commercially available product.  

Tr. 184-85. 

105. TFO Shearer observed that Respondent’s owner was compounding thousands 

of dosage units at one time.  Respondent’s owner explained that he did so 
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because it was “cost effective” to produce large volumes at the same time.  

Tr. 185. 

106. Respondent’s owner told TFO Shearer that some of his customers did not want 

the compounded capsules, but that Respondent’s owner assured the patients 

that the capsules and the tablets were “the same, that they would have the 

same effect.”  Tr. 185-86. 

ANALYSIS 
FINDINGS AS TO ALLEGATIONS 

The Government alleges that the Respondent’s COR should be revoked 

because the Respondent failed to ensure that it only filled prescriptions issued for 

legitimate medical purposes, and within the course of professional practice, in 

violation of its corresponding responsibility, and repeatedly filled prescriptions in 

the face of obvious red flags of diversion without documenting the resolution of 

those red flags, and its registration would be inconsistent with the public interest, as 

provided in 21 U.S.C. § 824(a)(4) and 21 U.S.C. § 823(f), and in violation of state 

law under the Florida Administrative Code, and state requirements for the minimum 

standard of care.  The Government also alleges the Respondent engaged in a pattern 

of manufacturing controlled substances without proper registration. 

In the adjudication of a revocation or suspension of a DEA COR, DEA has 

the burden of proving that the requirements for such revocation or suspension are 

satisfied.  21 C.F.R. § 1301.44(e).  Where the Government has sustained its burden 

and established that a registrant has committed acts inconsistent with the public 

interest, to rebut the Government’s prima facie case, a respondent must both accept 

responsibility for his actions and demonstrate that he will not engage in future 

misconduct.  Patrick W. Stodola, M.D., 74 Fed. Reg. 20727, 20734 (2009).  

Acceptance of responsibility and remedial measures are assessed in the context of 

the “egregiousness of the violations and the [DEA’s] interest in deterring similar 
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misconduct by [the] Respondent in the future as well as on the part of others.”  David 

A. Ruben, M.D., 78 Fed. Reg. 38363, 38364 (2013).  Where the Government has 

sustained its burden and established that a registrant has committed acts inconsistent 

with the public interest, that registrant must present sufficient mitigating evidence to 

assure the Acting Administrator that he can be entrusted with the responsibility 

commensurate with such a registration.  Medicine Shoppe-Jonesborough, 73 Fed. 

Reg. 364, 387 (2008). 

The Agency’s conclusion that “past performance is the best predictor of future 

performance” has been sustained on review in the courts, Alra Labs., Inc. v. DEA, 

54 F.3d 450, 452 (7th Cir. 1995), as has the Agency’s consistent policy of strongly 

weighing whether a registrant who has committed acts inconsistent with the public 

interest has accepted responsibility and demonstrated that he or she will not engage 

in future misconduct.  Hoxie, 419 F.3d at 482-83; see also Ronald Lynch, M.D., 75 

Fed. Reg. 78745, 78754 (2010) (holding that the Respondent’s attempts to minimize 

misconduct undermined acceptance of responsibility); George C. Aycock, M.D., 74 

Fed. Reg. 17529, 17543 (2009) (finding that much of the respondent’s testimony 

undermined his initial acceptance that he was “probably at fault” for some 

misconduct); Krishna-Iyer, 74 Fed. Reg. at 463 (noting, on remand, that despite the 

respondent having undertaken measures to reform her practice, revocation had been 

appropriate because the respondent had refused to acknowledge her responsibility 

under the law); Med. Shoppe–Jonesborough, 73 Fed. Reg. at 387 (noting that the 

respondent did not acknowledge recordkeeping problems, let alone more serious 

violations of federal law, and concluding that revocation was warranted). 

The burden of proof at this administrative hearing is a preponderance-of-the-

evidence standard.  Steadman v. SEC, 450 U.S. 91, 100-01 (1981).  The Acting 

Administrator’s factual findings will be sustained on review to the extent they are 

supported by “substantial evidence.”  Hoxie, 419 F.3d at 481. The Supreme Court 
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has defined “substantial evidence” as such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind 

might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Consol. Edison Co. of New York 

v. NLRB, 305 U.S. 197, 229 (1938).  While “the possibility of drawing two 

inconsistent conclusions from the evidence” does not limit the Acting 

Administrator’s ability to find facts on either side of the contested issues in the case, 

Shatz v. U.S. Dep’t of Justice, 873 F.2d 1089, 1092 (8th Cir. 1989); Trawick, 861 

F.2d at 77, all “important aspect[s] of the problem,” such as a respondent’s defense 

or explanation that runs counter to the Government’s evidence, must be considered.  

Wedgewood Village Pharm. v. DEA, 509 F.3d 541, 549 (D.C. Cir. 2007); Humphreys 

v. DEA, 96 F.3d 658, 663 (3rd Cir. 1996).  The ultimate disposition of the case must 

be in accordance with the weight of the evidence, not simply supported by enough 

evidence to justify, if the trial were to a jury, a refusal to direct a verdict when the 

conclusion sought to be drawn from it is one of fact for the jury.  Steadman, 450 U.S. 

at 99 (internal quotation marks omitted). 

Regarding the exercise of discretionary authority, the courts have recognized 

that gross deviations from past agency precedent must be adequately supported, 

Morall, 412 F.3d at 183, but mere unevenness in application does not, standing 

alone, render a particular discretionary action unwarranted.  Chein v. DEA, 533 F.3d 

828, 835 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (citing Butz v. Glover Livestock Comm’n Co., 411 U.S. 

182, 188 (1973)).  It is well-settled that since the Administrative Law Judge has had 

the opportunity to observe the demeanor and conduct of hearing witnesses, the 

factual findings set forth in this Recommended Decision are entitled to significant 

deference, Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 496 (1951), and that 

this Recommended Decision constitutes an important part of the record that must be 

considered in the Acting Administrator’s decision.  Morall, 412 F.3d at 179.  

However, any recommendations set forth herein regarding the exercise of discretion 

are by no means binding on the Acting Administrator and do not limit the exercise 
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of his discretion.  5 U.S.C. § 557(b) (2006); River Forest Pharmacy, Inc. v. DEA, 

501 F.2d 1202, 1206 (7th Cir. 1974); Attorney General’s Manual on the 

Administrative Procedure Act 8 (1947). 

Analysis of Dispensing Allegations 
 The Government alleges that the Respondent filled numerous prescriptions 

for eleven patients that raised red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, to include 

drug cocktails; early fills; traveling long distances; prescriptions for the highest 

strengths of oxycodone, hydromorphone, and alprazolam; paying in cash; and 

dispensing compounded capsules without therapeutic justification.  ALJ Ex. 1, pp. 4-

7.  The Government further alleges that the Respondent failed to resolve these red 

flags.  Id.  The Government claims that by filling these eleven patients’ controlled 

substance prescriptions and failing to resolve the red flags they presented, the 

Respondent violated its corresponding responsibility under 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a) 

and dispensed controlled substances outside the usual course of pharmacy practice 

in violation of 21 C.F.R. § 1306.06, in addition to Florida Administrative Code 

r. 64B16-27.831.  Id.  Furthermore, the Government claims that by failing to resolve 

red flags and to document that resolution in the patients’ profiles, the Respondent 

violated Florida Administrative Code r. 64B16-27.800 and .810.  Id.  

 With respect to each patient, the Government presented documentary 

evidence and testimony from its pharmacy expert, Dr. Sullivan, that the Respondent 

filled numerous controlled substance prescriptions that raised red flags including, 

drug cocktails, early fills, long distance, highest strengths, and cash payments.  The 

Government further presented evidence that the Respondent failed to document any 

resolution of these red flags in the patients’ profiles.  Finally, the Government proved 

the Respondent compounded medication without therapeutic justification. 

I will now turn to the evidence the Government presented for each patient.  

After examining the evidence for each patient, I will determine whether the 
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Government has presented a prima facie case that the Respondent filled these 

prescriptions in violation of federal and state law.  

Patient A.G. 
 From January 2018 to April 2019, the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail 

of alprazolam and oxycodone to A.G. on six occasions.  GX 14.  During the same 

time period, the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail of alprazolam and 

hydromorphone to A.G. on three occasions.  Id.   

 Dr. Sullivan testified that the Respondent filled several prescriptions for A.G. 

before his prior month’s supply of medication ran out.  Tr. 257.  For example, the 

Respondent filled oxycodone and alprazolam prescriptions for A.G. on January 17, 

2019, the 28th day after dispensing a 30-day supply of each drug to him on 

December 20, 2018 (2 days early).  ALJ Ex. 42,31 p. 12; GX 14.  The Respondent 

filled an alprazolam prescription for A.G. on February 14, 2019, the 28th day after 

dispensing a 30-day supply on January 17, 2019 (2 days early).  Id.  The Respondent 

filled another oxycodone prescription for A.G. on April 12, 2019, the 23rd day after 

dispensing a 28-day supply on March 20, 2019 (5 days early).  Id.  The Respondent 

also filled an alprazolam prescription for A.G. on April 12, 2019, the 23rd day after 

dispensing a 30-day supply on March 20, 2019 (7 days early).  Id.  These 

prescriptions should not have been filled early unless the Respondent documented a 

good reason for doing so.  Tr. 257. 

                                                 
31  Because the Government structured its direct examination of Dr. Sullivan by using the demonstrative exhibit for 
ease of reference, I will cite to that document as well as the Government Exhibit from which the information is derived.  
I will mark the demonstrative exhibit as ALJ Exhibit 42.  I will treat the demonstrative exhibit similar to a summary 
of voluminous records under Federal Rule of Evidence 1006.  The demonstrative exhibit, however, was never 
introduced into evidence, so it is being used as a guide or aid for review of the record.  Thus, the admitted evidence 
trumps the demonstrative exhibit with respect to any inconsistency between the two.   
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 Patient A.G.’s home address was located about 131 miles from the 

Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 10; GX 55.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this distance should 

have raised a red flag to a reasonable pharmacist.32  Tr. 254.  

 From June 2017 to August 2018, the Respondent dispensed ten prescriptions 

each for oxycodone, hydromorphone, and alprazolam.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 11; GX 17.  

Each of these prescriptions, except for one alprazolam prescription, was written for 

the highest commercially available strength of the drug.  Id.; Tr. 255.  All of the 

oxycodone prescriptions dispensed during this time period were for 30 mg dosage 

units, the highest strength available of oxycodone.  Id.  All of the hydromorphone 

prescriptions dispensed during this time period were for 8 mg dosage units, the 

highest strength available of hydromorphone.  Id.  Nine of the ten alprazolam 

prescriptions dispensed during this time period were for 2 mg dosage units, the 

highest strength available of alprazolam.  Id.  Dispensing these controlled substances 

at their highest strengths, especially in combination with each other, raised red flags 

that required resolution.  Tr. 256. 

 In addition to these red flags, patient A.G. paid for all of his prescriptions in 

cash.  GX 14; GX 17.  Dr. Sullivan testified that paying in cash is a red flag.33  

Tr. 214. 

                                                 
32  Although we do not know if A.G., in fact, travelled 131 miles from his home to the Respondent each time he filled 
a prescription there, the Respondent knew he lived that far away, and was therefore on notice of a classic red flag of 
drug abuse and/or diversion.  This is true of ten of the eleven patients.  The fact that the patients lived over 100 miles 
away is a red flag even if the patients did not travel that distance each time they visited the pharmacy.  The focus is 
on the information the Respondent knew, and the Respondent knew the patients lived over 100 miles away because it 
had their addresses on the prescriptions.  This information should have aroused the Respondent’s suspicion.  The 
remaining patient (M.M.) lived approximately 134 miles from his prescriber’s office, which represents its own red 
flag of long distance travel to obtain the prescription.  Tr. 291-94. 
33  The Respondent argues that it did not view cash payments as suspicious because it did not accept insurance as a 
form of payment.  Resp’t PHB, at 19-20, 35.  I am not convinced by this argument for two reasons.  First, the 
Respondent did not provide any direct evidence that the only form of payment it accepted during the relevant time 
period was cash.  Rather, it drove at this issue indirectly by asking hypothetical questions such as how would the 
Respondent get paid if it did not have contracts with insurance carriers or pharmacy benefit managers.  Tr. 443-44.  
Second, even if the only form of payment that the Respondent accepted was cash, the fact that a patient was willing 
to pay in cash should still have aroused the Respondent’s suspicion since it is a firmly-established red flag of drug 
abuse and/or diversion in DEA case law.  In fact, the DEA has recognized for at least the past 10 years that paying in 
cash for controlled substances raises a red flag.  E. Main Street Pharm., 75 Fed. Reg. 66149, 66164 (2010).  The fact 
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 Although patient A.G. presented prescriptions to the Respondent that raised 

multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent filled each 

prescription and never documented any resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 259, 267; 

GX 17; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 11.  The patient profile that the Respondent kept for A.G. 

contains only one note:  “Doctor OK to receive medication in compound capsule 

form.”  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 13; GX 15; Tr. 258-59.  This single note fails to resolve the 

red flags raised by drug cocktails, early fills, long distance travelled, highest 

strengths, and cash payments.  Tr. 259.  Dr. Sullivan further explained that this note 

suggested that the Respondent called the doctor and requested to fill the prescription 

with capsules.  Tr. 258. 

Patient A.H. 
 From January 2018 to August 2018, the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail 

of alprazolam and hydromorphone to A.H. on five occasions.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 15; 

GX 21.   

 The Respondent provided three early fills of hydromorphone prescriptions for 

A.H. from February to March 2019.  Tr. 270-71; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 16; GX 19.  The 

Respondent dispensed hydromorphone to A.H. on February 15, 2019, the 24th day 

after dispensing a 30-day supply on January 22, 2019 (6 days early).  Id.  The 

Respondent also dispensed hydromorphone to A.H. on February 27, 2019, the 12th 

day after dispensing a 30-day supply on February 15, 2019 (18 days early).  Id.  The 

Respondent then dispensed hydromorphone to A.H. on March 14, 2019, the 15th 

day after dispensing a 30 day-supply on February 27, 2019 (15 days early).  Id.  

                                                 
that the patients in this case were willing to pay in cash was even more concerning given the other red flags that they 
raised.  In other words, while a pharmacy is free to run its business as it chooses, it does not change the fact that paying 
in cash for highly abused, commonly diverted opioids is recognized by the DEA as a classic red flag, especially when 
it occurs alongside the other red flags present in this case.  See Edge Pharm., 81 Fed. Reg. 72092, 72103, 72111-12 
(2016) (noting that paying in cash or cash equivalent, such as by credit or debit card, is viewed in combination with 
other evidence of diversion).  This conclusion is consistent with Dr. Sullivan’s opinion that paying in cash for 
controlled substances remains suspicious when it occurs with the other red flags involved here, even if the pharmacy 
did not take insurance.  Tr. 475-76.   
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Filling three consecutive hydromorphone prescriptions early is a red flag.  Tr. 271.  

A pharmacist acting within the usual course of professional practice would have 

either refused to fill these prescriptions until at least the day before the prior month’s 

supply would have run out or refused to fill future prescriptions of the same drug for 

the patient.  Id. 

 Patient A.H.’s home address was located about 132 miles from the 

Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 14; GX 56; Tr. 268.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this 

distance should have raised a red flag to a reasonable pharmacist.  Tr. 268. 

 From January 2018 to August 2018, the Respondent dispensed six 

prescriptions of hydromorphone and five prescriptions of alprazolam.  ALJ Ex. 42, 

p. 15; GX 21.  Each of these prescriptions was written for the highest strength of the 

drug.  Id.; Tr. 269.  All of the hydromorphone prescriptions dispensed during this 

time period were for 8 mg dosage units, the highest strength available of 

hydromorphone.  Id.  All of the alprazolam prescriptions dispensed during this time 

period were for 2 mg dosage units, the highest strength available of alprazolam.  Id.  

Dispensing these controlled substances at their highest strengths, especially in 

combination with each other, raised red flags that required resolution.  Tr. 269. 

 In addition to these red flags, patient A.H. paid for all of his prescriptions in 

cash.  GX 19; GX 21.  Dr. Sullivan testified that paying in cash is a red flag.  Tr. 214. 

 Although patient A.H. presented prescriptions to the Respondent that raised 

multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent filled each 

prescription and never documented any resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 272; 

GX 20; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 17. 

Patient B.S. 
From August 2017 to August 2018, the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail 

of alprazolam and hydromorphone to B.S. on five occasions.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 19; 

GX 24; Tr. 274.  From December 2018 to March 2019, the Respondent dispensed a 
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drug cocktail of alprazolam and oxycodone to B.S. on three occasions.  ALJ Ex. 42, 

p. 20; GX 22; Tr. 276-77. 

Dr. Sullivan also pointed out the duplicative therapy that the Respondent 

dispensed in January and February 2019.  Tr. 276; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 20.  After 

dispensing a 30-day supply of oxycodone to B.S. on January 31, 2019, only five 

days later the Respondent dispensed a 28-day supply of hydromorphone.  Id.  Then 

only two weeks later, the Respondent dispensed another 30-day supply of oxycodone 

to B.S.  Id.  Oxycodone and hydromorphone are potent immediate-release narcotic 

pain killers.  Tr. 276.  The fact that B.S. presented overlapping prescriptions for 

different immediate-release opioids with duplicative therapy was a red flag of abuse 

and/or diversion.  Id. 

Patient B.S.’s home address was located about 148 miles from the 

Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 18; GX 57; Tr. 273-74.   Dr. Sullivan opined that this 

distance should have raised a red flag to a reasonable pharmacist.  Tr. 273-74. 

From August 2017 to August 2018, the Respondent dispensed 12 

prescriptions of hydromorphone and 7 prescriptions of alprazolam.  ALJ Ex. 42, 

p. 19; GX 24; Tr. 274.  All but one of these prescriptions was written for the highest 

commercially available dosage strength of the drug.  Id.  All of the hydromorphone 

prescriptions dispensed during this time period were for 8 mg dosage units, the 

highest strength of hydromorphone.  Id.  All but one of the alprazolam prescriptions 

dispensed during this time period were for 2 mg dosage units, the highest strength 

of alprazolam.  Id.  From December 2018 to April 2019, the Respondent dispensed 

four prescriptions of oxycodone and one prescription of hydromorphone.  ALJ Ex. 

42, p. 20; GX 22; Tr. 276.  All four of the oxycodone prescriptions were written for 

30 mg, the highest strength of oxycodone.  Id.  The hydromorphone prescription was 

written for 8 mg, the highest strength of hydromorphone.  Id.  Dispensing these 
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controlled substances at their highest strengths, especially in combination with each 

other, raised red flags that required resolution.  Tr. 274, 276-77. 

Dr. Sullivan also pointed out the additional red flag of ibuprofen 400 mg 

prescribed along with the highest-strength of hydromorphone.  Tr. 274-75; ALJ Ex. 

42, p. 19; GX 24.  He compared 400 mg of ibuprofen to two tablets of over-the-

counter Advil or ibuprofen.  Tr. 275.  In other words, 400 mg of ibuprofen is “an 

extremely low dose” that “doesn’t make sense” to prescribe along with the highest 

strength of a potent opioid pain killer.  Id.  He opined that it is common for doctors 

who illegally prescribe controlled substances to also prescribe low doses of non-

controlled medication to make their treatment appear legitimate.34  Id.    

In addition to these red flags, patient B.S. paid for all of his prescriptions in 

cash.  GX 22; GX 24.  Dr. Sullivan testified that paying in cash is a red flag.  Tr. 214. 

 Although patient B.S. presented prescriptions to the Respondent that raised 

multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent filled each 

prescription and never documented any resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 277-78; 

GX 23; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 21. 

Patient C.R. 
From July 2017 to August 2018, the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail of 

alprazolam and oxycodone to C.R. on five occasions.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 23; GX 27; 

                                                 
34  While I am ordinarily inclined to accept the unrebutted testimony of an expert, Dr. Sullivan’s opinion regarding 
the ibuprofen (or any other non-controlled medication) as a subterfuge by the prescriber is a bridge too far for me and 
without sufficient factual foundation.  First, I am not convinced that doctors would believe that they could mask the 
ongoing prescribing of the highest dosage opioids by periodically mixing in some low-dose non-controlled drugs into 
a patient’s medication regimen.  Secondly, his opinion that doctors who prescribe low-dose non-controlled medication 
along with high-strength opioids are merely attempting to mask their illegal prescribing imputes motive without 
sufficient factual foundation.  An expert, however, must base his knowledge on more than “subjective belief or 
unsupported speculation.”  Daubert, 509 U.S. at 590 (discussing Federal Rule of Evidence 702).  Without additional 
supporting evidence I am unable to rely on Dr. Sullivan’s opinion regarding this red flag.  Id; Garcia, 919 F.3d at 496.    
The same will be true with respect to the other patients as to whom he raised a similar red flag to this one.  I will, 
however, accept his opinion that prescriptions for opioids and low-dose non-controlled drugs raises a red flag to the 
extent that a low-dose non-controlled medication “doesn’t make sense” alongside a high-dose opioid.  Tr. 275.  In 
other words, I accept his testimony that low doses of non-controlled drugs are suspicious because they do not make 
medical sense when prescribed with high doses of opioids, but I do not accept his testimony that any doctor prescribed 
those non-controlled drugs with the intent to cover illegitimate treatment. 
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Tr. 280.  On one of these occasions, the Respondent dispensed morphine tablets in 

addition to oxycodone and alprazolam.  Id. 

Patient C.R.’s home address was located about 134 miles from the 

Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 22; GX 58; Tr. 279.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this 

distance should have raised a red flag to a reasonable pharmacist.  Tr. 279. 

From July 2017 to August 2018, the Respondent dispensed six prescriptions 

of oxycodone.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 23; GX 27; Tr. 279-80.  Each of these six oxycodone 

prescriptions were for 30 mg dosage units, the highest strength available of 

oxycodone.  Id.   

In addition to these red flags, patient C.R. paid for all of her prescriptions in 

cash.  GX 25; GX 27.  Dr. Sullivan testified that paying in cash is a red flag.  Tr. 214. 

Although patient C.R. presented prescriptions to the Respondent that raised 

multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent filled each 

prescription and never documented any resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 281-82; 

GX 24; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 23.  The patient profile that the Respondent kept for C.R. 

contains only one note:  “Script has wrong birthdate on it. Dr has now update.”  ALJ 

Ex. 42, p. 24; GX 26.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this note failed to resolve the red 

flags raised by C.R.’s prescription.  Tr. 281-82.  In fact, changing an incorrect 

birthdate on a prescription is of such minor consequence that it is not necessary to 

note it in the patient’s profile.  Tr. 283. 

Patient J.D. 
On one occasion the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail of hydromorphone 

and methadone to J.D.  Tr. 283-84; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 26; GX 30.  Taking these two 

immediate-release narcotic pain killers at the same time put J.D. “at extreme risk of 

overdose.”  Tr. 284. 

 The Respondent provided three early fills of hydromorphone prescriptions for 

J.D. from May to June 2018.  Tr. 284-87; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 27; GX 30.  The Respondent 
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dispensed hydromorphone to J.D. on May 30, 2018, the 20th day after dispensing a 

30-day supply on May 10, 2018 (10 days early).  Id.  The Respondent also dispensed 

hydromorphone to J.D. on June 15, 2018, the 16th day after dispensing a 30-day 

supply on May 30, 2018 (14 days early).  Id.  The Respondent then dispensed 

hydromorphone to J.D. on June 30, 2018, the 15th day after dispensing a 30 day-

supply on June 15, 2018 (15 days early).  Id.  Filling three consecutive 

hydromorphone prescriptions early is a red flag.  Tr. 285.  A pharmacist acting within 

the usual course of professional practice would have either refused to fill these 

prescriptions until at least the day before the prior month’s supply would have run 

out or refused to fill future prescriptions of the same drug for the patient.  Tr. 271. 

Patient J.D.’s home address was located about 130 miles from the 

Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 25; GX 59; Tr. 283.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this 

distance should have raised a red flag to a reasonable pharmacist.  Tr. 283. 

From January 2018 to September 2018, the Respondent dispensed nine 

prescriptions of hydromorphone.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 26; GX 30; Tr. 283-84.  Each of 

these nine hydromorphone prescriptions were for 8 mg dosage units, the highest 

strength available of hydromorphone.  Id.   

In addition to these red flags, patient J.D. paid for all of her prescriptions in 

cash.  GX 28; GX 30.  Dr. Sullivan testified that paying in cash is a red flag.  Tr. 214. 

Although patient J.D. presented prescriptions to the Respondent that raised 

multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent filled each 

prescription and never documented any resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 287-88; 

GX 29; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 28.  The patient profile that the Respondent kept for J.D. 

contains only one note:  “Next fill 7/5/18!!! Watch fill dates.”  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 28; 

GX 29.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this note failed to resolve the red flags raised by 

J.D. requesting early fills of controlled substance prescriptions or the other red flags 

raised by his prescriptions.  Tr. 287-88.  This note is insufficient to resolve the red 
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flag of early fills because a pharmacist acting within the usual course of professional 

practice would have either refused to fill early prescriptions until at least the day 

before the prior month’s supply would have run out or refused to fill future 

prescriptions of the same drug for the patient.  Id. 

Patient J.M.  
From June 2017 to September 2018, the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail 

of alprazolam and oxycodone to J.M. on five occasions.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 30; GX 33; 

Tr. 289-90.  During the same time period, the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail 

of alprazolam and hydromorphone to J.M. on three occasions.  Id. 

Patient J.M.’s home address was located about 144 miles from the 

Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 29; GX 60; Tr. 289.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this 

distance should have raised a red flag to a reasonable pharmacist.  Tr. 289. 

From June 2017 to September 2018, the Respondent dispensed nine 

prescriptions of alprazolam, eight prescriptions of oxycodone, and six prescriptions 

of hydromorphone.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 30; GX 33; Tr. 289-90.  All of these prescriptions 

were for the highest strength available of the drug.  All of the nine alprazolam 

prescriptions were for 2 mg dosage units, the highest strength of alprazolam.  Id.  All 

of the eight oxycodone prescriptions were for 30 mg dosage units, the highest 

strength of oxycodone.  Id.  All of the six hydromorphone prescriptions were for 

8 mg dosage units, the highest strength of hydromorphone.  Id. 

In addition to these red flags, patient J.M. paid for all of her prescriptions in 

cash.  GX 31; GX 33.  Dr. Sullivan testified that paying in cash is a red flag.  Tr. 214. 

Although patient J.M. presented prescriptions to the Respondent that raised 

multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent filled each 

prescription and never documented any resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 290; 

GX 32; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 31.   
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Patient M.M. 
The Respondent provided three early fills of hydromorphone prescriptions for 

M.M. from January to March 2019.  Tr. 299-300; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 34; GX 34.  The 

Respondent dispensed hydromorphone to M.M. on January 24, 2019, the 21st day 

after dispensing a 28-day supply on January 3, 2019 (7 days early).  Id.  The 

Respondent also dispensed hydromorphone to J.D. on February 19, 2019, the 26th 

day after dispensing a 30-day supply on January 24, 2019 (4 days early).  Id.  The 

Respondent then dispensed hydromorphone to J.D. on March 15, 2019, the 24th day 

after dispensing a 30-day supply on February 19, 2019 (6 days early).  Id.  Filling 

three consecutive hydromorphone prescriptions early is a red flag.  Tr. 285, 300.  

A pharmacist acting within the usual course of professional practice would have 

either refused to fill these prescriptions until at least the day before the prior month’s 

supply would have run out or refused to fill future prescriptions of the same drug for 

the patient.  Tr. 271, 300. 

Patient M.M.’s home address was located about 38 miles from the 

Respondent.  GX 60, pp. 5-6; Tr. 292-93.  The concern about the distance M.M. 

would have had to travel, however, was the distance from his home to the prescribing 

doctor’s office.  Tr. 293-94.  Patient M.M.’s home was located about 134 miles from 

the doctor’s office who issued him controlled substance prescriptions.  GX 61, pp. 1-

3.  Dr. Sullivan opined that the distance from M.M.’s home to the doctor’s office 

should have raised red flags to a reasonable pharmacist.35  Tr. 292-94. 

From June 2017 to August 2018, and from January to April 2019, the 

Respondent dispensed 14 and 5, respectively, hydromorphone prescriptions to 

                                                 
35  I am not accepting Dr. Sullivan’s testimony that the roundtrip distance from M.M.’s home to the doctor’s office, 
and then to the Respondent, and then back home, is a red flag.  Tr. 293.  There was no evidence M.M. ever made that 
round trip.  The 38 miles from M.M.’s home to the Respondent is not overly suspicious on its face. I believe the 
Government withdrew its allegation as to that distance.  I will, however, accept Dr. Sullivan’s testimony that the 134 
miles from M.M.’s home to the doctor’s office is a red flag.  Tr. 294. 
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patient M.M.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 33-34; GX 34; GX 36; Tr. 295.  All of these 19 

prescriptions were for 8 mg dosage units, the highest strength of hydromorphone.  

Id. 

Dr. Sullivan also pointed out the red flag raised by M.M.’s prescriptions for 

folic acid 0.4 mg.  Tr. 295-96; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 33; GX 36.  From June 2017 to August 

2018, the Respondent dispensed folic acid 0.4 mg to M.M. on eight occasions.  Id.  

Folic acid is a vitamin and 0.4 mg of folic acid is a dose that could be obtained over-

the-counter without a prescription.  Tr. 295.  Dr. Sullivan opined that it is common 

for doctors who unlawfully prescribe controlled substances to add low doses of non-

controlled medication to make their controlled substance prescribing appear 

legitimate.  Id.  For the same reasons I gave earlier with respect to B.S., however, 

I do not accept Dr. Sullivan’s testimony in this regard.  Supra p. 76. 

Dr. Sullivan also observed a concerning lapse in M.M.’s opioid prescriptions 

from July 2018 to January 2019.  Tr. 297-98; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 34; GX 34.  After M.M. 

filled a hydromorphone prescription in July 2018, M.M. did not present another 

prescription until January 2019, when she presented a prescription for 8 mg dosage 

units of hydromorphone, the highest strength of that drug.  Id.  The seven-month 

lapse in hydromorphone prescriptions followed by a prescription for the highest 

strength of hydromorphone should have raised a red flag because returning abruptly 

to such a high dose after not taking it for seven months would have put M.M. at 

“heightened risk for overdose.”  Id. 

In addition to these red flags, patient M.M. paid for all of her prescriptions in 

cash.  GX 34; GX 36.  Dr. Sullivan testified that paying in cash is a red flag.  Tr. 214.  

Although patient M.M. presented prescriptions to the Respondent that raised 

multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent filled each 

prescription and never documented any resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 300-01; 

GX 35; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 35. 
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Patient N.B.   
From June 2017 to August 2018, the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail of 

alprazolam and hydromorphone to N.B. on six occasions.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 37; GX 39; 

Tr. 302.  From September 2018 to January 2019, the Respondent dispensed a drug 

cocktail of alprazolam and oxycodone to N.B. on two occasions, and a cocktail of 

alprazolam and hydromorphone on one occasion.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 38; GX 37; Tr. 305. 

The Respondent provided two early fills of prescriptions for N.B. from 

January to March 2019.  Tr. 303-04; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 38; GX 37.  First, the Respondent 

dispensed oxycodone and alprazolam to N.B. on January 16, 2019, the 27th day after 

dispensing a 30-day supply of each drug on December 20, 2018 (3 days early).  Id.  

Then, the Respondent dispensed oxycodone to N.B. on March 13, 2019, the 19th 

day after dispensing a 28-day supply on February 22, 2019 (9 days early).  Id.  

A pharmacist acting within the usual course of professional practice would have 

either refused to fill these prescriptions until at least the day before the prior month’s 

supply would have run out or refused to fill future prescriptions of the same drug for 

the patient.  Tr. 271, 300, 304. 

Patient N.B.’s home address was located about 137 miles from the 

Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 36; GX 62; Tr. 301.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this 

distance should have raised a red flag to a reasonable pharmacist.  Tr. 301. 

From June 2017 to August 2018, the Respondent dispensed 12 prescriptions 

of hydromorphone to N.B.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 37; GX 39; Tr. 302.  All of these 12 

hydromorphone prescriptions were for 8 mg dosage units, the highest strength of 

hydromorphone.  Id.  In addition, the Respondent also dispended four prescriptions 

of alprazolam in 2 mg dosage units, the highest strength of alprazolam.  Id.  

Dr. Sullivan also pointed out that on one occasion the Respondent dispensed 

alprazolam to N.B. in 2 mg and 1 mg dosage units.  Id.  Taking the same controlled 

substance in two different strengths is a red flag.  Id. 
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Dr. Sullivan also pointed out the additional red flag of prescriptions for 30 

tablets of ibuprofen 400 mg along with prescriptions for the highest-strength of 

hydromorphone.  Tr. 302-03; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 37; GX 39.  He compared 400 mg of 

ibuprofen to two tablets of over-the-counter Advil or ibuprofen.  Tr. 275, 302-03.  In 

other words, 400 mg of ibuprofen is “an extremely low dose” that “doesn’t make 

sense” to prescribe along with the highest strength of a potent opioid pain killer.  Id.  

He explained that for patients whose pain is bad enough to warrant taking the highest 

strength of hydromorphone, it is normal to also prescribe 600-800 mg of ibuprofen 

to be taken 3-4 times per day (1800-3200 mg total per day).  Tr. 302.  The 

prescriptions that N.B. presented, however, were for 400 mg per day.  ALJ Ex. 42, 

p. 37; GX 39.  In Dr. Sullivan’s view, prescribing ibuprofen at such a low strength 

along with the highest strength of hydromorphone raises a red flag.  Tr. 302-03.  He 

opined that it is common for doctors who illegally prescribe controlled substances 

to also prescribe low doses of non-controlled medication to make their treatment 

appear legitimate.  Tr. 275.  For the same reasons I gave earlier with respect to B.S. 

and M.M., however, I do not accept Dr. Sullivan’s testimony in this regard.  Supra 

pp. 76, 81.    

Dr. Sullivan also observed a concerning two-month gap in N.B.’s opioid 

prescriptions in October and November 2018.  Tr. 304-05; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 38; GX 37.  

N.B. presented a prescription for hydromorphone in September 2018 and then 

presented an oxycodone 30 mg prescription in December 2018, but did not present 

any opioid prescriptions to the Respondent in October and November.  Id.  Not 

taking opioids for two months and then starting up again on the highest strength of 

oxycodone is concerning and puts the patient at heightened risk of overdose.  

Tr. 297-98, 304-05.  This lapse in filling opioid prescriptions raises a red flag.  Id. 

In addition to these red flags, patient N.B. paid for all of her prescriptions in 

cash.  GX 37; GX 39.  Dr. Sullivan testified that paying in cash is a red flag.  Tr. 214. 
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Although patient N.B. presented prescriptions to the Respondent that raised 

multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent filled each 

prescription and never documented any resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 306-07; 

GX 38; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 39.  The patient profile that the Respondent kept for N.B. 

contains only one note:  “Doctor OK patient to receive medication in compound 

capsule form.”  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 39; GX 38.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this note failed 

to resolve the red flags raised by N.B.’s prescriptions.  Id.   

Patient R.B. 
From June 2017 to August 2018, the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail of 

alprazolam and hydromorphone to R.B. on twelve occasions.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 41; 

GX 43; Tr. 311.   

The Respondent provided one early fill of hydromorphone to R.B.  On 

February 18, 2019, the Respondent dispensed hydromorphone to R.B. on February 

18, 2019, the 27th day after dispensing a 31-day supply of hydromorphone on 

January 22, 2019 (4 days early).  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 42; GX 40; Tr. 312. 

Patient R.B.’s home address was located about 138 miles from the 

Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 40; GX 63; Tr. 307.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this 

distance should have raised a red flag to a reasonable pharmacist.  Tr. 307. 

From June 2017 to August 2018, the Respondent dispensed 12 prescriptions 

of hydromorphone and 12 prescriptions of alprazolam to R.B.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 41; 

GX 43; Tr. 311.  All of the 12 hydromorphone prescriptions were for 8 mg dosage 

units, the highest commercially available strength of hydromorphone.  Id.  Eleven of 

the 12 alprazolam prescriptions were for 2 mg dosage units, the highest strength of 

alprazolam.  Id.   

As with patients M.M. and N.B., Dr. Sullivan also observed a concerning 

three-month gap in R.B.’s opioid prescriptions in October, November, and 

December 2018.  Tr. 312; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 42; GX 40.  R.B. presented a prescription 
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for hydromorphone in September 2018 and did not present another hydromorphone 

prescription to the Respondent until January 2019.36  Id.  A three-month lapse in 

opioid treatment renders the patient opioid naïve and puts the patient at heightened 

risk of overdose upon resumption of opioid treatment.  Tr. 297-98, 304-05, 312.  This 

lapse in filling opioid prescriptions raises a red flag.  Id. 

Dr. Sullivan also observed that R.B.’s PDMP report revealed evidence of 

pharmacy shopping.  Tr. 316-17.  The PDMP report showed that R.B. filled 

controlled substance prescriptions at five different pharmacies, to include the 

Respondent.  Tr. 316-17; GX 44, p. 5.      

In addition to these red flags, patient R.B. paid for all of her prescriptions that 

were filled by the Respondent in cash.  GX 40; GX 43.  Dr. Sullivan testified that 

paying in cash is a red flag.  Tr. 214.  Although R.B. always paid in cash at the 

Respondent, she used insurance to purchase controlled substance prescriptions at 

other pharmacies on three occasions.  GX 44, pp. 4-5; Tr. 317-19.  Dr. Sullivan noted 

that a patient does not break the law by alternating between paying in cash and using 

insurance.  Tr. 319.  It is, however, another red flag that a pharmacist should resolve.  

Tr. 318-19.  When a pharmacist evaluates the red flag raised by a patient paying in 

cash for controlled substances, it would be relevant to consider the fact that the 

patient was using insurance to fill prescriptions at another location.  Tr. 318. 

                                                 
36  Patient R.B.’s PDMP report indicates that the hydromorphone prescription he received from the Respondent in 
September 2018 was for a 120-day supply.  GX 40; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 42.  If that were true, the gap in opioid prescriptions 
from September 2018 to January 2019 would not raise any concern because the September 2018 prescription would 
have lasted four months.  That number, however, must have been incorrectly reported to the PDMP.  In fact, the 
September 2018 prescription was written for a 30-day supply, not 120-days as reported in the PDMP.  This becomes 
evident by comparing the PDMP report to the actual prescription, which is one of the few hard-copy prescriptions in 
evidence.  The PDMP report indicates that the Rx number for the September 2018 hydromorphone prescription (10th 
from the top) is 5011489 and was issued by Dr. Michael Lemon.  GX 40.  The corresponding prescription bearing the 
same Rx number on the fill sticker is located at Government Exhibit 44, pages 6-7 (prescription at top right corner).  
That prescription was written by Dr. Lemon for 120 tablets of hydromorphone 8 mg, to be taken one tablet every 6 
hours (or 4 tablets per day).  GX 44, p. 6.  A 120-tablet prescription with these instructions would last one month, not 
four months.  Thus, R.B.’s three month lapse in filling opioid prescriptions at the Respondent remains a concern that 
the Respondent should have addressed.   
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Although patient R.B. presented prescriptions to the Respondent that raised 

multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent filled each 

prescription and never documented any resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 313; 

GX 41; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 43.   

Patient R.G.  
From June 2017 to September 2018, the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail 

of alprazolam and oxycodone to R.G. on twelve occasions.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 45; 

GX 49; Tr. 322-24. 

The Respondent provided multiple early fills of prescriptions for R.G. from 

February to May 2018.  Tr. 326-28; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 46; GX 49.  The Respondent 

dispensed alprazolam and oxycodone to R.G. on February 21, 2018, the 23rd day 

after dispensing a 30-day supply of each drug on January 29, 2018 (7 days early).  

Id.  The Respondent again dispensed alprazolam and oxycodone to R.G. on March 

19, 2018, the 26th day after dispensing a 30-day supply of each drug on February 

21, 2018 (4 days early).  Id.  The Respondent then dispensed alprazolam to R.G. on 

April 17, 2018, even though the doctor instructed that the prescription should not be 

filled until April 20, 2018 (3 days early).  Id.  The Respondent dispensed oxycodone 

to R.G. on May 8, 2018, the 21st day after dispensing a 30-day supply of oxycodone 

on April 17, 2018 (9 days early).  Id.  A pharmacist acting within the usual course 

of professional practice would have either refused to fill these prescriptions until at 

least the day before the prior month’s supply would have run out or refused to fill 

future prescriptions of the same drug for the patient.  Tr. 271, 300, 304, 328. 

Patient R.G.’s home address was located about 131 miles from the 

Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 44; GX 64; Tr. 322.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this 

distance should have raised a red flag to a reasonable pharmacist.  Tr. 322. 

From June 2017 to September 2018, the Respondent dispensed 17 

prescriptions of oxycodone and 12 prescriptions of alprazolam to R.G.  Tr. 322-24; 
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ALJ Ex. 42, p. 45; GX 49.  All of these 29 prescriptions were for the highest strength 

of the drug.  Id.  All of the 17 oxycodone prescriptions were for 30 mg dosage units, 

the highest strength of oxycodone.  Id.  All of the 12 alprazolam prescriptions were 

for 2 mg dosage units, the highest strength of alprazolam.  Id. 

In addition to these red flags, patient R.G. paid for all of his prescriptions in 

cash.  GX 46; GX 49.  Dr. Sullivan testified that paying in cash is a red flag.  Tr. 214. 

Although patient R.G. presented prescriptions to the Respondent that raised 

multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent filled each 

prescription and never documented any resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 328-29; 

GX 47; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 47.  The profile that the Respondent kept for patient R.G. 

contains only one note:  “Watch fill dates!!!!!!!!!!!!!!”  Id.  Dr. Sullivan opined that 

this note was insufficient to resolve the red flags raised by the multiple prescriptions 

that R.G. presented for early filling as well as the other red flags raised by his 

prescriptions.  Id.     

Patient R.L. 
From June 2017 to September 2018, the Respondent dispensed a drug cocktail 

of alprazolam and hydromorphone to R.L. on one occasion.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 49; 

GX 52; Tr. 331. 

The Respondent provided four early fills of hydromorphone to R.L. from 

February to May 2018.  Tr. 333-34; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 51; GX 52.  First, the Respondent 

dispensed hydromorphone to R.L. on February 26, 2018, the 25th day after 

dispensing a 30-day supply of hydromorphone on February 1, 2018 (5 days early).  

Id.  The Respondent dispensed hydromorphone to R.L. again on March 22, 2018, 

the 24th day after dispensing a 30-day supply of hydromorphone on February 26, 

2018 (six days early).  Id.  Then the Respondent dispensed hydromorphone to R.L. 

on April 17, 2018, the 26th day after dispensing a 30-day supply of hydromorphone 

on March 22, 2018 (4 days early).  Id.  The Respondent also dispensed 
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hydromorphone to R.L. on May 11, 2018, the 24th day after dispensing a 30-day 

supply of hydromorphone on April 17, 2018 (6 days early).  Id.  Filling four 

consecutive hydromorphone prescriptions early is a red flag.  Tr. 271, 285, 300, 334.  

A pharmacist acting within the usual course of professional practice would have 

either refused to fill these prescriptions until at least the day before the prior month’s 

supply would have run out or refused to fill future prescriptions of the same drug for 

the patient.  Tr. 334. 

Patient R.L.’s home address was located about 138 miles from the 

Respondent.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 48; GX 65; Tr. 330.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this 

distance should have raised a red flag to a reasonable pharmacist.  Tr. 330. 

From June 2017 to September 2018, the Respondent dispensed 14 

prescriptions of hydromorphone, one prescription of oxycodone, and one 

prescription of alprazolam to R.L.  Tr. 331-32; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 49; GX 52.  All of 

these 16 prescriptions were for the highest strength of the drug.  Id.  All of the 14 

hydromorphone prescriptions were for 8 mg dosage units, the highest strength of 

hydromorphone.  Id.  The oxycodone prescription was for 30 mg dosage units, the 

highest strength of oxycodone.  Id.  The alprazolam prescription was for 2 mg dosage 

units, the highest strength of alprazolam.  Id.  From December 2018 to April 2019, 

the Respondent dispensed five prescriptions of oxycodone to R.L. in 30 mg dosage 

units, the highest strength of oxycodone.  Tr. 331-32; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 50; GX 50. 

In addition to these red flags, patient R.L. paid for all of his prescriptions in 

cash.  GX 50; GX 52.  Dr. Sullivan testified that paying in cash is a red flag.  Tr. 214. 

Although patient R.L. presented prescriptions to the Respondent that raised 

multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent filled each 

prescription and never documented any resolution of these red flags.  Tr. 334-36; 

GX 51; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 52.  The profile that the Respondent kept for patient R.L. 

contains only one note:  “Next fill 6/10/18-10 days early March & April-Told him 
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this 5/11/18[ ]GD.”  Id.  Dr. Sullivan opined that this note failed to resolve the red 

flags raised by the multiple prescriptions that R.L. presented for early filling as well 

as the other red flags raised by his prescriptions.  Id.    

Analysis of Dispensing Evidence for All Eleven Patients  
 The preceding presentation of the Government’s evidence shows that the 

Respondent filled numerous prescriptions of oxycodone, hydromorphone, and 

alprazolam for eleven patients that raised multiple red flags of drug abuse and/or 

diversion.
37

  Not only did Dr. Sullivan opine that these red flags are recognized by 

Florida’s standard of pharmacy practice, but all of these red flags are firmly-

established indicators of drug abuse and/or diversion in DEA case law.  Furthermore, 

the Government’s evidence shows that the Respondent failed to document sufficient 

resolution of red flags in the patients’ profiles.  Although a few patients’ profiles 

contain a single note regarding a single red flag, Dr. Sullivan credibly opined that 

those solitary notes fail to adequately resolve the concern.  Tr. 258-59, 281-83, 287-

88, 306, 328-29, 334-35.  

With respect to red flags, a pharmacy’s duty can be easily summarized as 

identify, resolve, and document.  Florida law and the standard of practice in Florida 

require a pharmacist to conduct a prospective drug use review before dispensing a 

controlled substance.  Tr. 211, 227-28; Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.810; 

Trinity II, 83 Fed. Reg. at 7329.  The purpose of the prospective drug use review is 

to identify red flags that require resolution before dispensing a controlled substance.  

                                                 
37  Dr. Sullivan also opined that some prescriptions for ten of the patients (A.G., A.H., B.S., C.R., J.M., M.M., N.B., 

R.B., R.G., and R.L.) raised the red flag of lacking therapeutic justification for compounded capsules.  I am not 

accepting that opinion in this analysis of the Respondent’s dispensing.  There is no evidence that the patients requested 

their medication to be dispensed in compounded capsule form as opposed to tablets.  Rather, the decision to compound 

seems to have been made by the Respondent and the Respondent alone.  Thus, compounding without medical 

justification would not have been a suspicious behavior raised by the patient, the patient’s prescription, or the 

prescriber.  It is, instead, suspicious behavior raised by the pharmacy.  The evidence that the Respondent compounded 

without individualized therapeutic justification is, therefore, more appropriate for the analysis of illegal 

manufacturing. 
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Tr. 207-08, 211.  To resolve red flags, the pharmacy has a number of tools available, 

to include speaking with the prescriber and patient; reviewing the patient’s PDMP; 

and reviewing the pharmacy’s dispensing history to the patient.  Tr. 227, 447-48; 

Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.831(2)-(3).  Once a pharmacy identifies and resolves 

red flags (or decides the red flags cannot be resolved), Florida law and the standard 

of practice requires the pharmacy to document information that would enable the 

pharmacy to resolve the suspicion.  Tr. 210, 228, 489; Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-

27.800; Trinity II, 83 Fed. Reg. at 7330.  As Dr. Sullivan stated, “if you don’t 

document it you didn’t do it.”  Tr. 228.  Even if a pharmacy identified and resolved 

red flags, it would be outside the standard of practice in Florida for a pharmacy to 

dispense a controlled substance if the pharmacy failed to document what it did to 

resolve the red flags.  Id.   

Although the DEA does not require the pharmacy to document in a specific 

place, Florida law specifies that the pharmacy must document information relevant 

to the resolution of red flags in the patient’s profile.  Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-

27.800; Trinity II, 83 Fed. Reg. at 7330.  Initially, Dr. Sullivan testified that Florida 

law does not specify where a pharmacy must document resolution of red flags.  

Tr. 436-37, 449, 452.  He also testified under cross-examination that a pharmacist 

could document resolution of red flags on the prescription itself.  Tr. 410.  I later 

questioned Dr. Sullivan about Florida Administrative Code r. 64B16-27.800, 

entitled “Requirement for Patient Records.”  Tr. 453-55.  This regulation requires 

Florida pharmacies to maintain a patient record system or patient profile.  Tr. 209; 

Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.800.  Dr. Sullivan explained that the term “patient 

record system” in Florida Administrative Code r. 64B16-27.800 means the same 

thing as patient profile.38  Tr. 209.  He acknowledged that this regulation requires 

                                                 
38  Because patient record system and patient profile mean the same thing, I will use the term patient profile throughout 
the remainder of this Recommended Decision.  
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pharmacies to document in the patient record system information related to 

“allergies, drug reactions, idiosyncrasies, and chronic conditions or disease states of 

the patient and the identity of any other drugs” the patient is taking.  Tr. 453; Fla. 

Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.800(2).   

Dr. Sullivan also pointed out that this regulation requires pharmacies to 

document “any related information indicated by a licensed health care practitioner.”  

Id.  I asked Dr. Sullivan whether this regulation “would include the resolution of red 

flags,” and he answered in the affirmative.  Tr. 455.  Red flags, in his opinion, would 

be “relevant patient information” covered by this regulation.  Id.  Later on redirect 

examination, Dr. Sullivan noted that the requirement of this regulation to document 

“comments relevant to the individual’s drug therapy, including any other 

information peculiar to the specific patient or drug,” would include information 

related to red flag resolution.  Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.800(1)(f); Tr. 489.  

Thus, while Dr. Sullivan did not disagree with opposing counsel’s statement that 

resolution could be documented on the hardcopy prescription, Tr. 410, he later 

acknowledged that Florida regulation requires Florida pharmacies to document 

information pertaining to red flag resolution in the patient profile.  Tr. 453-55, 489.  

In other words, a pharmacist is not prohibited from taking notes on a prescription.  

Id.  But in order to comply with Florida Administrative Code r. 64B16-27.800, the 

pharmacist must document information relevant for purposes of resolving red flags 

in the patient profile as well.  Id. 

Notwithstanding Dr. Sullivan’s varied testimony, after reviewing the same 

regulation, the Agency concluded in Trinity II that patient records maintained 

pursuant to Florida Administrative Code r. 64B16-27.800 must contain information 

related to resolving red flags.  83 Fed. Reg. at 7330.  The Agency reasoned, therefore, 

that under Florida law patient profiles “provide relevant evidence in assessing 

whether a pharmacist resolved” red flags of drug abuse and/or diversion.  Id.  Failure 
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to document information relevant for purposes of resolving red flags in accordance 

with this regulation would indicate that the pharmacy failed to resolve red flags.  

Tr. 453, 455, 489.  Importantly, however, the Government’s evidence in Trinity II 

included hardcopy prescriptions.  83 Fed. Reg. at 7330. 

 Here, the Government’s evidence shows that despite receiving numerous 

prescriptions for controlled substances from eleven patients that raised the classic 

signs of drug abuse and/or diversion, the Respondent failed to document any 

resolution of the red flags in the patients’ profiles.  In fact, the profiles for five 

patients (A.H., B.S., J.M., M.M., and R.B.) contain no notes whatsoever, even 

though the prescriptions presented by these patients raised multiple red flags, as 

discussed above.  GX 20; GX 23; GX 32; GX 35; GX 41; ALJ Ex. 42, pp. 17, 21, 

31, 35, 43.  The multiple red flags raised by these five patients triggered the 

Respondent’s responsibility to identify, resolve, and document in the patients’ 

profiles.  Failure to have done so violates Florida law. 

 The profiles for the remaining six patients contain single notes that fail to 

dispel the suspicions aroused by the patients’ prescriptions.  Patient A.G.’s and 

N.B.’s profiles, for example, state that an unnamed doctor on an unknown date 

approved of A.G. and N.B. taking compounded capsules of an unknown medication 

for an unknown reason.  ALJ Ex. 42, pp. 13, 39; GX 15; GX 38.  These notes say 

nothing about the other red flags raised by A.G.’s and N.B.’s prescriptions, to 

include dangerous drug combinations, early fills, highest strengths of drugs, cash 

payments, and long distance travel.  Id.  Furthermore, the plain meaning of the notes 

suggest that the Respondent requested the doctors’ approval to compound, rather 

than the doctor requesting a compounded medication for an individualized 

therapeutic reason.  Tr. 258-59, 306.  If A.G. and N.B. had legitimate medical 

reasons for compounded capsules, the doctors would have written their prescriptions 

that way.  Id.   
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 Patient C.R.’s profile states that a prescription had the wrong birthdate.  ALJ 

Ex. 42, p. 24; GX 26.  Changing an incorrect birthdate is of such minor significance 

that it does not merit a note in the patient’s profile.  Tr. 283.  Yet, no other notes 

address the numerous red flags raised by C.R.’s prescriptions.  Tr. 281-83.  

 The notes in J.D.’s, R.G.’s, and R.L.’s profiles relate to early fill dates.  ALJ 

Ex. 42, pp. 28, 47, 52; GX 29; GX 47; GX 51.  These notes, however, fail to address 

the numerous other red flags raised by these patients’ prescriptions.  Tr. 287-88, 328-

29, 334-35.  Furthermore, Dr. Sullivan explained that the proper action to take in 

response to a patient who requests an early fill is to wait until at least the day before 

the prior month’s supply is set to run out or to refuse to fill the prescription.  Tr. 271, 

287-88, 300, 304, 328, 334.  Even if a pharmacy documented a problem with early 

fills, filling a controlled substance several days early is outside the standard of care 

unless the patient has a very good reason.  Tr. 270, 335.  Although there are “extreme 

cases where patients need to fill prescriptions early,” the profiles for these three 

patients do not document any “extremely good unusual reason” that would have 

justified the Respondent to fill their prescriptions early.  Tr. 270.  Thus, even if these 

patients had legitimate reasons for obtaining early fills, the Respondent did not 

document those reasons.  ALJ Ex. 42, pp. 28, 47, 52; GX 29; GX 47; GX 51. 

 Neither the patient profiles, nor the questionnaires that the Respondent asked 

patients to fill out, resolve red flags.  The record contains two such questionnaires.  

The questionnaire asks patients why they are receiving treatment; whether the 

patient lives farther than 100 miles from the pharmacy, and if yes, then why is the 

patient filling prescriptions at the Respondent; how did the patient’s injury develop; 

and what happens if the patient does not take his/her medication.39  GX 18, p. 1; 

                                                 
39  Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, testimony about how the Respondent relied on the patient questionnaires is inconsistent with 
the answers given on the two questionnaires in evidence.  Mr. Clement, Jr., testified that the questionnaire asks the 
patients to provide details about the injury; simply claiming that “my back pain hurts” will not work.  Tr. 512.  The 
answers given by A.G. and R.B., however, are not much better than “my back pain hurts.”  Patient A.G. wrote that his 
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GX 44, p. 1.  The questionnaire also asks patients to certify that they are not selling 

their medication and that they are taking all of their medication.  Id.  

 Patient A.G. disclosed on his questionnaire that he lived more than 100 miles 

from the Respondent.  GX 18, p. 1.  He stated on the questionnaire that his reason 

for filling prescriptions at the Respondent despite the significant distance was “quick 

and good service.”  Id.  Patient A.G.’s statement that he chose the Respondent for 

its “quick and good service” does not alleviate the red flag raised by him living more 

than 100 miles from the Respondent.  Tr. 262.  The same is true of his certification 

that he was taking all of his medication and not selling it.  Id.  Dr. Sullivan explained 

that a pharmacist should assume the patient is taking all of his medication.  Tr. 263.  

And if a pharmacy suspected that a patient was diverting his medication, the proper 

response is to notify the prescriber and document the discussion.  Id.  A uniform 

questionnaire does not absolve the Respondent of this responsibility.  If the 

pharmacist believes that the patient is diverting controlled substances, it must cease 

dispensing controlled substances to that patient.  Tr. 264. 

 Patient R.B. also disclosed on her questionnaire that she lived more than 100 

miles from the Respondent.  GX 44, p. 1.  R.B.’s reason for filling prescriptions at 

the Respondent despite living more than 100 miles away was the Respondent’s 

“cheaper” prices and because “they are good people.”  Id.  These reasons fail to 

resolve the red flag raised by R.B. living more than 100 miles away from the 

                                                 
“lower lumbar starts hurting bad while I stand for long or lay/sit down too long.”  GX 18, p. 1.  He stated that his 
injury occurred “from motorcycle accidents throughout the years.”  Id.  Patient R.B. wrote that she was being treated 
“for my back and legs, I was in a bad car [accident]” in 2005.  GX 44, p. 1.  Judging from these two examples, it 
appears the Respondent did not require a significant level of detail provided in the questionnaires as Mr. Clement, Jr., 
made it seem.  This is not the only inconsistency between Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, description of the Respondent’s diligence 
in documentation and the actual records.  I note that Mr. Clement, Jr., reported the Respondent sees only a few patients 
per day, allowing more individualized care and investigation into red flags.  Tr. 508-509, 537-38, 540, 553.  
Heightened scrutiny by the Respondent, however, is not reflected within the pharmacy’s records. 
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Respondent.  Tr. 315.  Dr. Sullivan provided the same opinion of R.B.’s certification 

that she was taking her medication and not diverting it, as he stated for A.G.  Id. 

While the evidence establishes that the Respondent failed to document 

resolution of red flags in the patients’ profiles, the evidence does not reveal whether, 

consistent with Mr. Clement, Jr’s., claim, the Respondent sometimes documented 

resolution on the relevant original hardcopy prescriptions.  We do not know because 

the Government only introduced copies of twelve prescriptions.40  These twelve 

prescriptions related to only two of the eleven patients.  GX 18, pp. 6-9; GX 44, pp. 

6-9.  Although these twelve prescriptions do not contain any legible resolution of 

red flags, we do not know whether that is true of the remaining prescriptions filled 

for the eleven patients at issue, which were not introduced into evidence.41 

Twelve Prescriptions Introduced into Evidence 
With respect to the twelve prescriptions introduced into evidence, the 

Government sustained its burden to show that the prescriptions raised red flags and 

the Respondent failed to document any information pertaining to resolution of those 

red flags on the prescriptions or in the patients’ profiles.  The Government’s 

                                                 
40  The record actually contains thirteen prescriptions, however, I am not counting the prescription for folic acid, a 
non-controlled medication.  GX 18, p. 6. 
41  I decline to draw an adverse inference against either party for failing to introduce the remaining prescriptions into 
evidence.  Under the rule of adverse inference, “‘when a party has relevant evidence within his control which he fails 
to produce, that failure gives rise to an inference that the evidence is unfavorable to him.’”  Callahan v. Schultz, 783 
F.2d 1543, 1545 (11th Cir. 1986) (quoting Int’l Union (UAW) v. NLRB, 459 F.2d 1329, 1336 (D.C. Cir. 1972)).  An 
adverse inference could ordinarily be applied to the Government, because it has the prescriptions within its possession, 
those prescriptions are relevant to show whether red flags were resolved, and the Government failed to introduce them.  
See Tr. 43 (DI Albert testifying that he reviewed hardcopy prescriptions produced pursuant to a subpoena); Tr. 516 
(Mr. Clement, Jr., testifying that the DEA seized most of the hardcopy prescriptions during its inspection); Tr. 520 
(Respondent’s counsel stating that the Government sent him copies of the prescriptions).  I will decline, however, to 
apply such an inference against the Government because the Respondent also possessed the same prescriptions and, 
therefore, the same adverse inference could be drawn against it.  See Tr. 520 (Respondent’s counsel stating that copies 
of the hardcopy prescriptions were sent to his office).  Because both parties had the same relevant evidence within its 
control and chose not to introduce it, an adverse inference against only one party is not warranted.  See United States 
v. Boston, 194 Fed. App’x 890, 892 (11th Cir. 2006) (applying adverse inference rule in context of witness testimony, 
and explaining that adverse inference is inappropriate if the witness is equally available to both parties); United States 
v. Nahoom, 791 F.2d 841, 846 (11th Cir. 1986) (holding that an adverse inference is only acceptable where a witness 
“is peculiarly within the control of one party”).  Although these cases dealt with witnesses, the same reasoning applies 
here.  Both the Government and the Respondent, by the time of the hearing, had equal access to this same evidence; 
therefore, an adverse inference against either party is impermissible.  



APP- 291

 
97 

 

evidence shows that (1) the Respondent filled twelve controlled substance 

prescriptions for A.G. and R.B.; (2) those prescriptions raised red flags that the 

Respondent should have recognized; and (3) the Respondent failed to conclusively 

resolve the red flags by documenting resolution on the hardcopy prescriptions or in 

the patient profiles.  JM Pharm. Grp., 80 Fed. Reg. 28667, 28685 (2015) (quoting 

Holiday CVS, 77 Fed. Reg. 62316, 62341 (2012)).     

The seven prescriptions for A.G. raised the red flags of cash payments, long 

distance, and highest strength.  GX 18, pp. 6-9; supra pp. 71-73.  The prescription 

filled on April 12, 2019, raised the additional red flag of being filled early.  Tr. 257; 

ALJ Ex. 42, p. 12; GX 14.   

The five prescriptions for R.B. raised the red flags of cash payments, long 

distance, and highest strength.  GX 44, pp. 6-9; supra pp. 84-86.  The prescription 

filled on January 22, 2019, raised the additional red flag of being dispensed after a 

lapse in opioid treatment.  Tr. 312; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 42; GX 40.  The prescription filled 

on February 18, 2019, raised the additional red flag of being dispensed early.  Id.   

With respect to both patients, neither the hardcopies of these prescriptions nor 

the corresponding patient profiles contain the information needed to adequately 

resolve the concern raised by the prescriptions.  Supra pp. 71-73, 84-86.  The red 

flags raised, combined with the absence of documentation on the prescriptions and 

patient profiles, demonstrates that the Respondent filled the subject prescriptions for 

A.G. and R.B. with the requisite degree of scienter.  JM Pharmacy Grp., Inc., 80 

Fed. Reg. at 28669.  Failing to document resolution of red flags demonstrates that 

the Respondent was “deliberately ignorant” of the prescriptions’ apparent lack of 

medical legitimacy.  Trinity II, 83 Fed. Reg. at 7329-30.  Thus, the Government’s 

evidence establishes that the Respondent violated its corresponding responsibility 

under 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a) with respect to A.G. and R.B. 
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The Remaining Prescriptions  
With respect to the remaining prescriptions, the evidence does not reveal 

whether these prescriptions contain handwritten notes addressing the multiple red 

flags they raised because they were not introduced into evidence.  Even if these 

prescriptions contained notes resolving the various red flags raised, the Respondent 

would still have violated Florida law by failing to properly document information 

needed to resolve the concern in the patient profiles.  Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-

27.800; Trinity II, 83 Fed. Reg. at 7330.   

While violating Florida law in that respect would constitute negative 

experience under either Factor Two or Four, it would be insufficient to find that the 

Respondent violated its corresponding responsibility because it could have 

documented the resolution on the hardcopy prescriptions.  To prove a violation of 

its corresponding responsibility, the Government would need to show that (1) the 

Respondent filled a controlled substance prescription; (2) the prescription raised a 

red flag that the Respondent recognized or should have recognized; and (3) the 

Respondent failed to conclusively resolve the red flag before filling the prescription.  

JM Pharm. Grp., 80 Fed. Reg. at 28685 (2015) (quoting Holiday CVS, 77 Fed. Reg. 

62316, 62341 (2012)).  With respect to the prescriptions for which hardcopies have 

not been introduced, the Government’s evidence establishes the first two criteria, but 

falls short with respect to the third because there is not enough evidence in the record 

to determine whether the Respondent failed to “conclusively” resolve red flags.  

There is not enough evidence because the record lacks copies of the prescriptions, 

which could contain documentation of red flag resolution. 

Documenting resolution on the prescriptions would be the incorrect place 

under Florida law, but it would still show (if it happened) that the pharmacy fulfilled 

its corresponding responsibility under 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a), since the DEA does 

not require resolution to be in any specific place.  Mr. Clement, Jr., testified that 
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sometimes the Respondent made notes on the hardcopy prescriptions instead of the 

patient profiles.  Tr. 543, 550-51.  He also testified that the Respondent documented 

“patient profile information” in a notebook kept at the pharmacy.42  Tr. 555.  

Dr. Sullivan stated that he would expect a pharmacy to document red flag resolution 

“somewhere.”  Tr. 228.  That “somewhere” could have been the original hardcopy 

prescriptions, the majority of which are not in evidence.  In other words, without 

looking at all the prescriptions, I am unable to conclude that the Respondent failed 

to ensure the prescriptions were written for legitimate medical purposes and issued 

within the usual course of professional practice under its corresponding 

responsibility in 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a).     

Violating Florida law by failing to document information relevant to resolving 

red flags in the patients’ profiles, however, would be sufficient to show that the 

Respondent dispensed controlled substances outside the usual course of professional 

practice, in violation of 21 C.F.R. § 1306.06.  I am able to make this finding because 

the usual course of professional practice is defined by the state.  Florida law requires 

pharmacies to document information needed to resolve red flags in the patient 

profiles.  Tr. 453, 455, 489; Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.800; Trinity II, 83 Fed. 

                                                 
42  If the Respondent maintained a notebook as part of its patient record system, then I would be unable to sustain the 
Government’s dispensing allegations because the notebook could contain red flag resolution.  I do not credit 
Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, testimony about the notebook because the Respondent never introduced the notebook to 
corroborate his claim.  See Trinity Pharmacy II, 83 Fed. Reg. 7304, 7322 n.42 (2018) (finding “more likely than not 
that [the respondent] did not produce any [documents] because they do not exist”); Pharm. Doctors Enters. d/b/a Zion 
Clinic Pharm., 83 Fed. Reg. 10876, 10887 (2018) (finding pharmacist’s testimony that she resolved various red flags 
merited no weight because she failed to produce documentary evidence to corroborate her claim).  Registrants should 
not be empowered to deflect allegations of misconduct so easily by simply claiming they kept those records without 
producing them.  There is nothing in the record establishing that the Government received the notebook which 
allegedly contains red flag resolution and then elected to proceed without introducing it into evidence.  If that were 
the case, it would be much harder to rule in the Government’s favor.  The Government, however, requested any and 
all documentation pertaining to red flag resolution in two subpoenas, GX 67; GX 68; and during service of an AIW, 
and there is no indication that the Government obtained a notebook (or any other records containing red flag 
resolution) and then failed to introduce them.  For these reasons, I cannot credit Mr. Clement, Jr.’s, testimony about a 
notebook that is not in evidence.  The Government has produced patient profiles that lack red flag resolution.  If the 
Respondent has something to show that it, in fact, resolved red flags, it should have introduced it at the hearing to 
rebut the Government’s case.  This reasoning does not apply to the hardcopy prescriptions, however, because we know 
the Government has those hardcopy prescriptions within its control.  Tr. 43; supra note 41. 
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Reg. at 7330.  And as already discussed, the patient profiles lack any information 

that would have enabled the Respondent to dispel the suspicion raised by numerous 

red flags.   

 While I cannot conclude that the Respondent violated its corresponding 

responsibility under 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a), I find that the Government has 

presented a preponderance of the evidence to prove that the Respondent dispensed 

numerous controlled substance prescriptions that raised multiple red flags of drug 

abuse and/or diversion for at least eleven patients without documenting information 

relevant to red flag resolution in the patients’ profiles, as required by Florida 

Administrative Code r. 64B16-27.800.  Tr. 453, 455, 489.  Failing to follow a critical 

requirement imposed by its state of registration that is intended to prevent the abuse 

and diversion of controlled substances constitutes negative experience in complying 

with applicable state law (Factor Four).  21 U.S.C. § 823(f)(4).43 

I further find that failing to comply with Florida Administrative Code 

r. 64B16-27.800 constitutes conduct outside the usual course of professional 

practice in Florida, in violation of 21 C.F.R. § 1306.06.  For these reasons, and all 

the reasons and analysis set forth in this section, the allegation that the Respondent 

violated Florida law by failing to document resolution of red flags in the patients’ 

profiles, in violation of Florida Administrative Code r. 64B16-27.800 and 21 C.F.R. 

§ 1306.06, is SUSTAINED.  Furthermore, the allegation that the Respondent 

violated 21 C.F.R. §§ 1306.04(a) and 1306.06 is SUSTAINED with respect to the 

twelve prescriptions in evidence for patients A.G. and R.B. 

  

                                                 
43  While the Respondent’s failure to comply with Florida law by documenting information needed to resolve red flags 
in the patients’ profiles could be weighed under Factors Two and Four, I will only consider that misconduct under 
Factor Four to avoid double-counting the same misconduct. 
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Analysis of Unlawful Manufacturing Allegation 
Finally, the Government alleges that the Respondent engaged in 

“manufacturing” controlled substances, as that term is defined in the CSA, without 

a separate DEA registration authorizing the manufacture of controlled substances, in 

violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e).  ALJ Ex. 1, ¶ 20-28.  

Specifically, the Government alleges that the Respondent compounded oxycodone 

and hydromorphone capsules in such large quantities that this activity constituted 

manufacturing rather than permissible compounding for individual patients.  Id. 

DEA regulations require registrants to obtain a separate registration for each 

regulated business activity in which they engage.  21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e).  Section 

1301.13(e) provides ten separate business activities, to include manufacturing and 

dispensing.44  Id. at (e)(1)(i), (iv).  Each business activity is “deemed to be 

independent of each other.”  21 U.S.C. § 1301.13(e).  In other words, a registration 

for one activity does not authorize the registrant to engage in another activity.  Id.  

To engage in both dispensing and manufacturing, a registrant would need to apply 

for and obtain separate registrations for each activity.  No person or entity may 

engage in a regulated business activity “until the application for registration is 

granted and a Certificate of Registration is issued by the Administrator to such 

person [or entity].”  21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(a).  

Requiring separate registrations for manufacturing and dispensing is more 

than mere formality.  In fact, the CSA imposes stricter requirements on 

manufacturers than dispensers, not to mention a different standard for issuing a 

sanction.  Wedgewood Village Pharm., 71 Fed. Reg. 16593, 16594 (2006);  compare 

21 U.S.C. § 823(a) (setting forth six public interest factors for manufacturers of 

                                                 
44  Although not relevant to this case, the other business activities include distributing, reverse distributing, research 
(Schedule I), research (Schedules II-V), narcotic treatment programs, importing, exporting, and chemical analysis.  
21 U.S.C. § 1301.13(e)(1). 



APP- 296

 
102 

 

Schedule I and II controlled substances), with 21 U.S.C. § 823(f) (establishing five 

similar, yet different, public interest factors for practitioners, which includes 

pharmacies engaged in dispensing).  Additionally, the CSA imposes higher 

standards for recordkeeping, reporting, and security on manufacturing than it does 

on dispensing.  71 Fed. Reg. at 16594.  Manufacturers are also required to obtain a 

registration annually, whereas dispensers are only required to obtain a registration 

every three years.  Id. (citing 21 U.S.C. § 822(a)(1)-(2)). 

The Respondent is registered with the DEA as a “retail pharmacy.”  GX 1.  

Pursuant to this registration, the Respondent may dispense controlled substances in 

Schedules II-V.  Id.; 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e)(1)(iv).  The Respondent’s registration 

as a retail pharmacy authorizing it to engage in the regulated activity of dispensing 

does not permit the Respondent to manufacture controlled substances; thus, any 

manufacturing it performed would be unlawful.  To prevail on its claim that the 

Respondent manufactured controlled substances, the Government must show by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the Respondent engaged in an activity that met 

the CSA’s definition of “manufacturing.” 

Although the CSA does not define what the term “to compound” means, it 

does define “manufacture.”  Wedgewood Village Pharm. v. DEA, 509 F.3d 541, 543 

(D.C. Cir. 2007) (noting the CSA does not define “compounding”).  “[T]he term 

‘manufacture’ means the production, preparation, propagation, compounding, or 

processing of a drug or other substance, either directly or indirectly or by extraction 

from substances of natural origin, or independently by means of chemical synthesis 

or by a combination of extraction and chemical synthesis, and includes any 

packaging or repackaging of such substance or labeling or relabeling of its 

container.”  21 U.S.C. § 802(15) (emphasis added).  Importantly, the CSA includes 

compounding in its definition of manufacturing.  Id.  Not all compounding, however, 

is considered to be manufacturing.  The definition of manufacturing “does not 
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include the preparation, compounding, packaging, or labeling of a drug or other 

substance in conformity with applicable State or local law by a practitioner as an 

incident to his administration or dispensing of such drug or substance in the course 

of his professional practice.”  Id.  Stated differently, compounding does not require 

a registration to manufacture so long as the compounding (1) conforms to State and 

local laws, and (2) is conducted “as an incident to [the] administration or dispensing” 

of the compounded drug. 

The critical question here is whether the Respondent compounded controlled 

substances as an incident to dispensing them.  If so, then its activity qualified for the 

exemption to manufacturing and the Respondent would be properly registered.  If 

not, however, then its compounding activity would be considered manufacturing, for 

which it is not registered.  In Wedgewood, the Agency framed this question as 

whether the pharmacy compounded “as an adjunct to dispensing controlled 

substances.”  71 Fed. Reg. at 16594.  If the pharmacy compounded “as an adjunct to 

dispensing controlled substances to specific patients,” Wedgewood continued, then 

the pharmacy would be exempt from the definition of manufacturing.  Id.  The 

Agency concluded “that to be exempt from the definition of manufacturer under the 

CSA a DEA practitioner registrant must be engaged in compounding controlled 

substances on an individual patient basis.  That is, a pharmacy must receive a 

prescription for a specific patient from a physician or other individual practitioner 

and must deliver or dispense that medication to the patient.”  Id. at 16595.  A 

pharmacy may avoid the regulatory requirements associated with manufacturing, 

including the requirement to obtain a separate registration, so long as the pharmacy 

compounds “for a specific patient on a patient by patient basis.”  Id. at 16596.   

In reaching this conclusion, the Agency turned to the traditional definition of 

compounding articulated by the Supreme Court in Thompson v. Western States 

Medical Center.  71 Fed. Reg. at 16595-96 (citing 535 U.S. 357 (2002)).  In that 
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case, the Supreme Court defined compounding as “a process by which a pharmacist 

or doctor combines, mixes, or alters ingredients to create a medication tailored to 

the needs of an individual patient. Compounding is typically used to prepare 

medications that are not commercially available, such as medication for a patient 

who is allergic to an ingredient in a mass-produced product.”  535 U.S. 357, 361 

(2002) (emphases added).  The critical element of this definition, that compounding 

is done on a patient-by-patient basis after having received a prescription, is also 

found in the Fifth Circuit’s view of compounding.45  The Agency also found support 

for its conclusion in the legislative history of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act 

(FDCA).  

Like the CSA, the FDCA exempts compounding pharmacies from 

manufacturing requirements.  71 Fed. Reg. at 16595 (citing 21 U.S.C. § 353a).  

Around the time Wedgewood was decided in 2006, the Food and Drug 

Administration (FDA) had expressed concerns, however, that some pharmacies were 

circumventing manufacturing requirements by mass-producing drugs in a manner 

that appeared at first blush to be compounding, but was in fact manufacturing.  Id.; 

see also Wedgewood Village Pharm., 509 F.3d at 543 (noting the same concern).  A 

House Conference Report concerning the Food and Drug Administration 

Modernization Act of 1997, the law which amended the FDCA at 21 U.S.C. § 353a 

to exempt compounding from certain requirements, states that “[i]t is the intent of 

the conferees to ensure continued availability of compounded drug products as a 

component of individualized therapy, while limiting the scope of compounding so 
                                                 
45  The Fifth Circuit defined compounding as “the process whereby a pharmacist combines ingredients pursuant to a 
physician’s prescription to create a medication for an individual patient.”  Prof. & Pat. For Customized Care v. 
Shalala, 56 F.3d 592, 593 (5th Cir. 1995).  This process, the Fifth Circuit added, is typically needed when a medication 
is not commercially available.  Id.  In another case, the Fifth Circuit stated that compounding is a process designed 
“to create a medication to meet the unique needs of an individual . . . patient.”  Med. Ctr. Pharm. v. Mukasey, 536 
F.3d 383, 387 (5th Cir. 2008).  According to the American Pharmacists Association, as cited in Mukasey, pharmacists 
compound “patient-specific medication.”  Id. 
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as to prevent manufacturing under the guise of compounding.”  71 Fed. Reg. at 

16595 (quoting 1997 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2880).   

By citing this portion of the FDCA’s legislative history, the Agency made 

clear that it shares the FDA’s concern about one of the challenges of regulating 

compounding and manufacturing; namely, that a pharmacy could compound on such 

a large scale that its operation would, in essence, be akin to that of a manufacturer.  

Based on this concern shared between two federal agencies charged with regulating 

pharmaceuticals, it is understandable why in Wedgewood the Agency chose to limit 

the manufacturing exemption to compounding conducted on an individual patient 

basis after the pharmacy receives a prescription.  71 Fed. Reg. at 16595-96.   

The view that compounding is exempt from the definition of manufacturing 

only when it is conducted pursuant to a prescription for a particular patient is also 

consistent with the CSA’s definition of “dispense” as well as the language “incident 

to” in the definition of “manufacture.”  Under the CSA, “dispense” means “to deliver 

a controlled substance to an ultimate user or research subject by, or pursuant to the 

lawful order of, a practitioner, including the prescribing and administering of a 

controlled substance and the packaging, labeling or compounding necessary to 

prepare the substance for such delivery.”  21 U.S.C. § 802(10) (emphases added).  

The fact that the definition of “dispense” includes “compounding necessary to 

prepare the substance” for delivery, and the fact that compounding “incident to” 

dispensing exempts a pharmacy’s activity from the definition of “manufacture,” 

shows that the CSA drafters contemplated compounding as “an incident to” 

dispensing when needed to prepare a substance for delivery to a patient pursuant to 

the patient’s prescription.  Compounding large quantities of a substance in 

anticipation of receiving prescriptions for that substance would not be “necessary to 

prepare the substance for” delivery pursuant to a patient’s prescription.   
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Furthermore, the reference to compounding as “necessary” in the definition 

of “dispense,” combined with the “incident to” clause in the manufacturing 

exemption, illustrates that the CSA drafters intended compounding to be dependent 

on dispensing, and for dispensing to be dependent on receipt of a valid prescription.  

In other words, the logical sequence of events is that (1) a pharmacy receives a 

prescription, (2) in some cases compounding will be “necessary” to prepare that 

prescription, and (3) because compounding is necessary to prepare the substance for 

dispensing, (4) it is viewed as incidental46 to the act of dispensing, and (5) therefore, 

the necessary act of compounding to fill that prescription is exempt from the 

definition of manufacturing.  21 U.S.C. §§ 802(10), (15).  But it would only be 

exempt to the extent that it was necessary to prepare a substance for delivery 

pursuant to a prescription.  Id. 

The thrust of the Respondent’s argument is that because the CSA does not 

define compounding, the appropriate question is whether the Respondent complied 

with Florida law and other federal laws.  Resp’t PHB, at 37-38.  The Respondent 

argues that it engaged in anticipatory compounding (i.e., compounding before 

receiving a prescription), which is permissible under Florida law and the FDCA.  Id. 

at 37-41.  Florida law provides that lawful compounding includes “[t]he preparation 

of drugs or devices in anticipation of prescriptions based on routine, regularly 

observed prescribing patterns.”  Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.700(1)(a).   

                                                 
46  As pointed out by the Government, the view that the phrase “incident to” implies that compounding is dependent 
on dispensing is also consistent with the Black’s Law Dictionary definition of “incident to” as “dependent on, 
subordinate to, [or] arising out of.”  Gov’t PHB, at 43.  Perhaps this is the reason why the CSA drafters declined to 
define “compounding”:  because they viewed it only as an accessory to dispensing.  In other words, they viewed 
compounding as a necessary, but limited, means to an end, to be performed only in relation to dispensing and 
dependent on dispensing.  Under this approach, the CSA allows pharmacies to compound on an as-needed basis in 
order to engage in their primary activity of dispensing, but any compounding that is not done as a means of engaging 
in an activity that meets the definition of “dispense” would fall under the definition of “manufacture”; thus, triggering 
the requirement to be registered as a manufacturer and to meet stricter standards.  
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The Respondent also argues that it complied with the anticipatory 

compounding provision of the FDCA.  Section 353a of Title 21, United States Code, 

governs pharmacy compounding under the auspices of the FDA.  Thompson, 535 

U.S. at 362; Allergan USA v. Imprimis Pharm., Inc., No. 8:17-cv-01551-DOC-JDE, 

2019 WL 4545960, at *5 (C.D. Cal. March 27, 2019).  This section falls under the 

FDCA.  Allergan USA, 2019 WL 4545960, at *5.  This section of the FDCA, 

commonly referred to as Section 503A, exempts certain compounded drug products 

from the FDCA’s “new drug” approval requirements.  United States v. Conigliaro, 

384 F. Supp. 3d 145, 160 (2019).  This provision resolves issues arising from the 

question of whether a compounded medication qualifies as a “new drug” requiring 

FDA approval.  Mukasey, 536 F.3d at 389.  Section 503A also establishes “safety 

and quality standards” for compounding ingredients (21 U.S.C. §§ 353a(b)(1)(A)-

(B)); prohibits pharmacists from producing “carbon copies of commercially 

available drug products” (21 U.S.C. § 353a(b)(1)(D)); and prohibits pharmacists 

from “soliciting customers,” or advertising or promoting particular compounded 

drugs (21 U.S.C. § 353a(c)).  Conigliaro, 384 F. Supp. 3d at 160.   

In order to receive Section 503A’s exemption from “new drug” approval 

requirements, the compounded drug product must meet certain criteria, the most 

relevant of which requires the compounding to be done “in response to a valid 

prescription” or that the compounding be limited to situations where a professional 

relationship already existed between the patient, pharmacist, and prescriber.  

Conigliaro, 384 F. Supp. 3d at 160 (citing 21 U.S.C. § 353a(a)).  In essence, Section 

503A allows compounding in only two scenarios:  (1) after receiving a prescription, 

or (2) before receiving a prescription if the pharmacist has previously received valid 

prescriptions issued within the same established relationship between the 

pharmacist, patient, and prescriber.  Allergan USA, 2019 WL 4545960, at *5.  For 

ease of reference, the second scenario will be referred to as anticipatory 
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compounding.   

The fact that the Respondent may have complied with the anticipatory 

compounding allowance under the FDCA, as the Respondent argues, does not mean 

that its conduct also complied with the CSA.47  In fact, meeting the criteria for 

permissible compounding under the FDCA only means that the Respondent is 

                                                 
47  I am not making any finding about whether the Respondent violated (or complied with) the FDCA.  As the 
Government points out in its post-hearing brief, the FDA, the agency tasked with implementing the FDCA, is 
responsible for ensuring the safety and effectiveness of new drugs for their intended purposes.  Gov’t PHB, at 44 
(citing Am. Pharm. Ass’n v. Weinberger, 377 F. Supp. 824, 830 (D.D.C. 1974)).  The DEA, in contrast, is the federal 
agency charged with enforcing the CSA and combatting the “unlawful diversion” of controlled substances.  Id. (citing 
id.).  By establishing the FDA and DEA, Congress manifested its intent to create two distinct institutions responsible 
for regulating drugs.  Weinberger, 377 F. Supp. at 830.  On the one hand, the FDA is responsible for “determining 
which new drugs should be permitted to enter the flow of commerce.”  Id.  On the other hand, once a drug is approved 
to enter the marketplace, the DEA is responsible for ensuring that a particular class of drugs, controlled substances, is 
not diverted outside the lawful chain of distribution from manufacturer to patient.  Id.; see also Gonzales v. Raich, 
545 U.S. 1, 13 (2005) (stating that in enacting the CSA, Congress created “a closed regulatory system” to curb “the 
diversion of drugs from legitimate to illicit channels”). 

There is, undoubtedly, overlap between the scope of FDA’s and DEA’s authority.  Weinberger, 377 F. Supp. 
at 831.  In a broad sense, both agencies are responsible for protecting the public from unsafe or dangerous drugs.  
Weinberger, 377 F. Supp. at 831.  These are similar regulatory missions.  And yet, it is important to keep in mind, as 
the D.C. District Court explained in Weinberger, that the FDA ensures a drug is safe before entering the market, while 
the DEA protects the public from the diversion of controlled substances after entering the stream of commerce.  377 
F. Supp. at 830-31.   

Given this distinction, it is understandable why the Agency has stopped short when it comes to interpreting 
the FDCA or holding respondents accountable for violating the FDCA.  For example, in Wedgewood, the Agency 
stressed that it did “not rely on FDA’s position” when applying the CSA’s “compounding” provisions, even though 
its interpretation happened to be consistent with FDA guidelines and statutes.  71 Fed. Reg. at 16596.  In two other 
DEA cases, the Agency explicitly stated that it lacked the authority to interpret the FDCA or to declare violations of 
the FDCA.  Paul Weir Battershell, N.P., 76 Fed. Reg. 44359, 44368 n.27 (2011); Tony T. Bui, M.D., 75 Fed. Reg. 
49979, 49989 (2010).  First in Bui, then reinforced in Battershell, the Agency emphasized that the “DEA is not charged 
with administering the [FDCA]”; therefore, any attempt to “definitively interpret” the FDCA would be outside the 
scope of its delegated authority.  Id.  Similarly, this lack of authority to interpret the FDCA “bars the Agency from 
deciding whether Respondent violated the statute.”  Battershell, 76 Fed. Reg. at 44368 n.27.  Simply put, the issue of 
whether a registrant violated the FDCA is “outside of the Agency’s authority to adjudicate.”  Bui, 75 Fed. Reg. at 
49989. 

Although the Agency has stated that interpreting or declaring violations of the FDCA is outside its authority, 
the extent to which violating the FDCA may be considered under Factor Five is another matter.  In Battershell, the 
Agency noted that respondent’s plea agreement established that he violated the FDCA and that evidence of such 
violation could “be considered under factor five” for the “purpose of assessing the likelihood of Respondent’s future 
compliance with the CSA.”  76 Fed. Reg. at 44368 n.27 (citing Wonderyears, Inc., 74 Fed. Reg. 457, 458 n.2 (2009) 
(stating unlawful conduct related to non-controlled drugs is relevant in determining whether respondent can be trusted 
to comply with the CSA)).  Although a violation of the FDCA adjudicated in another forum could be analyzed under 
Factor Five to evaluate the Respondent’s likelihood of following the CSA, the Government has not advanced any such 
theory in this case.  In fact, the Government’s only Factor Five allegation is that the Respondent’s business consisted 
almost exclusively of dispensing controlled substances to patients presenting numerous red flags.  Gov’t PHB, at 39-
40.  Because the Government has not argued that the Respondent’s compounding should be assessed under the FDCA 
in a Factor Five analysis, I will not consider whether the Respondent violated or complied with the FDCA under Factor 
Five.  David W. Bailey, M.D., 81 Fed. Reg. 6045, 6046 n.2 (2016) (stating no findings may be made under Factor Five 
unless the Government specifically advances a theory under that factor). 
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exempt from satisfying the FDA’s “new drug” approval process.  It does not mean 

that the Respondent is exempt from the CSA’s definition of manufacturer.   

The same is true with respect to Florida law.  Although the Respondent’s 

practice of anticipatory compounding may have been permissible under Florida law, 

that fact alone does not automatically render the practice in accord with the CSA’s 

definitions.  While I agree with the Respondent that part of the CSA’s manufacturing 

exemption includes “conformity with applicable State or local law,” the CSA also 

requires that compounding be done “as an incident to . . . dispensing” in order to be 

exempt from the definition of manufacturer.  21 U.S.C. § 802(15).  And as already 

shown, anticipatory compounding is inconsistent with the phrase “as an incident 

to . . . dispensing.”  Id.  It is also inconsistent with the Agency’s view of permissible 

compounding articulated in Wedgewood.  71 Fed. Reg. at 16595. 

The Respondent’s post-hearing arguments address neither Wedgewood nor 

the “incident to” language in the CSA’s definition of manufacture.  The 

Respondent’s primary argument is that both Florida law and the FDCA allow 

anticipatory compounding, and that “the evidence appears to suggest that the 

Respondent engaged in permissible anticipatory compounding in compliance with 

applicable federal and state law.”  Resp’t PHB, at 41.  I reject the Respondent’s 

argument that it can seek refuge under Florida’s anticipatory compounding 

allowance for three reasons.  First, I recognize that consistent with Gonzales v. 

Oregon, the Agency typically looks to the standards of practice in the registrant’s 

state of registration as the appropriate benchmark against which to evaluate the 

registrant’s conduct.  See 546 U.S. 243, 270 (2006) (noting the CSA “manifests no 

intent to regulate the practice of medicine generally” and that the CSA rests “upon a 

functioning medical profession regulated under the States’ police powers”); Joseph 

Gaudio, M.D., 74 Fed. Reg. 10083, 10090 (2009) (explaining the DEA looks to state 

standards to evaluate whether a bonafide doctor-patient relationship was formed).  
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Deference to state standards of medicine is based, in part, on the Supreme Court’s 

finding that the CSA “conveys unwillingness to cede medical judgments to an 

executive official,” such as the U.S. Attorney General, “who lacks medical 

expertise.”  Oregon, 546 U.S. at 266.  Deciding to limit compounding to an activity 

dependent on dispensing, as the CSA does, is not, however, a medical judgment that 

requires medical expertise, in the same way that determining proper medical 

treatment is a medical judgment requiring medical expertise.  Defining what is and 

is not manufacturing is wholly different than interfering with a state’s police power 

to regulate the practice of medicine. 

Second, while compounding is generally a matter left to state regulators, drug 

manufacturing remains subject to federal authority.  Prof. & Pat. For Customized 

Care, 56 F.3d at 593.  Accordingly, the CSA views anticipatory compounding as a 

form of manufacturing.  And while registrants are obligated to follow state law, they 

are also obligated to follow the CSA, which includes its registration requirements.  

Nothing in the Florida law cited by the Respondent exempts the Respondent from 

the CSA’s requirement to obtain appropriate DEA registration before engaging in 

certain regulated activities as the CSA defines them.  And as already discussed, the 

CSA considers compounding (even if conducted in compliance with state law) to be 

manufacturing unless it is an incident to dispensing.   

Third, federal law typically trumps state law.  “The Supremacy Clause 

unambiguously provides that if there is any conflict between federal and state law, 

federal law shall prevail.”  Gonzalez v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1, 29 (2005).  I view the 

conflict here as analogous to the conflict between state and federal regulation of 

marijuana.  While many states have relaxed their restrictions around the cultivation, 

use, and sale of marijuana, that drug remains a schedule I controlled substance under 

the CSA.  While Florida law may permit anticipatory compounding, that conduct 

meets the definition of manufacturing under the CSA, and therefore, triggers federal 
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obligations on top of state obligations, such as obtaining the proper federal 

registration.    

The Respondent also argues that the evidence fails to show that the 

Respondent sold any of the drugs it compounded to a distributor or reseller, “as 

would be expected in the case of a traditional drug manufacturer.”  Id.  The CSA’s 

definition of manufacture, however, does not depend on to whom the drugs are sold 

after being created.  21 U.S.C. § 802(15).  The CSA’s definition of manufacture 

focuses on how the drug is created, not the manufacturer’s business model for selling 

it.  Id.  Consequently, the Respondent can still be held accountable for manufacturing 

controlled substances without the proper registration regardless of the fact that it sold 

its compounded drugs directly to patients rather than to distributors or wholesalers. 

This brings us to the evidence of record.  The clearest evidence that the 

Respondent manufactured, rather than compounded for individual patients, comes 

from the closing inventory conducted by DI Albert and Mr. Clement, Sr., in 

September 2018.  Tr. 52, 54, 56, 165-66; GX 7.  The closing inventory documented 

the number of controlled substances the Respondent had on hand at the time.  Id.  

DI Albert observed Mr. Clement, Sr., conduct the inventory and Mr. Clement, Sr., 

signed off on it.  Tr. 56, 166.   

The closing inventory shows that on September 10, 2018, the Respondent had 

3,546 compounded capsules of hydromorphone 8 mg on hand and 574 compounded 

capsules of oxycodone 30 mg on hand.  GX 7, p. 1.  These capsules were sitting in 

a safe when they were counted.  Tr. 56.  Several thousand capsules sitting in a safe 

is not consistent with compounding for an individual patient’s therapeutic needs as 

an incident to dispensing.  It is consistent with manufacturing capsules in bulk and 

storing them until a prescription is presented.  

The Respondent argues that no evidence of record proves that it “produced 

significantly large quantities of any drug.”  Resp’t PHB, at 41.  Whether the 4,120 
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capsules stored in the Respondent’s safe on September 10, 2018, constitutes a 

“significantly large” quantity is beside the point.  Whether the Respondent produced 

a large or small amount of compounded capsules, however, is relative, and my 

finding on this allegation has nothing to do with the amount of capsules produced.  

In fact, the Agency has instructed that “volume alone does not show that [a 

registrant’s] activity is manufacturing rather than compounding.”  Wedgewood, 71 

Fed. Reg. at 16597.  While volume can be one relevant factor to consider,48 the 

distinguishing factor is whether the pharmacy compounded “on an individual patient 

basis” as an adjunct to dispensing.  Id. at 16594-95, 16597.  And as already noted, 

storing over four thousand compounded capsules in a safe is not consistent with 

compounding “on an individual patient basis” as an adjunct to dispensing.  Id.  It is, 

in effect, manufacturing.   

This is especially true when the Respondent typically filled only two to four 

prescriptions per day.  Tr. 508.  The rough math shows that four thousand 

compounded capsules could be enough for two weeks of dispensing.  Considering 

that a month’s supply of oxycodone would be roughly 112 tablets (GX 18, p. 6) and 

a month’s supply of hydromorphone would be roughly 120 tablets (GX 44, p. 6), the 

Respondent had enough oxycodone capsules on hand to fill approximately 5 

prescriptions and enough hydromorphone capsules on hand to fill about 29 

prescriptions.  Together, this would approximate the number of prescriptions the 

Respondent typically saw over the course of two weeks.  This lends further support 

to my conclusion that the amount of compounded capsules the Respondent had on 

                                                 
48  Based on Dr. Sullivan’s testimony, the Government argued that “the extreme volume of Respondent’s compounding 
indicated that it was not being done in response to the individualized patient needs.”  Gov’t PHB, at 47.  Compounding 
only 30 capsules would still be manufacturing if not done for an individual patient.  Four thousand capsules, however, 
raises far more suspicions than 30 would.  Thus, I have considered the amount of compounded capsules, and I find 
that it further supports my conclusion that the Respondent was manufacturing rather than compounding on a patient-
by-patient basis.  Per Wedgewood, however, the volume of compounding alone is not outcome determinative.  71 Fed. 
Reg. at 16597. 
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hand on September 10, 2018, is not consistent with compounding for individual 

patients as an incident to dispensing.  Rather, it is consistent with manufacturing.    

In addition to the closing inventory, the Government also points to statements 

made by Mr. Clement, Sr., in 2012.  Gov’t PHB, at 46.  In May 2012, during 

execution of an administrative inspection warrant (AIW) at the Respondent 

pharmacy, TFO Shearer interviewed Mr. Clement, Sr., the Respondent’s owner.  

Tr. 183.  Mr. Clement, Sr., was not in custody at the time and was free to leave.  Id.  

In the interview, Mr. Clement, Sr., told TFO Shearer about his process for 

manufacturing oxycodone and hydromorphone in capsules. Tr. 183-84.  

Mr. Clement, Sr., told TFO Shearer that he could buy a 100 gram bottle of 

oxycodone powder for $1,100, enough to manufacture about 6,000 dosage units.  

Tr. 185.  Tablets of oxycodone purchased from commercial distributors cost roughly 

$2-$10 per pill.  Id.  In other words, $1,100 worth of powder could produce at least 

$12,000 worth of dosage units.  Mr. Clement, Sr., told TFO Shearer that he 

manufactured thousands of capsules per batch because it was cost effective.  Tr. 184-

85.  The batch records that TFO Shearer reviewed in 2012 documented that 

Mr. Clement, Sr., produced thousands of pills in each batch.  Id.  Mr. Clement, Sr., 

also told TFO Shearer that he persuaded patients to take capsules even if they did 

not want them because capsules have the same effect as tablets.49  Tr. 185-86. 

Although these statements were made in 2012, they demonstrate that the 

Respondent had a system in place to compound thousands of capsules at a time.  

Tr. 184-85.  These statements also demonstrate that the Respondent’s motive for 

mass-compounding thousands of capsules per batch was cost effectiveness, rather 

than patients’ unique therapeutic needs.  Tr. 184-86.  These statements provide 

                                                 
49  While reliable hearsay statements may be admissible in these administrative proceedings, Mr. Clement, Sr.’s, 
statements to TFO Shearer in 2012 are not hearsay.  They enjoy enhanced credibility as they would qualify as 
statements by a party opponent and would, therefore, be excluded from the definition of hearsay.  Fed. R. Evid. 
801(d)(2). 
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additional support to the conclusion that the Respondent’s compounding was cost-

driven rather than patient-driven, and that the Respondent was, therefore, 

manufacturing and not compounding as the CSA understands those terms.   

The Government also points to the batch records obtained pursuant to the 2017 

subpoena.  Gov’t PHB, at 46; Tr. 27.  A batch record documents the production of a 

controlled substance and lists the ingredients in the controlled substance.  Tr. 33.  

The batch record is created by the person who makes the substance.  Id.  The batch 

records indicate how many capsules were used in the production of each batch.  

Tr. 38, 40-41.  The batch records in Government Exhibit 5 document the production 

of hydromorphone 8 mg.  The batch records in Government Exhibit 6 document the 

production of oxycodone 30 mg.  The hydromorphone batch records show that the 

Respondent “compounded” from 600 to 2,400 capsules per batch, with 1,200 

capsules being the most frequently occurring quantity.  See generally GX 5.  The 

oxycodone batch records show that the Respondent “compounded” from 600 to 

1,800 capsules per batch, with 1,200 capsules being the most frequently occurring 

quantity.  See generally GX 6.  These numbers are consistent with the number of 

compounded capsules found during the 2018 closing inventory and with 

Mr. Clement, Sr.’s, statements to TFO Shearer in 2012.  These numbers are also 

consistent with manufacturing rather than compounding on an individualized patient 

basis. 

 Furthermore, the Respondent’s dispensing records also demonstrate that the 

patients for whom the Respondent compounded oxycodone and hydromorphone did 

not have valid therapeutic needs for compounded medication.  Dr. Sullivan 

explained that compounding is only done when necessary “to meet the individual, 

unique therapeutic needs of a patient.”  Tr. 231.  Compounding would be necessary, 

he continued, if the patient had an allergy to the commercially available version or 

if the patient needed a unique dose or strength that was not available in the mass-
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produced product.  Tr. 230-31.  Dr. Sullivan’s testimony on this topic is consistent 

with case law.  As already noted, the Fifth Circuit described compounding as a 

process designed “to create a medication to meet the unique needs of an 

individual . . . patient.”  Mukasey, 536 F.3d at 387.  The Fifth Circuit further noted 

that compounding is necessary to create “patient-specific medication.”  Id.  The 

Supreme Court has observed that one reason why a pharmacist would need to 

compound patient-specific medication is if the patient is allergic to an ingredient in 

the commercially manufactured drug.  Thompson, 535 U.S. at 361.  Other reasons, 

the Fifth Circuit has also recognized, include “diluted doses for children and altered 

forms of medications for easier consumption.”  Prof. & Pat. For Customized Care, 

56 F.3d at 593.   

Dispensing records, however, show that the Respondent dispensed both 

commercially manufactured tablets and compounded capsules to the same patient.  

The fact that the Respondent dispensed both commercially available tablets and 

compounded capsules of the same controlled substances to the same patients 

indicates that the patients lacked “unique therapeutic needs” for the compounded 

version.  Tr. 231, 256.  For example, the Respondent dispensed seven prescriptions 

of oxycodone 30 mg tablets to patient A.G. from June 2017 to August 2018.  ALJ 

Ex. 42, p. 11.  During that same time period, the Respondent also dispensed to A.G. 

three prescriptions of oxycodone 30 mg compounded capsules.  Id.  A note dated 

March 13, 2017, in A.G.’s profile states that a doctor approved dispensing 

medication to A.G. in compounded capsules.  GX 15, p. 1; ALJ Ex. 42, p. 13.  After 

March 2017, however, the Respondent continued dispensing both tablets and 

compounded capsules to A.G.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 11.  Thus, even if a doctor approved 

of A.G. taking compounded capsules, it was not for a therapeutic or medical reason 

since he continued to alternate between capsules and tablets. 
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In another example, the Respondent dispensed both tablets and compounded 

capsules to patient R.G. to fill the same oxycodone prescription.  GX 49; Tr. 325-

26.  Dr. Sullivan opined that R.G. clearly had no valid therapeutic need for 

compounded capsules since he also took the tablet form of the same drug.  Tr. 326.  

Patient R.G. also received oxycodone in capsules on 15 occasions from June 2017 

to September 2018, and in tablets on 2 occasions during the same time period.  ALJ 

Ex. 42, p. 45.  As Dr. Sullivan observed, the fact that the Respondent dispensed 

oxycodone to R.G. in both capsule and tablet forms, and dispensed capsules and 

tablets together on one occasion, demonstrates that the Respondent was not 

compounding for R.G. in response to a unique therapeutic need for compounded 

capsules.  Tr. 325-26.  Furthermore, no profile for any of the patients documents an 

allergy that would have necessitated compounded capsules.  Tr. 339; GX 15, 20, 23, 

26, 29, 32, 35, 38, 41, 47, 51. 

Dr. Sullivan pointed out numerous other instances where the Respondent’s 

dispensing history demonstrated that patients lacked legitimate therapeutic 

justification for compounded capsules.  From January 2018 to December 2018, the 

Respondent dispensed compounded capsules of hydromorphone 8 mg to A.H. on 

eight occasions:  January 4; February 15; March 5; April 3; May 2; August 16; 

September 11; and December 5.  ALJ Ex. 42, pp. 15-16; GX 19; GX 21.  The 

Respondent then dispensed tablets of hydromorphone 8 mg to A.H. on the following 

five occasions in 2019:  January 22; February 15; February 27; March 14; and 

April 18.  Id.  The fact that the Respondent dispensed capsules of hydromorphone to 

A.H. on eight occasions in 2018 and then tablets of hydromorphone on five 

occasions in 2019 demonstrates that A.H. had no unique therapeutic justification that 

required the Respondent to compound hydromorphone capsules for him.  Tr. 255-

56, 258-59, 269. 
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Dr. Sullivan noted a lack of therapeutic justification to compound 

hydromorphone for B.S. since he received hydromorphone in both tablets and 

capsules.  Tr. 274.  From August 2017 to August 2018, the Respondent filled 

12 hydromorphone prescriptions with compounded capsules for B.S.:  August 22, 

2017; September 27, 2017; October 18, 2017; November 15, 2017; December 12, 

2017; January 4, 2018; January 29, 2018; February 28, 2018; March 26, 2018; April 

23, 2018; May 22, 2018; and August 24, 2018.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 19; GX 24.  On 

February 5, 2019, the Respondent filled a hydromorphone prescription for B.S. with 

tablets.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 20; GX 22.  The fact that the Respondent dispensed 

hydromorphone tablets to B.S. in 2019 shows that B.S. had no unique therapeutic 

justification that required the Respondent to compound hydromorphone capsules for 

him on 12 occasions in 2017 and 2018.  Tr. 255-56, 258-59, 269, 274. 

The Respondent dispensed oxycodone capsules and tablets to C.R., indicating 

that there was no valid therapeutic reason for the Respondent to compound 

oxycodone capsules for her.  Tr. 255-56, 258-59, 269, 274, 279-80.  On July 19, 

2017, and October 26, 2017, the Respondent filled oxycodone prescriptions for C.R. 

with compounded capsules.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 23; GX 27.  The Respondent then filled 

four oxycodone prescriptions for C.R. with tablets:  March 6, 2018; April 19, 2018; 

July 12, 2018; and August 28, 2018.  Id. 

Dr. Sullivan observed that J.M. alternated between tablets and capsules of 

oxycodone, demonstrating that there was no valid therapeutic need for the 

Respondent to compound oxycodone capsules for her.  Tr. 290.  First, the 

Respondent dispensed oxycodone tablets to J.M. on January 25, 2018, and then filled 

J.M.’s next oxycodone prescription with compounded capsules on March 1, 2018.  

ALJ Ex. 42, p. 30; GX 33; Tr. 290.  The next month the Respondent switched back 

to oxycodone tablets on April 4, 2018, followed by oxycodone capsules on April 19, 

2018, and then switched back again to tablets on May 16, 2018.  Id.  The fact that 
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the Respondent alternated between dispensing oxycodone tablets and capsules to 

J.M. demonstrates that there was no valid therapeutic reason for the Respondent to 

compound oxycodone capsules for her.  Tr. 255-56, 258-59, 269, 274, 279-80, 290. 

Dr. Sullivan observed that the Respondent dispensed oxycodone tablets and 

compounded capsules to M.M.  Tr. 295, 297.  From June 2017 to August 2018, the 

Respondent filled 14 oxycodone prescriptions for M.M. with compounded capsules.  

Tr. 295, 297; ALJ Ex. 42, pp. 33-34; GX 34; GX 36.  From January 2019 to April 

2019, the Respondent filled five oxycodone prescriptions for M.M. with tablets.  Id.  

The fact that the Respondent dispensed compounded oxycodone capsules to M.M. 

for over a year and then switched to dispensing oxycodone tablets to her for several 

months demonstrates that there was no valid medical reason for the Respondent to 

have compounded oxycodone for her.  Tr. 255-56, 258-59, 269, 274, 279-80, 290, 

295, 297. 

Dr. Sullivan observed that the Respondent compounded hydromorphone 

capsules for N.B. without any apparent therapeutic justification.  Tr. 302.  From June 

2017 to August 2018, the Respondent filled twelve hydromorphone prescriptions for 

N.B. with compounded capsules.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 37; GX 39. 

Dr. Sullivan pointed out that the Respondent compounded hydromorphone 

capsules for R.B. without any apparent medical justification.  Tr. 311, 319-20.  From 

June 2017 to January 2019, the Respondent filled 14 hydromorphone prescriptions 

for R.B. with compounded capsules.  GX 40; GX 43; ALJ Ex. 42, pp. 41-42.  At 

least three of those prescriptions were originally written for tablets and were 

substituted for capsules by the Respondent.  Tr. 319-20; GX 44, pp. 6-7.  The 

Respondent then dispensed hydromorphone tablets to R.B. on three occasions from 

February to April 2019.  ALJ Ex. 42, p. 42; GX 40.  The fact that the Respondent 

dispensed tablets and capsules of hydromorphone to R.B., switching prescribed 
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tablets to capsules, demonstrates that there was no valid therapeutic reason for the 

Respondent to compound hydromorphone for R.B.  Tr. 311, 319-21. 

Lastly, Dr. Sullivan noted that the Respondent compounded capsules of 

hydromorphone for R.L. without any apparent medical justification.  Tr. 331; ALJ 

Ex. 42, p. 49; GX 52.  From June 2017 to September 2018, the Respondent filled 14 

hydromorphone prescriptions for R.L. with compounded capsules.  Id. 

In sum, the evidence paints a picture of a pharmacy mass-compounding bulk 

quantities of oxycodone and hydromorphone in thousands of capsules per batch.  

The evidence further reveals the Respondent’s motive for doing so:  profit rather 

than patient need.  The evidence shows that the Respondent’s “compounding” was 

not incidental to the act of dispensing.  Because the Respondent’s “compounding” 

was not conducted “on an individual patient basis” after having received a 

prescription, it is not exempt from the CSA’s definition of “manufacture.”  

Wedgewood, 71 Fed. Reg. at 16595.  This is true regardless of whether the 

Respondent complied with Florida law and the FDCA, since it must also comply 

with the CSA’s registration requirements.  Thus, the Respondent engaged in 

manufacturing thousands of controlled substance dosages over a period of several 

years without the proper registration.  For these reasons, the Government’s 

allegation that the Respondent illegally manufactured controlled substances is 

SUSTAINED.  ALJ Ex. 1, pp. 8-10, ¶ 20-28. 

 

Government’s Burden of Proof and Establishment of a Prima Facie Case 

Based upon my review of each of the allegations by the Government, it is 

necessary to determine if it has met its prima facie burden of proving the 

requirements for a sanction pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 824(a).  At the outset, I find that 

the Government has demonstrated and met its burden of proof in support of 

revocation through its case that the Respondent has failed to resolve red flags of 
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diversion and to document the resolution of red flags of diversion in accordance with 

Florida law and the usual course of professional practice in Florida.  Furthermore, 

the Government has additionally demonstrated that the Respondent unlawfully 

manufactured controlled substances without the proper registration.  Inasmuch as 

the Government has established by a preponderance of the evidence that the 

Respondent violated state and federal laws relating to controlled substances on 

numerous occasions and committed such other conduct which may threaten the 

public health and safety, it has met its prima facie burden of proving that the 

requirements for a sanction pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 824(a) are satisfied. 

PUBLIC INTEREST DETERMINATION:  THE STANDARD 

Pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 823(f) (2006 & Supp. III 2010), the Acting 

Administrator50 may revoke a DEA Certificate of Registration if persuaded that 

maintaining such registration would be inconsistent with the public interest.  

Evaluation of the following factors have been mandated by Congress in determining 

whether maintaining such registration would be inconsistent with “the public 

interest”: 

(1) The recommendation of the appropriate State licensing board or 
professional disciplinary authority. 

(2) The [registrant’s] experience in dispensing, or conducting research 
with respect to controlled substances. 

(3) The [registrant’s] conviction record under Federal or State laws 
relating to the manufacture, distribution, or dispensing of controlled 
substances. 

(4) Compliance with applicable State, Federal, or local laws relating to 
controlled substances. 

(5) Such other conduct which may threaten the public health and safety. 

21 U.S.C. § 823(f). 

“These factors are . . . considered in the disjunctive.”  Robert A. Leslie, M.D., 

                                                 
50  This authority has been delegated pursuant to 28 C.F.R. §§ 0.100(b) and 0.104 (2008).   
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68 Fed. Reg. 15227, 15230 (2003).  Any one or a combination of factors may be 

relied upon, and when exercising authority as an impartial adjudicator, the Agency 

may properly give each factor whatever weight it deems appropriate in determining 

whether a registrant’s registration should be revoked.  Id. (citation omitted); David 

H. Gillis, M.D., 58 Fed. Reg. 37507, 37508 (1993); see also Morall v. DEA, 412 

F.3d 165, 173-74 (D.C. Cir. 2005); Henry J. Schwarz, Jr., M.D., 54 Fed. Reg. 16422, 

16424 (1989).  Moreover, the Agency is “not required to make findings as to all of 

the factors,” Hoxie v. DEA, 419 F.3d 477, 482 (6th Cir. 2005); see also Morall, 412 

F.3d at 173, and is not required to discuss consideration of each factor in equal detail, 

or even every factor in any given level of detail.  Trawick v. DEA, 861 F.2d 72, 76 

(4th Cir. 1988) (holding that the Administrator’s obligation to explain the decision 

rationale may be satisfied even if only minimal consideration is given to the relevant 

factors, and that remand is required only when it is unclear whether the relevant 

factors were considered at all).  The balancing of the public interest factors “is not a 

contest in which score is kept; the Agency is not required to mechanically count up 

the factors and determine how many favor the Government and how many favor the 

registrant.  Rather, it is an inquiry which focuses on protecting the public interest.”  

Jayam Krishna-Iyer, M.D., 74 Fed. Reg. 459, 462 (2009). 

 

Factors Two and Four:  Experience in Dispensing, and Compliance with 
Applicable State, Federal, or Local Laws Relating to Controlled Substances 

The Government seeks the revocation of the Respondent’s COR based 

primarily on conduct most appropriately considered under Public Interest Factors 

Two and Four.51  The Government has also raised one allegation under Factor Five. 

                                                 
51  21 U.S.C. § 823(f)(2), (4).  There is nothing in the record to suggest that a state licensing board made any 
recommendation regarding the disposition of the Respondent’s DEA COR (Factor One).  Likewise, the record contains 
no evidence that the Respondent has been convicted of (or charged with) a crime related to controlled substances 
(Factor Three).   
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Factor Two:  Experience in Dispensing Controlled Substances 
Factor Two requires consideration of the Respondent’s experience in 

dispensing controlled substances.  The plain language of Factor Two dictates that a 

registrant’s prior experience in the regulated activity must be considered.  The 

Agency has acknowledged that even a considerable level of benign or even 

commendable experience could be easily outweighed by evidence demonstrating 

that continued registration was inconsistent with the public interest.52   

The Respondent did not offer specific direct evidence, either documentary or 

testimonial, relating to experience in dispensing.  Although the Government has 

proved misconduct which could be considered under Factor Two and Factor Four, 

I will only weigh that misconduct under Factor Four to avoid double-counting the 

same violations under multiple factors. 

 
Factor Four:  Compliance with Applicable Federal, State, or Local Laws 

Relating to Controlled Substances 
 

Evidence is considered under Factor Four when it reflects a respondent’s 

compliance (or non-compliance) with laws related to controlled substances.  

Established violations of the CSA, DEA regulations, or other laws regulating 

controlled substances at the state or local level are cognizable under Factor Four.  As 

DEA has held in the past, a registrant’s “ignorance of the law is no excuse” for 

actions that are inconsistent with responsibilities attendant upon a registration.  

Daniel A. Glick, D.D.S., 80 Fed. Reg. 74800, 74809 (2015) (quoting Sigrid Sanchez, 

M.D., 78 Fed. Reg. 39331, 39336 (2013) (citing Patrick W. Stodola, 74 Fed. Reg. 

20727, 20735 (2009) and Hageseth v. Superior Ct., 59 Cal. Rptr. 3d 385, 403 (Ct. 

                                                 
52  See, e.g., Paul J. Caragine, Jr., 63 Fed. Reg. 51592, 51560 (1998) (“[E]ven though the patients at issue are only a 
small portion of Respondent Pharmacy’s patient population, his prescribing of controlled substances to these 
individuals raises serious concerns regarding [his] ability to responsibly handle controlled substances in the future.”); 
Med. Shoppe-Jonesborough, 73 Fed. Reg. at 386 (finding that the misconduct outweighed the fact that only a relatively 
small portion of the respondent’s patient population was involved).   
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App. 2007) (a “licensed health care provider cannot ‘reasonably claim ignorance’ of 

state provisions regulating medical practice”))).  Under Agency precedent, “[a]ll 

registrants are charged with knowledge of the CSA, its implementing regulations, as 

well as applicable state laws and rules.”  Id. at 74809 (internal citations omitted).    

Standard of Care as to Charged Violations 
Prescriptions for controlled substances may only be “issued for a legitimate 

medical purpose by an individual practitioner acting in the usual course of his 

professional practice.”  21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a).  Although “[t]he responsibility for 

the proper prescribing and dispensing of controlled substances is upon the 

prescribing practitioner . . . a corresponding responsibility rests with the pharmacist 

who fills the prescription.”  Id.  This “prohibits[s] a pharmacist from filling a 

prescription for a controlled substance when she either knows or has reason to know 

that the prescription was not written for a legitimate medical purpose.”  Wheatland 

Pharm., 78 Fed. Reg. 69441, 69445 (2013) (internal quotations, alterations omitted).  

This “standard of care refers to that generally recognized and accepted in the medical 

community rather than a standard unique to the practitioner.”  Rene Casanova, M.D., 

77 Fed. Reg. 58150, 58161 (2012) (citing Robert L. Dougherty, M.D., 76 Fed. Reg. 

16823, 16832 n.11 (2011) (internal citations omitted)).  While “state law is a relevant 

factor in determining whether a practitioner is acting in the ‘usual course of 

professional practice,’ it is appropriate in the context of an inquiry under federal law 

to also consider ‘generally recognized and accepted medical practices’ in the United 

States.”  Id.  (citing Bienvenido Tan, M.D., 76 Fed. Reg. 17673, 17681 (2011)).   

A pharmacy’s standard of care for dispensing controlled substances is 

governed by federal and state law, as well as standards of practice accepted within 

the state.  “A prescription for a controlled substance may only be filled by a 

pharmacist, acting in the usual course of his professional practice.”  21 C.F.R. 

§ 1306.06.  Under Florida law, a pharmacy is required to conduct a prospective drug 
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use review before filling or refilling any prescription for controlled substances.  Fla. 

Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.810.  Florida law also requires pharmacies to question 

suspicious prescriptions and to only fill a prescription if the pharmacy can validate 

the prescription’s medical legitimacy.  Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.831.  Florida 

law also requires pharmacies to maintain a patient record system.  Fla. Admin. Code 

r. 64B16-27.800.  Dr. Sullivan explained that under Florida law, pharmacies must 

document information relevant to resolving red flags in the patient record system.  

Tr. 209, 453-55, 489.  He further noted that a patient record system is synonymous 

with a patient profile.  Tr. 209.  The Agency has previously interpreted Florida law 

as requiring pharmacies to document information in the patient profile that they 

would need to resolve red flags.  Trinity II, 83 Fed. Reg. at 7330.  Failure to 

document information pertinent to red flag resolution in the patient profile would 

violate Florida law and, therefore, be outside the usual course of professional 

practice in Florida.     

While violations of state law are cognizable under Factor Four, Agency 

precedent provides that “the mere fact that a violation of a state rule occurs in the 

context of the dispensing of controlled substances does not necessarily mean that the 

violation has a sufficient nexus to the CSA’s core purpose of preventing the 

diversion and abuse of controlled substances.”  Fred Samimi, M.D., 79 Fed. Reg. 

18698, 18710 (2014).  There must be a nexus between the state law that has been 

violated and the CSA’s purpose of preventing drug abuse and diversion.  Id.  

Therefore, the inquiry is twofold: it must be determined whether the Respondent’s 

conduct violated the particular state law alleged and whether that state law has a 

nexus with the CSA’s purpose of preventing drug abuse and diversion.  See Judulang 

v. Holder, 565 U.S. 42 (2011) (actions of a regulatory agency must bear a rational 

relationship to the purposes of the statute it is charged with enforcing); Tony T. Bui, 

M.D., 75 Fed. Reg. 49979, 49989 (2010) (holding that in order for a registrant’s 
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“conduct to be actionable, there must be a substantial relationship between the 

conduct and the CSA’s purposes of preventing drug abuse and diversion, and that 

the conduct may constitute a threat to public health and safety”); see also Paul Weir 

Battershell, N.P., 76 Fed. Reg. 44359 n.27 (2011) (to same effect). 

This condition is met here.  The Florida laws that the Respondent violated 

share the CSA’s purpose of combatting the diversion of controlled substances.  

Similar to DEA regulations, Florida law defines a valid prescription as one “based 

on a practitioner-patient relationship” and “issued for a legitimate medical purpose.”  

Compare Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.831(1)(a), with 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a).  

Furthermore, Florida law places a priority on the medical legitimacy of controlled 

substance prescriptions.  Florida pharmacies are required to confirm the medical 

legitimacy of a controlled substance prescription before filling it.  Fla. Admin. Code 

r. 64B16-27.831(2)-(3).  Florida law even provides steps the pharmacy should take 

in its process to validate the prescription.  Id.  If a pharmacy is unable to resolve the 

concerns raised by a controlled substance prescription, the pharmacy should refuse 

to fill it.  Id. at 64B16-27.831(2)(c).  The same regulation also requires Florida 

pharmacies to report prescribers suspected of diversion to the Florida Department of 

Health.  Id. at 64B16-27.831(4). 

Florida law also specifies that before dispensing medication, pharmacies 

should be on the lookout for signs of clinical abuse or misuse of prescriptions drugs.  

Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.810(1)(g).  In addition to looking out for signs of 

abuse, Florida pharmacies are also required to maintain a patient record system for 

the purpose of documenting information relevant to resolving red flags of diversion 

or abuse.  Id. at 64B16-27.800; Tr. 209, 453-55, 489. 

The objectives of these Florida laws are to ensure prescriptions for controlled 

substances are issued for legitimate medical purposes; to impose on pharmacies a 

process to confirm the medical legitimacy of controlled substances before dispensing 
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them; to be on guard for evidence that drugs are being abused or misused; and to 

memorialize findings relevant to red flag investigation in the patient’s records.  

These objectives demonstrate the same fundamental purpose of the CSA to ensure 

controlled substances remain within legitimate channels. 

The Government has also raised allegations involving a pharmacy’s 

corresponding responsibility under 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a).  The DEA has 

consistently interpreted a pharmacist’s corresponding responsibility “as prohibiting 

a pharmacist from filling a prescription for a controlled substance when he either 

‘knows or has reason to know that the prescription was not written for a legitimate 

medical purpose.’”  Medicine Shoppe—Jonesborough, 73 Fed. Reg. 364, 381 (2008) 

(quoting Medic-Aid Pharmacy, 55 Fed. Reg. 30043, 30044 (1990)).  In short, a 

pharmacist has a “corresponding responsibility under Federal law” to dispense only 

lawful prescriptions.  Liddy’s Pharmacy, L.L.C., 76 Fed. Reg. 48887, 48895 (2011) 

(citation omitted).  The regulation does not require the pharmacist to practice 

medicine, but instead, imposes a responsibility upon the pharmacist “not to fill an 

order that purports to be a prescription but is not a prescription within the meaning 

of the statute because he knows [or has reason to know] that the issuing practitioner 

issued it outside the scope of medical practice.”  E. Main St. Pharmacy, 75 Fed. Reg. 

66149, 66157 (2010) (quoting United States v. Hayes, 595 F.2d 258, 261 (5th Cir. 

1979)).   

Providing further guidance concerning a pharmacist’s corresponding 

responsibility the DEA has held: 

[W]hen the circumstances surrounding the presentation of a 
prescription would give rise to suspicion in a “reasonable professional,” 
there is a duty to “question the prescription[].”  Ralph J. Bertolino, 
d/b/a/Ralph J. Bertolino Pharmacy, 55 Fed. Reg. 4729, 4730 (1990).  
Though initially framed as a “reasonable professional” standard, the 
Agency has considered the duty to discharge the corresponding 
responsibility by evaluating the circumstances in light of what would 
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be considered suspicious by a “reasonable pharmacist.”  East Main 
Street Pharmacy, 75 Fed. Reg. 66149, 66165; see also Winn’s 
Pharmacy, 56 Fed. Reg. 52559, 52561 (1991).  Accordingly, a 
pharmacist or pharmacy may not dispense a prescription in the face of 
a red flag (i.e., a circumstance that does or should raise a reasonable 
suspicion as to the validity of a prescription) unless he or it takes steps 
to resolve the red flag and ensure that the prescription is valid.  Id.  
Because Agency precedent limits the corresponding responsibility to 
circumstances which are known or should have been known, Sun & 
Lake Pharmacy, Inc., 76 Fed. Reg. 24523, 24530 (2011), it follows that, 
to show a violation of a corresponding responsibility, the Government 
must establish that: (1) the Respondent dispensed a controlled 
substance; (2) a red flag was or should have been recognized at or 
before the time the controlled substance was dispensed; and (3) the 
question created by the red flag was not resolved conclusively prior to 
the dispensing of the controlled substance.  See Sun & Lake Pharmacy, 
76 Fed. Reg. at 24532 (Finding that pharmacy violated corresponding 
responsibility where it took no steps to resolve red flags prior to 
dispensing controlled substances.).  The steps necessary to resolve the 
red flag conclusively will perforce be influenced by the nature of the 
circumstances giving rise to the red flag. 
 

Holiday CVS, L.L.C., d/b/a CVS/Pharmacy Nos. 219 & 5195, 77 Fed. Reg. 62316, 

62341 (2012). 

Further, to establish a violation of a pharmacist’s corresponding 

responsibility, the Government must establish the requisite degree of scienter.  Hills 

Pharmacy, L.L.C., 81 Fed. Reg. 49816, 49835 (2016) (citing JM Pharmacy Group, 

Inc., d/b/a Farmacia Nueva and Best Pharma Corp., 80 Fed. Reg. 28667, 28669 

(2015)).  To establish scienter, the Government can show that a pharmacist violated 

his or her “corresponding responsibility” by filling a prescription while knowing that 

it lacked a legitimate medical purpose.  Hills Pharmacy, L.L.C., 81 Fed. Reg. at 

49835.  In the case before me, however, the Government presented no evidence that 

one of the Respondent’s pharmacists filled a prescription with actual knowledge that 

the prescription was not legitimate.  Absent actual knowledge, the Government can 
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establish scienter by showing that a pharmacist was “willfully blind (or deliberately 

ignorant) to the fact that the prescription lacked a legitimate medical purpose.”  Id.  

To establish willful blindness, it is necessary to show that a pharmacist subjectively 

believed that there was a high probability that the prescription lacked a legitimate 

medical purpose and that the pharmacist deliberately avoided learning the truth.  Id.  

Here, the Government argues that the Respondent’s failure to document the 

resolution of numerous red flags when it filled many prescriptions establishes that 

the Respondent was willfully blind as to the medical legitimacy of those 

prescriptions.  Gov’t PHB, pp. 34-35. 
The Government has introduced a preponderance of evidence to prove that 

the Respondent dispensed numerous controlled substance prescriptions for at least 

eleven patients.  Those prescriptions raised classic red flags of drug abuse and/or 

diversion, to include early fills, travelling long distances, paying in cash, dangerous 

drug cocktails, and highest strength of the medication, among others.  The 

Government also introduced the patient profiles for each of these eleven patients, as 

well as twelve hardcopy prescriptions for two of the patients.  The profiles contain 

insufficient information, and in some cases no information, that would have enabled 

the Respondent to sufficiently resolve the suspicion raised by the prescriptions.   

The evidence reveals a concerning pattern of a pharmacy that repeatedly 

ignored its state-mandated obligation to document information needed to resolve red 

flags in a patient record system.  This concerning pattern demonstrates that 

regardless of the obvious signs of drug abuse and diversion that are well-known to 

the pharmacy community, and firmly-established in DEA precedent, the Respondent 

repeatedly dispensed controlled substances and rarely, if ever, documented any 

information in response to those red flags in the patient record.  And when the 

Respondent documented information, it was always insufficient to resolve all the 

concerns raised by the prescription.   
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With respect to the twelve prescriptions in evidence, the Government has 

further demonstrated a violation of the Respondent’s corresponding responsibility 

under 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a).  While I declined to sustain the Government’s 

allegation that the Respondent violated its corresponding responsibility with respect 

to prescriptions not in evidence, the other sustained violations are more than enough 

for the Government to establish its prima facie burden justifying sanction.  The 

Government has proven this violation through documentary evidence and testimony 

from its expert witness.   

Furthermore, the Respondent failed to rebut or discredit the Government’s 

case.  The Respondent did not introduce any documentary evidence and it only 

offered the testimony of a single witness, who failed to convincingly rebut the 

Government’s evidence.  In light of the record as to this factor, I find that the 

Government has overwhelmingly proven that the Respondent failed to comply with 

federal and state law with respect to resolving and documenting resolution of red 

flags of drug abuse and/or diversion, and with respect to its corresponding 

responsibility for the prescriptions in evidence.   

Furthermore, I find that the Government has sponsored a preponderance of  

evidence to show that the Respondent engaged in unlawful manufacturing of 

controlled substances without the proper DEA registration, in violation of 21 U.S.C. 

§ 841(a)(1) and 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e).  Thus, the Government has introduced 

evidence against the Respondent with respect to two aspects of the controlled drug 

supply chain, dispensing and manufacturing.  The totality of this evidence 

demonstrates a concerning lack of compliance with applicable federal and state law 

that poses a significant risk of diversion and threatens public health and safety.  This 

evidence further demonstrates a lack of commitment on the Respondent’s part with 

respect to its federal and state controlled substance obligations.  Therefore, I find 

that this factor significantly favors revoking the Respondent’s registration. 
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Factor Five:  Such Other Conduct Which May Threaten the Public 
Health and Safety 

The Government argues that in addition to weighing the misconduct 

committed on a patient-by-patient basis, the Tribunal should also consider that the 

“Respondent’s business consisted almost entirely of dispensing controlled 

substances to customers who exhibited one or more significant red flags.”  Gov’t 

PHB, p. 39 (emphasis in original).  To support this allegation, the Government 

contends that nearly all of the Respondent’s customers paid cash and nearly all of 

them lived over 100 miles from the pharmacy.  Id., pp. 39-40.  The Government adds 

that controlled substances, specifically schedule II narcotics, constituted a grossly 

disproportionate percentage of the Respondent’s overall dispensing.  Id., p. 40.  

Thus, the Government urges that in addition to the “specific violations relating to 

specific patients” under Factors Two and Four, it is appropriate to “consider the 

pervasiveness of Respondent’s misconduct” under Factor Five.  Id., p. 39.  This is 

the only misconduct the Government has alleged under Factor Five. 

As I announced at the hearing, however, I will not sustain any allegations 

based solely on statistical grounds.53  Tr. 18, 218.  Although Dr. Sullivan suggested 

that the high number of patients provided compounded medication alone was proof 

positive that the subject compounding could not have been legitimate, Tr. 336-37, 

I don’t accept that the law of averages alone may sustain the Government’s burden 

of proving Respondent’s subject alleged failures.  Even if the Respondent’s business 

consisted entirely of dispensing controlled substances to cash-paying patients who 

                                                 
53  Due Process notice concerns may be implicated in allegations of “guilt” by statistical analysis.  The essential 
requirements of due process “are notice and an opportunity to respond” before a person is deprived of a protectable 
property interest.  Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 542, 546 (1985).  Where a single misfeasance 
can justify sanction, does the allegation on the basis of a statistical overview provide the respondent with sufficient 
notice of charges in which to defend?  See Pope v. U.S. Postal Service, 114 F.3d 1144, 1148-49 (1997) (concluding 
an employee’s due process right to notice was not violated where, among other things, “the administrative judge 
required the Postal Service to break down the charges into multiple specifications, each directed to a specific act of 
misconduct, which helped alleviate due process notice concerns”).  
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lived over 100 miles from the pharmacy, that fact alone would only be grounds for 

sanction if the Government proved Respondent violated its corresponding 

responsibility or dispensed controlled substances outside the usual course of 

professional practice by failing to resolve and document red flags.  This Tribunal 

believes these evaluations must necessarily be individualized to specific 

prescriptions.  Statistical analysis may be an important tool in focusing attention on 

particular practitioners warranting further investigation, and it may be evidence in 

support of an ultimate conclusion that an individual prescription was improperly 

compounded or dispensed, but it does not, in itself, constitute proof positive of any 

violations.54  Accordingly, this Tribunal is not convinced that evidence of statistical 

probability constitutes proof positive of actionable misconduct, even under the 

catch-all provision of Factor Five.   

In the alternative, the Government has introduced evidence pertaining to 

eleven patients, sustaining its burden with respect to those patients by focusing on 

each dispensing event individually.  That evidence has been evaluated under Factor 

Four.  For these reasons, I decline to consider any conduct under Factor Five. 

 

Acceptance of Responsibility  
With the Government’s prima facie burden having been met as to violations 

of the corresponding responsibility under 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a) with respect to 

twelve prescriptions; dispensing controlled substances outside the usual course of 

professional practice in violation of 21 C.F.R. § 1306.06 for failing to document red 

flag resolution in compliance with state law; and unlawfully manufacturing 

controlled substances without the proper DEA registration in violation of 21 U.S.C. 

§ 841(a)(1) and 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e), an unequivocal acceptance of responsibility 

                                                 
54  What would such a finding look like, “on average, the evidence proves that the Respondent must have prescribed 
at least a single compounded medication improperly”? 
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stands as a condition precedent for the Respondent to prevail.  George Mathew, 

M.D., 75 Fed. Reg. 66138, 66148 (2010).   

This feature of the Agency’s interpretation of its discretionary authority under 

the CSA has been sustained on review.  MacKay v. DEA, 664 F.3d 808, 822 (10th 

Cir. 2011).  Accordingly, the Respondent must present sufficient mitigating 

evidence to assure the Administrator that it can be entrusted with the responsibility 

incumbent with such registration. Medicine Shoppe-Jonesborough, 73 Fed. Reg. 

364, 387 (2008); Samuel S. Jackson, 72 Fed. Reg. 23848, 23853 (2007).  As past 

performance is the best predictor of future performance, DEA has repeatedly held 

that where a registrant has committed acts inconsistent with the public interest, the 

registrant must accept responsibility for its actions and demonstrate that it will not 

engage in future misconduct.  ALRA Labs, Inc. v. DEA, 54 F.3d 450, 452 (7th Cir. 

1995); Medicine Shoppe, 73 Fed. Reg. at 387; see also Hoxie v. DEA, 419 F.3d 477, 

483 (6th Cir. 2005) (reasoning that “admitting fault” is “properly consider[ed]” by 

DEA to be an “important factor[]” in the public interest determination).  Likewise, 

in making the public interest determination, “this Agency places great weight on a 

registrant’s candor, both during an investigation and in [a] subsequent proceeding.”  

Robert F. Hunt, 75 Fed. Reg. 49995, 50004 (2010); Hoxie, 419 F.3d at 483.  

Although correcting improper behavior and practices is very important to 

establish acceptance of responsibility, conceding wrongdoing is critical to 

reestablishing trust with the Agency.  Holiday CVS, L.L.C., 77 Fed. Reg. 62316, 

62346 (2012); Daniel A. Glick, D.D.S., 80 Fed. Reg. 74800, 74801 (2015).   

The Respondent has not unequivocally accepted responsibility for the proven 

violations.  In fact, the Respondent has not tendered any acceptance of responsibility 

at all, whether equivocal or unequivocal.  The Respondent’s owner and pharmacist-

in-charge never testified at the hearing in order to accept responsibility.  Instead, the 

Respondent’s sole witness, a pharmacy tech, never admitted that the Respondent 
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committed any wrongdoing.  The Respondent’s post-hearing brief is silent on this 

issue.  Resp’t PHB, p. 29, ¶ (i); p. 32, ¶ (ii); p. 36, ¶ (iii).   

The Respondent took the similar approach in its opening statement, arguing 

that the Government has failed to satisfy its burden; accusing the DEA of never 

intending to clearly or objectively evaluate the evidence; attacking the credentials of 

the Government’s expert; claiming that the Respondent exercised appropriate 

judgment when dispensing the relevant controlled substance prescriptions in 

compliance with Florida law; and complaining about the so-called “ivory tower 

aspirational” standard the DEA is imposing on its conduct.  Tr. 503-05.  In other 

words, the message from the Respondent’s post-hearing brief and its opening 

statement is that it has done nothing wrong.  These sentiments are inconsistent with 

a registrant that is remorseful for misconduct and determined to regain the Agency’s 

trust.  By failing to accept responsibility, the Respondent has failed to overcome the 

Government’s prima facie case.  In addition to failing to accept responsibility, the 

Respondent has also failed to offer any evidence of remediation. 

 
Egregiousness and Deterrence  

While a registrant must accept responsibility and demonstrate that it will not 

engage in future misconduct in order to establish that his/her continued registration 

is consistent with the public interest, DEA has repeatedly held these are not the only 

factors that are relevant in determining the appropriate sanction.  See, e.g., Joseph 

Gaudio, 74 Fed. Reg. 10083, 10094 (2009); Southwood Pharm., Inc., 72 Fed. Reg. 

36487, 36504 (2007).  The egregiousness and extent of an applicant’s misconduct 

are significant factors in determining the appropriate sanction.  See Jacobo Dreszer, 

76 Fed. Reg. 19386, 19387-88 (2011) (explaining that a respondent can “argue that 

even though the Government has made out a prima facie case, his conduct was not 

so egregious as to warrant revocation”); Paul H. Volkman, 73 Fed. Reg. 30630, 
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30644 (2008); see also Gregory D. Owens, 74 Fed. Reg. 36751, 36757 n.22 (2009).  

I find that the proven misconduct is egregious and that deterrence 

considerations weigh in favor of revocation.  The proven misconduct involves 

repeated instances of dispensing high-strength schedule II controlled substances 

despite the presence of well-known signs of drug abuse and diversion.  The proven 

misconduct also involves repeat instances of failing to follow state law and state 

standards of practice with respect to documenting red flag resolution in the patient 

profile.  Continuously dispensing high-strength schedule II opioids, sometimes 

dangerously combined with high-strength benzodiazepines, to patients who raised 

multiple red flags of diversion, and failing to document any investigation into those 

red flags in the patient profiles, constitutes egregious misconduct because it allowed 

for the potential of unchecked diversion of controlled substances into illegitimate 

channels. 

Finding that the Respondent’s proven misconduct is egregious is warranted 

despite the fact that I only weighed the Government’s evidence under Factor Four.  

The public interest factors are considered separately and any one or combination of 

factors may be considered when weighing the evidence.  Robert A. Leslie, M.D., 68 

Fed. Reg. at 15230 (citation omitted).  It is not necessary that a sanction be supported 

by findings under each factor.  Hoxie v. DEA, 419 F.3d at 482; Morall, 412 F.3d at 

173.  It is also not required to discuss consideration of each factor in equal detail, or 

even every factor in any given level of detail.  Trawick v. DEA, 861 F.2d at 76.  The 

balancing of the public interest factors “is not a contest in which score is kept; the 

Agency is not required to mechanically count up the factors and determine how 

many favor the Government and how many favor the registrant.  Rather, it is an 

inquiry which focuses on protecting the public interest.”  Jayam Krishna-Iyer, M.D., 

74 Fed. Reg. at 462.  Thus, I find that sanction is justified and that the Respondent’s 

conduct was egregious even though the evidence was only weighed under a single 
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factor.  

In addition to the severity of the Respondent’s dispensing misconduct, the 

Respondent also unlawfully manufactured thousands of capsules of schedule II 

controlled substances without being registered with the DEA as a manufacturer.  As 

noted earlier, registered manufacturers of controlled substances are held to higher 

standards than practitioners with respect to recordkeeping, reporting, security, and 

frequency of renewing registration.  Thus, manufacturing controlled substances 

without the DEA’s blessing enabled the Respondent to produce thousands of dosage 

units of controlled substances over several years in the absence of regulatory 

monitoring.  As with unlawful dispensing, unlawful manufacturing is an egregious 

violation and warrants the revocation of registration.   

I further find that deterrence considerations weigh in favor of revocation.  

Allowing the Respondent to retain its COR despite the proven misconduct would 

send the wrong message to the regulated community.  Imposing a sanction less than 

revocation would create the impression that registrants can maintain DEA 

registration despite repeatedly failing to resolve and document the resolution of red 

flags in accordance with state law, and despite engaging in a regulated activity 

without obtaining approval from the DEA to engage in that activity.  Revoking the 

Respondent’s COR communicates to registrants that the DEA takes all failings under 

the CSA seriously and that severe violations will result in severe sanctions. 

 

Advice of Counsel 
When the DEA executed an AIW at the Respondent in September 2018, the 

Respondent’s owner and pharmacist-in-charge, Mr. Clement, Sr., refused to speak 

to DI Albert upon advice of counsel to not answer any questions.  Tr. 168, 173, 177.     

The Respondent has an absolute right to seek advice of counsel, and no adverse 

inference from obtaining advice of counsel may be drawn.  It does not provide, 
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however, any defense to actions taken, including failing to eventually respond to 

DEA inquiries following consultation with counsel, or lack of cooperation with the 

DEA’s investigation.      

 

Loss of Trust 
            Where the Government has sustained its burden and established that a 

registrant has committed acts inconsistent with the public interest, that registrant 

must present sufficient mitigating evidence to assure the Acting Administrator that 

he can be entrusted with the responsibility commensurate with such a 

registration.  Medicine Shoppe-Jonesborough, 73 Fed. Reg. 364, 387 (2008). 

           There is no evidence that suggests the Respondent has learned any lessons 

from its misconduct.  As just discussed, the Respondent does not appear to believe 

it has done anything wrong.  And the Government’s evidence proves violations that 

occurred within the past few years, allowing a significant lapse of time for the 

Respondent to reform its ways. 

These actions do not engender trust.  The Respondent’s failure to accept 

responsibility and present remediation evidence has convinced this Tribunal that the 

DEA cannot trust Respondent with the obligations of a DEA registration.  

Furthermore, on two occasions the Respondent exhibited a lack of trustworthiness.  

First, in May 2017, the Respondent’s owner directed his wife to ask a DEA 

Diversion Investigator to leave the pharmacy during an inspection.  Tr. 27.  

Secondly, during execution of an AIW in September 2018, the Respondent’s owner 

refused to answer the same Diversion Investigator’s questions upon advice of 

counsel.  Tr. 168, 173, 177.  As just noted, the Respondent is entitled to rely upon 

the advice of counsel; however, relying on advice of counsel cannot serve as a 

defense to actions taken, such as refusing to cooperate with the DEA’s investigation.  

Both of these instances demonstrate a concerning reluctance on the Respondent’s 
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part to work with the DEA in correcting its transgressions.  If the DEA cannot trust 

the Respondent to cooperate with its investigators, it is hard to trust that it will take 

its duties under the CSA seriously.  See Satinder Dang, M.D., 76 Fed. Reg. 51424, 

51425 (2011) (noting the ALJ determined a respondent’s lack of cooperation with 

DEA investigators weighed against the respondent); Kimberly Maloney, N.P., 76 

Fed. Reg. 60922, 60929 n.25 (2011) (noting respondent’s cooperation with 

investigators weighed in her favor).  Thus, I find that the Respondent has lost a 

significant amount of trust and has failed to overcome that loss of trust by 

demonstrating to the Agency that it can be relied upon to lawfully discharge it’s 

COR obligations. 

RECOMMENDATION 
Considering the entire record before me, the conduct of the hearing, and 

observation of the testimony of the witnesses presented, I find that the Government 

has met its burden of proof and has established a prima facie case for revocation.  

Furthermore, I find that the Respondent has not accepted responsibility, or presented 

sufficient evidence demonstrating that the Agency can entrust it with a COR. 

Therefore, I recommend that the Respondent’s DEA COR No. FP2302076 

should be REVOKED, and that any pending applications for modification or 

renewal of the existing registration, and any applications for additional registrations, 

be DENIED. 

 

Signed:  May 5, 2020 

 

        Mark M. Dowd 
                                                                        MARK M. DOWD 
                                                                        U.S. Administrative Law Judge 
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Certificate of Service 
 This is to certify that the undersigned, on May 5, 2020, caused a copy of the 
foregoing to be delivered to the following recipients: (1) John Beerbower, Esq., 
Counsel for the Government, via email to the DEA Government Mailbox at 
dea.registration.litigation@usdoj.gov; and (2) Dale R. Sisco, Esq., Sisco-Law, 
Counsel for the Respondent, via email at dsisco@sisco-law.com. 
 
 
            
 
       Bella A. Mapeso 

      Bella Mapeso, Secretary   
Office of Administrative Law Judges  
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COMES NOW, Respondent, PRONTO PHARMACY, LLC (“Respondent”), by and 

through its undersigned counsel, and submits these proposed findings of fact and conclusions of 

law:

I. PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT

A. The Government’s Allegations

1. On or about August 23, 2019, the Drug Enforcement Administration (hereinafter, 

the “Government”) issued an Order to Show Cause and Immediate Suspension of 

Registration (the “”OSC”) to the Respondent.

2. In the OSC, the Government alleges that Respondent’s pharmacists failed to 

exercise their corresponding responsibility to ensure that controlled substances they 

dispensed were dispensed pursuant to prescriptions issued for legitimate medical 

purposes by practitioners acting within the usual course of their professional practice.  

OSC, at p. 2.

3. To support the allegations in the OSC, the Government relied primarily on its 

expert, Donald Sullivan (“Mr. Sullivan”).  Id.  The OSC recites that Mr. Sullivan 

“reviewed numerous prescriptions filled by [Respondent],” and “concluded that 

[Respondent] repeatedly issued prescriptions in violation of the minimum practice 

standards that govern the practice of pharmacy in Florida.”  Id.  The OSC further states 

that, “from at least January 2018 to at least May 2019, [Respondent] repeatedly filled 

prescriptions for Schedule II narcotics in the fact of obvious red flags of drug abuse and 

diversion,” in violation of both federal and Florida law.  Id.

4. According to the OSC, Mr. Sullivan’s review of “numerous prescriptions filled by 

[Respondent] between January 9, 2018 and May 7, 2019” led him to conclude that 

2
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Respondent repeatedly filled prescriptions in the face of “red flags,” which Mr. Sullivan 

opined “were so strongly indicative of drug abuse and diversion that they could not have 

been resolved by a pharmacist acting in the usual course of professional practice.”  Id. at 

pp. 3-4. 

5. According to Mr. Sullivan, these “red flags” included (i) prescribing of “drug 

cocktails” for five (5) patients, (ii) early refills of controlled substance prescriptions for 

five (5) patients, (iii) excessive dispensing of high strength controlled substances, (iv) 

patients traveling long distances to fill prescriptions at Respondent’s pharmacy, and (v) 

excessive cash payments.  Id. at pp. 4-7.

6. In the OSC, the Government also alleged that the Respondent “was engaged in the 

‘manufacture’ of controlled substances, as that term is defined in the Controlled 

Substances Act, despite not being registered with the DEA as a manufacturer.”  Id. at p. 2.

7. The Government alleged that Mr. Sullivan “reviewed purchasing and dispensing 

data for [Respondent] between January 2018 and May 2019,” and “opined that 

[Respondent] was ‘compounding’ an unreasonably large quantity of oxycodone and 

hydromorphone capsules.”  Id.  at p. 9.

8. The Government alleged that Respondent’s owner and pharmacist-in-charge 

(“PIC”) told DEA investigators that Respondent manufactured oxycodone and 

hydromorphone capsules based on projected demand.  Id. at pp. 9-10.

9. Based upon the allegations contained in the OSC regarding Respondent’s 

purportedly improper dispensing practices and illegal manufacturing of controlled 

substances, the Government contended that Respondent’s registration should be revoked 

3
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and any pending application should be denied because Respondent has committed such 

acts as would render its registration inconsistent with the public interest.  Id. at p. 2.

B. The Evidence

10. Over the course of a two-day final hearing, the evidence presented to the Tribunal 

consisted of four (4) witnesses and sixty-eight (68) exhibits.

i. DI Richard Albert

11. Richard James Albert, Jr. (“DI Albert”) is a DEA diversion investigator stationed 

in the Tampa, Florida field office.  Tr. 24:17-23.  He has been a diversion investigator for 

over seven (7) years.  Tr. 24:24-25:2.  His training as a diversion investigator included 

basic diversion school – a 12-week course held in Quantico, Virginia.  Tr. 25:8-11.  DI 

Albert testified that, during the aforementioned 12-week diversion investigator course, he 

was taught to be thorough in his investigations and to gather as much information as he 

could to support any allegation he investigated.  Tr. 121:16-24.  

12. During the 12-week diversion investigator course, DI Albert was instructed on 

federal law.  However, DI Albert has had no education regarding Florida law as it pertains 

to pharmacy operations.  Tr. 152:25-153:2.  DI Albert looked solely to federal law when 

investigating and analyzing Respondent’s case.  Tr. 153:3-5.  DI Albert admitted that he 

crafted the subpoenas that were served on the Respondent, and that he included 

references to Florida Administrative Code (“FAC”) provisions in the subpoenas because 

those provisions were significant to him.  Tr. 153:10-15.  However, DI Albert 

subsequently conceded that he did not know what significance the FAC provisions held 

4
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for him, that the FAC provisions were already included in his subpoena template, and that 

he did not know what those provisions mean.  Tr. 153:16-154:2.

13. The duties of a DEA diversion investigator include the performance of cyclic 

investigations (every two (2) or three (3) years) of distributors, manufacturers, 

pharmacies, doctors, importers, exporters, and reverse distributors regarding matters of 

diversion.  Tr. 25:12-20.  

14. In his seven (7) years of service as a DEA diversion investigator, DI Albert has 

been involved in numerous diversion investigations.  Tr. 25:21-24.

15. DI Albert became involved in a diversion investigation of the Respondent 

pharmacy in approximately May of 2017.  Tr. 26:3-7.

16. In or around May of 2017, DI Albert conducted a 10-15 minute inspection of 

Respondent’s pharmacy.  Tr. 26:17-27:7.

17. In September of 2017, DI Albert served a subpoena on the Respondent seeking 

original Schedule II controlled substance prescriptions, receiving records, and batch 

records.  Tr. 27:12-20.

18. In response to the subpoena, DI Albert received the following records from the 

Respondent:

a. A 52-page receiving record from “Auburn Pharmaceutical” to Respondent.  

Tr. 28:1-24; GE 2.

b. A 5-page receiving record from “B&B Pharmaceuticals” to Respondent.  

Tr. 29:9-30:9; GE 3.

c. A 5-page receiving record from “Fagron, Incorporated: to Respondent.  Tr. 

31:18-32:1; GE 4.

5
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d. 36 pages of batch records for “hydromorphone 8 mg.”  Tr. 32:21-33:1; GE 

5.

e. 15 pages of batch records for “hydromorphone 30 mg.” Tr. 38:22-39:11; 

GE 6.

19. DI Albert did not know whose signatures and initials appeared on Respondent’s 

batch records.  Tr. 150:1-151:10.

20. As part of his investigation, DI Albert queried the E-FORSCE database, which he 

also referred to as the “Prescription Drug Monitoring Program” or “PDMP” database, for 

information pertaining to the Respondent.  Tr. 43:21-44:16.  

21. DI Albert generated three (3) reports pertaining to the Respondent from the E-

FORSCE/PDMP database.  Tr. 44:25-51:19; GE 8, 9, 10.

22. In or around September of 2018, DI Albert served an administrative inspection 

warrant (“AIW”) and subpoena upon the Respondent.  Tr. 52:14-53:10; GE 67.

23. DI Albert, accompanied by a “computer tech” person from “SFL9” and at least 

five (5) other DEA employees, conducted an inspection of Respondent’s pharmacy 

pursuant to the AIW.  Tr. 55:25-56:4; 164:23-165:4.  

24. During the inspection and execution of the AIW, DI Albert and the other DEA 

personnel took possession of and inventoried all Schedule II controlled substances in 

Respondent’s possession. Tr. 56:2-8; 59:17-60:1; GE 7.  

25. Neither DI Albert nor any of the other DEA agents conducted interviews of 

patients or Respondent’s staff during the inspection and execution of the AIW.  Tr. 

168:2-16.  

6
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26. DI Albert acknowledged that Respondent’s only obligation in connection with the 

DEA’s inspection and execution of the AIW was to direct DEA agents to the location of 

records that were responsive to the administrative warrant and/or subpoena.  Tr. 

168:17-23.

27. With assistance from Norman Clement, Jr.,  DI Albert located and took 1

possession of all hard copy records in Respondent’s possession that were responsive to 

the administrative subpoena.  Tr. 61:7-24.  Additionally, DI Albert was able to obtain all 

electronic records requested in the administrative subpoena with the assistance of the 

SFL9 computer tech person who, DI Albert testified, “mirrored” Respondent’s hard drive 

and copied the records thereon onto a CD.  Tr. 62:17-24.  The records contained within 

the digital data retrieved by SFL9 included records pertaining not only to the specific 

patients identified in the AIW and administrative subpoena, but also to patients who were 

not the subject of DI Albert’s investigation of the Respondent.  Tr. 92:23-94:9.

28. DI Albert stood next to the computer tech person from SFL9 when the latter 

accessed Respondent’s computer to image Respondent’s hard drive.  Tr. 135:11-18.  From 

this vantage point, DI Albert was able to ascertain that the Respondent used “Rx30” – a 

computer program commonly used by pharmacies to keep track of dispensing 

information – as its pharmacy software.  Tr. 135:19-136:1.  

29. DI Albert possesses no training in the use of the Rx30 software.  Tr. 136:2-8.

 Norman Clement, Jr. (“Mr. Clement, Jr.”) is the son of Norman J. Clement, R.Ph., DDS (“Dr. 1

Clement”), the owner and PIC of the Respondent pharmacy.  Tr. 61:17.  Mr. Clement, Jr. is also a 
registered pharmacy technician.  Tr. 169:2-5.

7
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30. DI Albert did not know what process the SFL9 technician used to convert Rx30 

data obtained from Respondent’s computer system into Microsoft Excel format, or 

whether that conversion correctly performed by the SFL9 technician.  Tr. 136:13-23.

31. In response to the administrative subpoena that was served in connection with the 

September 2018 AIW, DI Albert received the following records from the Respondent:

a. A 3-month dispensing report covering the period from November of 2015 

to January of 2016, consisting of ten (10) pages.  Tr. 68:10-69:10; GE 12.

b. A spreadsheet document of an unspecified nature.  Tr. 70:4-23; GE 13.

c. A PDMP record for patient A.G.  Tr. 71:14-72:16; GE 14.

d. A spreadsheet document showing patient information and patient notes for 

patient A.G.  Tr. 73:18-74:1; GE 15.

e. A dispensing record for patient A.G.  Tr. 76:13-78:4; GE 16.

f. Another dispensing record for patient A.G.  Tr. 80:14-81:3; GE 17.

g. A PDMP record for patient A.H.  Tr. 81:22-82:16; GE 19.

h. A compilation of other records, which DI Albert testified were either 

obtained from the Respondent in connection with the AIW and accompanying 

administrative subpoena or queried from the PDMP database.  Tr. 85:10-86:3; GE 

20-43; GE 46-52.

32. Following the execution of the AIW, DI Albert engaged Mr. Sullivan as the DEA’s 

expert and began to prepare the OSC.  Tr. 88:3-17.

33. In May of 2019, DI Albert served an additional subpoena on the Respondent 

seeking patient profiles for several individuals identified on a list attached to the 

subpoena.  Tr. 88:21-90:6; GE 68.

8
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34. As part of Respondent’s response to the May 2019 subpoena, DI Albert received a 

9-page compilation of documents pertaining to patient A.G., including a patient 

questionnaire, a patient prescription summary, an E-FORSCE data printout, and front-

and-back copies of prescriptions.  94:18-96:17; GE 18.

35. As part of Respondent’s response to the May 2019 subpoena, DI Albert also 

received a 9-page compilation of documents pertaining to patient R.B.  DI Albert testified 

that this compilation contained the same types of records included in the compilation of 

records for patient A.G.  97:11-98:12; GE 44.

36. DI Albert conducted several searches, using “Google Maps,” of approximate 

distances and travel times between the address of Respondent’s pharmacy and the cities 

in which various patients purportedly reside.  Tr. 99:16-105:11; GE 54.  DI Albert also 

conducted Google Maps searches to determine approximate the one-way distances and 

travel times between the Respondent’s pharmacy and the address at which each of several 

patients purportedly resides.  Tr. 108:18-112:17; GE 56-60; GE 62-65.  In one instance, 

DI Albert used Google Maps to determine the approximate round-trip distance and travel 

time from a patient’s purported home address, to the purported address of the patient’s 

doctor, to Respondent’s pharmacy, and back to the patient’s purported home address.  

112:23-118:7; GE 61.  However, DI Albert did not know whether the Patients in fact 

travelled the routes estimated in his Google Maps searches to obtain prescriptions from 

the Respondent.  Tr. 133:5-20.

37. DI Albert conceded that it would have been important for him to speak to the 

eleven (11) patients that were the subject of his investigation (hereinafter, the “Patients”) 

in order to determine whether those patients had information that might be relevant to 

9
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certain red flags – for example, the reason why certain patients travelled to Respondent’s 

pharmacy.  Tr. 123:22-124:1.  However, DI Albert admitted that he never contacted, 

spoke with, or attempted to contact or speak with any of the Patients.  Tr. 123:6-124:9.  

38. DI Albert testified that, in reviewing Respondent’s prescription data, he became 

suspicious because certain prescriptions were written for tablets but filled in capsules.   

Tr. 125:8-20.  However, DI Albert admitted that he is not familiar with FDA guidelines 

regarding compounding and, further, that he did not analyze the records he obtained from 

the Respondent to compare the patients who received capsules that were compounded at 

Respondent’s pharmacy to the anticipated patient need.  Tr. 152:2-18.  Likewise, DI 

Albert did not compare the number of doses of capsules documented as having been 

compounded by the batch reports to the amount of drugs dispensed by the Respondent.  

Tr. 154:3-8.

39. DI Albert admitted that speaking with the prescribing physicians identified in the 

E-FORSCE data would have been a simple and straightforward method to ascertain 

whether any of those prescribers had, in fact, authorized the substitution of capsules for 

tablets for a particular prescription, and he testified further that there was nothing to 

prevent him from contacting all but one (1) of the physicians who wrote the prescriptions 

for the Patients at issue.  Tr. 126:17-127:25.  However, DI Albert never contacted, spoke 

with, or attempted to contact or speak with any of the prescribing physicians.  Tr. 

126:17-20; 128:5-7; 177:24-180:3.

40. DI Albert did not know of any federal or state law or regulation that limits the 

geographic area in which a pharmacy can dispense drugs.  Tr. 154:9-19.
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41. Apart from asking Respondent’s pharmacist questions during an inspection, DI 

Albert made no efforts to ascertain whether there was a reasonable basis or explanation as 

to why certain Patients allegedly travelled long distances to fill prescriptions at 

Respondent’s pharmacy.  Tr. 154:20-155:13.

42. DI Albert did not know of any contracts between Respondent and any insurance 

company or pharmacy benefit manager (“PBM”) in 2017, 2018, or 2019.  Tr. 156:11-14.  

43. DI Albert was not aware of any federal or state regulation requiring a pharmacy to 

accept insurance.  Tr. 158:12-19.

44. DI Albert has learned from pharmacist with whom he has been on inspections that 

PBMs have been pushing down reimbursement rates to independent pharmacies.  Tr. 

156:15-157:3.

45. DI Albert is aware that some distributors limit the amounts of Schedule 2 

controlled substances that they will supply to independent pharmacies.  Tr. 157:9-14.

46. DI Albert testified that the DEA is putting pressure on distributors through the 

“Know Your Customer” initiative to ensure that distributors sell a much higher 

percentage of non-controlled substances than controlled substances to pharmacies, and 

that part of that analysis involves calculating the ratio of dispensing of controlled 

substances versus non-controlled substances, though he was not aware of the DEA’s 

precise desired ratio.  Tr. 157:15-158:10.

ii. Jeffrey Shearer

47. Jeffrey Shearer (“Mr. Shearer”) is a self-employed owner of a private 

investigation business, which he has operated for five (5) years.  Tr. 182:2-6.  He 

formerly served as an officer of the Tampa Police Department for sixteen (16) years, the 
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last five and a half years of which he spent as a task force officer in the tactical diversion 

squad of the Tampa District Office.  Tr. 182:8-12.   

48. Mr. Shearer participated in a prior investigation that indirectly involved the 

Respondent and the execution of a search warrant at Respondent’s premises in May of 

2012.  Tr. 183:3-9.  However, Mr. Shearer admitted on cross examination that the 

proximate cause of the investigation was not the Respondent, but rather a pharmacist 

named Christopher Switlyk.  Tr. 188:15-20.  Mr. Shearer conceded that the investigation 

of Mr. Switlyk had nothing to do with Dr. Clement.  Tr. 194:4-6.

49. During the execution of the May 2012 search warrant, Mr. Shearer seized 

Respondent’s inventory.  Tr. 190:13-21.  Mr. Shearer was certain that the seized inventory 

had significant value.  Tr. 194:9-14.  However, Mr. Shearer testified that the inventory 

was never returned to the Respondent, even though neither Respondent nor Dr. Clement 

was ever charged with any crime or offense, or joined as a defendant in a False Claims 

Act or similar civil action.  Tr. 190:13-25.

50. During the search warrant execution, Mr. Shearer also interviewed Dr. Clement 

regarding Respondent’s compounding practices.  Tr. 183:10-21.  Dr. Clement was not in 

custody and agreed to be interviewed.  Id.  Mr. Shearer 

51. According to Mr. Shearer, Dr. Clement told him that the Respondent compounded 

oxycodone and hydromorphone capsules, with a similar bioavailability to commercially 

available tablets, for the sake of cost effectiveness.  Tr. 183:22-185:2.  Mr. Shearer 

testified further that Dr. Clement used a “formulary,” or mix of controlled substances, to 

produce the particular dosage that would be required.  Tr. 184-2-10.  
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52. Mr. Shearer did not recall discussing with Dr. Clement how Dr. Clement 

determined which patients would receive capsules versus tablets, though he recalled Dr. 

Clement stating there were some patients who did not want capsules.  Tr. 185:18-23.

53. Mr. Shearer did not recall anything else of note from the interview related to 

compounding.  Tr. 186:5-7.

54. During or after the execution of the May 2012 search warrant, Mr. Shearer 

prepared a DEA-6 form.  Tr. 186:23-187:3.  Mr. Shearer reviewed the DEA-6 form in 

preparation for his testimony at the final hearing in this case.  Tr. 187:6-8.  The DEA-6 

form was not produced to Respondent or its counsel.  Tr. 187:9-188:12.

iii. Donald L. “Donnie” Sullivan, Ph.D.

55. Donald L. “Donnie” Sullivan, Ph.D. (“Dr. Sullivan”), has been employed for the 

past five (5) years as a professor of clinical pharmacy at Ohio State University College of 

Pharmacy, where he teaches and conducts research.  Tr. 196:21-197:16.  Dr. Sullivan’s 

courses pertain to state and federal laws, in roughly equal proportions, related to the 

practice of pharmacy.  Tr. 198:1-4.  Prior to Ohio State, he was employed for seventeen 

(17) years at Ohio Northern University.  Tr. 197:3-4.  Dr. Sullivan is a registered 

pharmacist in Ohio and Florida, and holds a bachelor’s degree, a master’s degree in 

pharmacy administration, and a doctorate in pharmacy administration.  Tr. 198:7-16.  

56. Dr. Sullivan has worked as a community pharmacist in Ohio, but not in Florida.  

Tr. 198:17-20.  

57. Dr. Sullivan has never worked as a retail pharmacist in Florida.  Tr. 442:22-24.

58. Dr. Sullivan is not a physician.  Tr. 407:24-408:1.  
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59. In preparation for his testimony in this proceeding, and as the basis for his 

analyses and opinions in this case, Dr. Sullivan reviewed the Respondent’s Pre-Hearing 

Statement, a portion of the Government’s Pre-Hearing Statement, the PDMP data, and 

three (3) months of dispensing data from Respondent’s computer system.  Tr. 

341:1-342:6; 342:25-343:22; 360:25-362:10.  

60. Dr. Sullivan was not provided and did not review any prescriptions for any patient 

of the Respondent pharmacy.  Tr. 347:25-348:7.  

61. Dr. Sullivan testified that a physician’s annotations on the face of a prescription 

are significant to the question of whether “red flags” were resolved “in certain instances,” 

but could not say whether any physician’s notes were relevant in this case because he did 

not review any of the prescriptions involved in this case.  Tr. 348:3-349:13.

62. Dr. Sullivan reviewed the information provided to him by DI Albert but did not 

request any additional information.  Tr. 358:17-21.

63. Dr. Sullivan did not review the batch records in this case.  Tr. 433:23-434:1.

64. In preparing for this case, Dr. Sullivan did not review the statutes in Florida that 

are applicable to the giving of expert testimony against a healthcare provider, including, 

inter alia, § 766.102(5), Florida Statutes.

65. Dr. Sullivan has never been to Respondent’s pharmacy.  Tr. 407:14-16.

66. Dr. Sullivan has never spoken or attempted to speak to any of the patients whose 

E-FORSCE data he reviewed.  Tr. 407:17-23.

67. Dr. Sullivan does not know the location or current medical condition of any of the 

patients involved in this case, nor does he know whether any of those patients is still 
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receiving the same or a similar medication regime as they received when they were 

obtaining prescriptions from the Respondent’s pharmacy.  Tr. 461:21-462:6.

68. Dr. Sullivan conceded, with no small amount of reluctance, that he formed his 

opinions in this case without evaluating the prescriptions or observing or speaking with 

any of Respondent’s patients.  Tr. 414:23-416:16.

69. Dr. Sullivan did not know whether the Respondent or any of its pharmacists 

performed any diagnostic testing on any patients, including the patients whose PDMP 

data he reviewed in connection with this case.  Tr. 412:7-12.

70. Dr. Sullivan testified that the Respondent dispensed four (4) to (5) prescriptions 

per day on average, which he considers to be a “very low volume” of prescriptions.  Tr. 

419:2-20.

71. Though he testified at length with respect to data that was extracted into the 

Government’s demonstrative exhibit, he did not compare the Government’s data in the 

Government’s demonstrative exhibit to the data contained in the PDMP or E-FORSCE 

records, and so did not know whether the information in the demonstrative exhibit was 

complete.  Tr. 357:3-11.  

72. In fact, when confronted with apparent inconsistencies between the Government’s 

demonstrative exhibit and prescription data presented by the Respondent, Dr. Sullivan 

appeared to concede that the information missing from the Government’s demonstrative 

exhibit would have changed his opinion if he had been aware of said information earlier.  

Tr. 471:3-473:9.
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73. According to Dr. Sullivan, Florida law and federal law both impose a duty on 

pharmacists to ensure that each prescription is a valid prescription for a legitimate 

medical purpose.  Tr. 206:3-207:1.  

74. Dr. Sullivan testified that, pursuant to Florida Administrative Code Rules 

64B16-27.810, .800, and .831, pharmacists must take certain steps to verify that a 

prescription was written for a legitimate medical purpose.  Tr. 207:9-208:1.

75. Dr. Sullivan acknowledged that, under Florida law, a pharmacist must make 

attempts to resolve red flags before refusing to fill a prescription.  Tr. 487:7-16.

76. Dr. Sullivan agreed that no person may interfere with a pharmacist’s exercise of 

his or her independent professional judgment when validating a prescription, as set forth 

in FAC Rule 64B16-27.831.  Tr. 446:11-447:3.

77. Dr. Sullivan testified that the first step a pharmacist must take to verify the 

legitimacy of a prescription is to verify that all information legally required to be 

contained on the face of the prescription is properly included.  Tr. 208:4-11.  Then, the 

pharmacist must use his or her clinical expertise to evaluate several other factors, 

including over-utilization, under-utilization, the possibility of clinical misuse or abuse, 

whether a legitimate medical purpose exists for the prescription, and the potential for 

undue risk of side effects, adverse effects, and/or overdose situations.  Tr. 208:12-19.

78. Dr. Sullivan testified that pursuant to Florida Administrative Code Rule 

64B16-27.800, Florida pharmacies must maintain certain information in a patient record 

system or patient profile system, including the full name of a patient, the patient’s age or 

date of birth, the patient’s gender, a list of all new and refilled prescriptions obtained by 
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the patient at the pharmacy, and the pharmacist’s comments relevant to the patient’s drug 

therapy.  Tr. 209:10-210:4.

79. Dr. Sullivan testified that, under Florida law, the standard of pharmacy practice 

requires pharmacists to document the resolution of issues encountered during a 

prospective drug utilization review.  Tr. 210:5-17.  However, Dr. Sullivan later testified 

that neither Florida law nor Federal law mandates how, if at all, the resolution of such 

issues, or “red flags,” must be documented.  Tr. 435:18-437:9.  He also conceded that the 

Florida regulations that governs the steps Florida pharmacists must take before refusing 

to fill a prescription do not require (or even suggest) that pharmacists must document 

their efforts to resolve “red flags” or otherwise validate prescriptions.  Tr. 449:10-450:1.  

In fact, Dr. Sullivan acknowledged that the applicable Florida regulations “nowhere” 

mandate that a pharmacist must document resolution of “red flags” on either the 

prescription or in the pharmacy software.  Tr. 452:20-25.

80. Dr. Sullivan was unfamiliar with the Florida definition of the prevailing 

professional standard of care for healthcare providers as set forth in § 766.102, Florida 

Statutes, but agreed that the definition therein is the appropriate definition of the standard 

of care in Florida.  Tr. 438:3-439:2.

81. Dr. Sullivan testified that the “gold standard” of pharmacy practice, on which he 

instructs his students, is the equivalent of the standard of reasonable care in Florida.  Tr. 

478:5-479:11.

82. Dr. Sullivan testified that, under Federal law, pharmacists and prescribing 

physicians have an equal “corresponding responsibility” to determine whether a 

prescription has been written for a legitimate medical purpose.  Tr. 201:18-211:7.
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83. Dr. Sullivan testified that, many times, a pharmacist may simply rely on the 

information contained on a prescription, though in some instances the pharmacist should 

call the prescribing physician or speak with the patient in connection with a prospective 

drug utilization review.  Tr. 211:8-18.

84. Dr. Sullivan testified that the term “red flag” refers to a warning sign or warning 

symbol indicating that there’s something wrong with a prescription, or that the patient 

may be either abusing or diverting it.  Tr. 211:19-212:1.

85. Dr. Sullivan averred that examples of “red flags” include the following:

a. Patients traveling long distances to see the physician.  Tr. 214:16-215:1.

b. Patients traveling long distances to the pharmacy.  Id.

c. Prescribing of “drug cocktails.”  Id.

d. Prescribing of “large quantities.”  Id.

e. Patients paying for prescriptions in cash.  Id.

f. Over-prescribing of immediate release pain killers.  Id.

g. Patients coming in groups.  Id.

h. Early prescription fills.  Tr. 226:16-21.

86. According to Dr. Sullivan, national statistics show that the “average patient lives 

two miles from a pharmacy.”  Tr. 216:24-217:6.  Based on this purported statistic, Dr. 

Sullivan opined further that it is “well known in the pharmacy community  that patients 2

traveling long distances to get prescriptions filled are most likely because [sic] other 

 It is unclear what geographic area Dr. Sullivan intended the term “pharmacy community” to 2

encompass.  Given his discussion of national statistics, he was presumably referring to the 
“pharmacy community” nationwide, and not specifically to the pharmacy community in Florida.
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pharmacies would not fill them and it’s hard for them to find a place to fill those 

prescription [sic].”  Tr. 220:1-8.  

87. However, on the whole Dr. Sullivan’s testimony regarding distance as a “red flag” 

was quite ambivalent, as he later conceded that distance, by itself, is merely a “potential 

red flag” and admitted that “it’s not always a red flag by itself. . . .”  Tr. 474:7-23.  He 

subsequently admitted, with great reluctance, that distance as a “red flag” could be 

resolved.  Tr. 483:1-5.

88. Dr. Sullivan testified that one of the more well-known drug cocktails is the opioid-

benzodiazepine combination.  Tr. 220:12-17.  However, Dr. Sullivan acknowledged that 

benzodiazepines may be prescribed for “a number of different things,” including the 

treatment of anxiety and sleeplessness, as well as other permissible off-label uses.  Tr. 

458:14-459:3.  Though he testified in several instances on direct examination that the 

“drug cocktail red flag” was unresolvable, he eventually conceded that this “red flag” is, 

in fact, resolvable, if only in rare instances.  Tr. 483:12-15.

89. Dr. Sullivan testified that under state and federal law, pharmacists are required to 

perform a drug utilization review, which means to check the patient profile to ensure that 

the patient has not been prescribed a “drug cocktail” from different doctors on different 

dates at different times.  Tr. 223:1-14.

90. According to Dr. Sullivan, a pharmacist would be very reluctant to dispense a 

prescription for a combination of drugs that is subject to an FDA “black box” warning.  

Tr. 223:15-224:1.

91. Dr. Sullivan testified that cash payment for a prescription is a “red flag” because, 

in theory, the patient is using cash because he or she has obtained cash from selling the 
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drugs.  Tr. 224:22:225:4.  Dr. Sullivan added that, other than making cash payments for 

prescriptions because they are uninsured, patients may also pay for prescription in cash 

because they do not want their insurance company or employer to know that they are 

taking certain medications.  Tr. 225:5-11.  Dr. Sullivan also testified categorically that an 

insured patient will most likely use his or her insurance to pay for a prescription rather 

than paying in cash because the (unspecified) prescription is cheaper.  Tr. 225:11-15. 

92. Dr. Sullivan acknowledged that there is no Florida or Federal law that prohibits a 

pharmacy from accepting cash as payment for a prescription, and that if a pharmacy does 

not have contracts with insurance companies or PBMs, then the pharmacy would have to 

be paid in cash.  Tr. 444:12-25.  Nevertheless, even while he admitted that the 

Respondent would have no choice but to accept cash in the absence of insurance or PBM 

contracts, Dr. Sullivan refused to admit that this explanation would resolve the “red flag” 

of cash payments.  Tr. 475:6-22.

93. Dr. Sullivan testified that an early fill of a prescription for a Schedule II controlled 

substance is a “red flag” because it signifies that the patient is not taking the medication 

as directed by the physician or is taking the medication faster than directed.  Tr. 

226:16-24.  However, Dr. Sullivan was unable to determine whether any of the instances 

of purported early fills in this case were authorized by the prescribing physician or 

otherwise subject to a reasonable explanation because Dr. Sullivan did not review any 

prescriptions, speak with any of the prescribing physicians or patients, or attempt to 

ascertain any such information from the DI Albert.  Tr. 348:3-16.  

20



APP- 353

 

94. Despite testifying in several instances on direct examination that an early fill “red 

flag” is unresolvable, Dr. Sullivan eventually conceded that a “red flag” raised by a 

patient request for an early fill can, in fact, be resolved.  Tr. 483:6-11.

95. According to Dr. Sullivan, when a Florida pharmacist receives a prescription that 

presents “red flags,” “there are several things a pharmacist could do.”  Tr. 226:25-227:4.  

These include:

a. First, having a conversation with the patient to “find out what are some of 

the potential issues with some of these red flags.”  Tr. 227:7-10.

b. Second, having a conversation with the physician or physician’s agent.   3

Tr. 227:10-12.

c. After the pharmacist has spoken to the patient and the physician, looking 

at:

i. the patient record, 

ii. the prescribed drug, and

iii. the quantity and strength of other medications the patient is taking.  

Tr. 227:13-18.

96. Dr. Sullivan testified that even after a pharmacist speaks with a patient and 

prescribing physician as part of a prospective drug utilization review, the pharmacist still 

 On cross-examination, Dr. Sullivan denied as untrue the proposition that a pharmacist who 3

receives a suspicious-looking prescription for a controlled substance “usually calls the 
physician’s office to ask a few questions.”  Tr. 422:15-23.  Dr. Sullivan acknowledged having 
made precisely that assertion in a report that he authored in connection with an unrelated 
criminal case.  Tr. 429:9-11.  Additionally, Dr. Sullivan later admitted, on cross-examination, that 
FAC Rule 64B16-27.831 requires a Florida pharmacist to initiate communication with the 
prescriber before refusing to fill a prescription.  Tr. 447:16-448:1.
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has a corresponding responsibility to “make an independent judgment themselves as to 

whether they think it’s for a legitimate medical purpose or not.”  Tr. 227:19-24.

97. Dr. Sullivan testified that a pharmacist’s failure to document the result of 

communications made during a prospective drug utilization review as part of efforts to 

resolve red flags would be outside the standard of care.  Tr. 227:25-228:8.  

98. Though he testified that the prevailing standard of care requires a pharmacist to 

document resolution of “red flags” either in the notes on the pharmacy’s computer system 

or on the face of the prescription itself, Dr. Sullivan did not bother to request or review 

the prescriptions, or copies thereof, for any of the patients involved in this case.  Tr. 

441:7-412:3.

99. Dr. Sullivan admitted that individual “red flags” can sometimes be resolved, but 

there can also be combinations of “red flags” that are unresolvable.  Tr. 228:9-14.  As an 

example of a purportedly unresolvable combination  of red flags, Dr. Sullivan testified 4

that if a patient presents a prescription for two immediate release narcotic pain killers in 

very high doses, a pharmacist would not fill the prescription even after speaking with the 

prescribing physician.  Tr. 228:20-229:8.  However, Dr. Sullivan later made precisely the 

opposite assertion when he testified that there would be instances in which two (2) 

immediate release opioids could be used together.  Tr. 481:12-25.

100. Dr. Sullivan averred that if a pharmacist cannot satisfy himself that a prescription 

was issued for a legitimate medical purpose, then the pharmacist is obligated to decline to 

fill the prescription.  Tr. 228:15-19.

 It would seem that Dr. Sullivan’s example presents only a single “red flag,” to wit – 4

presentation of a prescription for two high-strength narcotics.  While Dr. Sullivan testified that 
this “red flag” is unresolvable, he did not provide an example of a combination of red flags that 
he believes are, in his estimation, unresolvable.
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101. Dr. Sullivan testified that a pharmacist can never make a decision to fill a 

prescription based solely upon what the prescribing physician tells the pharmacist about 

the prescription.  Tr. 229:15-22.

102. Dr. Sullivan described “compounding” as the means by which a pharmacist makes 

a drug “from scratch” to meet the unique therapeutic needs of a patient.  Tr. 230:4-9.

103. Dr. Sullivan testified that a pharmacist may compound a drug for a patient who is 

allergic to a particular ingredient in the commercially available formula of the drug, or if 

the patient needed a dosage or strength of the drug that was not commercially available.  

Tr. 230:11-231:16.

104. Dr. Sullivan testified that a pharmacist may properly fill a prescription using fewer 

units of a drug at a higher strength as long as the pharmacist notifies the prescribing 

physician and documents the substitution.  Tr. 231:17-232:8.

105. As to each patient with respect to whom Dr. Sullivan reviewed PDMP and/or E-

FORSCE data excerpted in the Government’s demonstrative exhibit, he testified that 

several “red flags” were presented, none of those “red flags” were resolvable, and no 

documentation he reviewed demonstrated that the “red flags” in question were, in fact, 

resolved.  Tr. 254-339.  However, Dr. Sullivan later conceded that it would be possible 

for a pharmacist to resolve all of the red flags that he earlier testified were “unresolvable,” 

and thus conceded that all of those red flags are potentially resolvable.   Tr. 501:4-14.5

 On re-direct examination, Dr. Sullivan added that this was not true with respect to the 5

“prescriptions” purportedly contained in the Government’s demonstrative exhibit.  Tr. 
501:25-502:2.  However, it must be noted that none of the purported prescriptions appearing in 
the Government’s demonstrative exhibit were introduced or admitted in evidence in this 
proceeding, and Dr. Sullivan admitted on several occasions that he did not review or attempt to 
review any actual prescriptions in this case at any time.  As such, Dr. Sullivan’s repeated 
assertion that the “red flags” presented in this case were “unresolvable” is, at best, doubtful.
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106. Dr. Sullivan testified that oxycodone 30mg and hydromorphone 8mg are 

commercially available drugs.  Tr. 232:19-24.

107. Dr. Sullivan averred that there is no legal or regulatory prohibition against a 

pharmacy adjusting its business model to primarily or solely dispense controlled 

substances.  Tr. 246:1-7; 247:3-13.

108. Dr. Sullivan admitted that the rates at which insurers and pharmacy benefit 

managers (“PBM”) reimburse pharmacies for certain products is less than the cost to the 

pharmacies to acquire those products.  Tr. 430:24-431:3.  He acknowledged that this 

phenomenon is “a problem,” and that it creates an economic hardship for small 

independent pharmacies such as the Respondent.  Tr. 430:6-431:6.

109. As a result of the decline in reimbursement rates from PBMs and insurers over the 

past two (2) to three (3) years,  Dr. Sullivan agreed that small pharmacies have had to 6

look for niche markets in order to stay in business.  Tr. 431:7-12.

110. Dr. Sullivan does not know and did not attempt to ascertain whether the 

Respondent had any contracts with insurers or PBMs.  Tr. 443:4-9.

111. Dr. Sullivan testified that unless a prescribing physician (i) indicates in his own 

handwriting on the face of a prescription that the prescription must be dispensed as 

written, or (ii) orally informs the pharmacist of this fact, the pharmacist otherwise has an 

obligation to substitute a less expensive drug product.  Tr. 431:24-432:6.  

112. Dr. Sullivan acknowledged that Respondent’s average unit dose price for 

oxycodone 30mg capsules, at $3.60 per dose, was roughly $3.00 less expensive per dose 

 According to Dr. Sullivan, this trend has been recognized by the National Community 6

Pharmacists’ Association.  Tr. 431:13-16.

24



APP- 357

 

than the commercially available oxycodone 30mg tablets, which had an average unit dose 

price of $6.67 per dose.  Tr. 476:16-477:16.

113. Dr. Sullivan agreed that pharmacists, with the consent of the patient and the 

approval of the prescribing physician, may make changes to the delivery form of 

medication as long as the dosage forms are bioequivalent.  Tr. 432:10-15.

iv. Norman Llewlyn Clement, Jr.

114. Norman Llewlyn Clement, Jr. is the son of Dr. Clement and a licensed pharmacy 

technician in the State of Florida.  Tr. 506:17-507:7.  He has been licensed since 2015 and 

has worked at Pronto Pharmacy.  Tr. 507:8-15.  One of his primary functions as an 

employee of Respondent has been to operate and maintain Respondent’s computer 

system.  Tr. 514:23-515:2.

115. While working at Pronto Pharmacy, Mr. Clement, Jr. interacts with patients on a 

daily basis.  507:23-508:1.

116. Mr. Clement, Jr. testified that Respondent is not a high volume pharmacy by any 

means, serving between one (1) and four (4) customers per day on average.  Tr. 508:2-9.

117. As a result of Respondent’s low customer volume, Mr. Clement, Jr. has a greater 

opportunity to communicate and interact with patient customers and gets to know them 

well.  Tr. 508:10-23.

118. Mr. Clement, Jr. testified that, since at least the start of his employment in 2015, 

Respondent primarily serves the niche market of patients who are suffering from chronic 

non-malignant pain.  Tr. 511:7-15.
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119. Mr. Clement, Jr. testified that Respondent’s employ a process for receiving new 

patients, which includes having the patient fill out a detailed health questionnaire, 

reviewing PDMP and E-FORSCE data, speaking with the patient, obtaining a copy of the 

patient’s driver’s license, contacting the prescriber when they feel it is necessary to obtain 

additional information and creating an electronic patient profile.  Tr. 511:16-512:17; 

513:1-22.

120. Mr. Clement, Jr. testified that, upon receiving from the DEA the computer 

equipment that DEA previously seized from Respondent, several items of equipment 

were damaged or destroyed and all of Respondent’s electronic prescription data, which 

had been maintained in the Rx30 software program, were corrupted or otherwise 

rendered inaccessible.  Tr. 515:11-518:3.

121. Mr. Clement, Jr. testified that Respondent, in deciding whether to dispense a 

Schedule II controlled substance, considers a patient’s “Narx” score, which is an indicator 

generated from the Rx30 data that is used to evaluate a patient’s likelihood of developing 

an addiction to the medication.  Tr. 518:11-519:21.

122. Mr. Clement, Jr. testified that Respondent maintains information gathered from 

patients and prescribers in several locations, including the electronic patient profile 

system, on the face of prescriptions, and in hard copy notebooks or log books.  Tr. 

542:19-543:6; 555:15-23.

II. PROPOSED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A. Legal Standard

1. The Controlled Substances Act (“CSA”) and its implementing regulations 

establish controls on the import, export, manufacture, and distribution of controlled 
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substances. See 21 U.S.C. § 801 et seq.; 21 U.S.C. § 951 et seq.; 21 C.F.R. Part 1300 et 

seq.  

2. Any company that distributes controlled substances must be registered with the 

DEA.  See 21 U.S.C. § 822(a). 

3. Once registered, the status of a DEA registrant may not be restricted without 

cause.  The CSA provides specific factors that the DEA shall consider as a basis for 

revoking, restricting, or suspending any DEA registration.  See 21 U.S.C. § 824(a).  

4. The DEA can only revoke, restrict, or suspend a registration upon a finding that 

the registrant has (1) materially falsified an application for DEA registration; (2) a prior 

felony conviction under Federal or State laws related to controlled substances or listed 

chemicals; (3) had an applicable state professional license revoked or suspended; (4) 

committed such acts as to render the registration inconsistent with the public interest; or 

(5) been subject to mandatory exclusion from participation in federal Medicare programs 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7(a). See 21 U.S.C. § 824(a).  

5. Under the CSA, the DEA must grant or continue a registration unless the agency 

determines, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the registration is inconsistent with 

the public interest.  See 21 U.S.C. § 824(a). 

6. In determining whether a registration is inconsistent with the public interest, the 

DEA shall consider: (1) the maintenance of effective controls against diversion ; (2) 7

compliance with applicable federal, state and local law; (3) prior conviction record of 

 DEA regulations indicate that whether a registrant maintains effective controls against 7

diversion is to be determined using the requirements of 21 C.F.R. §§ 1301.72-1301.76.  See 21 
C.F.R. § 1301.71(a). 
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applicant relating to controlled substances or listed chemicals; (4) past experience in 

handling controlled substances; and (5) such other factors as may be relevant to the 

public interest.  See 21 U.S.C. § 823(e).  

7. Prior to revoking or restricting a DEA registration, the DEA must issue an order to 

show cause setting forth the basis for the agency's action and providing the registrant 

with the opportunity to request a hearing on the issues raised.  See 21 U.S.C. § 824(d). 

8. In any administrative action against a DEA registrant, the government has the 

burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the registration is 

inconsistent with the public interest. 21 C.F.R. § 1301.44(d).

9. From January 28-29, 2020, a hearing was held to determine whether the DEA 

should revoke Respondent’s respective certificate of registration pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 

824(a)(4), and deny any pending applications for renewal or modification of such 

registration pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 823(f), on the asserted ground that Respondent’s 

continued registration is allegedly inconsistent with the public interest, as that term is 

defined in 21 U.S.C. § 823(f) and § 824(a)(4).

B. Analysis

10. As set forth in the OSC, the Government’s case rests on its assertion that 

Respondent’s continued DEA registration would be inconsistent with the public interest.  

To reach this conclusion, the Government advances two (2) main theories.  

11. First, the Government contends that the Respondent engaged in “improper 

dispensing” by filling prescriptions it should not have filled.  See OSC, at p. 2.  This 

contention, in turn, is predicated upon two (2) constituent contentions.  Specifically, the 
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Government alleges that the Respondent failed to resolve various “red flags” when 

issuing prescriptions to eleven (11) patients.  Id. at pp. 2-7.  It also alleges that, in at least 

some instances, the “red flags” presented by these prescriptions were unresolvable, such 

that there were no circumstances under which the Respondent could properly dispense 

the medications in question.  Id.

12. Second, the Government contends that the Respondent engaged in “illegal 

manufacturing” of Schedule II controlled substances.  Id. at p. 8.  More specifically, the 

Government alleges that the Respondent was engaged in “manufacturing” rather than 

“compounding,” as those terms are defined by the CSA.  Id.

13. As borne out at the final hearing in this cause, the Government’s case focuses on 

factors two (2) and four (4) of 21 U.S.C. § 823, to wit – Respondent’s compliance with 

applicable federal, state and local law, and its past experience in handling controlled 

substances.  21 U.S.C. § 823(e).

14. As set forth in greater detail, infra, we find that the Government has failed to 

prove, based upon a preponderance of the evidence, that the Respondent’s continued 

registration is inconsistent with the public interest.

i. The Government failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the 
Respondent dispensed prescriptions without resolving “red flags”

15. The Government’s expert, Dr. Sullivan, testified at length that the prevailing 

professional standard of care applicable to the Respondent requires the Respondent and 

its pharmacists to conduct a prospective drug utilization review and attempt to resolve 

“red flags” – i.e., indicia of diversion or abuse – before filling (or refusing to fill) a 

prescription for controlled substances.  
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16. Dr. Sullivan opined that there are many options available to a pharmacist to 

address “red flags,” including, inter alia, speaking with, observing, or even conducting a 

physical examination of the patient, communicating with the prescriber, and reviewing 

PDMP data.  He also emphasized that there is no “one size fits all” approach to 

conducting a prospective drug utilization review, as each patient and prescription may 

present different circumstances that the pharmacist, in the exercise of his or her 

independent professional judgment regarding whether a prescription was issued for a 

legitimate medical purpose, must consider.  

17. Dr. Sullivan was adamant that, whatever efforts a pharmacist may make to resolve 

“red flags,” the prevailing standard of professional care absolutely and unequivocally 

requires that the pharmacist must document his efforts somewhere, whether in the 

pharmacy’s patient record management system (a/k/a, the “patient profile”) or, notably, 

on the face of the prescription itself.  It is in this regard that that the Government’s first 

contention falls short.

18. It is beyond peradventure that the Government seized data from the Respondent 

during the execution of the OSC.  It is also unquestionable that these data included 

images of the actual prescriptions filled by the Respondent during the relevant time 

period.  Indeed, in the pre-hearing phase of this proceeding, the parties extensively 

briefed this Tribunal on the whereabouts of the prescription image data seized by DEA.  

The Respondent alleged that when the DEA eventually returned Respondent’s computer 

equipment several months after the initial seizure, the Respondent discovered that the 

data were corrupted and/or rendered inaccessible in its computer system and certain items 

of hardware had been destroyed while in DEA custody.  Through these pre-hearing 
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proceedings, it became clear that the Government was able to obtain images of the actual 

prescriptions filled by the Respondent.  In fact, the Government included excerpts of 

certain prescription images in the demonstrative exhibit it used extensively at the hearing.

19. Remarkably, though it clearly had these documents in its possession, the 

Government did not seek to introduce any of the original prescriptions, or even electronic 

images thereof, into evidence at the hearing.  The Government’s expert also testified that 

he had not reviewed any of the actual prescriptions or images thereof, and had not asked 

the DEA to provide those documents to him for review.  Instead, the Government relied 

solely upon PDMP data – spreadsheet reports that DI Albert testified were generated from 

the PDMP and/or E-FORSCE databases.  

20. The Government’s exclusive reliance on PDMP data and its expert’s review 

thereof to prove that “red flags” were not resolved was insufficient for at least one glaring 

reason: its own expert testified that the prevailing standard of professional care required 

the Respondent to document the resolution of “red flags” in one of two places – either in 

the “patient profile” (i.e., in the Respondent’s patient management computer system), or 

on the face of the prescription itself.

21. It would confound logic to conclude, as the Government invites us to do, that the 

evidence demonstrates that Respondent failed to resolve “red flags” when the record is 

utterly devoid of even so much as a single, actual prescription.  Stated differently, if the 

Respondent had the option to document resolution of “red flags” on the face of the 

prescriptions, but there is no record evidence before this Tribunal to suggest whether the 

Respondent documented resolution of “red flags” on the prescriptions (i.e., because there 
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are no prescriptions in evidence), then it cannot be said that the Respondent, in fact, 

failed to document its resolutions or attempted resolutions of “red flags.”  

22. At best, the likelihood that the Respondent resolved the “red flags” is equal to the 

likelihood that it failed to do so.  We reach this conclusion because, as noted above, only 

half of the relevant evidence on this question is before us.  To prove a factual assertion by 

a preponderance of the evidence, the Government must, at a minimum, show that it is 

more likely than not that the Respondent failed to resolve the “red flags” in question.  It 

has not done so.  

ii. The Government failed to prove that the Respondent dispensed prescriptions 
in the face of “unresolvable red flags,” or that the “red flags” presented were, 
in fact, inherently “unresolvable”

23. The Government’s failure to prove that the Respondent actually failed to resolve 

“red flags” as to the eleven (11) patients in question does not necessarily preclude us from 

finding that the Respondent engaged in improper prescribing practices.  This is so 

because the Government could alternatively prove that the Respondent filled 

prescriptions in the face of “unresolvable red flags” – i.e., “red flags” which, alone or 

collectively, could not be resolved under any set of factual circumstances.  We find that 

the Government has also failed to carry its burden on this front.

24. The Government’s expert testified at length that certain unspecified combinations 

of “red flags” are unresolvable; however, Dr. Sullivan’s testimony on this subject was 

largely muddled and often contradictory.  When pressed for an example of a combination 

of “unresolvable red flags,” Dr. Sullivan initially responded that a single prescription for 
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two (2) high strength immediate release opioid medications would present an 

unresolvable combination of “red flags.”  Beyond the obvious point that this example 

appears to present only one (1) “red flag,” however, Dr. Sullivan subsequently recanted 

his testimony on this topic, and stated that if he previously testified to that effect, then he 

misspoke.  

25. The record admits of no other evidence that would demonstrate any particular 

unresolvable combination of “red flags.”  Quite to the contrary, Dr. Sullivan ultimately 

admitted, albeit with no small amount of reluctance, that it was possible for a pharmacist 

to resolve all of the “red flags” about which he had testified, and that all of those “red 

flags” were therefore necessarily “resolvable” by definition.  While Dr. Sullivan 

continued to advance the bald assertion that there are combinations of “red flags” that are 

unresolvable, his apparent inability to point to even one (1) example of such a 

combination casts significant doubt upon the truth of his assertion.  

26. The Government also attempted to adduce broad statistical evidence in an 

apparent attempt to demonstrate that the Respondent’s dispensing volumes, pricing, and 

various other business-related indicators and benchmarks were not in keeping with those 

of the “average” community pharmacy nationwide.  However, as we intimated on several 

occasions during the hearing, this approach is doomed from the start.  The Government 

cannot prove that this Respondent violated the prevailing standard of professional 

practice (and thus that Respondent’s continued registration would be inconsistent with the 

public interest) by comparing the Respondent to some amorphous national community 

and measuring Respondent’s business activities by the yardstick of what trade 
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publications have to say about the prescribing practices and financial norms applicable to 

some hundreds or thousands of other unnamed pharmacies.  

27. If anything, the evidence of record tends to demonstrate that the Respondent was 

not an “average” community pharmacy.  Rather, it appears that the Respondent focuses 

on serving arguably underserved and/or economically disenfranchised chronic pain 

patients who reside within a fairly broad geographic area of central Florida.  The volume 

of prescriptions filled by the Respondent was, as Dr. Sullivan readily agreed, very low, 

amounting to no more than four (4) or (5) prescriptions dispensed per day on average.  

Moreover, Dr. Sullivan testified on several occasions throughout the hearing that many 

pharmacies, perhaps for fear of running afoul of regulatory scrutiny, simply will not fill 

prescriptions for the types and strengths of opioid medications that were dispensed by the 

Respondent.  He also agreed with Respondent’s counsel that the recent decline in 

reimbursement rates by insurers and PBMs has placed such a severe economic strain on 

small community pharmacies that the Respondent and other small pharmacies have had 

to resort to serving niche markets just to keep the doors open and stay in business.  All of 

these facts tend to suggest that the Respondent is not an “average” community pharmacy, 

and cannot fairly be judged with reference to the purported statistics applicable to 

“average” community pharmacies.  

28. In the end, the Government’s only evidence that certain combinations of “red 

flags” were unresolvable was the uncorroborated testimony of Dr. Sullivan, which was 

not convincing.  
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29. For example, Dr. Sullivan repeatedly testified that long distance travel between a 

patient and his pharmacy or a patient and her prescriber would raise a “red flag.”  But he 

conceded that this “red flag” could be resolved.  

30. The “red flag” of cash payments is similarly resolvable, as Dr. Sullivan also 

conceded.  Dr. Sullivan acknowledged several times that if the Respondent did not have 

contracts with insurers or PBMs, then the only method of payment the Respondent would 

be able to accept in exchange for dispensing prescriptions would be cash.  It follows that 

while cash payments may raise a “red flag” in some instances, the suspicion aroused by 

the presence of this “red flag” is resolvable insofar as there would appear to be a perfectly 

reasonable explanation for why Respondent’s customers paid cash.  

31. Dr. Sullivan’s testimony concerning early fills of prescriptions did not convince us 

that this “red flag” was unresolvable either.  Respondent’s counsel pointed out, and Dr. 

Sullivan agreed, that an early fills might be authorized by the prescriber in certain 

circumstances.  Without reviewing any of the prescriptions or speaking with any of the 

prescribers or patients, Dr. Sullivan was unable to reasonably assess whether any early fill 

“red flags” were resolved or resolvable.  

32. As to dispensing of so-called “drug cocktails,” Dr. Sullivan again conceded that 

this “red flag” is resolvable, if only in rare circumstances.  However, he also conceded 

that he was unaware of the actual circumstances pertinent to any of the patients in 

question.  Again, on the question of resolvability, as opposed to actual resolution, the 

Government’s proof was unconvincing, primarily because its own expert flip-flopped on 

the issue and ultimately admitted that the drug cocktail “red flag” is not universally 

unresolvable.  
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33. The same is to be said of the “red flag” raised by excessive dispensing of high 

strength Schedule II controlled substances.  While Dr. Sullivan testified that the 

dispensing of large quantities of high strength opioids was a “red flag” in virtually every 

instance, he recognized that there was nothing inherently untoward about Respondent 

catering to chronic pain patients.  He also admitted that it is not the province of a 

pharmacist to challenge the clinical diagnosis of a prescribing physician.  While Dr. 

Sullivan testified that dispensing of high strength opioids to patients who were “opioid 

naïve” due to a gap in treatment was improper, the Respondent adduced evidence that the 

Government’s demonstrative exhibit, which appeared to show such gaps in treatment for 

certain patients, was faulty and missing information.  Dr. Sullivan readily admitted that 

evidence of continuity of treatment would resolve this “red flag.”  Thus, we must 

conclude that this “red flag,” like the others, is resolvable.

34. At the risk of stating the obvious, if, according to the Government’s own expert, 

each “red flag” presented in this case can be resolved, then it follows that each of these 

“red flags” is resolvable.  

35. In light of the foregoing, we conclude that the Government failed to prove by a 

preponderance of the evidence that any of the “red flags,” whether standing alone or 

considered in the collective, were “unresolvable.”

iii. The Government failed to prove that the Respondent “manufactured,” 
rather than “compounded,” Schedule II controlled substances

36. The other theory advanced by the Government is that the Respondent engaged in 

illegal “manufacturing” of Schedule II controlled substance, as opposed to permissible 

“compounding” of those materials.  Applying the legal framework of the CSA, the 

Government thus contends that under factor 2 of § 823(e), the Respondent has not 
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complied with applicable federal, state and local law.  Accordingly, before turning to a 

consideration of the evidence before us, we must consider the requirements of applicable 

federal, state, and local law.

37. The Respondent is registered with the DEA to “dispense” Schedule II controlled 

substances.  The CSA defines “dispense” to mean “to deliver a controlled substance to an 

ultimate user or research subject by, or pursuant to the lawful order of, a practitioner, 

including the prescribing and administering of a controlled substance and the packaging, 

labeling or compounding necessary to prepare the substance for such delivery.”  21 

U.S.C. § 802(10) (emphasis supplied).  

38. The statute also defines the term “manufacture” to mean “the production, 

preparation, propagation, compounding, or processing of a drug or other substance, either 

directly or indirectly or by extraction from substances of natural origin, or independently 

by means of chemical synthesis or by a combination of extraction and chemical synthesis, 

and includes any packaging or repackaging of such substance or labeling or relabeling of 

its container; except that such term does not include the preparation, compounding, 

packaging, or labeling of a drug or other substance in conformity with applicable 

State or local law by a practitioner as an incident to his administration or dispensing 

of such drug or substance in the course of his professional practice.  21 U.S.C. § 

802(15) (emphasis supplied).

39. The CSA does not supply a definition of “compounding.”  However, because the 

CSA refers to the “compounding . . . of a drug . . . in conformity with applicable State or 

local law,” we can look to State law to supply the relevant definition.  
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40. Under Florida law, “compounding” is “the professional act by a pharmacist or 

other practitioner authorized by law, employing the science or art of any branch of the 

profession of pharmacy, incorporating ingredients to create a finished product for 

dispensing to a patient or for administration by a practitioner or the practitioner’s agent; 

and shall specifically include the professional act of preparing a unique finished product 

containing any ingredient or device defined by Sections 465.003(7) and (8), F.S.”  FAC 

Rule 64B16-27.700.  Pursuant to Rule 64B16-27.700, compounding specifically includes 

the following three (3) activities:

a. The preparation of drugs or devices in anticipation of prescriptions based on 

routine, regularly observed prescribing patterns.

b. The preparation pursuant to a prescription of drugs or devices which are not 

commercially available.

c. The preparation of commercially available products from bulk when the 

prescribing practitioner has prescribed the compounded product on a per 

prescription basis and the patient has been made aware that the compounded 

product will be prepared by the pharmacist. The reconstitution of commercially 

available products pursuant to the manufacturer’s guidelines is permissible 

without notice to the practitioner.

FAC Rule 64B16-27.700(1) (emphasis supplied).

41. Another federal law also provides guidance regarding the circumstances under 

which a pharmacist may compound drugs.  The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act 

(hereinafter, the “FDCA”) imposes certain requirements upon those who produce drugs 

for human use.  See 21 U.S.C. §§ 301-392, et seq.  Sections 501, 502, and 505 of the act 
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set forth the obligations of human drug producers with respect to the implementation of 

current good manufacturing practices, drug labeling and directions for use, and the 

approval of new drug applications or abbreviated new drug applications.  21 U.S.C. §§ 

351, 352, 355.  However, a licensed pharmacist in a State licensed pharmacy who 

compounds human drug products is exempt from the aforementioned requirements of the 

FDCA if certain conditions are met.  21 U.S.C. § 353a(a).  Specifically, there are two (2) 

circumstances in which the compounding exemption applies, to wit-

a. If the drug is compounded by a licensed pharmacist in a State licensed pharmacy 

or a Federal facility, or a licensed physician, on the prescription order for an 

individual patient made by a licensed physician or other licensed practitioner 

authorized by state law to prescribe drugs, or

b. If the drug is compounded by a licensed pharmacist or licensed physician in 

limited quantities before the receipt of a valid prescription order for such 

individual patient if the compounding is based on a history of the licensed 

pharmacist or licensed physician receiving valid prescription orders for the 

compounding of the human drug product, and the orders have been generated 

solely within an established relationship between the licensed pharmacist or 

licensed physician and either such patient for whom the prescription order 

will be provided or the physician or other licensed practitioner who will write 

such prescription order.

21 U.S.C. § 353a(a)(2)(A) (emphasis supplied).

42. The latter practice described above, known as “anticipatory compounding,” can 

be beneficial not only because larger batch sizes can increase efficiency and reduce the 
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likelihood of human error associated with small batch compounding, but also because the 

limitations set forth in the statute serve to distinguish licensed pharmacists practicing 

permissible “compounding” under 503A of the FDCA from conventional manufacturers, 

who generally produce larger quantities of drugs that are distributed without a 

prescription.  

43. With all of the foregoing framework in mind, it would be fair to summarize the 

distinction between “manufacturing” and “compounding,” for purposes of applying the 

CSA in the instant proceeding, as follows:

a. “manufacturing” means the production of drugs, but does not include 

“compounding” in conformity with State and local law.

b. Neither the CSA nor the FDCA expressly defines “compounding,” but Florida law 

supplies the definition.

c. Under Florida law, “compounding” is the incorporation of ingredients to create a 

finished drug product for dispensing to a patient, and specifically includes, inter 

alia, anticipatory compounding and preparation of commercially available 

products from bulk.

d. Anticipatory compounding may be practiced, in compliance with each of the 

federal and state laws referenced herein, by a licensed pharmacist in a State 

licensed pharmacy so long as the conditions of 21 U.S.C. § 353a(a)(2)(A) are 

satisfied.  

44. Turning to the evidence before us, we cannot conclude that the Respondent was 

engaged in “manufacturing” as that term is defined by the CSA.  The evidence included 

approximately 51 pages of batch records for limited quantities of two (2) different 
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strengths of hydromorphone, a Schedule II controlled substance.  GE 5, 6.  DI Albert was 

unable to identify the signatures and initials contained on these batch records and did not 

compare the number of doses of capsules reflected in the batch reports to the amount of 

drugs dispensed by the Respondent.  There was no evidence that Respondent produced 

significantly large quantities of any drug, nor was there any evidence that Respondent 

sold or wholesaled any drug, in any quantity, to any distributor or reseller (such as would 

be expected in the case of a traditional drug manufacturer, whose business model 

typically involves the distribution of drugs to third parties without a prescription).  There 

was also no evidence to suggest that the single drug compounded by Respondent was not 

compounded in anticipation of receipt of valid prescriptions based upon established 

historical relationships with patients to whom the drug was prescribed and providers who 

prescribed it.  In fact, the evidence of record demonstrates that the Respondent dispensed 

a significant amount of hydromorphone, and Dr. Sullivan testified about the dispensing of 

this drug by Respondent on several occasions.  In short, the evidence appears to suggest 

that the Respondent engaged in permissible anticipatory compounding in compliance 

with applicable federal and state law.  Such practice is, according to the CSA, not 

encompassed within the definition of “manufacturing.”  21 U.S.C. § 802(15).

III. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

In light of the foregoing, we find that the Government has failed to establish by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the Respondent’s continued registration is inconsistent with 

the public interest pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 823.  Accordingly, the Respondent’s DEA certificate 

of registration should be REINSTATED AND RELEASED FROM SUSPENSION and any 

pending application for renewal should be APPROVED.
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U.S. Department of Justice
Drug EnforcementAdministration

Office oftheAdministrator Springfield. VA 22!52

August 23, 2019

IN THE MATTER OF

Pronto Pharmacy, LLC
1461 West Busch Boulevard
Tampa, Florida 33612

Certificate of Registration Number FP2302076

ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE AND
IMMEDIATE SUSPENSION OF REGISTRATION

PURSUANT to Sections 303 and 304 of the Controlled Substances Act, Title 21.
Uniied States Code. Sections 823 and 824.

NOTICE is hereby given to inform Pronto Phanuacy. LLCof the immediate suspension
of Drug Enforcement Administration ("DBA") Certillcate of Registration No. FP2302076,
pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 824(d). because Pronto Pharmacy's continued registration co!istitutes
"an imminent danger to the public health or safety." Notice is also given to afford Pronto
Phai-mac> an opportunity to show cause before the DEA at the DEA Flearing Facility located at
1550 Cr>'stal Drive. Suite 901. Arlington Virginia. 22202. or a location designated by the
Administrative Law Judge, on November 12. 2019. or on such a subsequent date designated by
the Administrative Law Judge (if l^ronto requests such a hearing), as to why the DEA should not
revoke Pronto Pharmacy's Certificate of Registration pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 824(a)(4). and
deny any pending applications for renewal or modification of such registration, or for additional
DEA registrations, because Pronto Pharmacy's continued registration is inconsistent with the
public interest, as that term is defined in 21 U.S.C. § 823(f).

As detailed below, this order states the DEA's basis for this Order to Show Cause and
Immediate Suspensi(m of Registration, including a non-exhaustive summary of facts and law at
issue, as well as citations to laws and regulations that Pronto Pharmacy has violated {see
21 C.F.R. 1301.36(e) and 130L37(c). which the DEA construes in pari materia). In order to
preserve Pronto Pharmacy's rights in this proceeding. Pronto Pharmacy must appear in these
revocation proceedings by tiling a notice of appearance or request for hearing in the manner
prescribed by regulations within 30 days from the receipt of this Order.

see paragraph 24, 25 and 26
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1. Pronto Pharmacy is registered withthe DEA to handle controlled substances in Schedules
II throughV underCertificate of Registration No. FP2302076. ProntoPharmacy's
registered address is 1461 West BuschBoulevard, Tampa, Florida 33612. Pronto
Pharmacy's Certificateof Registration expires by its own terms on March 31, 2022.

2. Pronto Pharmacy is presently licensed in the State of Florida as a "community pharmacy"
under license number PH24944. Pronto Pharmacy's state pharmacy license expires by its
own terms on February 28, 2021.

3. Norman J. Clement, Sr. is the owner and pharmacist-in-charge at Pronto Pharmacy.
Mr. Clement is registered in the State of Florida as a pharmacist under license number
PS37644. Mr. Clement's state pharmacist license expires by its own terms on
September 30, 2019.

4. As explained in greater detail below,an independentpharmacyexpert retained by the
DEAhas reviewednumerousprescriptions filled by Pronto Pharmacy,and has concluded
that Pronto Pharmacy repeatedly issued prescriptions in violation of the minimum
practice standards that govern the practice of pharmacy in Florida. Specifically, from at
least January 2018 through at least May 2019, Pronto Pharmacy repeatedly filled
prescriptions for Schedule 11 narcotics in the face of obvious red flags ofdrug abuse and
diversion, and, therefore, in violation of both federal and Florida law, including 21 C.F.R.
§§ 1306.06 and 1306.04(a), and Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-27.810.

5. In addition, the DEA's investigation determined the Pronto Pharmacy was engaged in the
"manufacture" of controlled substances, as that term is defined in the Controlled
Substances Act, despite not being registered with the DEA as a manufacturer.
Manufacturing controlled substances without the appropriate registration is a violation of
federal law. See 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1); 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e).

6. As a result. Pronto Pharmacy's DEA Certificate ofRegistration should be revoked and
any pending application should be denied because Pronto Pharmacy has committed such
acts as would render its registration inconsistent with the public interest, as that term is
defined under the Controlled Substances Act. See 21 U.S.C. § 824(a)(4); 21 U.S.C.
§ 823(f).

Improper Dispensing

7. A "prescription for a controlled substance may only be filled by a pharmacist, acting in
the usual course of his professional practice." 21 C.F.R. § 1306.06. A pharmacist is only
permitted to fill a prescription that was "issued for a legitimate medical purpose by an
individual practitioner acting in the usual course of his professional practice." 21 C.F.R.
§ 1306.04(a). Although "[t]he responsibility for the proper prescribing and dispensing of
controlled substances is upon the prescribing practitioner... a corresponding
responsibility rests with the pharmacist who fills the prescription." Id. Section
1306.04(a) "prohibit[s] a pharmacist from filling a prescription for a controlled substance

THERE IS NO SEPARATE DEA REGISTRATION FOR  COMPOUNDING
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when she either knows or has reason to know that the prescription was not written for a
legitimate medical purpose." WheatlandPharmacy, 78 Fed.Reg. 69,441, 69,445 (2013)
(internal quotations and alterations omitted). Section 1306.04(a) "expressly requires
pharmacists to identify and resolve suspicions that a prescription is illegitimate." Trinity
Pharmacy II, 83 Fed. Reg. 7,304, 7,331 (2018).

8. A violation of these federal regulations is a violation of federal law. See 21 U.S.C.
§ 842(a)(1) (making it unlawful to dispensecontrolledsubstances in violation of
21 U.S.C. § 829, whose scope is defined in part by 21 C.F.R. §§ 1306.04, 1306.06).
Moreover, any attempt to violate these federal regulations is a violation of federal law.
See 21 U.S.C. § 846. Additionally, the DEAmay find that a registrant's DEA certificate
of registration is inconsistent with the public interest if the registrant acted carelesslyor
negligently in handlingcontrolledsubstances, even if the registrantdid not intend to
violate the Controlled Substances Act. See, e.g.. TheMedicine Shoppe, 79 Fed. Reg.
59,504, 59,506 (2014) (quoting Paul J. Caragine, Jr., 63 Fed. Reg. 51,592, 51,601
(1998) ("Careless or negligent handling ofcontrolled substances creates the opportunity
for diversion and [can] justify revocation or denial.")).

9. In addition to the federal statutes and regulations. Pronto Pharmacy and its pharmacists
must comply with applicable Florida requirements. In particular, Florida pharmacists
must "review the patient record and each new and refill prescription presented for
dispensing" to identify, among other things, "[ojver-utilization or under-utilization,"
"[tjherapeutic duplication," "drug-drug interactions," and "[cjlinical abuse/misuse." Fla.
Admin. Code r. 64816-27.810(1). Upon recognizing any of these red flags of abuse or
diversion, a Florida pharmacist "shall take appropriate steps to avoid or resolve the
potential problems which shall, if necessary, include consultation with the prescriber."
Id. r. 64816-27.810(2). Florida pharmacies must also maintain a patient record system
that documents resolution of red flags. See Fla. Admin. Code r. 64816-27.800. Finally,
Florida pharmacists must comply with the standards for filling of controlled substance
prescriptions. See Fla. Admin. Code r. 64816-27.831 (requiring pharmacists, among
other things, to "exercise[] sound professional judgment" and "attempt to work with the
patient and the prescriber to assist in determining the validity of the prescription").

10. A Florida pharmacy's failure to comply with Florida's prescription review requirements
constitutes a violation of the federal Controlled Substances Act. See, e.g.. Trinity
Pharmacy I, 83 Fed. Reg. 7,304, 7,329 (2018) (citations omitted) ("Thus, [Florida]
pharmacists violate Florida law if they fail to identify and resolve the red flags that are
part of the prospective drug use review set forth in Rule 64816-27.810. And if they
knowingly fill prescriptions without resolving these red flags during this review, then
they violate their corresponding responsibility under 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a).").

11. An independent pharmacy expert retained by the DEA reviewed numerous prescriptions
filled by Pronto Pharmacy between January 9, 2018 and May 7, 2019, and concluded that
Pronto Pharmacy repeatedly issued prescriptions in violation of the minimum practice
standards that govern the practice of pharmacy in Florida. The expert opined that the red
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flags presented bythese prescriptions were sostrongly indicative ofdrug abuse and
diversion that they could nothave been resolved bya pharmacist acting in the usual
course ofprofessional practice. These "red flags" included:

12. Prescribing of Drug Cocktails: A common red flag of abuse or diversion is when a
physician prescribes "cocktail medications," which are combinations of controlled
substances that are widelyknown to be abusedor diverted and that significantly increase
a patient's risk of morbidityor overdose. The DEA's expert reviewednumerous
prescriptions thatwere filled by Pronto Pharmacy, andconcluded that Pronto Pharmacy
regularly dispensed "cocktail medications" without addressing or resolving this red flag.
Specifically, theDEA's expert noted thatPronto Pharmacy routinely dispensed high
doses of oxycodone alongwithhighdosesof benzodiazepines to the samepatient. The
DEA's expertopined that this combination of drugs is dangerous whenused in
combinationand is well-known by pharmacistsas one used by patients abusing and/or
diverting controlled substances. Pronto Pharmacy's unlawfully filling of "drugcocktail"
medications included the following specific occasions:

a. On at least nine occasions between January 25, 2018 and April 12, 2019,
Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions issued by the same prescriber for
Patient A.G. for alprazolam and oxycodone or hydromorphone on the
same date. Specifically, Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions for
hydromorphone and alprazolam issued to Patient A.G. on January 25,
2018; March 1, 2018; April 12, 2018; and May 8 2018. Pronto Pharmacy
filled prescriptions for oxycodone and alprazolam issued to Patient A.G.
on December 20, 2018; January 17, 2019; February 14, 2019; March 20,
2019; and April 12, 2019.

b. On at least five occasions between January 29, 2018 and April 22, 2019,
Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions issued by the same prescriber for
Patient B.S. for alprazolam and oxycodone or hydromorphone on the same
date. Specifically, Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions for
hydromorphone and alprazolam issued to Patient B.S. on January 29, 2018
and May 22, 2018. Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions for oxycodone
and alprazolam issued to Patient B.S. on December 20, 2018; February 28,
2019; and March 26, 2019.

c. On at least three occasions between September 14, 2018 and January 16,
2019, Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions issued by the same prescriber
for Patient N.B. for alprazolam and oxycodone or hydromorphone on the
same date. Specifically, Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions for
hydromorphone and alprazolam issued to Patient N.B. September 14,
2018. Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions for oxycodone and alprazolam
issued to Patient N.B. on December 20, 2018 and January 16, 2019.

d. On at least three occasions between March 6, 2018 and July 12, 2018,
4
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Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions issued by the same prescriber for
Patient C.R. for alprazolam and oxycodone on the same date.
Specifically, Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions for oxycodone and
alprazolam issued to Patient C.R. onMarch 6, 2018; April 19, 2018; and
July 12, 2018.

e. On at least five occasions between January 25, 2018 and May 16, 2018,
Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions issued by the same prescriber for
Patient J.M. for alprazolam and oxycodoneon the same date. Specifically,
Pronto Pharmacy filled prescriptions for oxycodoneand alprazolam issued
to Patient J.M. on January 25, 2018; March 1, 2018; April 4, 2018;
April 19, 2018; and May 16, 2018.

13. Early Refillsof Controlled Substance Prescriptions: TheDEA's expertopinedthat,
under the bindingminimumnorms that govern the practice of pharmacies, filling
prescriptions significantly or consistently earlyis a well-known red fiag of diversion or
abuse of controlledsubstances. A prescription is consideredto be filled "early" when the
patient still hasmedicationremainingfrom a previous prescription. The DEA's expert
reviewed Pronto Pharmacy's dispensing log and identified numerous instances in which
Pronto Pharmacy filled a patient's prescription early. The DEA's expert opined that a
reasonable and prudent pharmacist would not fill so many controlled substance
prescriptions early and that a pharmacistwho was properlyexercisinghis corresponding
responsibility would have recognized this and refused to fill most of these prescriptions.
Pronto Pharmacy's early filling of controlled substances prescriptions included the
following specific occasions:

a. Patient A.H.: On January 22, 2019, Pronto Pharmacy filled a prescription
for Patient A.H. for a 30 day supply of hydromorphone 8 mg tablets.
Pronto Pharmacy filled additional prescriptions for Patient A.H. for 30 day
supplies of hydromorphone 8 mg tablets on February 15, 2019 (six days
early); February 27, 2019 (18 days early); and March 14, 2019 (15 days
early).

b. Patient M.M.: On January 3, 2019, Pronto Pharmacy filled a prescription
for Patient M.M. for a 28 day supply of hydromorphone 8 mg tablets.
Pronto Pharmacy filled additional prescriptions for hydromorphone 8 mg
tablets for Patient M.M. for a 30 day supply on January 24, 2019 (seven
days early); a 30 day supply on February 19,2019 (four days early); and a
28 day supply on March 15, 2019 (six days early).

c. Patient J.D.: On May 10,2018, Pronto Pharmacy filled a prescription for
Patient J.D. for a 30 day supply of hydromorphone HCL powder. Pronto
Pharmacy filled additional prescriptions for Patient J.D. for 30 day
supplies of hydromorphone HCL powder on May 30, 2018 (10 days
early); June 15, 2018 (14 days early); and June 30, 2018 (15 days early).
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d. Patient R.G.: OnJanuary 29, 2018, Pronto Pharmacy filledprescriptions
for Patient R.G. for a 30 day supply ofoxycodone HCL powder and a 30
daysupply of alprazolam 2 mgtablets. Pronto Pharmacy filled additional
prescriptions for 30 day supplies of oxycodone HCLpowderand
alprazolam 2mg tablets for Patient R.G. on February 21, 2018 (seven days
early); March 19,2018 (fourdaysearly); April 17,2018 (oneday early);
and May 8, 2018 (nine days early).

e. Patient R. L.: On February 1, 2018, Pronto Pharmacy filled a
prescription for PatientR.L. for a 30 day supplyof hydromorphone HCL
powder. ProntoPharmacy filled additional prescriptionsfor
hydromorphone HCL powder to Patient R.L. on a 30 day supply on
February 26, 2018 (five days early); a 29 day supply on March 22,2018
(six days early); a 30 day supplyon April 17,2018 (threedays early); and
a 30 day supply on May 11, 2018 (six days early).

14. Excessive Dispensing of High Strength Controlled Substances: The DEA's expert
opined that it is a well-known red flag that thedispensing of a disproportionate number of
prescriptions for the highest strength available for a particular controlled substance is a
signof illicit activity. TheDEA's expertnotedthat virtually all of the prescriptions for
oxycodoneand hydromorphone that Pronto Pharmacy"compounded" during that time
framewere for oxycodone30 mg immediate release and hydromorphone 8 mg immediate
release (the highest strengths for these controlled substances). In addition, the DEA's
expert noted that, between January 11, 2018 and July 17, 2018, 100 percent of the
oxycodonetablet prescriptionsand 87 percent of the hydromorphone tablet prescriptions
(approximately44 prescriptions total) issued by a particular prescriber were for the
highest strength available for those controlled substances. The DEA's expert opined that
a pharmacist who was properly exercising his corresponding responsibility would have
recognized this and refused to fill most of these prescriptions.

15. Patients Travelling Long Distances to Fill Prescriptions at Pronto Pharmacy: The
DEA's expert opined that it can be a red flag of abuse and diversion if a patient travels a
significant distance to a specific pharmacy, especially if the patient also travels a
significant distance to a particular prescriber. Numerous Pronto Pharmacy customers
traveled significant distances to obtain and fill their prescriptions. For example, between
September 10, 2018 and May 6, 2019, Pronto Pharmacy filled:

a. 86 prescriptions for patients with addresses in Cape Coral, Florida, which
is approximately 140 miles from Pronto Pharmacy;

b. 145 prescriptions for patients with addresses in Fort Myers, Florida, which
is approximately 130 miles from Pronto Pharmacy;

c. 41 prescriptions for patients with addresses in Lehigh Acres, Florida,
which is approximately 140 miles from Pronto Pharmacy;
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d. 15 prescriptions forpatients with addresses in Immokalee, Florida, which
is approximately 150miles from Pronto Pharmacy;

e. 15prescriptions for patients with addresses inNaples, Florida, which is
approximately 170miles from Pronto Pharmacy; and

f. 11 prescriptions forpatients with addresses inOpa-locka, Florida, which is
approximately 270 miles from Pronto Pharmacy.

16.The DEA's expert further noted that Pronto Pharmacy was also manymiles from the
medical practices of the top prescribers whose prescriptions were filled at Pronto
Pharmacy. For example, betweenSeptember 10,2018 and May 6, 2019, over 75 percent
of the prescriptions for controlled substances filled by Pronto Pharmacy were issued by
prescribers whose medical practices were located more than 150 miles away from Pronto
Pharmacy.

17.DEA's expert opinedthat bothpatients travelling longdistances from their residences
and patients travelling longdistances fromthe medical practices of the prescribers to
have their prescriptions filled are significant red flags that the prescriptions being filled
by Pronto Pharmacywere being abused and/or diverted and that a pharmacist who was
properly exercisinghis corresponding responsibility would have recognized this and
refused to fill most of these prescriptions.

18. Excessive Cash Payments: The DEA's expert opined that cash payments can be a red
flag of abuse or diversion because patients typically have to pay very high prices for
drugs that are not covered by insurance. The DEA's expert noted that, on average,
approximately 11 percent of all prescriptions filled by independently owned pharmacies
in 2018 were paid for in cash nationally. The DEA's expert noted that over 90 percent of
the prescriptions for oxycodone 30 mg and hydromorphone 8 mg filled by Pronto
Pharmacy were paid for with cash. The DEA's expert opined that this is a significant red
flag that the prescriptions being filled by Pronto Pharmacy were being abused and/or
diverted and that a pharmacist who was properly exercising his corresponding
responsibility would have recognized this and refused to fill most of these prescriptions.

19. The DEA's expert reviewed the above-referenced prescriptions and concluded that they
presented numerous red flags that were highly indicative of abuse and diversion. These
red flags could not have been resolved by a pharmacist acting in the usual course of
professional practice, and, therefore, each prescription was filled outside the standard of
care in Florida. Accordingly, these prescriptions were filled in violation of federal and
state law. See 21 U.S.C. § 842(a)(1); 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a); Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B16-
27.810.
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IllegalManufacturing

20. Under the Controlled Substances Act, a registrant is required to maintain a separate and
independent registration for each of the "controlled substances activities" that it wishes to
engage in. See 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e) ("Any person who engaged in more than one
group of independent activities shall obtain a separate registration for each group of
activities, except as provided in this paragraph under coincident activities.")

21. Pronto Pharmacy is registered with the DEA to engage in "dispensing." See 21 C.F.R.
§ 1301.13(e)(l)(iv). The Controlled Substances Act defines "dispensing" as the
"deliver[y] ofa controlled substance to an ultimate user or research subject by, or
pursuant to the law order of, a practitioner, including ... the packaging, labeling, or
compounding necessary to prepare the substance of such delivery." 21 U.S.C. § 802(11).

22. The Controlled Substances Act defines "manufacturing" as "the production, preparation,
propagation, compounding, or processing of a drug or other substance, either directly or
indirectly or by extraction from substances ofnatural origin, or independently by means
ofchemical synthesis or by a combination ofextraction and chemical synthesis, and
includes any packaging or repackaging of such substance or labeling or relabeling of its
container; except that such term does not include the preparation, compounding,
packaging, or labeling of a drug or other substance in conformity with applicable state or
local law by a practitioner as an incident to his administration or dispensing of such drug
or substance in the course ofhis professional practice." 21 U.S.C. § 802(15).

23. In order to be exempt from the definition of a manufacturer under the CSA, "a DEA
practitioner registrant must be engaged in compounding controlled substances on an
individual patient basis. That is, a pharmacy must receive a prescription for a specific
patient from a physician or other individual practitioner and must deliver or dispense that
medication to the patient." Wedgewood VillagePharmacy^ 71 Fed. Reg. 16,593,16,595
(2006); see also 'Sampson v. Western StatesMedical Center, 535 U.S. 357, 361 (2002)
("Drug compounding is a process by which a pharmacist or doctor combines, mixes, or
alters ingredients to create a medication tailored to the needs of an individual patient.").

24. A person that is not "preparing or compounding medications containing controlled
substanceson an individualizedpatient basis" is engaged in "manufacturing" controlled
substances as that term is defined in the Controlled Substances Act and must be
registered with the DEAas a manufacturer. Wedgewood Village Pharmacy, 71 Fed. Reg.
16,593,16,595 (2006).

25.TheDEA's investigation concluded thatPronto Pharmacy is engaged in "manufacturing"
rather than "compounding" controlled substances, as those terms are used in the CSA.
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26. The DEA's independentpharmacy expert reviewed purchasing and dispensing data for
Pronto Pharmacy between January 2018 and May 2019. The DEA's expert opined that
Pronto Pharmacy was "compounding" an unreasonably large quantity of oxycodone and
hydromorphone capsules.

a. The DEA's expert opined that "compounding" should be limited to
individual patients who cannot be treated with a commercially available
medication for an individualized reason, such as an allergy to a particular
ingredient. The DEA's expert fiirther opined that such allergies are rare
and, as a result, "compounded" medications should not form a significant
part of a pharmacy's dispensing. The DEA's expert opined that Pronto
Pharmacy was "compounding" medication in quantities that far exceeded
the amounts that would be expected from a legitimate retail pharmacy.

b. The DEA's expert noted that a compounded capsule form ofa controlled
substance poses a heighten risk of abuse and/or diversion because capsules
can more easily be converted into an injectable form (a preferred method
ofabuse) than a tablet can. As a result, the DEA's expert opined that a
controlled substance should not be compounded when there is a
commercially available alternative that poses a lower risk of abuse and/or
diversion. The DEA's expert noted that both oxycodone 30 mg and
hydromorphone 8 mg tablets are readily available fi"om multiple
commercial suppliers. As a result, the DEA's expert opined that Pronto
Pharmacy was not legitimately "compounding" these medications
consistent with the standard ofpractice at a retail pharmacy.

27. The DEA's expert's opinion was consistent with previous statements made by Mr.
Clement, Pronto Pharmacy's owner and pharmacist-in-charge, to DEA investigators. On
or about May 1,2012, DEA investigators conducted an interview ofMr. Clement.
During that interview:

a. Mr. Clement told DEA investigators that Pronto Pharmacy
"manufactured" controlled substances (specifically oxycodone and
hydromorphone) because the capsules manufactured by Pronto Pharmacy
were cheaper to produce and could be sold for the same price as the tablets
that could be bought from other manufacturers (i.e., it would allow Pronto
Pharmacy to increase its profit margin).

b. Mr. Clement acknowledged that Pronto Pharmacy was able to purchase
these controlled substances in tablet form from manufacturers, but
emphasized that Pronto Pharmacy's manufactured product was just as
good as the tablets while cheaper to produce.

HOWEVER  DEA EXPERT OPINS IN PARAGRAPH 26  PRONTO PHARMACY 
WAS COMPOUNDING
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c. Mr.Clement explained themanufacturing process. Specifically, he noted
that ProntoPharmacy wouldmanufacture as many as 3,000 capsules at
one time. Mr. Clement explained to the DEA investigators that he
manufactured controlled substances based on projected demand and that it
would not be cost effective to wait to receive a prescription or to prepare
the controlled substances on an individualized patient basis. Specifically,
Mr. Clement stated: "I can manufacture, fm a pharmacist. I can make
this."

28. In sum, by bulkproducing controlled substances—including oxycodone and
hydromorphone capsules—without a specific prescription andwithout preparing those
controlled substances on an individualizedpatient basis. Pronto Pharmacy is engaged in
"manufacturing" controlled substances, as that term is use in the CSA. Because Pronto
Pharmacy is not registered with the DEA as a "manufacturer," suchmanufacturing is a
violation of federal law. See 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1); 21 C.F.R. § 1301.13(e).

IN viewof the foregoing, and pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §§ 823(f) and 824(a)(4), it is my
preliminary finding that Pronto Pharmacy's continued registration is inconsistent with the public
interest. It is my preliminary finding that Pronto Pharmacy repeatedly dispensed controlled
substances withoutattempting to address or resolveclear red flags of abuse and diversion, which
is inconsistent with the public interest. It is alsomypreliminary finding, significantly in lightof
the rampant and deadly problemof prescription controlledsubstanceabuse, that Pronto
Pharmacy's continued registration during the pendencyof these proceedingswould constitute
"an imminent danger to the public health or safety" because of the substantial likelihood that
ProntoPharmacywill continue to unlawfully prescribecontrolledsubstances, thereby allowing
the diversion ofcontrolled substances, unless Pronto Pharmacy's DEA Certificate ofRegistration
is suspended. Under the facts and circumstances described herein, it is my conclusion that
Pronto Pharmacy's continued registration while these proceedings are pending constitutes "an
imminent danger to the public health or safety." See 21 U.S.C. § 824(d). Accordingly, pursuant
to the provisionsof 21 U.S.C. § 824(d) and 21 C.F.R. § 1301.36(e), and the authority grantedme
under 28 C.F.R. § 0.100, DEA Certificate ofRegistration No. FP2302076 is hereby suspended,
effective immediately. Such suspension shall remain in effect until a final determination is
reached in these proceedings.

PURSUANT to 21 U.S.C. § 824(1) and 21 C.F.R. § 1301.36(f), the Special Agents and
Diversion Investigators of the DEAwho serve this Order to Show Cause and Immediate
Suspension of Registration are authorized to placeunder seal or to remove for safekeeping all
controlled substances that Pronto Pharmacy possesses pursuant to the registration which I have
herein suspended. The said Agents and Investigatorsare also directed to take into their
possession Pronto Pharmacy DEACertificate of Registration FP2302076 and any unused order
forms.
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THE following procedures are available to Pronto Pharmacy in this matter:

1. Within30 days after the date of receiptof this Order to ShowCauseand Immediate
Suspension ofRegistration, Pronto Pharmacy may file with the DEA a written request for a
hearing in the form set forth in 21 C.F.R. § 1316.47. See2l C.F.R. § 1301.43(a). IfPronto
Pharmacy fails to file such a request, the hearing shall be cancelled in accordance with paragraph
3, below.

2. Within 30 days after the date of receipt of this Order to Show Cause and Immediate
Suspension ofRegistration, Pronto Pharmacy may file with the DEA a waiver of hearing
together with a written statement regarding its respective positions on the matters of fact and law
involved. See2\ C.F.R. § 1301.43(c).

3. Should Pronto Pharmacy decline to file a request for a hearing, or should Pronto
Pharmacy request a hearing and then fail to appear at the designated hearing. Pronto Pharmacy
shall be deemed to have waived the right to a hearing and the DEA may cancel such hearing, and
I may entermy final order in this matter vrithouta hearing based upon the evidence presented to
me. See2\ C.F.R. §§ 1301.43(d)and 1301.43(e).

Requests for hearing should be filed by email with the Office ofAdministrative Law
Judges at the following address: ECF-DEA@usdoj.gov, with a copysimultaneously provided to
the Government at the following address: DEA.Registration.Litigation@usdoj.gov. Other
correspondence concerning this matter, including requests referenced in paragraphs I and 2
above, should be addressed to the Hearing Clerk, Office ofAdministrative Law Judges, Drug
Enforcement Administration, 8701 Morrissette Drive, Springfield, VA 22152. A copy of the
same shall also be served on Government counsel John Beerbower and be addressed to the
Office ofChiefCounsel, Diversion and Regulatory Litigation Section, 8701 Morrissette Drive,
Springfield, VA 22152. Matters are deemed filed upon receipt by the Hearing Clerk. See
21 C.F.R. §1316.45.

Uttam Dhillon
Acting Administrator
Drug Enforcement Administration

cc: Hearing Clerk, Office ofAdministrative Law Judges
John E. Beerbower, Counsel for the Government
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REQUEST FOR HEARING

Anypersondesiring a hearingwith request to an Order to ShowCausemust,
withinthirty (30)days from receipt of theOrder toShow Cause, file a request for a
hearing in the following format:

[DATE]

DBA Headquarters
Office of the AdministrativeLaw Judges
Hearing Clerk
8701 Morrissette Drive
Springfield, Virginia 22152

Dear Madam:

The undersigned, [Nameofperson], hereby requestsa hearing in the matter of
[Identification of the proceeding].

(A) [State with particularity theinterest of theperson in the proceeding.]

(B) [State with particularity theobjections or issues, if any concerning
which the person desires to be heard.]

(C) [State briefly the position of the person with regard to the particular
objections or issues.]

(D) [Name (either registrant, applicant, or attorney), address (including
streetaddress, city, state andzip code),and telephone number
(including areacode)of person towhom all subsequent notices or
mailings in thisproceeding should be sent.]

Respectfully yours.

(Signature ofregistrant, applicant, or
attorney]

Note: Pursuant to 21 C.F.R. § 1316.47(b), theAdministrative Law Judge, upon request
and showing ofgood cause, may grant a reasonable extension oftime allowing for
response to an Order to Show Cause.
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